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PREFFACE.
S

This work has a narrow compass. It does not
take in the whole of the district of [Hooghly but
confines itself merely to its chief town. I[However
it is the town which gives importance to the district
which without it would lose much of its significance.
Indeed, town Houghly has a brilliant record to show,
though that record does not glow with uniform lustre
right through. Like ‘all things human, Hooghly
has had its ups and downs.  Built at a time when
Calcutta was one ‘wide waste of jungle and anarsh,
it rapidly rosc to fame and fortune under the foster-
ing care of its founders.’ The Portuguese drove
a brisk trade and made their scttlement the rival of
Satgaon, so well known to fame. But prosperity
soon brought pride in its train, when those haughty
sea-farers from the Tar West, exceeding the leviti-
mate bounds of trade, commenced to play the role
of absolute rulers. The attention of the Great
Mogul of Delhi was drawn te this unnoticed corner
of the Empire, and the result was that an Imperial
army soon came upon it like a hurricane and swept
away the proud intruders from Bengal,  This done,
Hooghly took the place of Satguon and b:’;came
the capital of West Bengal. Not long after the

Euglish came in for trading purposcs, and established
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a factory at this place. Things went on smoothly
along for some years, and if they had been allowed
to continue their even course, Hooghly might very
probably have risen to be the capital of British
India. But it seems that TIate had doomed other-
wise and her decree is irrevocable. Some unpleasant
circumstances cropped up which rendered the conti-
nuance of the English at Hooghly almost impossible.
Accordingly, their Chief, Job Charnock, left the
place with mingled. feelings-of rage, regret and
disgust and going down the river founded Calcutta.
The founding of Calcutta gave a death-blow to
Hooghly, However, when under the English a new
district was carved out of Burdwan and Nadia with
Hooghly for its capital, the place continued to hold
a fairly respectable position.  But in time even this
modicum of its former greatness was taken away
from it, and now that the Courts have been removed
to Chinsura, it has almost become the sepulchre of
what it was in days gone by.

Thus, this town bhas had a chequered career, and
the events which happened in it are of such a varied
character that they have an interest for the historian
no less than for the novelist, Indeed, a few of the
events have an air of romance about t'.a and
might in the hands of experts be moulded into
works partaking of the nature of Scott’s Waverly
Novels or Shakespeare’s IHistorical Dramas. The

present work, therefore, though professedly a history,
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will read like a romance, and by serving both to
instruct and to amuse, will prove to be of general
interest, Although the Past of Hooeghly far surpasses
its Present, still the latter has had given to it some
new features which, it is to be hoped, will find favour
at least with readers who are residents of the district
or take interest in its affairs.

Although some portions of this book had appeared
in print in the last decade of the last century, stii
that circumstance -alone would ‘not detract from itsl
merit as a purely new publication, the said portions
having had additions and alterations made to them
in view of change of circumstances and increase in
the fund of information. Thus, the book as a whole
will appear to be an altogether new birth of time
and if in reading it be found to combine pleasure
with profit, I shall consider all my pains amply
requited, and also have the proud satisfaction of
having done my duty to the dear old place that gave
me birth.

Hooghly, August 17, 1900.

et s st 2y
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HOOGHLY

PAST AND PRESENT.

CHAPTER 1.

HoOOGIILY UNDER TIHE PORTUGUESE.

VERY little is known of Hooghly* before the
Portuguese came to settle in it. In fact, it had no
separate independent existence-as a city; it was a
lowly outlying village, and bore: almost the same
relation to Satgaon T which was then in its glory, as,
by a painful irony of fate, Satgaon now bears to
Hooghly. Buat, though it formed a most insignificant
part of Satgaon, still it 'had a name of its own, and
that name it is which it has continued to bear,
through geod report and evil report, down to the
present time. It is commoaly believed that Hooghly
is a corruption of Golin; the name by which it was
known to the Portuguese; but this is only reversing
the natural order of events, the fact being that Golin
was a corruption of [looghiy, and not Hooghly a

corruption of Golin. The name IHooghly was derived

* This spelling has heen accepted by Government, as being fixed
by historical and literary usage.  Dr. [unter, however, has adopted
¢ Tlughli,” which secms to be the more correct spelling.

t Satgaon is the Saptagrama of the Pauranik writers, so called
from ‘‘the seven villages” composing it having been inhabited by
seven princely Rishis of old. It was the royal emporium of Bengal
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from hagla* reeds, with which the p'ace was for the
most part covered; and as Jogla easily slides into
gola in pronunciation, the DPoruguese, finding it
difficult to pronounce the native name correctly,
changed it to Golin.  In the Ain-i-Akbars, which, as
is well known, was written in 1506 A.ID., Abul Fazl
calls the place Hughli, whereas in Faria Souza’st
Asia Portuguesr, which was written some years

and was known to the early Romans as Gangd Reela.  Some, how-
ever, identify the Gang’ Avpia of Prolemy with Gaur, the ancient
capital of Bengal. In the fouriceath centnry it was taken by the
Mahomedans and was the seat of a satrapy, Izzuddin being its first
Governor.  Distant as Satgaon was from the Imperial Capital, it is no
wonder that its governors often kicked against authority.  EFven in
Akbar's time it bad the nickname of ¢ Bulghak-Khanah,” or ¢ House
of Revolt.” Satgaon was also a place of great trade. The Venetian
traveller, Cosar Frederick, who visited it about 1570, states that in
it ¢“the merchnts gather themselves together for their trade.”  Thix
exactly tallics with the aczount given in the wcll-known poem of
Chandz, written about the same time.  But with the dawn of the
seventeenth century its trade was on the decline, owing to the
gradual silting up of the river Saraswati,  True it is dhat, 1a 1630,
the author of /rzdia Fora deseribed it as ¢ a heautiful town;” but il
De Laet had seen it with his own eyes, his description would have
been otherwise. The Padishalnamat says tha. in 1632 Satgaon was
““decayed ;" Twt though in a state of decay, it still continued to he a
place of trade for the Portuguese for some years to come. (See
Admiral Warwick’s Accouns/, as quoted in Rev. Long's article, On
the banks of the Bhagirathi, in the Calcutta Heview for 1845). In
Van Brouche’s Map (1660 A. 1)) itis called ‘“a village,” and when
Blochmann visited it in 1870, he found the name applied to a collec-
tion of elewesr hms. Isaw it only the othec day. It Jookslike a
“ deserted village,” a far more wretched place than Goldsmith's
‘¢ Sweet Auburn.”

* FElephant grass, or ““ reed mace,” as the genus is called in Eaglish
Botany. Taylor’s Yopography of Ducea, Chap. 11,

+ Faria y Souza, the author of £/ .dsia Portusuesa ond other
similar works, flourished in the first half of the seventeenth century.
He was not only a historian, bat also a poet. Souza and Osorius are
the two most ancient as well as the fullest writers on the Transactions
of the Portuguese in the East.
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afterwards, it is called Golin®  In ITughes and
Parker’s Letters, too, which are dated December,
1620, the latter name appears, with this little differ-
ence, that while in Sonza’s JTistory there is but one /,
in the Letters it is spelt with a double Z  1In the
Dutch memoir of Brouche,+ which was written in
1660, the name appears as Oegli or [{oegli, which
approaches nearer to the native name than the Golin
of the Portuguese.  All these circumstances plainly
show that the name is not an exotic, but a plant
indigenous to the soil.

But though Hooghly does not owe its name to the
Portuguese, any more than Calcuttai does to the
Inglish, still it owes its fame to them. Indeed, its
rise as a city dates from their settlement, The
precise date of this settiement, however, it is not
easy to determine. ~All that we can dois to try to
fix a probable date. In 1497, the famous Portugnese
navigator, Vasco-de-Gama, sailed round the Cape of
Good Hope§ and landed at Calicut,. a city on the

* In De Laet’s /ndia I'era, however. it is called (el

t Van Brouche was Chief of the Dateh Coromandel  Ageney from
1658 to 16064, Blochmann’s Vores, appended to Tuanter's Statistical
Account of Dengal, Vol. 1.

¥ Kalikata (Calcutta) s mentioned in the poem of Chands, as well
as in the A7n.

§ ““ The Cape of Tempests, now of Tope renown’d.”™ Camoens’s
lausiad.

“ More properly Calicodu.  The poe Camaoens thus speaks of it in
the hey-day of its power and wealth :

““ Tmperial Calicut, the lordaly seat
Of the first Monarch of the Indian State.”
The Lausiad, Book Vil
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west coast of India on 26th August, 1498, Before
him no European had come to India, &1 sea, for pur-
poses of trade. Gama returned to his country in
1499. The Portuguese, finding the trade profitable,
sent out ship after ship, and at length obtained land
and built forts.  With the increase of trade there was
also increase of dominion: Goa* Ceylon+ Malacca?
and Ormuz§ were taken in succession. All these
conquests were made by Alphonse Albuquerque-
who might be called the Clive of Portuguese India,
Albuquerque proved himself a very popular ruler, so
that, when he died at Goa,. on 16th December, 1513,
he was bemoaned not more by his countrymen than
by the natives. It issaid thata Portuguese named
Samprayo, or rather Sampayo, eutered the Ganges
with nine vessels in'1537 A.D., and that he built the
fort at IHooghly, the vestiges of which are still

* Goa was taken in 1510, Rennell's Jemorr, P- 33. For an
account of Goa as it was in the 16th century, see Linschoten’s 7rqmels.

t Sirendivip, or Selendwip, of the Arals, Siughaladwit of the
Hindus, and Zapiedane of the Greeks and Romans, —Milton's ““atmost
Indian Isle Taprobune.™ The Portuguese were expelled from this.
island Ly the Dutch in 1656, (Murray’s Ziistory of Rritish fudia,
p- 143)

1 The Golden Chersonese ” of the ancients. It was conquered
by the Portuguese in 1512, and remained in their possession 1il] 1640,
when they lost it to the Dutch.  Murray’s Zndia, Pp- 129, 144.

§ The poet Camaens describes it as the “ Golden Ormuz®  Milton
in his Paradise Loit speaks of *“ the wealth of Ormuz ard of Ind.”
This splendid enpurum of the Persian Gulf was taken by the
Portuguese in 1513, who lost it to the Dutch in 1646,  Sce Murray's.
fndia, pp. 130, 144.

! Albuquerque, surnamed the Great, was called the *¢ Portuguese
Mars,” from the magnitude and extent of his military conquests,
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visible in the bed of the river.  Sampayo may have
reached the borders of Bengal ; but there is no re-
liable cvidence to show that he made any settlement
at Hooghly. Indeed, the scene of his acticn was
Goa, where, by force of arms, he had usarped* the
office of Chiel Governor. His rule, however, was of
a very short duration, The Home Government soon
appointed Nunio to supersede him, and the result
was that he was sent home a close prisouer to Lisbon.
In 1545, Don Juan de Castrof was appointed Viceroy.
His administration was a brilliant’ success, as that
of his predecessor, the infamous Souza} had been a
sad failure. During his rule the Portuguese Settle-

ments in India “ touched the highest point of all

* The injustice done to the °* Great Mascarine,” and the usurpation
of his Government by Iopez Vas de Sarapayo, aflord one of the most
interesting periods of the “history of the Portuguese in India.  Mas-
carine ruled from October 1529 for nearly ten years, during which he
gained some notable victories. | Ifencé! the great DPortuguese poet
says 1—

¢ Thou seest and weepest thy country’s blotted name,
The generous sorrow thine but not *he shame.
Nor long the Lusian ensigns stain'd remain,

(ireat Nunio comes and razes every stain.”

b He was the fourth Viceroy of Portuguese India, and, though his
rule lasted barely four years, established a high reputation and made
the Portuguese name dreaded on all the coasts of India. See Murray's
India, p. 135.

T Martin Alphonso de Souza was appointed to the Government of
Portuguese India in January 1541, but he did not arrive in Goa till
the 7th May, 1542, bringing St. Francis Navier to India. (See
Historical Sketch of Fortuguese India by E. Rehatsek, Caleutta
Neview, 1881).
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their greatness.”* Adverting to this fact, the popular

poet of Portugal, Camoens,t thus exultingly sings :—

“ O'er Indus’s banks, o’er Ganges’ smiling vales,
No more the hind his plunder'd field bewails ;
O'er every field, oh Peace ! thy blossoms glow,
The golden blossoms of thy olive bough ;

Firm based on Wisdom's laws great Castro crowns,
And the wide East the Lusian Empire owns.”

But poets are always given to exaggeration, and
the author of the Lusiwd is not an exception,  If his
glowing description were taken to be literally trae,
it would follow that the Portuguese India of his time
covered a very large area, including the whole of the
Gangetic valley.  But history gives the lie direct to
such an inference.  [ndiawas then ruled over by the
great Akbar, whose empire extended from Attock
on the one side to Cuttack on the other.  In point
of fact, the Portuguese possessions lay principally
along the cnast ; and this is all that appears from
Souza's account, who, in an ecstasy of patriotic zeal

“© Shakespeare’s Heary VIIT, Act I, Se. 2, Wolsey's words.

1t Camoens came to India in 1553, Ie composed the ILusiad
at Macao, whither he had been banished for having written a satire
on his countrymen in India when Francis Barreto was the Viceroy.
The satire which is named Divzarales na India, gives a faithful
picture of the state of morality during his rale. The poet was after-
wards recalled frow exile and returned to Lisbon in 1569, His grand
Epic, for which he has got the cognomen of ¢ the Lusitanian Homer,”
was dedicated to King Sevastian, and appeared in 1572, It has been
rendered into Iinglish by hoth Siv R. Fanshawe and William  Julius,
Meikle.  The poet died in 13579. The quotation is from the 1oth
Book.
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boasted that bis country’s ecmpire in the Fast stretch-
ed from the Cape of Good Hope to the frontier of
China, and comprehended a coast of 12,000 miles in
extent. In 1569, three Portuguese missionaries, of
whom Aquaviva, Padri Radaf of Abul Fazl, was one,
arrived at Akbar's Court, the Great Mogul having
expressed a desire to learn something of the Chistian
religion,

As yet Hooghly had not risen from obscurity. In
the well-known Clandi, which, as its colophon shows,
was completed in 1499,* Saka era, corresponding to
1577 A.D., the poet, Kabikankana does net make
mention of it, though he notices Falishahar and
Gorifa (Gouripur), which are’ situated opposite to it,
on the other side of the river. As for Satgaon, he
makes too much of it,and the sacred Tribenit also
comes in for its due share; but cven the name of
Hooghly is not to be found in the whole poem. 1f
the Portuguese had at that time had their settlement
at the place, the poet would not have left the matter

unnoticed, more especially when he vents his spleen

* The couplet referred 10 runs thue :—
M T FT AF F ifay
g faga fem) As g2aq 2fazly

+ Raghunandana in his Pravaschitioa Tatroa calls Tribeni ¢ South
Prayaga,” inasmuch as the hathing at that place secures, in a Hindu
point of view, the same sanctity ax the hathing at Prayaga, properly
so called, the Allahabad, or rather Ilalabassu of the Mahomedans,
does.
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against what he terms “ Feringir-desa,” which he
places lower down the Ganges, on the  Hijlee Route.”
But there is no doubt that they had established them-
selves at Hooghly at least twenty-five years before
the close of the sixteenth century. The auther of
the 4:n states that the Feringis* {meaning of course
the Portuguese) were in possession of [ooghly and
Satgaon, and that the latter alone paid the revenue.
The well-known traveller; Ralph Fitch, who visited
Hooghly in 1585, described it as.the “chief keep of
the Portuguese.” Tt would alse appear that the great
Military Revolt of 1580 found them in power at
Hooghly, Mir Nazat, who was attached to the
Imperial cause, on being defeated by the Afghan
chief, Qutlu Khan, near Salimabad, a town on the
left bank of the river Damoodar, south-east of
Burdwan, fled to the Portuguese Governor of that
settlement,t whom the 7SS of the Akbarnamah
called Bariab Bar Ferinugi, ov Partab Feringi. This
hybrid name shows that the officer was either a

* "The word Firingi comes from the French ¢ Franc,” through the
Arabs and the DPersians, who pronounced it Ferang. When the
Spaniards and the Portuguese first came to India, they were called
Firang, and the crror was never after rectified. It is now used to
indicate the mixed descendants of Europeans. In the Vidyasundara
of Bharat Chandra, VFiringi stands for the Pcrtuguese and Farash for
the French. (Dr. Rajendra Lala’s /Zudo-Aryans, Vol. II, p. 203,
Note). In the present day the Hiadus czll the English /zgre/, the
Yrench Farashi, the Portuguese Portukes, the Dancs Dinamar, the
Dutch Olandaj, the Germans Ellamar, &c. The Portuguese are now
more commonly called Masti (earth), or Kala (black) Feringis.

+t Vide Blochmann’s A7, p. 440.
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convert or an offspring of a Hindos woman by a
Pertuguese.  In view of all these facts and circum-
stances, it would not be wide of the mark to place
the Portuguese settlement in [Hooghly in the eighth
decade of the sixteenth century at the latest.

The Portuguese had come cut to India as traders
but it was not long before they found the necessity
for making territorial acquisitions,  Fortunately toy
them, the celebrated Albuquerque was at the head of
their Indian affairs. He was a‘remarkable man, and
uanited in himself the valour of a soldier with the
wisdom of a statesman., e conquered place after
place, and laid the foundations’ of that Empire, the
fame of which attracted other KEuropean nations to
the Far East.  Goa was established as the seat of
the Viceroy, and from Goa, as the base of operations,
other conquests were made.  While their affairs were
thus looking up, the Portuguese entered Bengal and
made their settlement at’ Hoogh'!y. This was done
with the permission of the Mogul Governor who then
ruled the Province. A factory was built, and an
agent was placed in charge of it.

Satgaon had not yet fallen, but was on its decline,
though it was still the centre of commerce. The
Portuguese of Hooghly tried to divert its trade to
their own settlement, and in this they succeeded to
a considerable extent, more especially as river com-
munication with Satgaon was becoming difficult,
owing to the gradual silting-up of the river Saraswati.
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This successful attempt on thelr part excited the
jealousy of the Mogul officers at Satgacn, who began
to throw obstacles in their way. But the Portuguese
were not slow in taking steps to ensure their safety,
They built a fort, and strongly fortified the place.
[t does not appear who the first Portuguese Governor
of 1Tooghly was; but, whoever he was, he derived
his authority directly from the Government at (Goa.
Iu fact, he bore almost the same relation to the
latter Government as the Governor of French Chan-
dernagore* does to the Government at Pondicherry.
Hooghly went on (prospering, and large numbers
came both from the mother country and Goa. As
yet the place had no regular Church to pray in. This
was felt to be a desideratum, but the want did not
remain a want long. Before the close* of the six-
teenth century a splendid. Church, with a beautifu

Convent attached to it, iad been buitt.  The Church
was blown up in the siege of 1532; but it was
rebuilt in 1660, The inscription on its keystone
gives the date? of the first and original building. In

course of time the Portuguese became very powerful

* Proyerly Chandannagore, so called from the place having once
abounded in sandal-wood.  Itis stated in the Adtishvangashavald,
that Rudra, the most pious of the Nadia Rajas, procured sandal-wood
from the vicinity of Honghly.

+ Duaring the incumbency of the fificenth Viceroy of PTortuguese
India, Mathias de Albuguerque (1501-97 A.D), the English made
their first appearance in India. (See Rehatsek's Zorvugucse India,
Calcutta Revivw, 1881).

T That is, the year 1599 A.D.
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at Hooghly. Though nominally subject to the
Great Mogul of Delhi, they were really the lords of
the land. They used to pay some revenue, it is
true ; but the payment was not recular,  Now and
then the Provincial Governor raised an  outcry
against them ; but he was soon bribed into silence.
Many converts were made to the Roman Cathclic
religion, not so mach by persuasion as by force ;
but after they had been soo converted, they were, it
would appear, notdeftin thelurch: Great pains were
taken to improve their condition, and it is in evidence
that some of them filled important posts.  Nay, there
was onc who rose so high as to have become  the
Chief of the Settlement.

As long as Akbarowas on the throne of Dethi, the
Portuguese fared well at Hooghly. A wise ruler as
he was, he did not ‘deem it pradent to harass them
as the country had-bepnefited much by their trade.
In fact, the turhulent Afghans had kept him so very
busy that he hardly found time to look to other
matters.  Certain it is that, with the fall of Daud,
in 1575, the Afghan supremacy in Bengal had come
to an end ; but the storm had not yet subsided : it
continued blowing on till some time after the close
of the sixteenth century, when it died away, In
15909, they sustained a signal defeat at the hands of
the Ambar Chief, Raja Man Sing, who crippled their
powers and resources.

Akbar died in 1605 and was succeeded by his son,
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Salim, who ascended the throne with the title of
Jehangir.  Protapaditya,* the powerful ruler of the
Sunderbans, having refused to acknowledge the suze-
rainty of the Emperor, Man Sing was ordered to
“bring him in subjection.” That valiant Rajput, who
was the first general of his time, hastened to Bengal
and attacked the capital of Protapaditya., The
battle raged loud and long, but at last victoryt sided
with the Imperialists.  The hero of the Sunderbans,
who had fought with the greatest' gallantry, was at
last made a prisoner, and while ha was being taken
to the Tmperial capital, died on the way at Benares.
But troubles in Bengal did not cease with his death,
The Portuguese pirates? renewed their incursions
into East Bengal with redoubled energy, under the
leadership of one Sevastian Gonzales, and many
were the reverses which the Mogul army sustained
at their hands.  The TPortuguese of Hooghly, how-
ever, kept themselves quite aloof from this struggle ;
they did not take part with the one side or the other.
Their main object was trade, and to trade they
principally directed their attention, not taking much
thought of the questionable doings of their country-

men in East Bengal,

* e was one of the Bara Bhuiyas of Bengal.

t The conquest of Jessore (Jasohara) by Man Sing has heen
graphically described Ly Bharat Chandra in a well-known poem which
bears the name of the victor.

T From these ‘sea-robbers,” the branch of the Hooghly, now
known as Channel Creck, got the name, ** Rogues’ River.”
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These doings raised such an alarm in the land that
the seat of Government was removed from Rajmahal
to Dacca. This was done when Islamm Khan was
Governor of Bengal. The we!l-known Khan cer-
tainly kept the Portuguese under check and control,
but he did not succeed in conquering them. He died
in 1613, and was succeeded by Kasim Khau, who
was anything but an energetic ruler. The next
Governor, Ibrahim Khan, however, was a different
man altogether. He was not oily a first-rate soldier,
but also a first-rate administrator.  Through the
benignaut influence of his rule, the country smiled
with peace and prosperity.  But soon a change came
over it, which, however, was owing to a cause over
which he had no control.

Jehangir was undeniably a good man, buat his
coodness degenerated-into a fault.  As Sir Thomas
Roe* says of him, “heis of 50 good a disposition
that he suffers all men to govern, which is worse than
being ilL”  But, in the matter of governing him,
none approached his favourite wile, the far-famed
Nur Jehan: In fact, he was a mere puppet in her
hands. Among the sons of the Emperor, Khurrum
(afterwards Shah Jehan) was undoabtedly the fittest ;
but, notwithstanding his superior worth and ability,
he was not liked by Nur Jehan. The latter favoured
the fourth son, Shahryar, to whom her only daughter

* Roe visited India in 1615-16 A D.
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by ber first husband had been married ; and it was
but natural that she should have been anxious to
have him nominated successor to the throne. The
consequence was that Khurrum raised the standard
of revolt in 1621, Ile marched against Delhi, but
was soon defeated by the Imperial army. On being
pursued, he fled into Bengal and stationed himself
at Burdwan, While at this place, he was waited
upon by the Portuguese. Governor of Hooghly,
Michael Rodriguez,whom he received with the great-
est kindness.  The Prince promised him rich reward,
if he would help bim with - some pieces of artillery
and a detachment of IMuropean soldiers. But the
Governor declined  the offer, lest, by accepting it, he
should incur the displeasure of his father, the Em-
peror. The Prince’s feelings were sorely wounded,
and it is very probable that he secretly vowed ven-
geance. bBut, though he did not get any assistance
from the Portuguese, he, with the' ineans and resources
at his command, engaged the Mogul governor on the
banks of the Ganges, who after having performed
many feats of valour, fell fighting on the field of
battle. Victory smiled on the Prince, and he became
the Lord of Bengal in 1622, But, after he had held
1t for two vears, fortune again frowned upon him. Ile
was defeated by the Imperialists, and, on his asking
pardon from his father, was forgiven,

Jehangir died in 1627, and was succeeded by Shah
Jehan, Kasim Khan, a favourite of the new Emperor,
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was appointed to the government of Bengal early in
the next year. The principal event during his viceroy-
alty was the siege and capture of Hooghly. The
Portuguese might have forgotten all about the offence
which their Governor, Michael Rodriguez, huad given
to Shah Jehan in 1621 ; but Shah Jehan himself, it
would seem, had not let the matter pass out of his
mind, and, now that he was in a position to make
them feel the weight of his.displeasure, was on the
look-out for an apportunity to'take action against
them. Accordingly, “he directed Kasim Khan to
keep a sharp eye upon them, and to inform him of
their doings, if they acted arbitrarily or unjustly. For
two full vears, the wary Viceroy watched them with
the greatest attention, and, having obtained sufficient
informatiou in the matter, preferred a complaint
against them to the Kmperor. The principal charges
were, that they had converted many natives to Chris-
tianity by force, and fortified their Settlement without
permission.  There were also some minor counts, as,
for instance, their having levied tolls on the boats
which passed by their factory, and drawn off all the
trade from Satgaon. Shah Jehan, who was only seek-
ing for a specious plea to give vent to his displeasure,
ordered Kasim Khan at once to turn the Portuguese
out of Bengal. But the Governor knew verv well
that the order could not be carried out with the same
promptitude with which it had been given. Hooghly
was strongly fortified, and the garrison which defend-
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ed it, was pretty considerable. The placz* could not
be attacked from the side of the river, as there were
many well-equipped vessels always ready to serve as
a strong bulwark to it.  The fort, besides being well-
founded, was surrounded by a deep moat which vever
became dry. Great preparations had, therefore, to be
made before such a place could be attacked with any
chance of success. But Kasim was equal to the
occasion, and he had a worthy co-adjutor in his brave
son, Enayet Ullah, whose soldierly qualities were of
a very high ordert = A large corps was sent from
Dacca, under Enayet, with Allah Yar Khan as the
second in command, while a small detachment was
despatched, under Khwajah Shere, from another
quarter.

On the r1th June, 1632, the Mogul army besieged.
Hooghly., The Portuguese had written to the Govern-
ment at Goa for reinforcements ; but as yet nons had
arrived. In fact, no succour ever came, though the
siege lasted for a pretty long time. The Portuguese,
in their despuir, endeavoured to escape by means of
boats down the river; but all their efforts in that
direction were baffled by Khwajah Shere, who.

* William Bruton, quarter-master of the Hopewe// Fast India-
man, who wrote an account of his party, describes Hooghly (in 1632)
as “‘an island, made by the Ganges, baving several thousand Portu-
guese Christians in it.” A writer, in Stewart’s Descriptive Catalogue,
represents Ilooghly as ¢ protected on one side by a river, and on the
other three, by a deep ditch which was filled by the tide.”

1+ Masum  Khan, grandson of ‘‘the rich zamindar Isa” of
Khizirpur, was also in command of a detachment at this important
siege. Bahadur Kambu also assisted, he having come from Murshidabad.
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guarded the river at Srirampur where he had cons-
tructed a bridge of boats with a view to cutting off
their retreat. The besieged held out for three entire
months,* when the Mogul soldiers succeeded in
laying dry the ditch in front of the Church, dug a
mine, and blew up a portion of the town. Hooghly
was taken on the 10th September. The loss on the
side of the Portuguese was immense : out of 64 large
vessels, 57 grabs, and 2oosloops which were anchored
opposite the town, only one grab and two sloops
made their escape, The captain of the largest
vessel, on which were embarked 2,000 men, women
and children, with “all their goods and valuables,
rather than yield to the Musalmans, set fire to the
magazine and blew ' them 'up; and many other
vessels followed hisdesperate example. Ten thousand
Portuguese are said to have perished during the
siege, and 4,400 were taken prisoners, About 10,000
natives, whom the Portaguese had in their power,
were liberated. A thousand Musalmans died as
martyrs for their religion.t Thus fell Hooghly?

* In the Badskaknamal of Abdul Hamid Tahori, it is stated
that the siege lasted for three and half months. But in the Z'zerikh-
7-Khafi Khan, or Kafi Khan’s Annals (a later work,) the period is
given as three months only.  (See Elliot’s ‘History of India as told
by its own Historians,” Vol. VII.) The auther of the Badshaknamak
died in 1654.

+ Blochmann’s Adn-7-Akbari, vol. 1, p. 499. See also Stewart’s
accouunt in his Iistory of Bengal. The Aadskaknamak gives a
similar account.

1 At that time D. Mignel de Noronha was the Viceroy of
Portnguese India. He ruled from October 1629 to December 1635.
Rehatsek’s Portugieese India, Calcutia Review. 1881,

B
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and with its fall the Portuguese bade a final fare-
well to Bengal, so far as their political power was
concerned. . Three days after the fall, the Governor,
Kasim Khan, who had brought it about, departed
this world.

Hooghly, having thus fallen into the hands of the
Moguls, was made the Royal Port in Bengal. All
the offices and records were removed thither from
Satgaon, which soon sankinto insignificance. A
Fouzdar was appointed  from, Court, who had
considerable powers given him.. He, it would appear,
was the head ol the Police, ‘and also exercised
jurisdiction in criminalicases® The TFouzdar at
first held his office subject to the Governor of the
province, but in procsss of time he was made in-
depeadent of him, It was the Nawah Murshid
Kuli Khan who, again, reduced him to his sub-
ordinate position. The pay of the Fouzdar was
at one time very high, but it was afterwards cut
down to Rs. 32,000 a year.

CHAPTIER II.
Tue ENcGLIsH IN HOOGHLY.

While the Portuguese were desperately contending
with the Mogulsin Bengal, the English, who were the

“ The rfvusdar was the (huf Police Ofticer and Judge of all
crimes not capital 3 the Koseeal, the Head Constable of thie town,
was subordinate to him.  The Nasiw, as Supn me Magistrate, preku]—
ed at the trial of capital otfenders —Field's A ’I'/(l"ﬂll.&‘, p- 133
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“gorgeous Kast,” had

first* to follow them to the
gained a footing in India. In 1609 their ambassador,
Hawkins, arrived at Agra,} and had the honour of
an interview with Jehangir, who was highly pleased
with him. The Emperor hestowed on him many
favours, which induced him to prolong his stay till
November 16171, when he left for England. The year
following} is memorable for the first settlement$ made
by the English in India. [Tawkins was followed by
Sir Thomas Roe, “who, landed -at Surat in 1613,
Foorly in the next year he waited upon Jehangir, by

whom he was received in & manner quite becoming

* Just after, the Dutch followed Tem and erclong succeeded in
depriving the Porteguese of many of their possessions in the East,

b Akbar removed the seat of Goverment from Delhi to Agra, where
he built the red-stone fort which still yeceives its tritnte of praise from
all heholders.  Within the fort is Shah Jehan's Mozs Vuvjrd, which is,
perhaps, the purest and doveliest “hoase of prayer in the world.  But
the wonder of wonders is the 7y feha/, a romance in marble,
“designed by Titwms and fintshed Ty jewellers.”  As ““seats of
mightiest Fmpire,” the schlime poct of the Zuraddse Zos¢ makes men-
tion of ¢ Agra and Lahore of Great Mognl.”

+ The frman was obtained from Fwperor Jehangir in December
1612, See Brucl's dnnals of the Fast Iwdia Company. Vol 1.,
page 1603,

§ Surat is the “* Sanrashira” of the Sanscrit wrillers.  IHere the
Parsces also made their £/ settlemen:, oo teing turned out of Persia.
Surat continued to be the principal scat of Dritish connerce on the
Western Coast, « - virtaally in all Indiz, until 7 vear 1087, when the
Presidency of Western India was transierced o ilombay, which island
had been ceded to Charles IT by tne Portagucse in 1662, and was
transferred by him to the East Indin Company in 1608, (See Broome’s
History of the Pewgal Arugy, ppoo2-30 Surat was taken by the
lughish on 2nd March, 1759, Bishop leber, who visited Surat in
April 1823, described it as ¢ a very large and ugly city,™

% In Thomas Kerridge's letter to the East India Company, dated,
Ajmere, March 20, 1615, Edwardes is deseribed as the ** Messenger ™7
of the Company to Jehangir, und the predecessor of Sir Thamas Roe,
See Calentla Reviciw, Vol LI, {1871), p. 09 note.

3
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his position as ambassador from a powerful king. But
clever as he was, heclearly saw that his country could
not expect much from a ‘sovereign who so greatly
resembled his own master, the only difference between
them being that, while the one was a feol® of Minerva,
the other was a foolt of Venus, About the same
time the Shirleys ppeared as English envoys at the
Court of the great Shah of Persia. Thus, it is mani-
fest that the Inglish were very active in their en-
deavours to obtain a firm footing in the East, to the
detriment of the Portuguese, whose power and in-
fluence were rapidly ‘on the decline. But up to this
time they had not been able to enter Bengal. This
much longed-for object was at last gained, not by the
sword of the soldier, but by the lancet of the surgeon,
Fortunately for them, a Princess of the Imperial family
suddenly fell seriously-ill. - All the skill which the:
Court hakims possessed in the healing art had been
employed in vain, when the sorrowful Emperor, in
sheer despair, wrote to the English at Surat, asking
them to send up a competent doctor to the Imperial
Presence. Accordingly, Mr. Gabricl Boughton, of the
London Company’s ship Hopewell, who was the best
man available on the occasion, was readily deputed

* James I. was known in his time as ““ the wisest fool in Furope™

{ The Emperor’s personal character is vividly pourtrayved by Sir
Thomas Roe in his 7rawe/s. Indeed, he was an inveterate drunkard,
and was led by the nose by the Empress Nur Jehan, the Ilelen of
the East.
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to the Imperial camp,* and as good fortune would
have it, he succeeded in effecting the cure of the
Princess in a comparatively short time.t

Shah Jehan was highly pleased with him and asked
him to name his reward. Boughton could have madc
a fortune for life; but, preferring the good of his
country to his own, he begged that the English might
be permitted to establish a factory in Bengal and to
trade in it free of duty, The prayer was no sooner
made thau granted by the grateful EKmpervor; and
Pipli, near Baleswar, was the place fixed upon for the
factory. There, in the year 163471 the Lnglish anchor-
ed their first ship.  Boughton, who had come across
the country with the Imperial firman, purchased cargo
without difficulty.  All this took place during the
Viceroyalty of \jim Khan, who had succecded
Kasim Khan, and who ruled Lengal till 1037, But
the trading privilege thus granted to the * Jan Kom-
.pani,”'as they were quaintly called, was very restricted,
inasmuch as their vessels were prohilited from en-
tering auy other port than Pipli.

The affairs of the Company ccntinued in this state
till 1644,§ when the same Doctor Bougbton, by

* Boughton was sent to Agra in 1645, 1le died in 1637, See Dr.
Crawford’s Hooghlr, p. 13.

b Sce Murray's Judia, p. 183.
+ Murray makes it 1640 (see his Judia, p. 183) 1 while Bruce (sec
Asenals, Vol 111, p. 188, states that Shah Jchan gave the Inglish ¢
firman (AN/skan) in 1651-52.

3§ See Broome's History of the BHengal lrmy, p., 5. Murray says
“hat the factory at Ilooghly was built in 1656.  (Zudia p. 183).
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another successful cure in the Viceregal court of Shah
Shujah at Rajmahal * obtained for his countrymen
permission to establish a factory at Hooghly. No
sooner was the privilege granted than it was availed
of, and a factory was built, after the manner of the
Portuguese, whose place the English occupied after
an interval of only a few years.t Although they were
allowed to build a factory, they were, however, not
permitted to approach it with their ships, but were
constrained to anchor them further down, near the
mouths of the river, and to bring up and send down
all their cargo in sloops.  Shali Shujah ruled Bengal
for nearly twenty yearsi and his rule was one of
unusual prosperity, not a little of which was owing to
Furopean trade.  Shujab, who had such a sad end:
was succeeded by that remnarkable man, Mir Jumla,

whose high military talents had been of immense

Colonel Yule, editar of Hedges' Drary, gives the date in January
1651, (Sce Vol. 111, pp., 194-95).

* Rajmahal stands on the confines of Ilindustan, separating it from
Bengal Proper.  Man Sing first made it the Capital of Bergal. It
was once a very splendid city.  Among its ruins, which, like those of
Gour, are of great interest to the antiquarian, the most important are
those of Shalv Shujah's palace, built in 1640,

+ This factoty was constructed under the supervision of the officers
of the Mogul Government, the utmost vigilance being exercised to
prevent the place being well fortified.  The estublishment of armed
retainers was, worcover, strictly liwited 70 an cosizn and thirty men
to do honors (o the principal Agents.  (See Orme's Allitary Transac-
tions fnn Industan; Vol 11, p., 10).

+ In1651-52 he granted the British a firman giving them the pri-
vilege of free trade throughout the DProvince on payment of the trifling
sum of three thousand rupees annually. Bruce's .fwnals, Vol 1,
pp. 463-64 This firman was confirmed by Shah Jeban by a fresh
one, dated the 12th September, 1678, Vol 11, p. 431.
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service to Aurungzebe in his struggle for the throne
of Delhi. This Viceroy removed the seat of Govern-
ment again to Dicca, and cngaged in a series of
warlike operations which well-nigh  engrossed  his
whole attention.  Thus, he fought on like a veritable
son of Mars till 1663, when he breathed his last on
his way back tohis capital frorn his ill-starred Assam
campaign,

Mir Jumla was succeeded by Shaista Khan, who was
the nephew of the celebrated-Nur Jehan, Shaista
Khan’s administration was fon s

=0

of about three years, he governed Bengal from 1663

for, barring a break

to 1689, During the first period® of his rule, Euro-
pean commerce made great progress. In the yer
of his accession to the government, the Iinglish East
India Company placed their factorics in Bengal under
the control of Madrast and established out-factories
at Baleswar and Kasim-Bazar. Their first manager
was Marshall, probably " the first Sanscrit scholar
among Englishmen, It has been already stated that
the English, though they had been allowed to build
a factory at Hooghly, were nct permitted to approach
it with their ships. This being found very incon-
venient, they petitioned Shaista Khan for permission

* Muhammad Sharif was Fouzdar o7 Hlooghly about 1665,

t Madraspatam was purchased by the Engiish from the Rajah of
Chandragiri in 1639.  Iere, Mr. Francis Day huiit FFort St. George,
and became the founder of Madras which was the first territorial
possession of the Company in Indin.  The sacred Kanchi, the Benares
of Southern India, is not far from Madras,
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to proceed in their ships at once to their factory, and
the good Governor granted it in 1669. A number
of pilots having become necessary for the purpose, the
Court of Directors* gave orders, and thus the present
pilot establishmentt originated.

But it was not the linglish alone who benefited by
therule of Shaista Khan; three other European
nations also came in for their share of his favours.
The Dutch had well begun their Indian career. They
had already ousted the Portuguese from Malacca and
Ceylon, but they had not been: able to make any
settlement in Bengal. It was Shaista Khan who
granted the necessary privilege,  and, accordingly, in
1675, they built a factory at Hooghly, whence they
subsequently removed to the neichbouring village of
Chinsura§ ; and we have the authority of Mr, Stewart,
the well known historian of Beugal, for starting that
in the very next year, the French made their settle-
ment at Chandernagoreand the Danes at Serampur. |

* The Directors were first elected in 1704. They were twenty-four
in number, and were invested by the Company with the power of
managing their territorial possessions in India, as well as their com-
merce in the Fast and West.  Fude Raja Ram Mohun Roy’s English
Works, Vol. 11, p. 516, note.

t See Broome's Zlistory, p. 83 and Bruce's fmnals, Vol. 11,
pp. 228-29.

+ Marshman’s HSengal, p. 62.

§ Chinsura is the linglish form of the native name Choochoora, the
““ Chinchura” of Orme. The Dutch records have ‘¢ Cintsurah,” and
Surgeon Garcin’s Jfournal has Chinchora.

i Marshman, however, places it in 1672.—History of Bengal,
p. 62 Dr. John Fryer visited India in that year.

¢ Serampore (Srirampore) is about twelve miles to the south of
Hooghly. It was visited in December 1823 by Bishop Teber, who
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Shaista Khan resigned his high office in 1677. But
even when away from the Province he did not forget
the Europeans. The JEnglish had hitherto been
obliged to take out a fresh firman on the appointment
of a new Viceroy. This was no small grievance, for
on every such occasicu they were obliged to pav a
Jarge douceur to the Mogul officers,  When Shaista
Khan left Bengal, the Chiel of the linglish factory
sent an envoy with him to the Emperor Aurungzebe
to solicit a perpetaal_firman, precluding the necessity
of periodical renewal.. The order was at last obtained,
but not without difficulty, and chiefly through the aid
and influence of Shaista Khan. The well-known
French physician, Bernier, was present at the Court
of the Great Mogul at this time ; and had it not been
for the fact that his countrymen. had cnly recently
made their settlement iv Beuval, he would have tried
to obtain some such order for them.

Shaista Khan was' re-appointed to Bengal in the
latter part of 1679. This time he proved the very
reverse of what he hid been before he resigned his
office in 1677. But this change in his policy was uot
owing to any change in his character. The fact was
that he could not disobev the unjust and arbitrary
orders of a bigoted monarch, who ran counter to the
wise pohcy oflm illusteious ancestor, Akbar the Greats

-ducnh(d itas ““a handsmne place, kept beautifully c!e'm, and lnol\mn
more like an European town than C ‘aleutta, or any of its nelghhnurm'r
cantonments.” At that time Colonel Jacob Krefiing (1805-1828) was
the Danish Governor of Serampore.



26 HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT.

and, so far from endeavouring to weld his Musalman.
and non-Musalman - subjects into one harmonious.
whole, greatly widened the gulf between them. The
hated Jaspak, or poll-tax on non-Musalmans, which
had been abolished by his wise great grand-father*
was renewed by him, and under cover of it many
Hindoo templss were destroyed and many harmless
Hindoos were thrown into prison.  But it was not the
Hindoos aloue who were harassed by this odious tax.
At Hooghly, the Nabob’s officers demanded the same
payment from the Furopeans, but they got off by a
rich present to the Viceroy.

The Company’s trade in Beagal having acquired
considerable importance, the Court of Directors
decided to make Bengal independent of Madras.
Accordingly, in 1681, they raised it to the dignity
of a separate and independent settiement, and M,
William?t Hedges, who was appointed its first Chief,
entered Hooghly with a body-guard consisting of a
corporal and twenty uropean soldiers. This was
the germ of the British Army in India.  Before
this time the ships bound for Bengal had always.

called at Madras to receive their orders; they now

* See Blochmann’s .{7e, vol 1 p. 186.

1 Sec Broome’s History p. 9. Hedges reached Hooghly on 24th
Tuly 1682 He held office only for two years,  Having failed to give
satisfaction 1o the Court of Directors, he wuas superceded on 3oth
Augtust 1684 by George Giffnd, the Governor of Mudras, Bengal
being again made subordinate to Madras, and John Beard, the Third
in  Council, succeeding Hedges as  Governor of Bengal. (Sec
Crawford’s Zooghly, p. 17, and Broome’s #istory, p. 10).
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sailed right up the Ganges, and one of the very
first that came was armed with thirty guns.

The Company’s trade prav.ng very lucrative, many
private merchants intruded into it, thongh, by the
terms of the Charter which had been granted by
Queen Elizabeth, the right was restricted to the
Company’s Agents.* Many cfforts were made to
put down these “interlopers,” as they were called,
but all to no purpose. _The Court of Directors at
length found that the only way to prevent their
trading in Bengal, was to prevent their entering the
river.  Accordingly, ' they desired the Chief at
Hooghly to solicit' the permission of the Nabob to
erect a fort at the mouths of 'the Ganges, or on its
banks, that they might. move effectually intercept
the vessels of the interlopers.  Buat Shaista Khan,
rightly thinking that this would give the IInglish
the command of the whole river, refused their peti-
tion. There had also been 'about this time some
disturbances in Bihar; and the Company’s Agent
at Patna, having been charged with complicity, was
placed in confinement. The heart of the Nabob
was, in fact, quite alienated from the English, and
he issued orders confiscating all their factories in
Bengal. Thus, the trade of the Company was
thrown into the utmost confusion, and their ships

returned witn scarcely half their cargo. The Dutch
* The Company’s monopoly of trade ceased altogether on the
Jast renewal of their Charter v 1853,
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took advantage of this gloomy aspect of their rivals’
affairs to push on their own traffic. It was about
this time that they began to fortify their settlement
at Chinsura. The fort,* however, was not finished
until 1687,

The English now perceived that they must either
vive up the trade in Bengal or resort to force. They
determined upon the latter alternative, and in this
they were supported by their King, James [1. A
fleet of ten ships avas sent - out under Admiral
Nicholson, on board of which were six hundred
soldiers.  His orders were to embark all the Com-
pany’s servants and property, and, proceeding to
Chittagong, to capture it, with the assistance of the
remindars of East Bengal and the king of Arracan.*
But this ambitious © scheme was  doomed to a
disastrous end. A storm at sea having dispersed
the fleet, only six ships reached the Ganges and
sailed up to Hooghly.? "' little ‘before this time, the
Chief at Madras had sent four hundred soldiers
thither, These preparations for war, both by sea

* The fort was called Fort Gustavus, after the name of the then
King of Holland.

+ Otherwise cailed Racan, the Roshun of the natives. The

Ao Albars has Arhung.  Chittagong formerly helonged to the king
of Arracan, from whom it was conyuered by the Portuguese ; and
the latter lost it to the Monguls in 1666, on which occasion its name
was changed to [slamabad.

+ Job Charnock was, at this time, the chief Agent at Hooghly,
-he having taken the place of Beard on his death, The ships reached
Bengal late in 1686,
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and land, alarmed the XNabob* and he was
anxious soon to make up his differences with the
English., But, while negctiations were going on, an
incident happened which gave a fatal turn to the
whole affair. On the 28th October, 1686, three
English soldiers, strolling in the market-place in
Hooghly, quarrelled with some of the Nabob's
people and were severcly Dbeaten by the latter.
This little row soon assuwming a formidable shape,
troops were turned out on both-sides, and a regular
engacement ensued.  Many men were killed, and
more were wounded: " During the engagement Ad-
miral Nicholson opened fire on the town, and
upwards of five hundred houses were destroyed,.
including the Company’s godewn, in which property
worth thirty Jecs of ‘rupees was lost.  The Fouzdar
taking alarn, begged that hostilities might cease, .
to which the English agreed, on his assisting to
convey their saitpetre on board their ships.  Not only
was this done, but their trade was allowed to continue
until orders could be received from the Emperor.

As soon as the Nabob heard of these events, he
directed all the out-factories at Patna, Malda, Dacca
and Kasim-bazar to be seized, and sent both infan-
try and cavalry to [Hooghly with the view of
expelling the English from the country. The mer-

chants at Hooghly, not thinking themselves safe,

* Atcul Guuny was then Governor of Hooghly.
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retreated, under their President, Job Charnock *
about twenty-six miles down the river, to the
-swampy village of Satanutit on the 20th December;
About a week after their removal, three of thd
Nabob’s officers arrived at Hooghly, whither Mr,
-Charnock proceeded to treat with them ; and a
treaty was agreed upon, whereby the English were
restored to their former privileges. But the Nabob'’s
object was only to gain time, in order that he
might crush the ‘Company  once and for ever.
Accordingly, in the beginning of T'ebruary 1687, he
sent a large arimy under-Abdul Sumad Khan to
Hooghly, whereupon M. Charnock quitted Sutanuti
for ITijli; On his way down the river he destroyed
the fortress at Tanna§ and captured some Mogul
ships.  The island of T1ijli was the worst site for a
settlement that could-have been selected. It was a
low, unhealthy swamp, covered with long arass, where
not a drop of frash water could be found. Thither,
however, Mr. Charnock escaped, and commenced
building fortifications, with a view to protecting him-
selt from the attacks of the enemy. In three months,

* Charnock come out to India in 1653 or 1656 and never saw his
native country again.  He became  Chiet of THooghly in 1686 n the
death of Beard.

- So called from the innumerable fanks of cotton thicad which the
inhabitants, who were mostly of the weaver class, used to drv in
the sun. -

% Do Laet, in Wis Zwdia Tera, calls it “Angeli,” which he places in
the provinee of Orissa, net very far from < Ugeli,” the port Piqueno
of the Portuguese.

§ The Lort of Tanna lay about § mies below Culeutta, on the
opposite shore. Orme’s Zudustan. Vol. 11,
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half the troops perished, and the other half were ouly
fit to be sent to hospital. The prospects of -the
‘Company thus wore a very gloomy ‘aspect, ard it
seemed as if they would erelong be obliged to abandon
Bengal, when fortune again began to smile on them.
‘This favourable turn in their affairs was owing.to the
determination of the Court of Directors to carry every-
thing by force. When the troubles in Beungal com-
menced, the Court scut petemptory orders to their
Governor at Surat to close the Company’s factory, and
to seize on every Mogul ship of war that could be
found at sea, Now, Surat was the port whence pious
Musalmans embarked on their pilgrimage to Mecca,
and the chief business of the war-vessels was to
protect the pilgrims during the voyage., As the
English now guarded the harbour and commanded
the sea, the way to Mecca was virtually closed ; aund
it was with a view to re-opening it that the haughty
Emperor condescended to accomodate matters with
the English.  Accordingly, on the 16th August 1687,
a treaty was concluded, by which the English were
permitted to set up factories in different parts of the
Empire, and Ulubzria* was given them f.r magazine
and docking purposes, while Mr. Charnock, on his
part, engaged to return all the Mogul ships he had
captured. After the treaty was concluded, the

* So called from the place having been for the most part covered
with 2/u grass. The Uluberia of olden times has since been washed
away by the river.
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English under their Chief removed to Uluberia
whence they afterwards returned to Sutanuti in
September 1687.

The Nabob, however, soon renewed his oppres-
sions. He ordered the English to return to Hooghly,
and not to build either with stone or brick at Suta-
nuti, at the same time allowing his soldiers to plunder
them, and also demanding a large amount from
Charnock, who had neither army to oppose his men
nor money to satisfy his demand. He, therefore, sent
two of the merbers of his Council to Dacca, in the
hope of conciliating the Nabob and obtaining leave
to continue at Sutanuti, After much difficulty these
officers had just succeeded in their endeavours when
the affairs of the English were again involved in still
darker clouds. The Court of Directors, having heardt
of the engagement at Hooghly and the retreat of the
troops to Hijli, had, with great promptitude, sent out
re-inforcements under Captain Heath, with orders to.
take all their servants in Bengal and proceed to
Madras, in case they failed to obtain what they
desired, namely, a fort and a mint.* Heath was a
hot-headed, inexperienced soldier, governed more by

pIN)

passion than by “the pauser, reason.”+ He arrived
in Bengal in October, 1688, and ordered all the

Company’s servants to embark with all the public

* See Brace’s Annals, vol. 11, p. 595.
1 Orme describes him as ‘“a man of courage, but of variable
disposition, not far removed from craziness.”
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property on board his fleet, and on the 8th November
sailed down to Baleswar. Wien he had reached the
Baleswar Roads, the Mahomedan officer of the town
seized the Company’s factors there, and held them as
pledges. But, though the two chief officials of the
factory were now prisoners, and the two deputies
were still in the power of the Nabob at Dacca, Heath
landed his troops at Baleswar on the 29th November,
and, after plundering it of all *goods and chattels,”
burnt it to ashes.  Having thus ravaged the place,
he sailed direct’ to Chittagong, but, failing to
capture it, moved his fleet down towards Arracan.
On his arrival there, he sert words to the King,
offering to join him in attacking the Moguls, if he
would permit the Iinglish to settle in his dominions.
Not having received any reply for a fortninght, he
became very impatient; and sailed towards Madras
with the whole fleet, consisting of fifteen sail, on
which were embarked the Governor, the Council, the
Company’s servants and all their merchandise, Thus
were the Knglish settlements in Bengal wholly aban-
doned about fifty ycars after their first establishment,
As Bombay and Madras were well fortified, they were
not touched ; but the Emperor ordered all the other
factories of the English to be destroyed, and their
goods to be scized througliout his Empire; and
Shaista Khan was obliged to comply. He, accordingly,
sequestered all the Company's property in Bengal,
and placed their two agents at Dacca in irons.



CHAPTER III

SHOVA SINGH'S REBELLION AND TIHE
MARHATTA RAarbs.

THE Nabob, Shaista Khan* having grown very
0ld, was permitted to retire into private life. The
high office resigned by him was first given to
Bahadur Khan and a few months later to Ibrahim
Khan,t son of the celebrated Ali Murdan Khan.
The new Viceroy proved a very mild ruler! and the
prospects of the Iinglish again brightencd up under
his ¢ temperate sway,” ‘They were invited back to
Bengal, and, on the auspicious day of 2yth  August,
1690, Job Charnock hoisted the standard of England
at Sutanuti and laid the foundation of Calcutta,
leaving Hooghly in the lurch. On roth February,
1691, an imperial order was issued, under the seal of
Arsad Khan, allowing the Jnglish to “ contentedly
continue their trade’ in Bengal, on payment of
Rs. 3,000 yearly in-lien of all duess Charnock,
however, did not live to see Calcutta become a
flourishing town ¥ as, two years after, he departed

* Shaistabad, the seat of the well-known Mir family, was found-
ed by him.

b Mir Ali  Akbar was, it would scem, appointed Fouzdar of
llooghly about the same time.

1+ He is described in the Consultation, dated the 10th October

1689, as ‘* that famously just and good Nawab Ibrahim Khan."
§ Crawford’s Hoogily, p. 19.

" Towards the close of 1632, the seat of Government was
removed from Hooghly to Calcutta.
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this world.* This remarkable mant who founded
“the City of Palaces” and has given name to the
Viceregal villa which is still called Achanuck?} by the
grateful natives, lies humbly buried in the north-
western corner of the grounds of St. John’s Church,

The English had all along longed for a fort and a
mint, but the jealousy of the Mogul officers had
hitherto stood in the way of the fulfilment of their
wish. In 1696, however, an event happened which
-enabled them to effect their purpose, at least to a
certain extent. Rajah Krishna Ram§. of Burdwan
having plundered Shova ~Singh, the troublesome
Zemindar of Chitwajj the latter was highly enraged,

* He died on 10th January 1692, old style, (1693, modern style), as
appears from the inscription on his tomb. Charnock was succeeded
by Mr. Francis Ellis, the next in seniority, but not a fit man though,
for the sitnation. The latter was soon after removed, and Mr. (after-
wards Sir Charles) Eyre, the Chief of the 1acca factory, appointed in
his place on 12th August 1693.  (See Broome’s History, p. 26).

f Charnock is well worthy of high praise, and may be considered
to have paved the way for Clive.  Though he had suffered much for
the Company, yet he steadily persevered to advance their interests.
On one occasion he was severely scourged hy order of Naboly Shaista
Khan. —Wheeler's Early Records, p 162.

1 The English name is Barrackpur, so famous for its fine park,
which, to use Bishop IMeber’s words, ¢ offers as beautiful a display
of turf, tree, and flowering shrub, as any scene in the world can
produce,” In the park there was oncsalso a menagerie which was
well worth a visit.  Orme writes ““ Job Chanock” instead of Job
Charnock.

§ Krishna Ram was the third in descent from Babu Rai, the
founder of the family. Ilis son, Jagat Ram, was slain in 1702, and
‘was succeeded by Kirti Chandra, in whose time the poet Ghanoram
Chakrabarti wrote his admirable Epic, entitled Dharma Mangal.
Both Krishna Ram and his son Jagat Ram were called ¢ Rajah’
hy courtesy, and their Zemindari ¢“ was of very confined dimensions,
comprising no more than six or seven pergunnahs.” (See The [tk
Leport of the Select Conmitice, p. 402).

i Now in Midnapur, Abul IFazl, in the .{in-i-4kbari, says that
Chitwa is a mehal lying intermediate between Bengal and Orissa.
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and marching through a forest by a road unknown.
to the people of Burdwan, passed the river Damoodar*
and took up a strong position commanding the
Rajah’s palace.  Krishna Raimn, being thus taken
quite unawares, and finding no means of escape,
secretly sent away his son Jagat Ram to the Court
of Ram Krishna, the Rajah of Nadia, while he, in.
right Rajput fashion, slew the females of his famitly
in order to avoid their falling into the hands of the
enemy. After this-horrible deed had been done by
Krishna Ram, Shova Singh, with his army, entered
the city, and, in the battle which eusued, defeated
and killed him, Thus, his power extended over the
whole of Burdwaun. A beautiful maiden daughter of
Krishna Ram, who, by a pure accident, had escaped
from the siaughter committed by her father, fell into
the hands of the victor, who, smitten with her
personal charms, kept her as his iistress, little
thinking that she was destined erclong to prove his
murderer.  Prince Jagat Ram, having made his way
from the Court of the Nadia Rajah to the Viceregal
Court at Dacca, and laid his complaint before the
Viceroy, Ihrahim Khan, the latter forthwith ordered

Stewart spells the name wrong, Jetwa, and Marshman distorts it into
Chituyan. It belonged to Shova Singh, as also Barda, which lies
close to it. (Blochmann’s No/es, appended to Hunter's Statistical
Account ol Fengal, Vol. [). Shova Singh's great-grandfather,
Raghunath Singh, first settled in Bengal.  Raghunath’s son, Kanaye
Singh, purchased Chitwa, but subsequently lost it for a debt to Futteh
Singh of Barda. Shova Singh's father, Durjaya a//as Durlabh

ingh, again purchased Chitwa from I'utteh Singh’s son, Bir Singh,
vo which patrimony Shova Singh added Barda. The latter became
tery powerful and set up the standard of revolt against the despotism.
of Aurungzebe, the last of the Great Moguls.

* The ** Jan Perdo” of Colonel Gastrell's charts.
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Nurulla, Fouzdar of Jessore, to punish Shova Singh
who had, by this time, been joined by the :Afghan
Chief, Rohim Khan. A body of troops, three
thousand strong, was despatchzd to Hooghly ; but,
no sooner did the rebels make their appearnce, than
‘the Nabob’s army took fricht, re-crossed the river
and fled ; and Hooghly thus fell into the hands of
the rebels. The English, taking advantage of the
confusion, fortified their settlement at Sutanuti
so did the Dutch at'Chinsura who built Fort Gusta-
vus; and also the French at Chandernagere who
built Fort Orleans.

The rebels, having taken Hocghly, became much
elated, and sent out troops in al. directions to ravage
the country ; and the wretched people crowded into
‘Chinsura where they found rcfuge. To put a stop
to these ravages, the Dutch scut up two of their
ships of war to Hooghly, which poured in such a
shower of balls that the rebels ‘quitted it and fled to
Satgaon,  Thence Shova Singh, having detached
Rohim Khan with the larger portion of his army to
take possession of Nadia and Murshidabad, returned
to Burdwan. Here he soon after -met his deserved
end at the hands of the young princess of Burdwan,
whose person he, in an evil hour, attempted to out-
rage. Just as he folded her in his arms, the outraged
girl, pulling out a sharp knife which she had conccaled
in her thick luxuriant hair, plunged it into the bosom

* Here they laid the foundations of the vreginal Fort William.
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of the ruffian, and then stabbed herself. This double
tragedy was enacted towards the close of 1690.

After Shova Singh’s death, his son, or younger
brother, Himmat Smgh—for the accounts vary on
this point—came up to Burdwan with a considerable
army, and began to behave as unjustly as the
deceased had done.  As Ram Krishna had given
shelter to the Burdwan Prince, Jagat Ram, tlimmat
sent a detachment of soldiers against him ; but they
were repulsed with heavy loss. As long as Shova
Singh was alive, the Afghan, Rohim Khan, had
acted as his deputy ; but after his  death the troops
under his command elected him as their Chief, and
he, to give dignity and importance to the office,
asstumed  the pompous name of Robhim Shah, The
rebels daily extended the range of their depredations,
and by March 1697 they had become very powerful,
both in purse and possessions.  In fact, by March
1697, their chicf, Rohim Shah, had made himself
master of all Bengal west of the Ganges, except the
Furopean Forts,

The Governor, ITbrahim Khan, having failed to
quell the rebellion, the Emperor’s grandson,s Azim
Ushan, was appointed to succeed him on the
Viceregal throne, and his own son, Zubburdast
Khan, to take the military command. Zubburdast
was a very able general, True to his name, he
immediately assembled the troops and proceeded in

search of the rebels, with whom he came up at

* Second sen of his eldest son, Shah Alam (Bahadur Shah).
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Bhagwangola.* A desperate battle ensued in which
the rebels were completely routed, Rohim Shah
was driven from Murshidabad to Burdwan, and from
thence back to Orissa. He was, however, only
scotched, not killed, and it was not long before he
resumed his ruinous depredations.

The valiant exploits of Zubburdast Khan having
excited the jealousy of the new Viceroy, the latter,
who feared that there would be nothing left for him
to do, ordered the victorious-general not to risk
another battle, Znbburdast plainly saw through the
motive of Azim Ushan, and, accordingly, asked leave
to resign the service, which was readily granted. He
took away with him eight thousand soldiers, who
were the flower of the Bengal army ; and, when they
departed, the province might have been considered
as almost without defence.- Aziin Ushan came down
to Burdwan, where he held his Court in right royal
fashion, and received the congratulations of the
Rajahs and Zemindars. Rohim Shah despised this
silken prince as much as he dreaded the iron Khan.
He readily assembled his men, plundered [HHooghly
and Nadia, and approached within a few miles of
Burdwan itself. But his end was near. Having
resolved to kill the prince at any risk, he surrounded
his camp with a body of sturdy Afghans, and would

* Bhagwangola was visited by Bishop Heber in August, 1824. e
““found the place very interesting and even beautiful : a thorough
Hindu village, without vither Buropeans or Mussalmans.”  lere he
composed that delightful little poem. beginning with the beautiful line,

¢ If thou wert by my side, my love !”
v my b
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have succeeded in his enterprise, but for the bravery
of Hamid Khan, the bravest of the brave attendants
of the prince, who having challenged him to single
combat, severed his head from his shoulders. The
rebels, seeing their Chief fall, dispersed in all
directions. Azim Ushan continued some time at
Burdwan, While staying at this historic city, he
caused to be constructed, at some distance to the
north of Hooghly, a Bazar to which he gave the
name of Shahgunge®*  He likewise regulated the
customs of the port of Hooghly at two-and-half per
ceat. for Mahomedans, five per cent. for Hindus, and
three-and-half per cent. for Christians. The English,
however, were exempted from this tax, as, according
to the Imperial firman of 1691, they had only to
make an annual payment of Rs. 3ooo in the lump.
He was said alsol to have established the sayer, or
internal duties, on articles passing from one place
to another. In 1700t he formally transferredt to
the Fnglish the zemindari rights of the villages of
Sutanuti, Calcutta and Govindapur. This little
zemindari, which has now developed into a great
Empire, was placed under the charge of a Civilian,
assisted by a native Dewan.§

* Shahgunge, the “ gongee” of Broome, still keeps up its reputa-
tion as a place of trade.

T A Fort, called ¢ Fort William”, in honour of His Majesty,
King William I1I, was completed in 1700. It had been commenced
some three or four years before,

+ In this very important matter, Mr. Walsh was agent for the
Company. The consideration for the transfer was Rs. 16,000. .

§ The Civilian was styled the ‘Zemindar,’ while his native
assistant was called the * black Zemindar.” The salary of the former
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The Portuguese had left Hooghly for good; but
they were not much missed by the natives, as their
place was soon after taken by the English, When,
however, the latter retreated, towards the end of
1690, and none came to fill the void, Hooghly began
to decline,* True itis, it continued to be the seat
of the Fouzdar ; but that officer, it would scem, was
«quite unmindful of the duties of his office.  Accord-
ingly, a great many wealthy Hindus removed to
Calcutta, where the "Eihelish-liad made their new
settlement. This naturally excited the jealousy of
the Fouzdar, who threatened to place x Kazit in
Calcutta, to administer justice according to the
Mahomedan law. But the Faglish made a hand-
some present to Azim Ushan, and the Fouzdar was
told to lcave them alore.

[t was about this ‘time that a rival Kast India
Company, called the FEuvlisii Company, in contra-
distinction to the old 'T.ohidon Company, was
established in Kungland. The new Company sent

agents all over India, and, among other places, to

>

was Rs. 200 per mensem, and that of the Iatter Rs. 30 only, which was
eventually raised Lo Rs. 0. In 1720, one Govinda Ram Mitter was
appointed Dewan.  His influence was very great, even greater than
that of the Civilian Zewindar him:elf. When Mr. Holwell was
placed in charge of the Company's Zemindari in 1762, Govindia Ram
was compelled to retire.

* The English factory ar Hooghly, however, was not finally
abandoned till 1704, when the o¥cers were all withdrawn to
Calzutta,

I The duly of the Kas/ was 1 execute the law which was
expounded by the Mufti. Inlater times the J/my/f was merged in
the A%qz/ who did bLoth the duties.
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Hooghly.* But the rivalry of the two bodies having
been found seriously injurious to Iuglish interests
in India, they were amalgamated in 1702, under the
title of the “ United Company of Merchaunts trading
to the East Indies.”+ Thus, the dark cloud which
had threatened to involve the English trade in ruin,
rolled away without doing any great harm. But
fresh difficulties were in store for them, and 1t was
not long before they presented themselves,

In 1704, Jafar Khan was appointed Dewan of
Bengal, and, as he possessed: brilliant parts, soon
gave satisfaction to the Fmperor. But before he
had filled his office for barely three years, the great
Aurungzebs died. On his death in March 1707,
there was a fierce struggle for the throne among his
sons. Azim Ushan, Governor of Bengal, hastened
to help his father, Shali Alam, leaving Jafar Khan
as his Deputy in Bengal, who was now dignified with
the title of Murshid' Kuli Khan! which was perpe-
trated in the new capital which he afterwards founded.
The latter, however, had to make room for Azim
Ushan's son, Farakh Siyar, who acted as Deputy

Governor until some part of the year 1710, when

* Sir Edward Littleton, who was appointed President and Consul
of the new ¢ English Company,” arrived with his council and
establishment at Hooghly in July 1699, where he fixed his h_ead
quarters. e fortified the factory there in the next year and raised
troops for its defence.  (See Broomd’s 2istory at pp. 30, 32.)

1 Marshman's /ndiz, vol. I, p. 219.

+ Later on, he assumed the higher litle of Mahabat Jung, on
which occasion he bestowed his former title on_his grand-daughter’s.
husband, Mirza Lutfullah, Naib of the eastern districts,
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Murshid Kuli was given his place, and in the year
following promoted to his father’s place as chief
head of the Government. Murshid Kuli was the
ablest ruler the Province had under the Moguls
but, able as he was, his ability suffered muoch from
his tyrannous habits, The English fell under his
displeasure, and he began to oppress them so
severely, that, in April 1714, they sent an embassy
to the Great Mogul®* at Delhit which ultimately
proved successful through the instrumentality of the
Doctor attached to it, Mr. William Hamilton, who-
had the good fortune to cure the limperor of a
serions illness.?

But it was not only to the snbjects under his rule
that the Governor was severe ; his subordinates also
were made to feel his hich-handedness. From before
his titme, Zynuddin had been the Fouzdar of Hooghly,

but no sooner did he take charge of his high office,

* Emperor Ferohshere, son of Azim Ushan.

i Mr. Hedges, or rather Hodges. was at this time in sole charge
of the Presidency.  Sce Broomce’s #istory, p. 35.

* Hamilton bhaving, on being Jdesired by the Kmperor to name his
reward, preferred the Company’s jnterests to his own, the English
in 1717 obtained the royal ‘icense for the purchase of thirty-
eight villuges in the vicinity of {aleutta.  But this license they could
not carry into effect, owing to the machinations of Murshid
Kuli Khan, who secretly instigated the Zemindars of these villages
not to sell them to the Company. Thus, for wore than half a
century, the three villages of Sutanuti, Caleutta and (rovindpur
continued to be the whole of th: Company’s possessions in Bengal.
Hamilton, to whom the Compeny was so deeply indebted, died
soon after his arrival in Calcutta, on the roth of December 1717. His
tombstone is placed in the same building with that of Charnock. (See
Broome’s History, p. 37)
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than he dismissed* that officer, and appointed in
his place Wullee Beg, « Mogul protégé of his. The
powers of the Fouzdar were also curtailed, and he
was made subject to the Viceroy’s orders, and
rendered accountable to him for his conduct.  Thus,
the Fouzdar became a mere tool in the hands of the
provincial Governor.  Wullee Beg’s successor, Ashan
Al Khan, fared no better : he, too, was 4 mere tool
in the latter’s hand.*t Murshid Kuli Khan was
succeeded, in 1725, by his son<in-law, Shujah-ud-din,
who was far from being tyrannical. Shujaly’s rule
was one of peace and prosperity, In 1726 the English
established a Mayor's Court at Calcuttal on the
model of the one at' Madras; and, except on one
occasion, they were not molested during the whole
period of his administration, which lasted fourteen
years.§ The Nabob favoured not only his kith and

* This took place in September. 1741, The dismissed Fouzdar had,
it seems, succecded Mir Ibrahim who was Fouzdar from before 1704.

F Yolwell, in his Zuieresting Eoents, thus  describes Murshid
Kuli's character 1 *“ His name to this day is remembeied with
detestation : to fill his cofters he inflicted the most cruel punishments
on the Rajas and Zemindars by ways and means unheard of and
unknown but in this Eastern Government.  He also highly oppressed
the Europeans settled in these parts 5 yer, notwithstanding his very
mal-administration, he had the address to obtain the Government of
Behar and Orissa united with that of Bengal in his person, which
ever hefore had been distinct and separate Nababships,™

T Mr golt, who is well known for his Consildesations, was a
Judge of the Mayor's Court at Caleutta.  This Court, which consisted
of a Mayor and nine Aldermen and in which the Governor presided,
was superseded by the Supremie Court, with Sir Llijah Impey as its
first Chief Justice.

§ Some annoyance and jealousy was excited by the establishment
of a Company, "called the ‘“Ostend 1last India Company,” who
settled themselves at Banky-Bazar, a lintle below  Chundernagore,
but were finally driven out of the province in 1733, (See Broome’s
History, po38). In an unfinished poem on the goddess, Jlanashid,
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kin, he was also very kind to his servants and.
dependants., The office of Fouzdar of Hooghly
falling vacant, he gave it to his old domestic, Shujah
Kuli, in 1727. This officear having seized a boat
laden with sillk belongine to the English, the latter
sent up a file of soldiers and released it; and this
being represented to the Nabob as a great affront, he
issued an order forbiddivg the natives to supply
Calcutta or the other factories with grain. In view of
the inconvenience catised by thisiorder, the Inglish
averted his displeasure with a large present, Their
trade was greathy anzmented during Shujal’s rule,
but it was ill-managed, the Agents of the Company
being too deeply engageci in trade on their own,
account to pay sufficient attention to the interests
of their masters.

Shujah-uddin was succceded, in 1739, by his son
Surfersz Khan ; but it was not long before the latter
was defeated and slain at’ the battle of Gheriah,s
by  Aliverdi Khan, who, accordingly, ascended the
throne.  During Miverdi’s rule the Marhattast gave
an immense deal of trouble, and the country was

thrown into great confusion, which reached its

mention is made of a place called Bantv-Bazar,  See *“Notes on the
Banks of the Ganges™ by IHarrprosad Sastri, in the Proceedings of
the Asiatic Society of Bengal for December 1892.

* In January 1741 Sedr Mrarkherdn, vol. I, p. 304, Calcutta
Edition, 3 Vols, Raymond’s Trauslation.

| The Marhatta freebooters imuch resembled the Sevthians of old.
and like them, were all horsemen.  Their incursions were greatly
dreaded by the people of Bengal, who were repeatedly plundered of
their property and tortured in their persons.
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highest point in 1742. Mir Hobeeb, who had
.gone over to the Marhattas, induced Bhaskar
Pundit, who had made up his mind to return to his
country, to establish his head-quarters at Kutwa for
the rains which had already set in. The renegade,
taking several thousands of the best horse, ravaged
the country from Baleswar to Rajmahal. Hooghly
did not escape uninjured,—indeed, it was sadly
plundered and the inhabitants were roughly handled.#
It was at this time that the Marhatta Ditcht was
dug in order te secure Caleutta against their
-depredations.

Bhaskar Pundit was treacherously killed? in 1744,
By this event the Viceroy obtained some respite
{rom the Marhattas, but a more dreadful enemy soon
appeared in his own camp. - This was no other than
his famous Geuneral, Mustapha Khan, to whose advice
and valour he owed so much. This proud Afghan
revolted from the Nabob, 'and marched out of
Bengal with eight thousand horse and as many
thousand foot. He Joozed Rajmahal, took Monghyr,
and encamped before Patna. Before he left Bengal,
he had invited the Nagpur Marhattas to join him in
his projected attempt at conquering that country.

* See Broome, p. 41.

¥ This celebiated Ditch continues to mark the Municipal boundaries
of Calcutta, and has fixed on its citizens the soubriguet of the
“‘inhabitants of the Ditch.”—1 Marshman’s /zdia, p. 27 ; and Orme,
vol. IT, p. 15.

1 Tradition, however, reports that he fell fighting at Bishenpur, on
which occasion the god Madan Mohan, much like Castor and Pollux at
ithe battle of Regillus, is said to have taken an active part in the
-engagement on behalf of the Rajah,
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The Nagpur Rajah, Raghuji Bhoounsla, who was still
burning with revenge for the murder of his General
Bhaskar Pundit, readily acceded to his proposal, and
entered Bengal with a large army. Aliverdi, who
had gone in pursoit of Mustapha, hastened back to
Murshidabad on hearing of the arrival of the
Marhattas, divecting his  son-in-law, Zynuddin,
Governor of Bihar, to keep his eye on that rebel,
and prevent his approaching Bengal. Sowne time
after, Zynuddin met Mustapha in. battle, slew him,
and dispersed his followers. The Nabob, on his
part, fought several engagements with Raghuji  with
success.  After the last battle, which took place at
Kutwa, the latter fled to his own country.  But the
Marhattas, though repeatedly defeated, did not cease
to make incursions ; and the province of Orissa was
still in their hands. = Tne Nabob again gave them
battle, and, beating them, returned to Murshidabad
before the rains of 1748,

A few days after, Zynuddin was murdered by the
Afghans, Shumshere Khan and Sirdar Khan, who
had revolted from the Nabob., Haji Ahmed, the
father of the murdered Governor, also shared the
same fate.  Again, the DMarhattas invaded Bengal,
but, again, they were repulsed.  Siraj-ud-daula, son
of Zynuddin, was given his father’s place in Bihar,
while Syed Ahmed, second son of Haji Ahmed, was
appointed Fouzdar of Purneah. Sokut Jung, who
figured afterwards as a rival of Siraj-ud-daula, was
the son of Syed Ahmed.
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During the ‘Marhatta raids, Hooghly was plun-
dered several times.  Satgaon fared still worse, It
was about this time that the renowned Mohdshaya
family of Bansberia,* dug a deep and wide moat
around their extensive dwelling-house;  and not
unirequently did the inhabitants of Bansberia and
the adjoining villages take shelter in their well-forti-
fied residence from the attacks of the Bargist as
the Marhatta marauders were called in native
parlance. The moat is still in existence, though in
a state of disrepair,

Nabob  Aliverdi concluded 'a treaty with the
Marhattas in 1751.  Thereafter they never appeared
in his dominions, as they were quite satisfied with its
terms. The cession of the large province of Orissal
was certainly a big sop. The Province had suffered
much from their ravages, and the few remaining
years of his life were spent by the old Nabob in
repairing the damages. He died on the gth
April 1750.

# Aore properly ¢ Bangshabati.’

{ This word seems 1o be another form of the Arabic word 4iy7,
which means an inswrgent, a rebel, a mutineer. The Bargis are not
to he confounded with the Bagree Dacoits, of wham Colonel Sleeman
wrote a very interesting account.

+ Orissa remained in their hands (il 1804, when it was ceded to
the English by the Raja of Berar, after \Wellesley’s campaign in the
Deccan.



CHAPTER IV,

Tue DAWN OF BRITISH RULE IN INDIa,
AND THE REFORMS OF HASTINGS
AND CORNWALLIS.

ON  Aliverdi’s death, the Government of Bengab
and Bihar devolved upon his daughter’s son, Straj-
ud-daula, whom he had spoiled by too much
indulgence.* The new Viceroy, who was still in
his teens, soon proved hiinself a veritable tyrant,
and his subjects longed in their hearts for his death
or dethronement. "Even the foreign merchants were
not allowed to live unmolested, The Nabob soon
picked a quarrel with the Euglish at Calcutta, the
head and front of their offonce being that they had
repaired their ramparts facing the river, and refused

w Broome thus  speaks  of S paj-ud-davla : —*“This  youth,
naturally of a weak mind andevuel disposition, and  educated in the
worst of all schools, the vice and luxury of an Fastern Court, was
completely spoiled by the “indulgence wnd doting fondness of his
grandfatber, and gave way to every deseription of vice and profligacy
without any check.™  (See Antory of the Bengal Army, p. 46).
The author of Sesr ul Wutakherin paints him in still darker eolours,
Fle says: ~““He made no distinetion 1 ctween vice and virue, and
paying no regard o the nearest relations, he carvied defilement
wherever he went 5 and likec a mn alienaed in his mind, he made
the houses of men and women of distinciion the scenes  of his
profligacy, without minding ecither rank or station. In a liule time
he became as detested as Pharvoah, and people on mecting him Ly
chance used to say, God save us from him ! See Vol 1, p. 645-46.

D
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to deliver up Krishnadas,* who had taken refuge
with- them. Siraj-ud-daula marched against the
settlement with a large army, The command was
given to Manick Chand, Fouzdar of Hooghly, who
attacked the place. Both Drake, the Governor, and
Minchin, the Commandant, fled, and thus Calcutta
surrendered on the 2oth June. The night of this
-day was dreadful indeed, for in it was enacted the
harrible tragedy of the *“ Black Hole.” Oune hundred
and forty-six able-bodied persons. were thrust into
a dark little room,T with the painful result, that,
when the door of the prison ‘was opened the next
morning, only twenty-three came out alive. A few
days after, the Nabob quitted Calcuttal leaving
it in the charge of his General, Manick Chand.

The news of the “Black Hole” massacre filled
the hearts of the English at Madras with mingled
feelings of alarm and indiguation. Fortunataly,
Clive had come back from the mother country.
Preparations for war were immediately commenced,
and, in October, he and Watson sailed from Madras
with about 2400 soldiers, and reached the mouths

* A son of Raja Rajbullubh, Deputy Governor of Dacca.
Though generally so called by European writers, his real namne
was Krishna Bullubh. He reached Calcutta on 17th March 17356,
and obtained leave from Governor Drake to veside in it.

+ It was about 18 feet square, having only two small barred
windows on the western or leeward side, and those obstructed by a
low veranda. See Broome, p. 67.

+ The Nabob ordered the name of Calcutta to be changed
to Alinagar to perpetuate the memory of his conqguest. See Orme,
Vol. 11, p. 8o.
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of the Ganges in the month following, The Mogul
fortification at Budge-Budge was soon afterwards
attacked. Manick Chand, who had arrived there two
days before with a reinforcement of 1,300 horse and
2,000 foot, retreated to Calcutta after some resistance,
and from thence to the Viceregal capital, leaving
five hundred men to defend the fort. Clive entered
the dismantled town on the 2nd Jaunuary, 1757, and
the fort surrendered at discretion,

Two days after, he sent an expedition to the
important port of Hooghly:*  Nanda Kumar,? who
had succeeded Manick Chand as Fouzdar, made
some resistance, but was at last obliged to yeild.}

The news of these transactions filled the
Nabob with indignation, and he lost no time in
marching down to Calcutta with an army of forty-
thousand men.§ = Clive - was anxious for peace,

and he offered most reasonable terms, but the

* Mill condemns this expedition, quite forgetting that under
the circamstances nothing could be more legitimate than a sad-len and
well-directed blow at the commercial emporium and principal geainary
of the Province. Vide Broome’s History, p. 88 note.

+ Nanda Kumar, on whom the Emperor ot Deihi altervards
conferred the title of ‘¢ Maharajah Badudar,” played a most promi-
nent part in the political affairs of his day, He rie very bigh, so
much so that even the Governor-general, Hzstdogs, stool in fear of
him. At last, he was tried in the Sapreme Courton a charge of
forgery, and, having been found guilty, was hangs{ .1 the ath
August, 1775, much to the wonder and amazement of the geaeral
public.  Raja Guradas was his son.

1 Hooghly was stormed by the English, unde: Xgior Kile
patrick, on the roth January, 17357.—Colocel Mall on’s Clive,

» 172, .
: § The Nabob made his head quart~rs in Owmichund’s splen-
<id garden (see Broome, p. 92}, now known as lalrze Baga.
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Nabob turned a deaf ear to his proposal. ‘Finding
a contest inevitable, that brave soldier determined
to take the initiative, and, accordingly, marched to
attack the enemy’s entrenchments. An engagement
ensued in which the Nabob’s army was worsted,
and he consented to a treaty which restored to the
English all their privileges, and gave them ample
compensation for their losses.*

But this peace was only short-lived, and, as
matters stood, it could. not have been otherwise.
Siraj-ud-daula was at heart an enemy of the English,
and, though his anger was stifled for a time, it was
not altogether quenched, and an occasion now
presented itsell which stirred the hidden fire into a
blaze. War having been declared between England
and Irance, Clive rightly thought that Calcutta
could not be safe while the French kept a large
garrison at Chandernagore.  Accordingly, in March,
he attacked their settlement, and captured it after a

nine days' siege.t This proceeding incensed the

* This treaty of gth  Uebruary 1757 was signed by Admiral
Watson and Colonel Clive on the part of the English,

¥ The English would have found great difficulty in capturing
the place, had not Monsieur Terranneau, a French officer, owing to
some injury, real or imaginary, received from Monsieur Renault, the
Governor, gone wver to Colonel Clive, and peinted out to the
Admiral the narrow passage that had been left between the sanken
vessels.  Nanda Kumar, Fouzdar of Ileoghly, had also heen bought
over hy the Eoglish; and he not oniy did not assist the French
himself though repeatedly ordered by the Nabob to do so, but also
dissuaded Rajah Docilub Ram, who had been especially sent by the
-Nabols for the purpose, from doing it.  Chandernagore was taken on
the 23rd March 1747, (See Broome's Zlistory, pp. 110, 111 and 161
note).
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Nabob, and he encamped his army at Plassey,*
forty miles south of Murshidabad. But Clive had
already bought over some of his principal officers,
of whom Mir Jafar was the most important, and,
when he saw that his plans were ripe for action, set
off from Chandernagore, on the 13th June, with
1,000 Europeans, 2000 natives, and 8 pieces of
cannon.  On the 5th day he reached Kutwa, and
immediately captured the fort. The rains having
set in with great violence, he was obliged to halt
till the 22nd, when he crossed over with his little
army, and encamped. for the night in the mango-
tope at Plassey in the vicinity of the Nabob's army,
fifty thousand strong, supported by fifty pieces of
cannon. The memorable 23cd of June dawned,
when the two armies faced each other in battle array.
The fight was loud and long, but, at last, victory
sided with the Iinglish, Mir Jafar, who, all day long,
had kept himself aloof, now moved off with his
troops and joined their standard.+

Clive entered Murshidabad on the 2gth June
and, proceeding to the palace, placed Mir Jafar on the
throne, being careful to obtain a firman from the

¥ More properly Pala’si.

t The battle of Plassey gave a death-blow to native rule, and
made the English masters of Bengal. Well does the poet sing :—

“ The Inglish bless the Plassey day,
They sure will shed their biessing aye,
And sing with merry hearts and gay
How Chive the battle wondrous won.”
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Mogul Emperor, Alamgir 1[. Thus, within one
year the English raised themselves from the lowest
to the highest position.  As a fitting reward of the
services performed by Clive, the Court of Directors
appointed him the first Governor of the Company’s
Settlements in Bengal*  He  entercd upon the
duties of his high office with his usual ability, energy,
and earnestness, and, before he left for England, had
dispersed the army of the lmperial Prince, arrested
the progress of the French in the Deccan, and
defeated the Dutch, whaose settlement at Chinsura
existed thenceforth only on sufferance.t

From 17607 to 1763, Clive was away in his
native country, his Zocun tencues, for almost the whole
period, being Mr, Vaunsittart. The latter, though
a very honest man, was not a good ruler, The
rmachinery of Government soon went wrong, and
there was confusion on all sides.  In 1761 “ Clive's
Jackass "§ as Mir Jafar was calied, was dethroned,

* Watson, who, lke Clive, really deserved reward for  his
services, did not live ro get i1, for, as Colonel Malleson says, he died
soon after the batide of Plassey.  (See The Founders of onr fudian
Fmplre, p. 283 In fact, Le died of fever on the 16th Aagust 1737,
in the g4th year of his age, and was buried the following day in the
cemetery of Caleutta, where his tomb stll remains.  (See Broowe,

p. 161).

t Mahcmed Omar Beg Khan was Fouzdar of Hooghly in
1759, the year wiich witnesrad the downfall of Dutch power in
Bengal.

* Clive took his departure on the 25th February 1760.

§ Mirza Shamseddin, an officer of rank under Nabob Mir Jafar,
had been accused 1o the Nuboly of having permitted a fray between
some of his own soldicrs and some of Colonel Clive’s,  Upon this.
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and in his place his son-in-law, Mir Kasim, was
appointed.* The new Nabcb was a very able man
and he applied himself to the duties of his office
with remarkable energy. But he soon forgot that
that he owed his elevation to the English, and
endeavoured to play the 3/ of an independent
ruler.  He returned to Monghyr,} a strong posi-
tion on the Ganges, organised a regular army under
Gurgin Khan} and carried  on secret negotiations
with the Nabob Vizier of Oudh.§ Having thus
strengthened himself, he abolished’ all transit duties.

the Nabob called upon him to explain, e appeared before him at
the Durbar and thus expressed himself with his usual wit. ‘My Lord-
Nabob ! me, to quarrel with the Colonel ! me ! who never get np-
in the morning, without making three prolound bows to his very
Jackass I How then could 1 be daring enough, after that, to fall out
with the rider himself I (See Mill’s Aistory of British India, vol. TIL
p. 194 note).

* The consideration for the appointment was a sum of £200,000,.
and the surrender of the districts of Burdwan, Midnapore and
Chittagong to the Company. (See James' British in /udia, p. 37).
The treaty under which the cession was made was conclnded on the:
27th September 1759. The tract of country which now forms the
Hooghly district was included then in the Z/%z of Burdwan,

t The Alugdagiri of the Sanscrit writers, It was at one time
the capital of the Pala Kings of Beogal.

T This famous General was an Armenian by birth, whose real
name was Gregory. Khaja Gregore or Shircore was brother to-
Khaja Petroos, the great Armenian merchant in Bengal. At length,
Mir Kasim, suspecting that he was in communicalion with the English
through the medium of his said brother, Khaja Petroos, had him slain
one night in his tent in October 1773. (Sce Broowe’s History,
PP: 352, 3839). Walle Reinhardt, better known by his sebriguet of
*¢ Sumroo,” took service under Gzregory, and it was he who was the
principal instrument of Mir Kasini in the massacre of Ellis and all
his followers at Patna about the time of the mysterious death of his.
master, Gregory.

§ Sujah-ud-doula, recently nemied Vizier Ly the Ewperor Shah.
Alam.
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throughout the land. This greatly enraged the
English, and the consequence was a resort to arms.

The commencement of the conflict* was favour-
able to the Nabob, but this temporary sunshine was
soon followed by gloom. His trained regiments
were defeated in two pitched battlest by Major
Adams; and he himself took refuge with the
Nabob Vizier of Oudh, who refused to deliver him
up.  Thus was the war prolonged, and it closed only
with the decisive " battle of Buxar, on the 23td
October, 1764. This victory§ laid Oudh at the
feet of the English, and brought the titular Xmperor»
Shah Alam, as a suppliant to the Lnglish camp.
Mir Jafar was made Nabob asecond time, but he
died in January 1763 On the 3rd May following,
Clive (now Baron Clive of Plats:y in the Peerage
of TIreland) arrived at Calcutta as Governor of
Bengal for the second time.

On the 12th August, the Dewaniy of Bengal,

* War broke out with Mr. Kasim in July 1763.

I Ooe at Gheriah on the 2nd Augast 1763, and the other at
Wodoynala on the 5th September nexi.

+ This able and gallant warior did not long survive his
hrilliant success2s.  He diel at Caleutta on the 16th January 17064,
having left the army on gth December preceding.

§ It was achieved by Major Hector Munry, who was the first
o introduce strizt discipline in the Bengal anmy.  The army of the
Nabob of Oudh on the vceasion was be'ween forty and fifty thousand
wen, and he himse1f commanded the left wing, The Emperor himself
ook no part in the action  Munvo left India in Jannary 1765,

i In a letter from the Select Committee in Bengal, dated the
3oth September 1765, and signed Ly Clive himself, the Dewani is
explained to be, ** Toe collecting of all the revenues, and after
-defraying the expenses of the army, and allowing a sufficient fand
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Bihar and Orissa was conferred upon the Company
by the titular Emperor at Allababad, but the actual
collection of the revenues remained for seven years
longer in the hands of native officials. In 1766 he
organised the service in spite of very strong opposi-
tion, and left India for good on the 29th January
following.

In 1770% a terrible famine + overtook Bengal,
and swept away one-third. of its inhabitants? In
1772 Warren Hastings, " a-tried servant of the
Company, was appointed Gaovernor by the Court of
Directors, with express tustructions to carry out a
series of reforms. " The Court, to use their own

‘words, had  “resolved to stand forth as Dewan, and
b

for the support of the Nizamut, to remit the remainder to Dethi, or
‘wherever the king shall reside or direct ”  (BolUs Conviderations,
p- 34)- On the occasion of the conferring of the Dewars, Clive
represented his Honourable Masters and agreed to pay on their behalf
a tribute of two lakhs of rupces per mensem from the proceeds of the
revenues to the Emperor.

* John Cartier was then Governor of Bengal.

+ This famine, which is still called by the natives ‘‘the great
famine of ’76,” Macaulay has graphically described in his Zssays.
He writes ;—** Tender and delicate women, whose veils had never
‘been lifted before the public gaze, came forth from the inner chambers
in which Eastern jealousy had kept watch over their beauty, threw
themselves before the passers-by, and, with loud wailings, implored
a handful of rice for their children, The Hoghly every day rolled
down thousands of corpses close o the porticoes and gardens of the
English conquerors. The very streets of Calcutta were blocked up
by the dying and the dead. The lean and feeble survivors had not
energy enouagh to bear the bodies of their kindred to the funeral pile
-or 1o the holy river, or even to scare away the jackals and vultures
which fed on human remains in the face of day.” (See Essay on Lord
Cleve.)

T This is Marshman’s estimate.  Mill raises it to five-eighths, while
“Grant reduces it to one-fifth of the entire population. Whichever
-estimate be correct, the morality was simply appalling.
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to take upon themsclves, by the agency ot their
own servants, the entire care and administration of
the revenues.” In execution of this plan, Hastings
removed the exchequer® and treasury from Murshida-
bad to Calcutta, appointed European officers, under
the now familiar title of Collectors, to superintend
the land dues and to preside in the revenue Courts,

and established two Courts of appeal at the seat

of Government, Thoughno lawyer himself, he
drew up unaided.a short and simple code of regula-
tions for the new Courts, which showed, in a remark-
able degree, the versatility of his genius.t The
system  of administration  inaugurated by him,
worked well for some time; but, with the arrival

of the new membears i of Council, after the passing

*The Ahalsa,  the  revenue office~-fArab. Aa//va-=pure: a
revenue oftice : Jand held tmmediately from Government.)  As to the
meaning of the same word in the history or the Stkhs, sce Lady
Login's Sir Jokn Logor and Dulecp Sengh, Coap. Vo The Siths,

b Iastings was  the administrative organiser, as Clive was the
territorial founder, of the British Indian ICapire.  Cornwallis only
completed the edifice.  See also Malleson's  Zounders of the Indian
Eupire, 1 496.

3 OF these members, Sir Philip Francis, the reputed author of
Junius’s Letters, proved his hitterest opponent.  Referving to his
Indian appointment, by which Junivs was silenced, Lord Campbell,
in his admirable Life of Lord Mansfield, observes :——**At last, “the
great boar of the forest,” who had gored the King and almost all his
Conrt, and seemed to be more formidable than any ¢ blatant heast,’
was conquered—not by the spear of a knight-crrant, but by a little
provencder held out to him, and he was sent to whet his tusks in a
distant land.”—ZLsves of the Cheef Justr-es, Vol 1L p. 376, In
the end matters took sach a bad turn that the two opponents
could not avoid fighting a duel.  In this respect, Hastings’ successor,
Sir John Macpherson, did not fare better, for he too had to fight a
duel with Major James Brown,
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of the Regulating Act, towards the close of 1774,
the state of affairs took so bad a turn, that he was
at last obliged to resign his cffice.  He left India in.
February, 17835, and was received with great honour
in Lingland, where a well-known member of the
House of Lords described him as the Company’s
areat Minister —“ the Chatham of the Kast.,” But
soon a change came over his fortune, and he was.
made to undergo a trial which, though it terminated
in his honouvable acquittal, reduced him to poverty.
Hastings had faults, but they were cast into the
shade by his brilliant talents. Oune of the most
eminent statesmen of the day very justly observed,.
“though he was not blameless, if there was a bald
place on his head, it ought to be covered with
laurels.” Indeed, Hastings was no less the “ heaven-
born ” Governor, than Clive was the “ heaven-born ™
General.*

Hastings was succeeded by Lord Cornwallis+
who reached Calcutta in September 1786, The new

Governor-General  possessed  diunity and firmness

* Fven Macaulay himself, who in his funous “vsap has atlacked, on
almost every peint, the public and private character of the great
Governor-General, has at last been constrained to acknowledge that
““he was the first forcigu ruler who succeeded in gaining the confi-
dence of the Lereditary priests of India, and who indnced them to
lay open to English scholars the scercts of the old Brahminical
theolngy and jurisprudence.”

t Napoleon entertained a very high opinion of Cornwallis, whon.
he desaiibed to (’Meara as ** an honeat, penerous, and sincere wan, a
very brave man,” and whose * integrity. fidelity, candour and nobi-
lity of sentiments ” made him for the 7o/ time think favourahly of
the English.  [See Napoleon's Zuble Talt, p. 106, (18735).]
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of character, and the current of business, which had
hitherto been disturbed by the spirit of faction and
‘insubordination, soon began to “run smooth.” Several
abuses were corrected, and the salaries of public
officers were increased, thereby giving a death-blow
to the old and vicious principle of “small salaries
and large perquisites.” But the great fame of his
administration rests upon the revenue and judicial
reforms which he effected in 1793, a year memorable
in the annals of British India. - The Scttlement of
the land revenue of Bengal ard Bihar was made
permanent, and the result has been increase of
population, extension of cultivation, and general
improvement of the people. Not less lmportant
were the reforms in the Judicial department. The
Collector of revenue had hitherto acted also as Judge
and DMagistrate* “Lord Cornwallis separated the
financial from the judicial functions, and confined

the Collector tn his fiscal daties, placing him under

¥ Under the system introduced by Warren Hastings, the oftices
of Civil Judge, Collector and Magistrate were combined in the hands
of one officer at the head of each district. T 1793 Lord Cornwallis
separated the office of Collector from  that of the Judge-Magistrate.
Again, in 1832 the Magistracy was taken away from the Civil Judge
and made over to the Collestor who thus became the chief Police and
Revenue officer.  The Civil Judge of each district became also its
Sessions Judee.  This arrangement lasted till the yeur 1838, when
the offices of Collector and Magistrate were agiin sepirated.  From
that time until 1860, there were in each district a Magistrate who
wasalso the chief Police officer, a Collector whose duties were confined
to fiscal matters, anda Judge who tried both civil and criminal cases.
Since then the arrangement of 1832 has been restored, aad one
officer has been acting in the dual capacity of Collector and Magistrate.
(See The Bengal Police, Caleutta Review, 1874).
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the Board of Revenue at the metropolis. A Civil
Court was established in each zilla and in the
principal cities, under the presidency of a Judge,.
with a Registrar and a few Mocnsiffs and Sadar Amins
to determine petty cases. To hear appeals from the
zilla and city Courts, four Appellate Courts were
constituted at Calcutta, Dacca, Murshidabad and
Patna, and from the decisions of the Provincial
Courts, as those Courts were called, a second.
appeal lay to the Sadar Court, the jurisdiction
of which also extended to criminal cases. The
zillah and city Judges were likewise invested with
the powers of a ‘Magistrate;” and authorized to
pass and execute sentences for trivial offences, and,
in other cases, to commit the offenders for trial
before the Judges of Circuit, who were no other than
the Judges of the Provincial Courts when exercising
their criminal functions. In  the department of
Police, the native Daroga tock a'leading part, and his
influence for good or for evil was very counsiderable,
He was more dreaded than the Magistrate himself,
as the latter in later times has been more dreaded
than the Comumissioner of the Division.

For more than a decade, the clear and simple
rules for the adininistrat:on of justice drawn up by
Sir Elijah  Impey, the first Chief Justice of the

Supreme Court®* had been the guide of the Courts.

¥ This Conrt was established in pursnance of the Regulating
Act of 1773, in the place of the old Mayor's Court.  Afterwards, on
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Lord Cornwallis considered it important that his
new institutions should have all the certainty of
fixed rules, and that all regulations affecting the
rights, persons and property of British subjects
should be formed into a code. Mr. George Barlow,*
a distinguished Civilian, had the chief hand in fram-
ing what was commonly called the Cornwallis Code.
Cumbrous as it was, it did not well answer the
purpose for which it was framed, and thus justice
“was made sour by delay, and equity smothered by
legal processes.’+

L.ord Cornwallis 'was, no doubt, an able ruler;
but he was misled into a policy which was quite at
variance with that followed with so much success by
most of the Mogul INmperors. He studiously ex-
cluded the natives from power, placing Europeans
in charge of Districts:— The office of Fouzdar, which
had been in existence from 1632, was also abolished.}
Nabob Khan Jehan Khan was' the last Mahomedan

Fouzdar of Hoozhly. It does not appear in what

the transfer of the Government (rom the Company to the Crown, it
and the Sadar Courts were amalgamated into the High Court,

* This gentleman was atterwards made a Baronet, and officiat-
ed for some time as Governor-General of India.

b See also Bacon's Kssuy on fudicature.

T Mro Wo L Morley, however, states that the Fouzdars were
instituted in 17735 and were abolished in 1781, when the Police
jurisdiclion was transferred to the Civil Judges, or in some cases, to
the Zamadar, by special permission of the Governor-General in
Council.  Z%e Administration of [Justice i British [India, p. 51,
[n the Fifth Report of the Select Committee of the Hoase of Com-
mons, 1812, the establishment of 1Youzdars and Thanadars is stated
to have taken place in 1774.
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year he entered upon office, but this much is clear,
that he succeeded Mahamed Omar Beg Khan.*
Khan Jehan Khan, though he was deprived of his
office, was allowed to occupy the old Mogul fort
until his death, and was granted a pznsion of Rs. 250
a month during his life.  The fort covered a pretty
large area, its site being now occupied by the
Collector’s house, the Road-cess office, the Branch
School, and the various public lwuicheriest between
them and the river.~ Khan Jehan Khan died insol-
vent on the 23rd February, 1821} and a pension
of Rs. 100 was continued to his widow.

* Omar Beg Khan was, as we have abready stated, Iouzdar in
1759, and it was he who was dirccted by Nabab Mir Jalar to co-
operate with the aglish in opposing the Tanding of the Duneh troops
which had arrived inthe Honghly river in a vessel in August.  (Sce
Broome's /istory, p 263).

t Since the above was written, thes2 Awtcherics as well as the
Road-cess office have been removed (o Chinsura and the buildings
occupied by other people.

I Napoleon Bonaparte, .a stand'ng instance of the vanity of
human greatness, died at St Helena in 1821,



CHAPTER V.
SOME CELEBRITIES OoF OLD IN HooOGHLY.

Nawab Khan [ehan Khanw.--No name is more
familiar in this part of Beagal than the Nawab's
and none more honoured. Indeed it has become a
household term and is held in very high esteem.
Khan Jehan Khan was an lrani Mogul, and was,
of course, of the Shiah persuasion. He was the
son of Shuja Kuli Khan* of Teheran, and came
to India somewlere in the first half of the
eighteenth century. e erelong entered the service
of the Great Mogul, and as he was a man of parts.
and diligence, rapidly rose in it until he was entrust-
ed with the rule of a district. He was sent to
Hooghly as Iouzdar in succession to Omar Beg
Khan# about the time when the Rast India
Company were entrusted with the Dewani of Bengal,
Bihar and Orissa.  He proved a good ruler and
was much liked by the people under his control.
But with the establishment of the Supreme Council
when dissensions raged very high between Hastings.
and the majority of his Councillors he too got into

* This gentleman should not bLe confounded with his namesake
who was Fouzdar of Hooghly up to the time when Aliverdi Khan
obtained the throne of Bengal.

T He was otherwise called Ameer Deg Khan and succecdedd
Yar Beg Khan in the Fouzdari at I1oghly.
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troubles, The great Brahman, Nanda Kumar Roy,
who had had such a chequered career, was the evil
spirit of those stirring times, and however wicked
and monstrous an act might be, he was not back-
ward in doing it* When in response to the
invitation of the opponents of the Governor-General,
complaints flowed in against Hastings, Nand Kumar
set up one Zeenul-ud-deen, who made a representa-
tion to the Council charging the latter with
appropriating a considerable’ portion of the salary
of the Fouzdar ‘of "Hooghly.  This is how Mr.
James Mill puts the matter. The great historian
says :—“ On the 3o0th of Mirch 1775, a curious
accusation against Hastings occupied the attention
of the Council Board. In a representation received
from one of the natives, it was set forth, that the
Phoujdar of Hooghly was paid by the Company
Rs. 72,000 as the annual salary of his coffice; that
out of this sum, however, he paid annually to
Mr. Hastings 36,000 rupees together with 4.000 rupees
to Mr. Hastings’s native secretary, reserving 32,000
vupees to himself ; and that the author of this
representation would undertake the duties of the
office for this reduced allowance, producing an
annual saving to the Company of 40,000 rupees,

* What was said of Cinna might well be applied: to hini:—* He
had a head to contrive, and a tongue to persuade, and a hand te
execute any mischief.’
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now corruptly received by Mr. Hastings and his
Banyan.*

This was, indeed, a very serious charge, but no
evidence was adduced to substantiate it. In fact,
acting upon this simple unsupported accusation, the
majority of the Council who were dead against their
President, asked the Fouzdar to depose to the
truth or otherwise of the charge on oath. But the
latter, as Mr. Barwell puts it, “either would not or
could not authenticate the -improbable relation
given by Zeen-ul-ud-deen’ Khan to the Board, of
his holding the station ‘of Phoujdar upon condition
of paying to the Governor the major part of the
salary annexed to his office”™ This refusal on
the part of the Touzdar was construed into con-
tempt, and on this pretext, he was dismissed from
office without any ceremony or formality. Thus,
the arch fiend, Nanda Kuamar, who was a tool in the
hands of Philip Francisand his party in the Council,
gained his end, and on his recommendation, Mirza
Mindee, a dependant of his (on a low salary of
Rs. 20 a month) was appointed to the vacant office,
with a stipend of Rs, 3000 per mensem. This was,
in fact, making Nanda Kumar Fouzdar of Hooghly,

¥See History of Rritish India Vol. iii, pp. 441, 442, sth lid
by H. L. Wilson,

t See Mr. Barwell’s Letter to Mrs. Mary Barwell, dated the §th
August 1775, as quoted in Sir James F. Stephen’s Nuncomar and
Impey, Vol ii, p. 293.



HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT., 67

while it was ostensibly in the name of Mirza
Mindee.

But it was not long before the biter himself was
bitten, and bitten so very damnably that he was
hurried to an ignominious end. As Mr. Barwell
says in another letter,—“ Pocr old Nuncomar is at
{ast fallen by his own villanies. He was brought
to trial on the charge of a forgery to defraud the
estate of Bollakey Doss.iii...the jury brought him
in guilty, and on the ffth of the present, at half
past nine in the morning, he suficred by the hands
of the executioner,  He conducted himself with
decency, and at the place of execution acknowledged
the justness of the sentence by which he suffered.”*
With the fall of Nanda Kumar, the prospect of
Nawab Khan Jehan Khan again  brightened up,
He was restored to his former post, which he held
without any further break until it was abolished by
Lord Cornwallis in the memorable year 1793, But
though deprived of his office, the Nawab was
permitted to occupy the old Mogul fort as before,
and was granted a pension of R<, 230 a month,

The Nawab, while he was in power, lived in a
princely style. His residence was the finest and
best in the whole town, and his establishment of

horses and elephants was on a very large scale.

* See Letter to Mr. John tiraham, dated the gth August, 1775, as
quoted in Newnvotwar and Impey, Vol ii, p. 291,
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The Touzdar's house was an object worthy of
special notice. The Dutch traveller, Stavorinus, who
visited Hooghly in 1765, says that the “place has
little worthy of observation within it, except the
house of the Fouzdar and the stables for his

”

elephants.” The Nawab fed on rich costly viands
and used to ride out on splendidly caparisoned
elephant in a very fine howdak.  In fact, he was the
Beau Brummell of his day, and was nothing if
not foppish.  He was, undoubtedly, the first man*
of his time in ‘[Hooghly, 'at least in point of
power and influence.  His Court quite resembled
the Durbar of a provincial Governor and his adminis-
trative powers were well-nigh absolute. Indeed,
he not only looked like a prince, but also lived like
one, His salary, large as it was, was, however, not
his only income. ' He possessed landed property
of his own, which brought a good round sum into
his  pocket. Gondalpara, where the Danes frst
made their settlement and which is still known as
“ D namardanga,” was the property of Nawab Khan
Jehan Khan,  After the Danes removed to Seram-
pore and settled there for good, he let out the

* In view of his great power and rank, a saying bas passed current
in this part of Bengal, and when one is in a mood to condemut
upstartism, nothing is more comm-: n ‘or him than to say —* (61 (@«
AUI Y@AT M, (Zhe gellorw arrs himself as if he wwere Nawab Khan
Jehan Khan ).
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village in puzni to the French on the condition of
their paying a fixed annual sum to himself and his
heirs. The zalook was afterwards sold by him to
his cousin, Mirza Nasratullah Khan of Motijhil
within the limits of Chinsura; but it is still held by
the French, the place being contiguous to their
principal settlement, Chandernagore. The Nawab
had two other (talooks, w©i¢3, Shunbinara and
Mahamadaminpur, which were very valuable pro-
perties, more especially - the latter, These zalooks
afterwards passed to the East India Company.
Besides these, he was in. passession of Belcooli as
Jagir. The jugir was afterwards resumed by Govern-
ment and now forms one of the five-and-twenty
khas Mehals which are in the district of IHooghly,
What differentiates Belcoo'i from the other Ahas
Mehals is the fact that it wis not held in conse-
quence of the recusancy of the proprietors as all the
others were. The ryots of this estate do not bear
a good character; they are constantly referred to

« »

as “ wicked and refractory,” and they maintain that
character in the eyes of the Tehsildar to this day.
True to the lascivious instinct of the generality
of Mussalman grandees, the Nawab kept a large
number of mistresses commonly called Begums.
Todeed, his Zenana was chockful of pretty women,
But when fortune frowned upon him, he had to cut
short his harem establishment, and was perforce

compelled to satisfy himself with one lady princi-
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pally, and that lady was his lawfully wedded wife,
who long survived him.

When the Fouzdari was abolished anc the Fouzdar
pensioned off, things came to a sorry pass. Having
lived so long in affluence, the Nawab found it very
difficult to cut short his expenses. Thus, he had
to maintain his old way without the wherewithal to
do so, and it is, therefore, no wonder that he rapidly
ran into debt, In this state of his affairs, he
hitched upon an expedient which, if it had proved
a success, might have enabled him to tide over the
difficulty. At that time a rich lady who had long
lost her husband, was living in Hooghly, She had
grown old, and, notwithstanding that her religion
allowed it, was not at all disposed to take a second
husband. The late Fouzdar, longing to have his
hand in the rich lady’s pie, made her a proposal of
marriage, though he had his own wife living; but
Mannu Jan Khanum, for that was the name of the
lady who was so sought after, so far from accepting
the proposal, with a boldness not very common to
her sex, replied that she should be the last person
to unite herself in holy wedlock with one who
wanted to marry, not for love but for lucre, pure
and simple. This bold reply at once silenced the
broken old man and he gave up all idea of setting
up a rival to his old wife.

Thus foiled in his attempt at improving his
fortune, the Nawab had no other alternative left
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than to incur debt for the purpose of maintaining
his position, At last, his affairs wore a very bad
look, and he was obliged to have recourse to the
Insolvent Court. The last days of his life were
spent in misery and he died head and ears in debt on
the 23rd February, 1891. His widow, who was thus
left without means, was allowed a pensicn of
Rs. 100 a mouth, which she enjoyed till her death,
which took place many years after.

The Nawab, though he all along lived in the
Mogul fort at Hooghly, had a very fine garden in
Dharampur within  hail of the old European
cemetery. This garden was in consequence of its
having had a splendid octagonal  Boitak-khana
known as the * Atpala Bagan.” The garden after-
wards passed to Babu Khetra Nath Seal of Chinsura
and is now in the possession of his son, Dwarka
Nath. It is still called the Nawab's garden.
Nawab Khan Jehan was till his death held in high
esteem by the Iuglish Government as being the
last of the IFouzdars of Hooghly, and due honour
was shown him on important State occasions. When
in 1803, the present Government House was opened,
he was invited to the grand Ball which was given
by Lord Wellesley on the occasion, and he was
present at that great assemblage of Rajahs, Nawabs
and Nobles. Indeed, though latterly he was not in
good circumstauces, still the measure of honour
which used to be accorded to him while in power,
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was not appreciably diminished, thereby showing
that wealth and rank are two different things.

When Nawab Khan Jehan Khan was lying on
his death-bed, his cousin, Nasratullah Khan, went
to see him, but was not allowed access by the
Abyssinian guard at his house, At last, his body
had to be carried to the burial-ground under Euro-
pean guard and interred in their presence. As the
deceased was in very bad circumstances, no big
tomb was erected over his earthly remains. In fact,
his corpse was buried in the land of his said cousin
in Motijhil and a small tomb was built over it,
This tomb still exists, but it is'in a very bad state;
it is broken and is crumbling into pieces amidst
wild shrubs and bushes,

A short account of the Nawab’s cousin, Nasrat-
vllah Khan, who gave a piece of his land for his
last remains to lie in, may not be quite of place
here. This gentleman was the son of Mohammad
Aleph Khan, and came to Bengal, probably some-
time after his noble relation, the Nawab. He acquir-
ed considerable property and lived in a grand style.
He built a big house in Khakrajole within the
limits of Chinsura, greater portion of which has
fallen down ; but the little that still remains plainly
shows what a splendid thing it was in its orignial
state. As was customary with rich natives in days
gone-by, he excavated several big tanks near his
dwelling-house, one of which, the biggest and best



HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT. 73

of the lot, called Motijhil, has given name to the
place.

Nasratullah Khan was a zemindar and possessed
very large property. Besides Gondalpara which
he had purchased from Nawab Khan Jehan Khan,
he owned mouza Moheshpur and mouza Garbati
in Chandernagore. Khakrajolz, so called from its
having been originally a marsh overgrown with
khagra reeds—also belonged to him, In front of
his  dwelling house, ~he built “a splendid mosque
which by the beauty and elegance of its structure
still  attracts  attention  and excites admiration,
though lying in a state of disrepair. It considerably
resembles the mosque of prince Gaolam Mohamed
in Calcutta, and, like it, is surmounted by minarets
having tops decked with coatings of gold. This
mosqgue was built, as the inscription or it shows, in
the Bengal year 1239. In front of the mosque, at
a distance of a few short paces only, is his tomb,
which has nothing extraordinary 1n it ; indeed, itis
of the common sort, but as it is, it is much better than
that of Nawab Khan Jehan Khan, which, as T have
already stated, is rapidly going to wrack and ruin,

Attached to the mosque is a very large orchard,
but neither of them 15 in a good conditien, The
garden with the grounds adjomning it, is knewn as
Aleph Khan's Ber. Al this was Nasratullah Khan’s
property and he named it so in honcur of his father

who probably did not come out to this country.
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‘Nasratullah Khan left two sons, Abul Hossein
Khan and Hadi Ali Khan, to succeed to his estate ;
buat they, not proving worthy of him, sold away
considerable portion thereofl. Both the sons have
died, without leaving any male issue. Now the
income from all sources would not exceed six hun-
dred rupees, a merz trifle compared with what
Nasratullah died possessed of.  This little estate
is now in the charge and possession of one Mirza
Romzan Ali, the son-of a daughter of Abul Hossein,
one of the sons of the original proprietor.

Mirsa Saleli-ud-din Holamed Khan—This gentle-
man was a native of Ispahan in Persia. Like some
of his countrymen he came to Bengal, when quite
young ; and, as he possessed great ability and tact,
was employed by Nawab Ali Verdi Khan to nego-
tiate a treaty with the Marhattas who had become
such a fearful pest to the country. The negotiation
having been concluded with advantage to the Bengal
Government, the Nawab recommended. the young
Mirza to the Emperor of Delhi, whoy it recoguition
of his valuable services, bestowed upon him a £hilat
(robe of power)and a jagéir, He was also appointed
Naib Fouzdar of Hooghly on a salary of Rs. 1500
per mensem ; and it was during his incumbency
that he married Mannu Jan Khanam, the beautiful
daughter of a rich merchant, named Aga Mutahar,
The marriage proved a very happy one, the wedded
couple being well worthy of each other, The
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Mirza rose, high in rank and riches, He was one
of the recognized zemindars of Bengal. In the
famous Fifth Report of the Select Committee on
the Affairs of the East India Company, it is stated
that “a cousiderable dismemberment by sunnad
from the original zemindary called Jessore alias
Yusefpur, took place, in favour of a Mussalman
landholder, Sellah-ud-dien Mahomed Khan, includ-
ing under the head of Saidpur, one-fourth of that
pergunnah with the like ‘proportion nearly of the
ancient painam, or: territorial jurisdiction of Yusef-
pur.”*  Further on, 'the said KReport says: “ Among
the principal of the zemindars who held estates
near the zemindary of Calcutta, was Selah-ul-deen
Mahomed Khan, who obtained under the denomina-
tion of Saidpur a fourth “portion of Serykant Kathi-
man of Yusefpur.”+ Thus it is manifest that the
Mirza was a swnnadi zemindar of the first rank
among landholders near the zemindari of the East
India Company, and it is very gratifying to ohserve
that unlike the generality of zemindars of the pre-
sent day who harass their tenants to the utmost,
he loved his tenantry as if they were his children.
In pursuing this noble course he was aided and
influenced by his beloved partner who was a lady

* See the Fifth Report, page 382.

+ See the Fifth Report, page 407. Although the name of the
zemindar is somewhat differently written 1n the two places, still there
is no doubt that only one and the same person is meant.
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far above the ordinary run of females. As both the
husband and the wife were quite in affluent circum-
stances, they spent a good deal in charity, thereby
endearing themselves to the common people in and
about Hooghly. In addition to his other qualities,
the illustrious Mirza Saleh was an excellent Persian
scholar and poet. He wrote some works both in prose
and poetry, but none of his compositions are extant.
Aga Mutahar, whom we_have referred to above, had
built a small Imambara somewhere in 1717 A.D.
This house of God beiug found to be somewhat
inconvenient, a wing was added by his son-in-law,
the good Mirza, which he termed 7azea Khana. It
is upon the site of this humble building that the
present maguificient edifice’ has been erected. But
the one act for which the Mirza Saleh is best known
and which still bears-his honored name, is the old
hdt which is held on Tuesdays and Saturdays in an
enclosed place, a little to 'the east of the Imambara
buildings. This market was at one time in a very
flourishing state. but now for some years it has been
on the decline, the reason being that it is not held
khas, but let out in 77ara.

Mirza Saleh ud-din died in 1176 Hegira, corres-
ponding to 1764 AD,, in the prime of life, leaving
his wife Mannu Jan Khanum to mourn his loss and
enjoy his property. This lady was of a pious turn
of mind, and, though her religion permitted her to
take a second consort, deemed the bond of matrimony
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too holy to be dissolved by death, so that, it is
no wonder that when Nawab Khau Jehan Khan,
the last Fouzdar of Hooghly, made a proposal of
marriage, she rejected it with supreme contempt,
Thuos, though the very reverse of a Hindu in her
faith, she lived like a widow of that race, much to
the wonder and admiration of those who knew her
She survived her husband nearly half a centln‘y:
and died in the year 18c3, much regretted and
mourned by her friends, relatives, tenantry and many
others. She was buried by the side of her father
and husband in the Imambara garden which adjoins
the /dt.

Khojal Wazced. Hooghly was the trade-ceutre of
Bengal and as such was resnrted to by many
merchants of note. | Of these wayfirers by sea and
land, Khojah* Wazeed was the most famous, He
was a native of Cashmere and came to Bengal in
the first half of the eighteenth century. He traded
principally in salt and prospered highly in it. e

was a great favourite of Nawab Ali Verdi Khan and

* The proper word is Atwaju. which means a merchant. As for
the word Khgjak, it significs a memeer of the Mahomedan community
of that name and has no necessary connection with commerce or
merchandize.  Bul it seems to have ever heen the pactice of Euro-
pean writers to write the word Azeajz in thit way, as wou'd appear
from the names, Khojah Johannes Markar and Khojah Serhand.  Both
these persons were Armenian meichants and won celebrity in their
times. Marker was the father of the founder of the Armenian
Church at Chinsara, while Serhand, who knew both English and
Persian, accompanied the Finglish  embassy (o Bwmperor Ferokshere
in 1715.

I
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obtained special privileges by his favour. A writer
in the Calcutta Review® states that while rice was
saddled with a duty of eight per cent, salt paid
only two rupees and two annas per cent, except
that introduced by Khojah Wazeed, the first great
salt monopolist on record, whase salt in considera-
tion of the services rendered by him at the Durbar,
was taxed only to the extent of a rupee a maund.
The author of the Guide to Bengalt also testifies
to the Khojah's having possessed a monopoly of
the trade in salt.” Tn this way. this prince of mer-
chants acquired great riches and influence. What
Omichund was in Calcutta, Wazeed was in ITooghly,
[ndeed, both of them were immensely rich. Major
Marshall savs that the daily expenditure of the
Khojah was Rs. 1000, and ‘that ‘oo one occasion he
presented fifteen lakhs = of rupees to Nawab Ali
Verdi, who regarded him as one of his best friends
and well-wishers,  Thejwell:known historian of
the Bengal Army has spoken of Khojah Wazeed as

I’

“ the great merchant at Hooghly.”  Tndeed, he was
the acknowledged chief of Iooghly merchants, and
was held in very high estcem, not only by the people
at large but alsc by Government fur the time being.
While Ali Verdi Khan occupied the musnud of

Bengal, the Khojah had no reason to be dissatisfied

* See }Vo/cu on f/w ]hml;: rf //u llrm /1/1' v ol i, p. 450.

1 Major G. T. Marshall.

+ Captain Arthur Broome, who brought out the first volume of his
lhstory in 1850.




HHOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT. 79

with his rule. But when on his death his grandson,
the notorious Seraj-ud-dowla, ascended the throne
and conducted himself like a veritable tyraunt, he,
forgetting his friendship with the late Nawab,
joined Omichund, Jagat Sett and others in inviting
Colonei Clive to come with his army to Murshidabad,
and, deposing Siraj, place Mir Jaffar in his place,
Clive was far-sighted enough to miss such a golden
opportunity.  He readily acceded to the request,
and the short but decisive battle of Plassev was
the result, which made the English virtually masters
of Bengal, Mir Jaffar was raised to the throne,
while the infamous Siraj was brutally murdered.
As bad been expected, the new Nawab  and
Khojah Wazeed became fast’ friends, and it is a
well-known fact that whenever Mir Jaffar passed by
Hooghly, hie never failed to pay a visit to his friend,
the Khojal.  The YHatter had a splendid  warden
where he entertined his friends and others in a manner
befitting his rank and riehes.  The occasions were not
“few and far between,” on which Nawab Mir Jaffar
agraced that garden with his August Presence, but
history records only one, and that was at a time
when he was attempting to put down the English
by aid of the Dutch, who were then the only power
that could be pitted against them with some hope
of success. Having been secretly encouraged by
the Nawab, the Dutch managed to bring up a
pretty large army from their head quarters at
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Batavia in Java, The ships with troops on bnard
arrived at the mouths of the river in October, 1759,
when Mir Jaffar happened to be at Calcutta, astensi-
bly on a visit to Clive, whom he owed his throne.
On being informed by the English Governor of the
sudden and unexpected arrival of the Dutch
armament, the Nawab, pretending ignorance of the
whole matter and expressing deep displeasure at the
conduct of the Duatch, instantly left* Calcutta for
Hooghly with a view, as he-declared, to severely
chastising the latter for their,andacious coenduct, But
instead of proceeding to the Mogul fort at Hooghly
he took up his quarters in Khojah Wazeed’s garden,
Here he was waited upon by the Dutch agents, but
so far from chastising them for what they had done,
treated themn politely and urged them on in their
attempt at displacing the English, It does not
appear whether his “friend, Khojah Wazeed, was
privy to the conspiracy, ‘but it would be the height
of credulity to believe that he was perfectly ignorant
of it+ Captain Broome places the garden *half-
way between  Hooghly and Chinsurah ;"  and

tradition reports that it lay somewhere in Protabpur.

* This was on the 19th October.

T Mr. Macfarlane even goes so far as to say that the Khojah was
then an_agent for the Dutch, and tne secret medium by which tuey
communicated with the Nvwab and the Nawab with them Clive,
too, was awfully vexed with him, and though he was a most intimate
tfriend of the Nawwh, this circumstance did not prevent the wary
English Governor from seizing the persons of the Khojah and his
*son, a shert time afier the Nawab's visit, when they were going to-
Murshidabad. (See Qur Zudia Lupire, Vol. i, p. 85 note )
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No vestige, however, remains of this splendid
garden, though at one time it cut a very remarkable
figure. So fare things that are of earth, earthy.
Khojah Wazeed, as we have already observed, was
immensely rich, but he did not come by this vast
wealth by foul means. Indeed, he was considered
a thoroughly honest man* and people had great
confidence in him, so much so that if they could
place their money in deposit with him, they deemed
that such deposit was ' as good as investment in
Government Securities,  Rumour, however, points to
one case in which" he was said to have committed
breach of faith. This is how it arose : Muniruddin
Khan, having quarrelled ' 'with his brother, the
Nawab of Arcot, came to 'Bengal and sought the
aid of Ali Verdi Khan, The latter warmly wel-
comed him as became his high rank, and, as he was
of a warlike turn of mind, appointed him Subadar of
Cuttack in view of keeping the marauding Marhattas
in check. The noble Subadar who was quite new
to the country was given a tried man as his Dewan.
This was Ram Charan, father of Naba Krishna, who
afterwards so  highly distinguished  himself and,
at last, rose to be Maharaja Bahadur,  Asthe times
were anything but quiet, Ram Charan placed most

part of his property in deposit with Khojah  Wazeed

%

M, I\Incfarl:}nc,_ hu\vc‘.'er,_ gives iy a very bad character, and
says that the Khojah had lved a life of trigue, serving and
l\)vctr:;ymg all parties in turns, .Thu\', he weuld make him a sécond
Nunda Nurarr.  (Sce Qur Lidian /2 mprrey Volii, po 85 note )

F
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who had such a high reputation for honesty.
Muniraddin, accompanied by his Dewan, started
for Orissa and in due time arrived at Midnapur.
From thence he preceeded on his journey with a
a few followers, leaving the main body of his troops
behind, but before he had gone far enough, he and
his party were attacked by a body of some four
hundred Pindaree robbers, and, in spite of the
defence which they made to ward off the assault,
were almost killed to-a man.. When intelligence of
the sad end of Ram Charan reached Khojah Wazeed»
he flatly denied having had in his custody any
property of the deceased, and, thus, it was said,
Ram Charan’s family was reduced to great straits*

We do not know how far this story is trues
but if it was a fact, the Khojah lost all his reputation
for honesty and fair dealing by this flagrant breach
of trust. I would, however, fain believe that the
story was a canard, pure and simple, being the
fabrication of scandal-mongers, without the slightest
foundation in truth,

Khojah Wazeed had no equal in the domain of
commerce and was, therefore, justly entitled * Fakkat-
ujjar,” or The Glory of Merchants. What John Palmer
was in the first half of the nineteenth century, Khojah
Wazeed was in the last half of the eighteenth. But
what distinguishes his case from that of the great

* See Raja Radha Kanl's Life, p. 7, (1859.)
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English merchant is that he did not die a poor
broken man ; on the contrary, he passed his days
in affluence and comfort, and, in the fulness of time
departed this world in peace. It does not appear
where he breathed his last, but the probability is
that he died in Hooghly, and was buried either in
a portion of his grand garden, or in Wazeednagore,
a village in Municipal Ward No. 1, Shahgunge,
which probably owes its-name to him. His family
dwelling-house, however, was .in Turan-garh, the
western portion of ‘the present Chauk Bazar. Upon
the site of this house, Dr. T. Wise in later times
erected a splendid building which is still in existence
and which was only recently occupied by the District
Road-Cess office.

Khojal Fazal Cashmeery.—).ike Khojah Wazeed,
this gentleman too was a noted merchant of
Hooghly, and, like him, was a native of Cashmere,
as his cognomen plainly shows. He came to this
place probably some years before his great country-
man, and rose high in riches and influence. The
local Fouzdar had great regard for him, so had the
Provincial Governor himself. Indeed, he was
-considered as a power in thz land, and his aid was
sought in the matter of the misunderstanding which
arose between the Fouzdar of Hooghly aund the
Ostend Company. This Company was established
in Germany in August 1723 Before it was so

established, a private ship had arrived in Bengal,
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and its captain had obtained permission from Nawab
Murshid Kuli Khan to build a factory in the village
of Bankybazar, situated on the eastern side of the
Hooghly, fifteen miles above Calcutta. In 1724, an
Ostend ship came to Bengal, but was lost in going
up tbe river, The officers and crew took possession
of Bankybazar and erccted temporary houses. In
the two following years, the Ostend trade was fully
established and the German-factory rapidly rose in
estimation. In 1727, however, owing to the remons-
trances of the Knglish, the French and the Dutch, the
German Emgeror withdrew his charter and ordered
that the Ostend traffic should cease for seven years,
Nevertheless, this traffic was carried on clandestinely.
The English and the Dutch, being apprized of this,
tried hard to root it out altogether. They, accord-
ingly, bribed the Fouzdar of Hooghly, within whose
jurisdiction Bankybazar_lay, and the latter, pretend-
ing to belizve in the representations that were made
to him, sent a considerable force under Mir Jafar
to take the place, who, accordingly, invested it,
While the siege was going on, Khojah IFazal, having
offered his services as a mediator between the
Germans and the Moguls, sent his son with a
message to Bankybazar. This young man  was
etained by the Germans as a hostage for their own
security, and was not sct at liberty till hostilities were
suspended for some davs. The siege, however, was
renewed after his liberation, and the result was that
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the place was captured after a very brave resistance.
The Mogul troops took possession of the German
factory, and levelling the fertifications with the
ground, and delivering over the village to the local
zemindar, returned in triumph to Hooghly, with
drums beating and colours flying. This took place
about 1732-33 A.D.* just a century after the
demolition of the Portuguese factory at Hooghly by
the Mogul army in thereign of Emperor Shah
Tehan.

The circumstances set forth above, plainly show
that Khojah Fazal possessed great influence and
was held in very high estecem.  Though not so rich
as Khojah Wazced or Omichund, he was rich enough,
and passed for a merchant of note. But it would
seem that his local influence was much greater than
one might have expected from his material condition ;
and he passed his days in peace and happiness, until,
when his time came, he was summoned away from
this world unto the next,

Khojah Fazal Cashmeery, itis said, lived in the
quarter which was known as Mogulpura, the castern
portion of the present Chauk Bazar, e was buried
probably in the gorosthan (burial-ground), a little to
the south of Ghutia Bazar. The tomb, however, is
not identifiable,

Mirza Mohammad Jafar Pombai—This gentleman

* ()rme, }nwuu po\lpone\ the expulsion of the (;ermans txll
1748, See his Zlistorical Sketches, from which the above account is
mainly taken,



8¢ HOOGHLY PAST AND PKESENT.

also was one of the principal merchants of Hooghly.
What Khojah Wazeed was in the trade in salt, Jafar
Pombai was in that of cotton, and hence got his dis-
tinctive cognomen, the Persian word, ‘pomba,’ meaning'
cotton. His house and factory were situated on the
banks of the river, the ruins whereof are still visible
in its bed. He flourished at a time when the East
India Company were rising in their career of glory,
power and affluence; and reached the height of
greatness in his profession: e possessed great
influence in Ilooghly and its neighbourhood, and
was held in high esteem. But death is a great
leveller, The place which saw him rise so very high
also saw him laid low in the “ narrow cell,” other-
wise called a grave. He was buried in the enclosed
burial-ground in the very heart of the town, a few
yards to the south ‘of the Bara Imambara. His.
tomb which stands in the north-west portion, is a
fine piece of architecture; but owing to disrepair, it
has lost much of its beauty and elegance. [t con-
tains an inscription on a black stone slab, from which
it appears that he was a Rwmi, or native of Cons-
tantinople, or rather of Asiatic Turkey, and that he
died on the 3rd day of Romzan 1200 Hegira,
corresponding to 19th June 1786 A.D. Thus, it
appears that his death took place in the very year
in which Lord Cornwallis began to rule British
India.

Jafar Pombai left a son, Mirza Roshun Ali, who
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carried on the trade of his father, Having inherited
very large property, Roshun Ali could well afford to
live splendidly, and, as a matter of fact, did live in a
a very grand style. Mircala, Keota and Shahgunge
belonged to him, besides several other properties on
this side of the river as well as some on the other
side. Biru Nandi, the ancestor of the Nandis of
Shahgunge, was his Dewan. When Mirza Roshun
flourished, Mr. David C. Smyth was the Judge and
Majistrate of Hooghly. ~Unfortunately for him, the
Mirza incurred the grave displeasure of the great
Englishman.  This is how it arose: On some
festive occasion, Roshun Ali got up a great show
by letting off squibs and beating drums. It so
happened that Mr. Smyth’s wife was then ailing very
severely, so much so that her life was well-nigh des-
paired of. The Sahib who lived in his Aoo#/ at
Keota, not far from the residence of Roshun Alj,
sent him word not to g6 on making such disturbance ;
but the proud Mahomedan without paying heed to
his request, continued the zamasha. Mr. Smyth
naturally took great offence, and resolved to put
down the haughty man.x Mirza Roshun was
thrown into great difficulties and almost all his
properties were sold, of which the major portion was
purchased by his Dewan, Biru Nandi.

When his fortune was at its lowest ebb, Roshun

* For some such indiscretion, Nawab Baboo of Singhur came to
grief at the hands of the very same big official.
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Ali removed to the quarter called Tamlipara, where
he lived very poorly. Indeed, his. condition  became
so very deplorable. that he had. to support himself
and his family by selling fruits and tobacco. Surely,
the goddess of fortune is nothing if not fickle in her
favour, of which Mirza Roshun Ali is a very striking
instance, who began life as a rich lord, but died a
wretched pauper.

Roshun Ali left a son, -Abul Hossein, who some-
how managed to make the two'ends meet. He did
not-long survive his father, and, at last, died leaving
two sons, Abul Kasim and Muhammad Hasem, who
for some years resided in the house in front of the Bara
Imambara, close to the place where their illustrious
great-grand-father was buried. Being apprized of
their good antecedents, Prince Ferokshere of the
Mysore royal family, took them into his service and
continued maintaining them for years in his Chinsura
house. They are still in the service of his grandson.

Kazi Mohammad Lal—This gentleman was a
noted character in Hooghly. He was a great Persian
and Arabic scholar and was also well up in Mahome-
dan Law, Indeed, law was his forte, and he
distinguished himself in it. He held the office of
kazi, or Mahomedan law officer, for a considerable
time, and was highly respected for his vast erudition.
He had his house in the northern portion of Turan-
garh, which was named after him Kazir-dauri. The
big gateways leading to his grand edifice were, as a
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rule, closed “at curfew-tide,” so that people could
not pass or repass through that quarter after eight
o’clock in the night. This almost unique privilege
was granted him in consideration of his high rank
and position in socicty as well as in the republic of
letters, The grand gateways still exist, though in a
dilapidated state. After having filled his office with
honour to himself and advantage to the public, the
good old man died full of years, leaving a son to
succeed to his estate and title,

Kazi Mohammad Sadek, for that was the name
of the old man's ‘son, was well worthy of such a
father, nay, he surpassed his sire by his wonderful
parts and learning. He was, besides, a successful
wover of the Muse of poetrv and was honoured by
the King of Oudh, Gazi-ud-din Hyder, with the title
of Muluck-0-Shair, or prince of poets. This was
certainly no small honour, seeing that it was con-
ferred by one who was himself a poet of no mean
order. Tt was said that he made a gift of his aca-
demic title, “ {7f#tar” (stary, to that King who had
expressed a wish to purchase it from him for a
lakh of rupees. Such sale or gift of titles was not
uncommon in olden days, and was not confined to
India.

Mohammad Sadek was, as became him, a man
of sedentary habit. e retired to Delhi where ‘in
his studious retreat he composed some works which
well deserve praise, if they do not actually commahd
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it. He married Shabani Bibi, by whom he had no
other issue but a daughter, named Nishani Bibi.
Kazi Mohammad Lal had another son, Golam
Lillahi, whose son, Abdul Muktadar, married
Nishani Bibi, the only daughter of Mohammad
Sadek, marriage between such near relatives being
quite authorized, if not highly approved, by the
Mahomedan Law., The husband and wife lived in.
health and happiness for some time, after which the
matrimonial tie was dissolved by death, Upon this
Nishani Bibi martried, in 'the Nikak form, Kazi
ITossein Ali who lived close by, and lived with him:
for some years, after which she, again, became a
widow. She was the last rcpresentative of the once
famous Kazi family of Hooghly. She died two or
three years ago, and with her the family came to.
an end,

The property of this family was, at one time,
pretty considerable, and was interspersed in Hooghly,
Satgaon and Hosanabad. But, now, it is reduced
almost to nothing ;

o

house and the lands and gardens attached to it have

nay, even the very dwelling-

passed into other hands,

The large Aga Somash tank which looks like a
lake, was until lately a portion of the estates of the
Kazi family; it now belongs to pleader Moulvie
Anwar Meah, a relation of Moulvie Nasiruddin,
a distinguished Principal Sadar Amin under the
rule of the FEast India Company. Thus, all that
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remains of this renowned family is its name, a mete
empty sound signifying nothing.

Haji* Kervbelai Muhammad.—This gentleman was
another merchant of note. e was an Irani Mogul
and came out to this country towards the latter
half of the eighteenth century. He settled in
Chinsura and commenced trade on a laige scale.
He was the son of Haji Kerbelai Ali Reza of
Teheran. He traded - principally in indigo and
prospered very well'in it: He had indigo factories
at Taldanga, Dhaniakhali and Bansberia in the
district of Hooghly as well as at Pyegachhi in the
district of Burdwan. = He also owned ships which he
used to send out, not only to distant parts of India but
also to Arabia, Persia and Turkey. In this way he
became immensely rich. His big house was in the
quarter of Chinsura called Mogultuli, so named from
the fact of its having been principally inhabited by
Moguls. But though a merchant by profession, the
good man was religiously disposed and had made a
pilgrimage to distant Mecca and more distant
Kerbela, the two most holy places in the eye of a
Mahomedan. But not satisfied with making pilgrim-

* Haji means a Mussalman who has made a pilgrimage (%4/) to
Mecea, or Caaba Shariff, as it is commonly called. Similarly, Aerbela;
means a Mussalman who has heen to the sacred field of Kerbela, in
Mesopotamia, where are entombed the remains of Hussein, who
fell in his contest against Ziad, the son of Moavia; and rosaries
formed of the clay of his tomb are held in high estimation by the
Shiahs, and are supposed to pcssess magical qualities.  (See Syar-u/-
Mutakherin.) Kerbela is justly called the battle-field of the world.
What Mecca is to the Sunnees, Kerbela is to the Shiahs.
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ages he founded an Imambara adjoining his dwelling
house in Chinsura, and endowed it with property
situated partly in Kasimpore and partly in Bansberia,
the income of which is a little above 590 rupees,
The Imambara is still kept up and is in the charge
of Mirza Mehndi who is a gentlemén of some
importance in Chinsura, The Imambara is more
than a century old, having been founded in the year
18or A.D.

When he found that his end was fast approaching,
Haji Kerbelai made a \Vill, thereby disposing of the
properties he was master of. . This Will was executed
on gth Jikada, 1218 Hegira, A few vears after, the
good old man ended his earthly career. He was
buried in the Protappur garden which formerly
belonged to Kasim Ali Khan. His tomb and those
of some members of his family still exist there.

Haji Kerbelai had two sons, Mirza Iassan Al
and JMirza Mohammad Reza, of whom the first
predeccased him. But though he died quite voung,
Hassan Ali had prospered well in trade and become
in his tarn a well-known merchant, though certainly
not so rich as his father. He had purchased Bagh
Kasimpore and Bagh Keota besides some property
in Satgaon and Hosanabad. He had also some
property on the other side of the Hooghly, Thus,
he had grown a man of note, but the tenure of his
life was short and he departed this world in the
drime of life,
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There was another Haji Kerbelai who built
a. little Imambara just opposite to the house
of Mir Solaman Khan of Joraghat. But he was a
man of small importance in comparison with the
great merchant whom we have spoken of above.
No vestige of this Immambara remains to tell tale
of its existence, the site being one plain level soil
which the boys have turned into a play-ground.

Kazem Ali Nhan—This gentleman was otherwise
called Kasim Ali Khan, or Kasim Mullick. He
came from Lucknow and settled just where Honghly
meets Chinsura. The Khan was a very rich merchant
and was by courtesy styled Nawab. Indeed, though
not actually ennobled, he resembled one belonging to
the aristocratic order.  Fe built the grand house
which stands just to the south of Jforaghat ‘double-
ghat). In fact, these two ghats were attached
to that house, one of them havirg been for the use of
the inmates of the house, the other for the use of the
public at large.  In this splendid house, Kasim Al
lived like a prince. But this building was not his
only landed property in this guarter. He had a
very fine garden in Protappur which latterly was
purchased by the late Radha Nath Bannerjee and
is now in the possession and enjoyment of his son.
This garden was named after him and is still com-
monly known as Kas-A/ullickeir Big. Kasim Al
also established a big 4d7 in the quarter which bears

his name,  This is the most fourishing market
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in Hooghly and is held on Thursdays and Sundays.
It lies to the west of the road which runs through
Pipalpati to Chinsura. It forms a part of kismat
Kulihanda, the property of the Bansberia Rajas,
but is held in perpetuity by the Das family of
Jogudaspara. A portion of the Ads whers rice,
and potatoe are sold is held by the Bose family
of Karpasdanga and some others, The market is
known as Mullick Kasim's /d4¢ and the quarter in
which it is situated goes by the name of Kasimpur.
Kasim Ali died in his Chinsura house and was
buried in his garden at Protappur. His tomb is
still in existence, though not in a good state of
repair.

This merchant-prince left a son, Taki Mohammad,
to succeed to his estates, who also lived in a grand
style in imitation of his father. But he proved a
prodigal son and parted with most of his rich
patrimony.  Afterwards, the dwelling-house itself
passed out of the hands of the family, and came
into the possession of Haji Baba of Kazan who
occupied it for a pretty long time. The rich Haji’s
grandson was a merchant of great note. This
appears from his very title itself-1/akk-ul-Tuttejar
(merchant of the world)—a title which considerably
resembles that of the famous banker of Murshida-
bad, Jagat Sett, who cut such a prominent figure
at the time when the Mahomedan rule was about
to give way to the English power. The present
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-owner of the house is Baboo Sarat Chandra Mundal,
who has been living with his family init, The
house, though it has passed through very many
summers, is still very strong and is well able to
bear the wear and tear of time for years to come
as well as the violence of the river that runs close
by. It is of a Gothic structure in which strength is
more consulted than beauty. [t is one of the
strongest and most durable buildings in this part of
the country,

Ashanulla Meah.—This gentleman was commonly
-called Meah Ahsan.  He was a principal merchant
-of Hooghly and was a personal friend of the power-
ful Nawab, Ali Verdi Khan, with whom, it was said,
he had exchanged his turban in taken of real, sincere
friendship. This fact is alone sufficient to show
that he was a very famous character and was held
in high estcem. His dwelling-house was a grand
thing, and, as it had twelve entrauce gates* gave
the name of Baradwari to the cuarter in which it
stood. Here he lived like a prince and entertained
Rajahs and Nawabs in & manner which considerably
resembled the reception which William Beckford
used to give to his guests at his splendid Vatek

* Some, however, say that, not that the house had twelve gates,
but that it had so wmany glass windows waich looked like doors,
so big and high they were. Oue such house with twelve entrance
gates was huilt by Raja Protapaditya, the last king of the Sunder-
bans, in Ishanpur within the limits of the Satkhira Sub-Division.
Some remains of the said Baradwari house are still visible @2 situ.
{(See Obgects of Antiquarian Interest in Beigal. )
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Castle. Fickle as fortune is, she never, however,
withheld her favours from Meah Ahsan, who ‘lived
and died a rich man, He had a son, but it seemed,;
he had died before him, so that the property left by
the rich Meah was ivherited by his grandsons,
Enayet Hoessein® and Hamid Hossein,  They, how-
ever, did not prove worthy heirs.  They parted with
considerable portion of their inheritance. Enayet
died childless, but his brother, Hamid, left a son
who was a translator.of the High Court at Calcutta
for some time  There is no knowing what has be-
come of him since.” Probably he'is no longer in the
land of the living.

Though no vestige of Meah Ahsan’s grand edifice
remains, the place is still called by that name and
is likely to be so called for many long vears to come,

Mir Solaman Khan. This gentleman certainly
passed for a noted character in his day, but there
was this deep darlostain in his life that he had
acquired his vast fortune by the foulest of means.
He was probably a T.ucknow man, but in early life he
came to Bengal,  After serving in some minor
capacities, he entered the houschold of the “Chota
Nawab,” as Mir Kasim, the son-in-law of Mir Jaffar,
was called, and ultimately rose to be his steward.
With the fall of Mir Jaffar, the prospect of Mir
Kasim brightened up with the greatest effulgence,
and he was placed on his father-in-law’s gadd/ at

Murshidabad.  Mir Solaman became the great



HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT, 97

favourite and confidant of the new Nawab, But
when, a few short years after, fortune frowned upon
Mir Kasim, his pet steward was not slow to show
his cloven foot and even went the length of robbing
him of his jewels and other valuables.

On being finally defeated by the English, the
Nawab fled towards the west, and crossing the much-
maligned Karmanasa, passed into the country of
Bulwant Sing, a dependant of Shuja-ud-Dowla,
Nawab Vizier of Qude,; whither he was hurriedly
followed by his family.  “Amongst the multitudes
of covered carriages/of all sorts,” says the contem-
porary author of Szyar-wul-Mutakierin, “ that attend-
ed Mir Cassem’s /karam scra, or sanctuary, in his
retreat, there were numbers of covered coaches and
chairs which passed for containing some favourite
ladies, but which, in reality, contained but bags of
white cloth, full of gold coin, and of gems, as well
as of jewels of high value.” All these together with
Mir Cassem’s Begum and his "other ladies, both on
going to Rhotas and in coming from thence, were
entrusted to the care of Mir Suleiman Khan, his
steward, a man in whom he used to repose the
highest confidence, but who being apprised cf the
variety of contents, stole and embezzled a number
of jewels of such a value as could not be reckoned
but by lacs.”* Mir Kasim had got scent of this

* See Siyar-ul-Mutakherin, Translation, Vol. II, p. 517, Cambray’s
Reprint.

G
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treachery, but his affairs at that time had fallen into
such a pitiable plight that he found no opportunity
of examining the effects. Shortly after, the man
from the Nawab Vizier came to compliment and
console him, and, as he still reposed confidence in
Mir Solaman who, to save appearances, never failed
to show feigned grief and sorrow at his master’s
bad lot, he sent him along with the said messenger
as an envoy to that Prince. “In this embassy,” to
quote again from the same author, “the treacherous
hypocrite took care to make his peace with Beni
Bahadur, who was Prime Minister to Shuja-ud-
Dowla, with Aaly Beg Khan, his general; aud with
Mir Behloo, which latter had been once tutor to
that Prince. With all these, as well as with all the
favourites of that Priuce, he found means to in-
gratiate himself by making them sharers in the
treacherous booty he had made, giving to some of
them gems of an immense value.”* Mir Solaman,
afterwards, returned to Mir Kasim and showed him
the letters which he had secured from the Vizier's
principal men by foul means. Mir Kasim, who, in
the midst of misfortunes, had not lost his usual
good sense, was shrewd enough to see through the
rougé, and, accordingly, threw out hints which in-
dicated strong suspicion of his steward’s apparent
innocence. Apprehending that the mask which he
had put on to conceal his guilt, had been rent, this

* See Vol. 11, p. 518.
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rogue of a servant left his old master’s camp and
went over to the Nawab Vizier and took service
under him, IHis subsequent conduct is thus por-
trayed in strong colours by the .noble historian
whom we have more than once quoted. He says :—
“ Whilst Mir Cassem was consuming his days in the
dungeon of a reverse of fortune, his unworthy
steward, Mir Suleiman, was coming out frora the
-corner of infamy, with Solomon’s ring* at his finger,
and not content with “becominy a favourite of the
Vizier’s, he turned out informer and gave his new
master advice to annex the fortress of Rhotas to his
-dominions.”+ This advice, however, did not have
its intended effect, for Sahu Mull, the governor of
the fortress, not feeling sufficiently strong to defend
-it for his master, surrendered it to general Goddard
instead of being a party to Solaman’s villainy. The
Mir stuck by his new master, the Vizier, and was
present at the battle of Buxar, which, completing
what had been left undone by the battle of Plassey,
brought down both the Emperor and the Vizier to
the feet of the English.  When affairs of the native
rulers wore this sad and gloomy aspect, Solaman
fled with all his ill-gotten effects and money, and
coming to Bengal, settled in a portion which abutted
on, if it did not actually fall within, the Dutch settle-

* This ring, amongst -an infinity of properties, had that of
turning the wearers into any shape they chose to assume ; it could alse
render them invisible.

1 See Vol. I, p. 553.
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ment of Chinsura, Here be built a grand palatial
residence and commenced living like -an FEastern
grandee which his immense wealth well enabled him
to do. The big building has with the decline in the
fortune of the family long since come down, only a
poor relic remaining to tell tale of its pristine
magnificence,

The vast wealth of Mir Solaman Khan having
excited the cupidity of the powerful Haldars, who
lived close by at 1laldartuli, they engaged a lot of
bad characters of ‘which there was plenty in this
part of the country, and by their aid caused a
terrible dacoity to be committed in his house. The
booty carried off was very large indeed, but
enough still remained for the family to keep up its
dignity for some time to come. In this way, Mir
Solaman of infamous memory lived up to within
two or three years of the close of the eighteenth
century, when he departad this world, and with him
passed away the power and importance of the
family.

The deceased had seven sons of whom Mir
Sabeth Ali cut a pretty good figure. Among the
sons of the latter, Mir Mobarek Ali was compara-
tively well known. He was born in the year 1802,
and was well educated in Arabic and Persian. He
was also a nice hand at painting, and was, accord-
ingly, employed at the Hooghly College, then only
recently established, to teach that fine art. He was,
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therefore, generally known as Alosnovis. This
good man whom we well remember havirg seen in
our younger days, more than completed the Psal-
mist’s cycle of threescore and ten, he having died
in 1879. One of his sons, Mir Mohamed Massum,
is a well-known medical practitioner at Calcutta,
He is domiciled there and only occasionally pays a
visit to his ancestral abode, which, dilapidated as it
is, and rapidly crumbling into ruins, is in the occupa-
tion of one of the grandsons of the good old
Khosnovis.

Gouri Sen.—No name is more frequent in the
mouths of the people of this part of Bengal, and yet
there are very few, indeed, who know who the man
was that bore that honoured name. Gouri Sen* was
a scion of the Sen family of that important quarter
in the town of Hooghly which is known as Bali:
He was a Swvarnabanick by caste and was the son of
Hara Krishna Murari Dhar Sen. The exact year of
his birth is not known, but there is evidence to show
that he lived and moved and had his being about
three hundred years ago, Iswar Chandra Sen, the
present representative of the family, being the eighth
in descent from him. This exceptionally noted
character rose from very small beginning. He did
not inherit any property worth the name: indeed

* It is not known whether the name of the man was Gouri Sankar
or Gouri Nath or something else. So we give the name as it is
commonly known.
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he was by God’s grace the sole architect of his im-
mense fortune. As is usual with his caste people,
Gouri Sen began life as a trader on a very small
scale, It seems that he had a friend in one Bhoirub
Chandra Datta, a Kayastha, who was a resident of
Medinisankarpur, probably the present Midnapur ;
and to whom he used to send goods for sale. On
one occasion when his trade had thriven to a certain
extent, he had sent him seven boatsful of zinc. It
so happened that on-oue of the boats there was an
old Sadhu or saiut ‘asa passenger who was going
on a pilgrimage to the South. When the boats so
laden reached their destination, the consignee, the
aforesaid Bhoirub Datta, on being informed of their
arrival, came to the riverside, and what was his
surprise when on ‘examining the goods he found
that the cargo was not zinc, as the advice showed,
but pure unalloyed silvers Bhoirab, if he was so
winded, might have appropriated the silver, sending
his consignor money’s worth of zinc of which the
cargo originally consisted ; but he was too good a
man to take advantage of his friend’s luck, nay, he
felt horror at committing such breach of trust, He

accordingly, sent back the seven boats, laden as
they were with silver, to Gouri Sen at Hooghly, who
thus rose one morning and found himself suddenly
rich. Just before the boats reached Hooghly, Geuri
Sen had seen in a dream that the Great God,
Mahadeva, appeared before him, and informing him
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of the strange conversion of the cargo, asked him to
build a temple for him and consecrate it-at his
house. On the dream being found to be true in fact,
Gouri Sen who thus rose in riches, as it were, per
saltum, did what he was directed by the Mighty
God to do. The shrine with the Deity in it is still
in existence and the worship is well kept up by his
worthy descendants.

The above story of the'conversion of zinc into
silver has, it is true,; the'air of romance, but all that
we can say is that strange and mysterious are the
ways of Providence, and that what to others appears
miraculous becomes in the case of one, who has the
good fortune of being unusually favoured by the
Great on High, a stern reality. Having become
immensely rich all on a sudden, Gouri Sen resolved
to make the best use of the wealth thus poured in
upon him, His liberality was not sectarian, but had
a very wide range. He was always forward in
relieving the poor and the needy, and helping up
those who fell into difficulty. Indeed, pcople had
become convinced that if they did any act for public
welfare, they were sure to have the wherewithal from
that Karna of his day, Gouri Sen. In this way the
saying—"* A B! (7T et aa” (If anp woney be
needed it will be supplied by Gouri Sen)—which has
almost passed into a proverb,—became current in
this part of the country. Some ill-disposed men,
taking advantage of the good man’s unbounded



104 HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT.

liberality by counstruing the saying generally, some-
times committed objectionable acts in the hope of
being assisted by him.

On one occasion Gouri Sen gave a grand dinner
to his caste people of Hooghly and the neighbouring
villages. They mustered strong and the assemblage
looked like a large army of unarmed men. The guests
were not only sumptuously fed but were also given
some presents, the like to which was never done by
anybody else on this side of theriver. Indeed, rich as
he was to his heart’s wish, Gouri Sen well knew the
use of money and spent it with both hands, as the
common parlance goes, for the purpose of acquiring
good name and fame,  Taking him all in all, we
feel no hesitation in saying that he was not only a
child of fortune but a really good and great man.
May his revered memory live leng in the grateful
remembrance of the people! Though by nature
affable and mild, Gouri Sen always kept an eye on
his dignity and would be the last person to com-
promise it in any way whatever. He was, it was
said, “as humble as the very grass that lies low ;"
indeed, he made a virtue of humility, and yet would
not allow pride in others to go unreproved. A rich
Baidya, named Balaram Sen, once came to invite
him riding on an elephant ; but instead of coming
down from the elephant, as he should have done,
invited him proudly sitting in the Howda/k. Upon
this, Gouri Sen told him there and then that if he
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did not come down from his exalted seat to invite
him, he could not accept his invitation. Being
touched to the quick by this ready reproof, the
haughty Baidya, Balaram, went away with mingled
feelings of shame and indignation.

Iswar Chunder Sen, the present representative of
the family, is the cousin (maternal uncle’s son) of the
late Babu Hira I.al Seal of Caicutta. The family
is considerably reduced, but is-still held in esteem.



CHAPTER VI.

MADAME LE GRAND AND “ ELEGANT MARIAN
IN HooGHLY,

Madame l¢e Grand—This remarkable lady whose
chequered life affords ample materials for a romance,
was born at Tranquebar* on the Coroemandel Coast
on the 21st November, 1762. But though born a
Danish subject, she was not a Dane by birth : Her
father,t Monsier Werlée, was a true-born Frenchman
of distinction, who had done eminent services to his
country and had ‘received honors? at the bhaunds of
his sover=ign ; but her mother, Laurance Allancy,
was not of note, and even her very nationality is
anything but certain. . In her infancy, Coél Catherine
Werlée s for that was her maiden name, was taken
to the I'rench scttlement of Chandernagore on the

Hooghly, where her father was in good grace with

* The Danes made their settlement at Tranquebar in the first
quarter of the 17th century, having obtained a grant of the land from
the Raja of Tanjore. Mr. Macfarlane thinks that the Madame was
a native of Pondicherry. See Qur Indian Ewmpire, Vol. I, p. 220
note.

+ Thomas Raikes who was in Paris at the time of the Lady’s death,
however, says in his Journal that she was a Creole, born at Martinique.
Lady Brownlow in her ** Reminiscences of a Septuagenarian,” on
the contrary, says,—‘ She was, I believe, cither Linglish or Scotch
by birth.” " Indeed, grave doubt hangs over her origin; but the
account I have given seems to be the most probable one.

1 Tle was a Capitaine du Port ard Chevalier de St. Louis.

§ Some say that her maiden name was Dayrel, but this is a
mistake,
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the Governor. There the girl gcrew up and became
the “ cynosure of neighbouring eyes.”

About this time one Mr. Gecrge Francois Grand,
who, though of Swiss nationality, had adopted
Eungland as his fatherland, paid occasional visits to
the French Settlement. e was a member of the
Indian Civil Service duly appointed in England, and
had previously been in the Company’s army, in
which he had risen to the rank of captain in 1773,
when owing to broken health; he was *ordered by
the Faculty to make a trip to ILurope.”” As the rule
then stood, compliance with this order entailed
resignation of service ; so giving up service though
most reluctantly, the young invalid rcturned to his
land of adoption. The bracing climate of England
did him much good, ‘and ‘after, he was completely
restored in health; he obtained a “ writership ” on
the list of 1776, “ which station was accepted accom-
panied with the assurance 'that I should be so
recommended to the Government of India as to be
deemed eligible to such situation as FFactors were

i3]

placed in ;" and sailed for the Far Fast, He arrived
in Calcutta in June, 1776, and, entrusted as he was
at Madras with official despatches from Colonel
Macleane to the Governor-Gerveral, was very kindly
received by Mr. Hastings, whose conduct towards
him was such that he soon considered himself an
inmate of the family, and one partaking in a certain

degree of the confidence of that great man. While
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he remained with the Hastings, he generally accom-
panied them in their hebdomatical excursions on the
river, In these pleasure trips, Hastings sometimes
stopped at Sukhsagar, the sugarcane plantation of
his friend, Mr. Croits; or at Ghyretty House, the
residence of the French Governor, M. Chevalier,
At this gentleman’s house there reigned the truest
hospitality and gaiety. His admiration and per-
sonal friendship for Mr, Hastings ensured the most
welcome reception to those who were patronised by
this excellent man. In one of these trips, Mr.
Grand made the acquaintance of Miss Werlée which
soon warmed into love; and when shortly after, he
obtained a situation enabling him to commence
house-keeping, the matrimonial alliance was resolved
upon. The tenth day of July, 1777, was fixed for the
wedding, As Miss Werlée was of the Catholic
persuasion, it became necessary for the happy lovers
to Le married both in the Romish and the Protestant
‘Church. To these forms they strictly conformed,
and on the morning of that day, the Popish priest
legalized the union first in the Church at Chander-
nagore ; and then at the “ Hooghly House,” where
the bridegroom’s old friend, Thomas Motte, Esquire,
dwelt, The Rev. Dr. William Johnson, who by
special license from the Governor-General had come
from Calcutta, tied the nuptial noose with the usual
benediction. Soon after the marriage the wedded
couple went to Calcutta and took up quarters in the



HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT. 109

house of Mr. Robert Sanderson, father-in-law of Mr.
Barwell,* where they stayed for ten months, after
which they came to reside at Chandernagore. Re-
maining here a few months, they again went back
to Calcutta and took a little house not far from the
town. The course of events went smoothly along
until the 23rd November, 1778, in the night whereof
there was a grand ball at the house of Mr. (after-
wards Sir Philip) Francis at which the Governor-
General with his suite were prasent. It would appear
that Mrs. Grand was also at this very ball and
received marked attentions from the host, who, jt
seems, danced with her on the occasion. Mr. Francis,
though he held a very bigh post, was not a man of
strict morals, and it was only natural that he should
have fallen in love with the most beautiful lady+ in

* Barwell’s wife, Elizabeth Jane Saaderson, survived her marriage
only a little over two years, she dying in November, 1778,  She lies
buried in South Park Street "ground. The bereaved hushand retired
in March 1780, and returned to Fanglwnd where he purchased a fine
estate--Stanstead in Sussex—and entered Parliament.  With the
colossal fortune which he had amassed in India he lived like a
prince, and at last died in his estate in September 1804, aged sixty-
three.  (Sce Echoes, pp. 152, 153).

t Francis came single to India, his wife remaining in England.
LLer brother, Macrabie, accompanied him, who as Sheriff of Calcutta,
played an important part in the trial and execution of Nanda Coomar.
While Francis lived with his wife in 1ngland, though their income
was limited, they lived very happily, and he was able to tell his
brother-in-law in 1769, ** I believe I l2ad a happier life than a Prime

. Minister.” Francis's letters to his wife before his Indian appointment
testify to the strong attachment which existed between them. Whe-
ther this attachment continued after he had been away from her, we
have no means of judging, as very few of hisletters from India to
his wife have been preserved. Ile returned to England in 1781,
quite an altered man. IIis love was not fixed on his wife, it
wandered here and there, and if we may believe Lord Byron, he
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the land. All authorities agree in testifying, to the
surpassing beauty of Mrs, Grand: In face, form,
figure, and gracefulness of carriage she seems to have
presented a combination quite unrivalled. But
beyond all these, she was dowered with that special
charm, which perhaps ranks highest in the scale of
female attractions and always commands universal
admiration, v7z., a glorious head of thick luxuriant
hair, This descriptionof her person is not at all
exaggerating, confirmed as it ‘decidedly is by the
testimony of one who would bave been the last
person to assent to it, if the fact had been otherwise.
We refer to the account which Sir Irancis’s second
wife has left of her. She says :—* Mrs, Grand was at
that time the most beautiful woman* in Calcutta.
She was tall, most elegantly formed, the stature of a

P

Nymph, a complexion of unequalled delicacy, and

auburn hair of the most luxuriant profusion ; fine

showed the utmost indifference, when his wife died in April 1806, a
month or two before he was knighted. Lven after he had passed
the Psalist’s cycle of three-score and ten by five years, he married,
in the Waterloo year, Miss Watkins, who was forty three years his
younger.  Sir Philip was wont to playfully address her as *“ Infanta
‘Carissima.”

* Surely this is saying a great deal, considering the number of
European beauties then living in and about Caleutta. There were
Lady Chambers, the Judge’s wife, and Lady Day, the Advocate-
‘General’s wife, who were very beautiful.  More beautiful than either
was ‘‘ Elegant Marian,” the Governor-General’s wife. Besides these
there were Madame Pelle, the Bandel beauty, and Miss Emma
Wrangham, ¢ the Chinsura belle,” who now and then paid visits to
Calcutta, In August 1781, Raja Nabakissen gave a nawich and
grand entertainment ** in commemoration of Miss Wrangham’s birth-
day.” All these were so many Iclens, so to say, and to have topped
them all in personal charms was an achievement which has no
parallel even in romance, far less in real life,
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blue eyes, with black eye-lashes and brows gave her
countenance a most piquant singularity.” A writer in
the Calvntta Review for 1844* says that “ her picture
painted by Zoffany now adorns the walls of Mr.
Marshman’s residence at Serampore;” and with a
discrimination which, perhaps, as Dr. Busteed pro-
perly observes, is somewhat e post facto, he adds,—
“ there is more of feminine softness than of strength
of character in her fair_countenance ;—the sensual
prevails everywhere over the intéllectual,”  Speaking
of her wealth of haic: which in the eyes of a female
is richer than the wealth of Creesus, Madame Rému-
sat, who saw her late in life when she was in Paris,
says that “her fair golden hair was of proverbial
beauty.” Such was the beauty who was singled out
in the social life of Calcutta for the marked atten-
tions of Mr. Philip IFrancis, and  the lady too had
every reason to be proud of such attentions being
paid  her.  Apart from his high position which
counts much with the tender sex, Francis was
almost the Hyperion of his time. Ide was not only
remarkable for his rare mental endowments, his
exterior also was “strikingly handsome.”  His
contemporaries speak very highly of his person and
their glowing description of him is not at all over-
coloured. * The Lady of Cambridge,” as Milton
was called in his youth, was not more beautiful than
Frauncis was when a young man, Lady Francis

* 'This 1s the vear i which that Greaz Quarterly was established,
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records that so noticeably good-looking was he as
a young man that, when in Paris in 1766 he was
alluded to as the “le bel Anglais,” His manner
towards ladies is said to have been characterized by
an air of easy politeness and attention marked with
deferential admiration. Indeed, it was the very
reverse of the Junian severity. “Many of his letters.
to women,” says his biographer, “have that mixture
of playfulness, humour and sentiment which is said
to be particularly captivating to them., He had also
that peculiar attraction which they are sometimes
apt to find in one who is feared by men, and
reputed haughty and unyielding among them, but
who shows himself tractable’ and submissive to the
other sex and eager to obtain their favour.,” When
such was the posture of ‘affairs, it is not unreasonable
to suppose that young and unwary as Mrs, Grand
then was, she gave a willing ear to the addresses
of Francis, who on his part chuckling over the
glorious conquest he had made in the reign of Love,
thus triumphantly recorded in his Indian Journal
under date the 24th November, “ Omunia vincit amor ;
job for Wood, the salt agent.”* But though he had
gained the lady’s heart, there was formidable
difficulty in getting access into her chamber. The
husband was inordinately fornd of his young wife

* At the time we are speaking of, Mr. Grand was Secretary to the
Salt Comniitee, and Head Assistant and Examiner in their Secretary’s.
office.



HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT. [r3

and would never, if he could avoid it, stay out after
the still hour of “ dewy eve.” He used to gamble as
many others of his time did, but since his marriage
he had given up that perilous practice and set himself
up a family man of the truest type. The garden-
house in which he lived stood in a very good position,
and he had also a sufficient staff of servants who
were well able to guard against thieves and intruders.
To steal into such a house for immoral purposes was
no easy matter. Francis of whom illicit love had
taken entire possession was trying every manner of
means to gratify his lost. At last, an opportunity
presented itself on the 8th. December. On that day
there was a symposium  at | BarweIl’s house at which
it was absolutely necessary that Mr. Grand, who was
under so much obligation te him, should be present.
Indeed, his absence from it would have been regard-
ed as an insult to thegreat hest. Accordingly, at
g o'clock in the night Mr, Grand left his house the
happiest of men, with the view to sup at the house
of his benefactor. Availing himself of this oppor-
tunity, of which he had been informed, very prob-
ably by the lady herself, Mr. Francis ventured into
this dangerous affair, the like to which has proved
alimost fatal to many a gallant. Mr. Grand was
then living in his garden-house, and shortly after
he had left it, the desperate lover who had been
biding his time, entered it like a thicf, and got into
the lady’s chamber by means of a rope-ladder, It
H
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does not appear who had brought this ladder, but
there is evidence to show that Francis did not come
alone, but had two or three accomplices with him
who remained outside the house, After he had
been in the lady’s room for about three quarters of
an hour, Mr. Grand’s Jamadar, Rambux, on being
shown the strange ladder by one of his subordinates,
gave the alarm; whereupon Mr, Francis hurried
downstairs and, on trying to escape, was caught by
the sturdy Rajput. Mus, Grand came down and told
the Jamadar to let go Francis, but the servant with-
out minding her order told ‘her to go back to her
room. Francis offered money, but his offer was
rejected with scorn.| When he found that the
servant could not be gained over, he used force ; but
two fellows coming to the assistance of the Jamadar,
he gave up all hope of. making escape. The
Jamadar sent one of his underlings to Mr. Grand
to inform him of the matter.  In the meantime at
the whistle which Francis repeated several times,
Mr, (afterwards Sir George) Shee and Mr. Ducarel
scaled the wall from outside and cawme to his rescue.
A scuffle ensued in which the Jamadar fell down
and Francis took this opportunity to run out of the
house, but his rescuers were seized in their turn, of
whom Mr. Ducarel was allowed to go on the word
of one Mr. Keeble, who lived close by. After this,
Mr, Grand accompanied by Major Palmer, Hastings’s

Secretary, came in and on his order Mr, Shee was
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allowed to go at large. Mr. Grand suspecting his
wife’s fidelity, did not go upstairs where she was,
but returned himself to Mr. Major Palier’s house for
the rest of the night, where seatzd on a chair, borne
down with the deepest grief, he anxiously waited
for the morning. Surely, “a thing of beauty” is
not always “a joy for ever.” When the day dawned
he sent a challenge to Francis, requiring from him
the satisfaction which the laws of honour prescribed
for the injury done by him. But he curtly replied
that, as he had done no injary, he could not but
decline the proposed invitation. - When the injured
husband found that he could not get satisfaction in
that way, he brought a ¢yim con. action, laying his
damages at fifteen hundred thousand sicca rupees.
The case came on for hearing before Sir Elijah
Impey, Chief Justice, and Sir Robert Chambers and
Mr. Justice Hyde, two Puisne Judges. Mr, Charles
Newmans was counsel for the plaintiff, while Mr.
Richard Tilghmant defended Francis. Both these

* This advocate was lost in the wreck of he Grosvenor in 1783—
a catastrophe which plunged many Calcutta families into mourning.
The ship was cast ashore on the * Cofiee Coast ¥ eastward of the
Cape on her voyage home.  Some of the pascengers who reached the
Jand were barbarously treated by the natives. (Sec Echoer, p. 219
note.)

t Tilghman was Yrancis’s Philadelphian cousin and, afier his
brother-in-law Macrabie’s death, his dearest friend. e returned 1o
England with Francis in 1780, and, as he was « most amusing, cheery,
affectionate fellow, must have been invaluahle in helping to relieve
the tedium of ten months’ voyage. He started for Calcutta again in
January 1783, but on arriving found that the climate did not suit
him. 8o he left Bengal, hut died on the voyage home in 1786, aged
39 only. Before his death was known, his father was written to by a
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counsel were able men, but it would appear that
the defendant’s advocate was the abler of the two.
At the final hearing the Judges differed in their views,
Mr. Justice Chambers being of opinion that it was
not proved the defendant had committed adultery,
and that, therefore, there ought to be judgment for
him. He gave his reasons categorically, and they
were as follows: “ 1st—-Because it appears to me
that there is no proof, either positive or circums-
tantial, that Mrs. Grand knew. of, or previously
assented to, his (Mr. Francis’s) coming for any pur-
pose, much less for the purpose of adultery. 2nd—
Because there is no proof, either direct or founded
on violent presumption, that they were actually
together, much less was there any proof that they
committed any crime together.. 3rd—DBecause the
evidence appears to -me to fall short of what is
ordinarily considered as proof of any fact, and
specially of any crime, 4th—DBecause it falls ex-
ceedingly short of what our Common Law considers
as proof of adultery. And lastly, because I have
never read or heard of any action for crim. con. in
which a verdict has been given for the plaintiff on
such presumption of guilt” In the face of such

strong opinion one would think that the dissenting

friend in London to say that it was in contemplation to appoint his.
son  Advocaze-General at Caleutta in the place of Sir John Day,
Warren Iastings, to his everlasting honour, having told the Directors
that this iutimate fitend of Francis (then intriguing against himself)
was the fittest person for the ofiice.  {See Echoes, p p. 220, 221 note. )
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Judge had stuck to it to the very last, but, as Mr.
Kaye says, he afterwards wavered and veering
round assented* to the opinion of the majority, only
differing from them in assessing the damages to be
awarded at thirty thousand rupees, the Chief
Justice and Mr. Justice Hyde having suggested
fifty thousand and one hundred thousand respec-
tively. At last, the suggestion of the Chief Justice
was acted upon and rupees fifty thousand sicca
together with costs of -suit amounting to sicca
Tupees 047-8 annas were decresd in favour of the
plaintiff.  This trial which made quite a sensation
came to a close in April 1779,

Having secured Francis’s fifty thousand, Mr.
‘Grand proceeded to settle accounts with Shee, whose
friendly offices “ to save his noble patron” both on
the night of the escalade and in the witness-box
during the trial in Court, Mr, Grand was evidently
not disposed either to forget or forgive. He again
had recourse to law, and brought an action of
trespass, for breaking open and entering his house

* This, however, was denied by Samuel Tolfrey, Fraucis’s attorney in
the action, before the Committee of the I{ouse of Commons, who
-declared that the verdict was given contrary to the opinion of Sir
Robert Chambers. This statement seems to gain some force from
the preference and favour afterwards shown to that Judge by Francis,
In the libellous Book of Travels which goes under the name of
Mackintosh and in numerous other Publications, Chambers is held up
as the most upright of Judges—asa contrast in integrity, humanity,
and all other virtues to Sir Elijah Impey. (Macfarlane, Vol. I, pp. 293,
:294 note). Bat strange to say, Francis himself harps upon Chambers’s
weakness.  Surely something like mystery hangs over the whole
matter.
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on the 8th day of December 1778, But he did not
make much by this, as the verdict was “ one Rupee
damage and one Rupee costs.” Thus were all the
legal proceedings which arose out of Francis’s ugly
doings wound up. But the injured husband who
as he himself acknowledged, was *fully satisfied,
contented, and paid,” was not reconciled to his wife.
Indeed,‘ he did not take much thought after her,
and almost left her to shift for herself. Thus cir-
cumstanced, Mrs. Grand was in a_manner compelled
to throw herself upon the protection of the lover who
had been instrumental in damaging her honour and
reputation, and Francis, as if under sense of duty,
took her under his care and patronage. He esta-
blished her at Hooghly in the house of his Irish
cousin, Major Phil Baggs, This bully of a man had
only iately arrived in-Calcutta, fresh from the glory
of a desperate duel which he had successfully fought
in France with no less redoubtable a personage than
« Fighting Fitzgerald.” He wasalso a very expert
gambler and had won large sums at hazard. Deem-
ing that Hooghly would suit him  better than
Calcutta, he took an elegant, modern-built house
there and made it his permanent abode. It was at
this house under the guardianship of such a dreaded
Dragon that Francis placed the young Mrs. Grand
somewhere  in September 1779. As Francis’s
thoughts were now much occupied on matters
amatory, he made frequent trips to Hooghly and
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stayed there for days together, almost forgetting the
important affairs of Government. His Journal has
this entry under date the gth September: “ Go up
to Hooghly, where [ proposz to stay till we hear
decisively from England. If it be possible to avoid
it, I will never meet these villains in Council again.”
From such language one can easily imagine in what
direction the current of his thoughts was running at
that time, Indeed, the incomparable beauty had
taken absolute possession of his heart, and he found
it extremely difficult: to remain away from her
sweet agreeable company.  But the exigency of ser-
vice sometimes got the better of his ‘ tender passion,’
and he could not avoid going down to Calcutta.
His stay there, however, was very short, and as soon
as the business which had dragged him there was
done, he would hurry back  te Hooghly. Indeed,
he liked his dear Hooghly so much that if circum-
stances had permitted, he might have made it his
abode for good. As for Mrs. Grand, she too was very
fond of the place which, comparatively quiet and
peaceable as it was, pleased her more than busy,
bouncing, boisterous Calcutta. While at Hooghly,
Francis would now and again make pleasant excur-
sions on the river in the company of his sweet
mistress and his boon cousin, Baggs. The latter
despite his terrible countenance, was quite gentle-
man-like in his manners and deportment, and as he

was a cheery, jolly, amusing sort of a fellow he
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was well able to give quite an exquisite zest to the
sweet entertainment of the river journey. Indeed,
during his residence at Hooghly, Francis well-nigh
forgot all about Calcutta. The entry in his journal
under date the 2nd November, runs thus:—“ At
Hooghly, where I propose to stay as long as [ can,
and visit Calcutta as seldom as I can. Last night
an invitation was sent to me from Mr. and Mrs
Hastings to dine with them to-morrow. Consider-
ing the terms on.which we parted yesterday and
that [ never received such an invitation before, it is
an codd unaccountable circumstance, and subject to
infinite speculation.” In fact, during the last few
months of the year 1779, Francis, if he ever happen-
ed to be absent from/ s imistress, always had his
eye on [Hooghly, where all his tender concerns were
focussed. He felt the absence very deeply, and was
very anxious to be there again, But with the close
of the year 1779, Hooghly ceased to have much
attraction for the lover and the loved. Major Baggs,
who was evidently in the service of the East India
Company, was ordered out of India by the Court
of Directors, and he, accordingly, started on the
3rd Jaouary, 1780. Shortly after, his house at
Hooghly was advertised for sale in Hicky's Gasette.
[t does not appear what became of that house or
by whom it was purchased, but it was left by the
fair denizen who had occupied it for more than six
months, When Francis found that Major Baggs



HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT. 121

had gone, he brought his unprotected fair friend
back to Calcutta somewhere in February., Barwell,
who had all along supported Hastings in Council,
started from Calcutta on the 3vd March, 1780, His
absence complicated matters between the Governor-
General and Francis which culminated in the all
but fatal affairs of the 17th Auguast. Oun that day
a duel,—that barbarous practice of barbarous times—
was fought between the two great opponents, in
which Francis was: wounded. e bled profuseiy
and was taken in a cot to a neighbouring house, and
then to Belvedere itself,  Therwound, however, was
other than mortal, "and it was not long before he
recovered and was in a position to resume the duties
of his high office. But the painful recollections of
what had happened to him in India made a very
deep impression upon. his mind and he left this
country on the 3rd December, 1780, never to see it
again.

When Mrs. Grand  found  herself  forsaken by
Francis, she was gnite at alass what to do. Her
husband had altogether cut off all connection with
her, but had not formally divorced her from him,
The marriage-tie was still tight in the eye of law
and she could not, therefore, take a second husband
without committing an offence. In this state of
suspense she remained for some time in Calcutta,
and then made up her mind to bid a long adieu to
India. She sailed for Europe, but instead of going
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to England with a view to renewing her connectiom
with Francis, she went to reside in France, where
she put herself into the charge of two respectable
ladies, and thougl largely (if not mainly) dependent
on the slender support which they could give her,
she refused any assistance from Francis. The latter,
however,’ frequently went to see her in Paris and
Spa, but she, though acknowledging her affection
for him and her attachment for no one else, * resisted
the temptation of renewing the improper part of
her intercourse with him." = She remained in
France until the troubles of the French Revolution
compelled her to leave it in the month of August
1792.  She stayed in Kngland for three or four
years, after which she returned to Paris. Whether
Talleyrand de Perigaord met Madame le Grand in
England where he was early in the Revolution, or
on the Continent, it is certain that he came to the
French metropolis with him from Hamburg in the
first days of the year 17946. At that time this
distinguished Frenchman, who afterwards rose to
be the greatest character in France, only inferior to
Napoleon himself, was not in very good circumstances;
so he was forced to put up with his travelling fair
companion in a modest-furnished lodging. He soon
had -the vexation to see her arrested and sent to
prison, on suspicion of her having had intimate
relations with some emigrants at Hamburg., To
obtain ‘her release, Talleyrand himself was obliged
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to write to Barras, the Director, who readily ordered

n

the “rare and nonchalant Indian beauty ” to be set
at liberty.  Mrs, Grand came back to Talleyrand’s
and they lived together in the closest intimacy.
With the rise of the former to the post of [foreign
Minister, the influence of the latter rose correspond-
ingly high, She had gained complete mastery over
her lover’s heart, and became the sole and absolute
mistress of his house. _She did the honor of the
great man's table .and salcon, “and held his demi-
official receptions as Iforeign ' Minister. This latter
circumstance created considerable difficulties, inas-
much as some of ‘the ambassadresses would not
consent to be received at the foreign office by the
Lady presiding there: . This  unpleasant matter
coming to the ears of the First Consul, he at once sent
for Talleyrand and told him in-so many words that
Madame Grand must leave the house. But as circum-
stances then stood, this order, peremptory though it
was, could not be easily complied with, Accordingly,
Madame Grand with admirable promptitude, not
very common in her sex, went to Josephine, and
supplicated that August Lady to procure her inter-
view with Napoleon, to whose presence she was
readily admitted. Thouogh then nine-and-thirty aud,
therefore, not in the heyday of beauty, stiil she was
in the rich maturity of charms. These coupledi
with her earnest entreaties moved the heart of the
Great Bonaparte who dismissed her saying, ¢ [.sce
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only one way of managing this,—let Talleyrand
marry you, and all will be arranged. You must
bear his name, or you cannot appear in his house.”
But there was a formidable difficulty in the way.
Mrs. Grand not having been formally divorced by
her first husband, the latter, who had had a
chequered career and was now in bad circomstances,
was sought out and was gained over by money and
the divorce obtained. The way being thus made
clear, the marriage took place on the 1oth September
18502, Thus, Mrs; Grand ‘was metamorphosed into
Madame de Talleyrand.  When Madame de Talley-
rand appcared before Court after her marriage,
Bonaparte, who was certainly not very courteous to
ladies, with patronising impertinence, expressed a
hope to her, that the fature good conduct of the
citizeness Talleyrand would cause to be forgotten
the indiscretions of Madame Grand, to which the
bride naively rejoined, that'in this respect, perhaps,
she could not do better than follow the example of
citizeness Bonaparte,  And yet this is the lady
whom it is the fashion to represent as a silly fool.
Francis was perfectly right in saying of her that
“ her understanding was much better than the world
allowed.,” Whatever may have been the indiscre-
tions chargeable to Madame Grand, her conduct,
after her acquaintanceship with Talleyrand began,
scems to have been without reproach. In only one
instance was the whisper of scandal heard about
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her, and that was when the Spanish princes, namely
Ferdinand, the eldest son of the King, and his.
brother and uncle, were kept in silken bondage in
the chateatt of Valency, the country-seat of Talley-
rand. The spiteful tongues of “all Paris” said at
the time that Madame de Talleyrand played her
part in the arrangements for the amusement of the
Princes, in a manner much more calculated to.
please the Kmperor than her husband, and proved
once more the fallacy of the observation that “a
woman of forty is only - beautiful to those who
loved her in her youth.”  Indeed, the lady retained
a considerable portion of her charms till late in life,
and, if the comparison may be allowed, she looked
like Venus “ever fair and ever young.”

Madame de Talleyrand was evidently very proud
of her new name, because only twelve days after
her marriage, in writing to M. Van de Goes, the
Minister for Foreign Affairs of the Batavian Republic,
she said : “ You will see, sir, by the name which my
union with M. de Talleyrand gives me the right to
bear, how the tender and sircere affection of that
amiable friend has made me the happiest of women.”
Little did she think at the time that far greater
honor was in store for her. This came to pass in
the year 1805, when Napoleon, though he hated
Talleyrand for his immorality, yet could not do
without him, advanced him to the rank of Prince
Benevento. Thus, Miss. Werlée ultimately rose to be a
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Princess of the French Empire, and she made the
best of her high rank. She affected royal state,
had maids of honor, pages, and almost all the
paraphernalia of royalty, and lived in a princely
style. ler power and influence in the realm
alimost staggers belief; nay, she wielded far higher
authority than the Prince himself who was quite a
slave to her personal charms. This lasted for several
years together, after which there arose circumstances
which rendered separate  establishinent desirable,
if not necessary. Madame la. Princesse had ceased
to be what she was before. ' “ The elegance of her
form was injured by her becomine stout and this
afterwards increased, and by degrees her features
lost their delicacy and her complexion became very
red.” The Prince who was a slave to her personal
charms, transferred his-affection to another lady of
more engaging appearance, whose daughter, a
fascinating beauty, ‘eventually presided over his
household. The separation took place in 1815*
when Princess Benevento took up her residence at
Antenil.  There she lived in a splendid style, quite
becoming her rank and position, and there after
strutting her hour she breathed her last on the roth
December 1835. The Prince survived her some
three years, dying on 17th May 1838,

* Strange to say that in this very year Francis, her quondam lover,
was joined in holy wedlock to a young girl who was almost like a
granddaughter to him.
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As for Mr. Grand he held several posts in India,
From 1783 to 1787 he had served as Collector of
Tirhoot.. He was then thrown out of employ, and
it was unot till 1788 that he again got a post, and
that a higher one, namely, that of Judge and
Magistrate of Patna. But this appointment he was
allowed to hold for a short time, On being directed
to give up and dispose of his indigo concern in
Tirhoot, he remonstrated against it, and fnally
proving contumacious and charges as to his conduct
as Judge of Patna haviug been laid to his door, he
was removed from the Service.: But he did not leave
India until February, 1799. Afterwards, in 1802
he went to the Cape of Good Hope as Privy
Councillor of the local  Government under the
Batavian Republic, There  he remained several
years, though not in-the same capacity. Sir James
Mackintosh met him in Janvary, 18312, He wrote
in his Journal :—* At the *African Club’ where I went
to read uewspapers and reviews, I met Monsieur
‘Grand, the first husband of Madame Talleyrand:
he is rather a gentleman-like old man, a native of
Lansanne, sent here with an office during the peace.”*
After the Peace of Paris in 1815, he came to Loadon ;
so did Madame Ia Princesse de Benevento, What
became of him afterwards, is involved in-dim
-obscurity. ‘

* See Macfarlane, Vol. 1, p. 220 note.
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Elegant Marian—This famous Lady, who posed
as Queen for some years in Bengal, was the second
wile of Warren Hastings, the first Governor-General
under the East India Company. Mr. Hastings had
a remarkable career. Though of noble descent, he
was not in affluent circumstances, and had, as a
matter of fact, to climb from the lowest rung of the
ladder to the highest. From having been a * Writer "
on a small pay, he ultimately became the Ruler of
provinces.

Young Hastings came out to India in the year
1750. Before he ‘had been long in Bengal, he
attracted the notice of that far-sighted soldier-states-
man, Clive, who, when, after the battle of Plassey,
Mir Jafar was proclaimed Nawab of Bengal, Behar
and Orissa, appointed  him Resident at the new
Prince’'s Court. Hastings remained at Murshidabad
till the year 1761, when on being made a Member
of Council, he came to reside at Calcutta. While
residing at the Nawab’s Court, a very terrible domes-
tic disaster had overtaken him. This was the death of
his first wife, whom he buried at Khagra* not far
from the city of Berhampur, where her tomb still
exists and is kept in good repair+

On coming to Calcutta Hastings entered upon

* The old cemetery contains many interesting tombs including,
besides this one, those of the great Trisn adventurer, George Thomas,
and of the hero of Mys. Skerwood’s tale, Little Henry and his
Learer. See Encyclopadia Britainica.

1 See Revised List of Antiquarian Objects in Bengal, 1886,
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the duties of his new office with his usual diligence
and earnestness. He worked on till 1764 when,
resigning his seat in Council. he returned to his
native country. He had realized only a very
moderate fortune, and that little was soon reduced
to nothing, partly by his praiseworthy liberality,
and partly by his mismanagzment. Towards his
relations he appears to have acted very generously.
The greater part of his savings he had left in Bengal,
hoping to profit by the-high usury of India. But
high usury and bad security generally go together ;
and Hastings lost both interest and principal

When his affairs took such a bad turn, Hastings
began to look again towards I[ndia. He had little
to attach him to England, and his pecuniary
embarrassments were great. Ile applied to his old
masters, the Directors, for employment, and they
gladly acceded to “his request, 'by appointing him
a Member of Council.at. Madras. In the spring of
1769 he embarked on board the Dule of Grafton
and commenced a voyage distinguished by incidents,
which might furnish matter for a novel. Among
the passengers in the ship was a German of the
name of Imhoff. He called himself a Baron ; but
he was in distressed circumstances and was going to
Madras as portrait-painter. Mr. Percy Fitzgerald,
in his “ Kings and Queens of an Hour,” says that

* See Macaulay’s Essay on Warren Hastings.

1



130 HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT.

the Imhoffs were friends of the royal robe-keeper
Mrs. Schwellenburg (“ the old hag from Germany,”
as Macaulay* styles her in his indignation about
Fanny Burney,) and that through her, Queen
Charlotte’s influence was solicited fur leave from the
East India Directors for the [imhoffs to go to
Madras.t But by whatever means the permission was
obtained, it is certain that the so-called Baron,
accompanied by his wife, was going to Madras. This
lady whose maiden name was Miss Anna Maria
Appolonia Chapusettin, was, as is stated by the author
of the Seir-ul-Mutaklerin, a native of Archangel,
where she was born on 11th February 1747, [t does
not appear under what circumstances she came
to Germany, but this much is certain that her
marriage took place in ‘that country, the fatherland
of her parents. This young woman, who though born
under the Arctic circle; was destined to play a
romantic part under -the  tropic. of Cancer, had an
agreeable person, a cultivated mind, and manners in
the highest degree engaging. She despised her
husband heartily, wro in addition to his poverty
was also poor in mental parts. Iudeed, in point of
accomnplishments he fell very far short of Hastings,
and it is, therefore, no wonder that the Baroness was
interested by the conversation and flattered by the
attentions of the latter. The Eunglish gentleman

* See his Essay on Madame D' 4-blay,
1 Vide Busteed’s Eckoes, p. 134.
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had no domestic ties, and the lady was tied to a
husband for whom she had no rzgard, and who had
no regard for his own honour, An attachment
sprang up, which was soon strengthened by events
such as could hardly have occurred on land. Has-
tings fell seriously ill, and the Baroness narsed him
with womanly tenderness, gave him his medicines
with her own hand, and even sat up in his cabin
while he slept.  Long before the Duke of Grafton
reached Madras, Hastings was in love, But his
love was of a most characteristic description. [t
was strong, but not impetuous : It was calm, deep,
earnest, patient of delay, ‘unconquerable by time.
The Baron was called into council by his wife and
his wife’s lover. [t was arranged that the Baroness
should institute a suit for divorce in the Court of
Franconia, that the Baron should afiord every
facility to the proceeding, and that, during the
years which might elapse befose the decree should
be proncunced, they should continue to live
together as husband and wife. It was also agreed
that [Tastings should bestow some very substantial
marks of gratitude on the complaisant husband,
and should, when the marriage was dissolved, make
the lady his wife, and adopt the children whom she
had already borne to Imhoff.*

On reachnig Madras the Baron took to painting,

* See Macaulay's Bssay on Warren Hasting s.
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and after having painted all who chose to be
painted there, came to Bengal in the latter end
of the year 1770 A.D. Tysoe Saul Hamock, who
was in somec respects a protegé of Hastings, in a
letter to his wife in England under date, April 1772,
after glancing at the facts which we have set forth
above, continues :—“She remained at Madras and
lived in Mr. IHastings’s house on the Mount chiefly,
I believe. She is about twenty-six years old, has a
good person and has 'been' very pretty, is sensible,
lively, and wants only to be a greater mistress of
the English language to prove she has a greater
share of will. She came to Calcutta last October,
They do not make a part of Mr. [Hastings's family,
but are often of his private partics.”™* If it {5 true
that the Imbhoffs  had come to Bengal while
Mr. Hastings was in Madras, they must have returned
to that place, for, as Macaulay says, when early in
1772 Hastings quitted Fort St George to  take
charge of the Bengal Government of which he had
been appointed Chief, the Imhoffs, who, were still
man and wife, accompanied him, and lived in
Calcutta on the same plan which they had already
followed during more than two years. [n February
1773, Nr. Iraloff went to ISngland, leaving his
wife behind in the house of Hastings at Cal-
cutta.  Whether the latter’s love was © patient

* See Echoes, page 134.
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of delay” when he found such opportunity of
gratifying it, is, perhaps, open to doubt. But there
can be no doubt that his attentions to Mrs. Imhoff
placed her in a very equivocal position, to say the
least of it, when his late colleague, Mr, Macpherson,
could thus venture to write to him from Madras at
that critical time when the condemnation of Nanda
Comar made it necessary for Hastings to take
precautions for his personal safety : “ Do not employ
any black cook; let your fair female friend oversee
every thing you eat.” And who could have been
this “ fair friend ” but Mrs. Imhoff. The testimony
of Mr. Francis on this point is, probably, not of
much value, seeing that he was the bitterest enemy
of Hastings. Bat this is what he wrote to a friend
in England when Hastings was about to be wmarried
to Mrs. Imhoff. “ I must inform you,” said he, ¢ that
he is to be married shortly to the supposed wife
of a German painter with whom he has lived for
several years. The lady is turned of forty, has
children grown up by her pretended husband from
whom she has obtained a divorce under the hand
of some German prince. I have always been on
good terms with the lady, and do not despair of
being invited to the wedding. She is an agreeable
woman, and has been very pretty. My Lord
Chief Justice Impey, the most upright of all possible
fawyers, is to act the part of father to the second
Helen, though his wife has not spoken to her this
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twelvemonth.”* There is much venom in all this
and no sane man would accept the statements made
in the letter without considerable modifications.
Early in July 1777 came the much longed-for
news that after a suit which had lasted several years,
the Franconian Court had decreed a divorce between
Imhoff and his wife. The Baron left Calcutta carrying
with him the means of buying an estate in Saxony,
The lady became Mrs. Hastings, the ‘“elegant
Marian ”t of her most devoted husband. In the
vestry records of St John’s/ Cathedral, Calcutta, it
is stated that the marriage was solemnized on Friday
the Sth August 1777, by the Rev. William Johnson}
the same chaplain who a month before had joined
the Grands in holy wedlock. The event, as one
would expect, was celebrated by great festivities ;
and all the ¢/77¢ of Calcutta, without distinction of
parties, were invited to the Government House,
Colonel Clavering, as the Mahomedan chronicler

whom we have noticed above, tells the tale, was

* Nide Lchoes, p. 135,

* Mrs. Hastings well deserved to be sa called, for not only was she
elegant in her person, she was also elegant in her manners as well
as in her dress; and she also reminds one of the beautiful ¢ Maid
Marian’ of the generous robber-chief of Sherwood Forest, But
she, we believe, was called ¢ Marian’ not on that account, but {rom
the fact of her maiden name having been *Maria.’

+ This gentleman who had officiated at so many marriages in old
Caleutta was himself married (in 1774) ta a lady who when a prisoner
of Siraj-ud-Dowla, at Murshidabad in 1755, was the wife of her
third husband. Her fourth and last kusband evidently got tired of
her and left India for good in February, 1788. She remained behind
and was for her ¢ dignified hospitality” known as ** Begum Johnson ™
till her death at a very old age in 1812. See Ecloes, p. 190 note.
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sick in mind and body, and excused himself from
joining the grand assembly. But Hastings, whom
as it should seem, success in ambition and love had
put into high good humour, would take no denial.
He went himself to the General’s house, and, at
length, brought his vanquished rival in triumph to
the gay circle which surrounded the bride. The
exertion was too much for a frame broken by
mortifications as well as by disease, It may be seen
from Impey’s letters that Clavering died of dysentry,
so very fatal to  Europeans and Natives alike.
“ He was taken ill ‘about a fortnight ago,” wrote
Impey on the 315t August, the day after his diseases
“returning home from a visit to my house.” Francis,
in his Journal under date the 30th August, 1777,
records,—* Sir John Clavering, after a delirium of
many hours, expired “at half past two P.M, and was
buried at eight, in the most private manner. The
Governor ordered minute guns, [ waited on the
ladies and pressed them to remove to my house, but
they declined. [ attended the funeral on foot to
grave.” (olonel Monson having died at Hooghly
nearly a year before, only Francis remained to con-
duct the opposition against Hastings.

Francis, as we have seen above, stated that
Mrs, Imhoff was turned of forty when she was
married to Hastings. But this could not be the
fact, as the inscription on the tablet to her memory
in the Daylesford Church shows that she was born
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in 1747, Thus, she was only thirty years old at
her second marriage. Hastings was fifteen years
older. But despite this disparity in age, he almost
regarded her as if she had been his first wife, and
the lady was in the full maturity of her charms.
Francis in writing to his wife shortly after the
marriage, thus says of Mrs, Hastings :—* The lady
herself is really an accomplished woman, She
behaves with perfect propriety in her new station
and deserves cvery mark of respect.” Lady Impey
was not in favour of the marriage. Indeed it would
appear from a letter written by Francis to a friend
in England that she had not spoken to Mrs. [mhoff
(she was not then Mrs. Hastings), for a year. But
when the marriage did" take place, the tables were
turned and matters . took quite a different turn,
Mrs. Hastings promptly brought the Lady Chief
Justice to her bearings, and, accordingly, Francis in
his Journal, under date the 22nd September 1777,
records :—* Mrs, Hastings returns Lady Clavering’s
visit, attended by Lady lmpey in formd pauperis.”
But thoush the two ladies were to all appearance
reconciled, still there was no love lost between them.

As Francis states further on in his Journal, their hatred

* Miss. Goldborne thus gives us a glimpse of her: “The
Governor’s dress gives you his character at  once, ) unostentatious and
sensible.  His lady, however, is the great ornament of places
of polite resort, for her figure is elegunt, her manners lively
and engiging, and her whole appearance a model of taste and
magnifizence.”
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was sufficiently cordial, but there were some ties*
which could not be dissolved. Mrs, Fay,t in one of her
Letters, speaking of the Lady Governess says :— It
is easy to perceive how fully seusible she is of her
own consequence : she is, indeed, raised to a giddy
height, and expects to be treated with the most
profound respect and deference.” Nevertheless, it
is true she seldom gave offerice to any lady by her
semewhat imperious demeanour. At that time the
Government House was nothing in comparison with
what it is now : it was not large enough to receive
public guests, so that when large dinner parties had
to be given, either' the old Court House or the
Theatre was held in requisition. Grandpre, the French
traveller, even in the year 1790, comments on the
poor accommodation provided  for the Governor-
General. He writes:—'“He lives in a house in
Esplanade, opposite the citadel,—many private
individuals in the town'have houses as good, The
house of the Governor of Poundicherry is much
more magnificent.” It was not till the time of Lord
Wellesley that the Governor-General had a residence
worthy of his position as the ruler of a vast satrapy.

* Hastings and Impey were fast friends, and, despite their quarrel
in regard to their official powers and privileges, continued to be sc
at heart. One of Impey’s sons took the pame of Hastings, and one
of his daughters the name of ¢ Marian’ The knot which tied these
two great men was almost indissoluble. .

t Mis. Fay, who came to Bengal with her husband, the barrister,
in 1780, was an old resident of Serampore. Her Memoris contain
much valuable matter. She died in 1817,
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Besides his Courtly residence at the Government
House, Hastings had a house of his own in town as
well as one in the suburbs. These residences were
rather the houses of the Lady Governess than of
the Lord Governor himself. In the Letters of a
gentleman who visited Calcutta in 1771 1s given a
copy of an invitation card in which Mr. and Mrs.
Hastings “request the favour of his company to a
concert and supper at Mrs. Hastings’ house in
town.”* But this hous ewas not so frequently used
by the Lady as the Belvedere House where she held
her Court which quite resembled the Court of a
Princess, or even of a Queen. Hicky, that pioneer of
the Indian Press, who was nothing if not censorious
was bold enough to insert the foliowing in one of
the issues of his Gasettet i “ A displaced Civilian
asking his friend the other day what were the readi-
est means of procuring a lucrative appointment was
answered, ‘Pay ycur constant deveoirs to Manan
Allypor’s or sell vourscelf soul and body to Pool-
bundy.” The first allusion is easy ensagh, for Mrs.
Hastings, the Lady of Belvedere, was always lovingly
called by her husband “elegant Marian”; but the
tecond is somewhat obscure. The “ Ven'able Pool-
bundy” points to Sir Elijah Impey, who, it was be-

* Tradition points to No. 7, Hastings Street, as heing this house.
Vide Echoes, p. 137-

+ Hicky’s was the first Indian newspaper, and Dr, Busteed in his
charming Zc/hoes, devoles one entire chapter to it, recording in  detail
its Life and Death. See also p. 188.
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ved in Calcutta, had taken a lucrative contract
for the keeping bridges in repair in the name of a
relative, one Mr. Frazer, Sealer of the Supreme
Court. Indeed, in those days even Judges of the
Highest Court in the land were not so free from all
underhand practices as they are now. As for Mrs.
Hastings she was much less scrupulous than her hus-
band, the Governor-General, who, if he had been a
rapacious man which he certainly was not, he could
have returned the richest subject in Europe. It was
generally believed that she accepted presents with
great alacrity, and that she thus formed a private
hoard amounting to several lacs of rupees. Whether
all this was doune with the connivance of her hus-
band is a matter of doubt ; but this is undeniable
that she had vast influence over him, which was,
indeed, such that she might have easily obtained:
much larger sums than she was ever accused of re-
ceiving, “ Hastings seems to have loved her with
that love which is peculiar to men of strong minds
to men whose affection is not easily won or widely
diffused.”s Indeed, love, though it resides in ‘a
feeble woman'’s breast and ‘though oft to agony dis-
tress’d, really wields an immense power, far mightier
than physical force or potent magic. Hastings fully
felt the force of its influence and could not say ‘nay’
to what his ‘elegant Marian’ intended to do. Thus.

* See Macaunlay’s Essay on Hastings,
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Mrs, Hastings reigned like a Queen in her suburban
Belvedere House. But holding Court in that sweet
lovely retreat was not her -ouly amusement: she
-used to accompany her husband in his pleasure trips
on the Hooghly river, At that time there was no
‘“Simla” to resort to to relieve the tedium of official
life: Hastings made the river his “ Simla.” While
out making such excursions, he generally stopped at
certain river-side stations. Barrackpur, though often
‘graced by Job Charnock, whose name it bears, with
his Presence, had not at this time risen to import-
ance. The nearest place up the river which Has-
tings loved to visit was Rishra. Here he had his
garden and grounds where he used often to reside.
This estate was still his property even after he had
retired from India. = It subsequently passed to other
hands and is now the property of Messrs. Birkmyre &
Co., where they have built their splendid Jute Mills.
Hastings also honoured’ Chinsura with his August
Presence, whose Governor, Mr. Ross, who had suc-
ceeded Mr. G, Vernet in 1780, was his personal
friend. Since the fatal day of Biderra* in 1750,
Chinsura had ceased to have any political import-
ance. Though subject to the Batavian Government,
it had a Governor and Council of its own whose
powers were pretty considerable,

Sooksagar, now in the Nadia district, about 40

* The correct name, however, appears to be ‘Bejara.’
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miles from Calcutta, on the left bank cf the Hooghly,
was also frequently visited by Hastings in the com-
pany of his beloved ‘Marian,’ Mr. Grant, in his.
“Sketches of Rural Life in Bengal,” says,—%“The
original house was built by Warren Hastings as a.
country residence for himself and three other Civi-
lians ; and for the purpose of their having an Eng-
lish farm where experiments in the growth of coffee
and other productions of “that character could be
tried.” Even after-Hastings had become the Civilian
of Civilians and reached the very summit of his.
ambition, he did not forget that sweet little retreat:
He would now and then pay visits to it and while
away some hours in the company of his friend,
old Mr. Croft* to whom the property would seem
o have passed, and who had turned it into a sugar
plantation. Lord Cornwallis, who succeeded Has-
tings, was also very fond of the place and secmed to
have made it his “Simla.”

But of all the places on the Hooghly above Cal-
cutta, Hooghly possessed the greatest charm for Mr,
Hastings, not so much for its peculiar historic im-

portance or for its having been the earliest English

* From Crofi the property subsequently passed into the hands of a
rich Portugnese merchant of Caleutta, the celebrated Joseph Baretto,
who_lived there like a prince and founded 2 Roman: Catholic chapel
for the use of his own family. Mr. Baretto’s successor, Mr. Lamaletta,
a Spaniard celebrated for his hospitality and sporting propensities,
converted the chapel into a residence for Mahouts and fighting cocks*
‘While he was there, the whole village together with all that were
in it were swallowed up by the fitful river, so that no vestige now
remains of the old villa.
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settlement in Bengal, but as being the favourite resort
-of his ‘elegant Marian’ It was.at Hooghly that
Mr. Motte, the husbaud of her bosom friend, Mrs.
Motte, had taken up his residence. Mr. Motte was a
free merchant, In 1766 he undertook a journey to
‘the diamond mines in Orissa by direction of Lord
Clive, and wrote an account of it. He afterwards
lived at Benares and moved thence to Hooghly.*
In January 1779 he married the pretty Mary Tou-
chet, who, true to the sweetness of her name, like
her namesake in French history, charmed all. The
Mottes made Hooghly their permanent abode and
the building they put up in was known as the
¢ Hughly House’” It was here that Mrs. Hastings
used to visit her intimate friend. Hooghly, however,
was not Mr. Motte’s place of business. He held
a police appointment in Calcutta, where his name
is still preserved in “ Mott's Lane,’” He had quite
a reputation in the police department like the ‘ one-
-eyed Sergeant’ of later times, and had a peculiar tact
in detecting crimes. He did not, however, use force,
as is generally done, but resorted to some kind of
conjuration for which purpose he kept a set of grave
men who were called “ Motte’s conjurors”, While
‘the dissension between the Supreme Council and the
Supreme Court was raging very high, the Mottes
were living at Hooghly and it was not unoften that

+ See Zckoes, p. 118 note.
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Mrs. Hastings paid them visits at their lovely country
‘house. This residence which was so frequently trod'
by the greatest lady in Bengal was situated on the
banks of the river, and had a very pleasant appear-
ance. Like Major Bagg’s house where Mr, Francis
had established 'his “ infamously famous” mistress,
it has disappeared altogether leaving no trace behind.
The site cannot now be identified, but the likelihood
is that it was near the English factory, which, as
we know, was in Gholeghat. " An old Eurasian lady
-of Chinsura, however, told us that ¢ Hughly House ;
stood near the Bandel Church.

While his “elegant Marian” was at Hooghly in
the hospitable abode of his friend, Mrs. Motte,
Hastings would write 'to her very frequently. In-
deed, he was an inexhaustib'e correspondent. The
letters to his sweetheart were written with the most
ungrudging frequency, and, though frequent, were
as a rule anything but short; and, surely, the
length to which most of them did go was something
wonderful in the case of an official Atlas bearing
such a world on his shoulders. The letters, as

Macaulay properly remarks, ¢

‘are exceedingly charac-
teristic.  They are tender and full of indication of
esteem and confidence.”  The burden of nearly every
one of them is the same—the assurance of his
increasing love—of the aching void her absence has
created—his morbid apprehensions and repinings,

and his passionate yearning to regain her: All
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indicate what a good and faithful husband Has-
tings really was. Indeed, he stuck by one and
knew no second woman to fix his love upon. To
compare great things with small, William of Orange
was not more faithful to Queen Anne than Hastings
was to his sweet ‘elegant Marian, although there
were so many beauties at the time, most of whom
he could have had for the mere asking.

When, in . August 1780, it became quite evident
that he could not avoid a terrible passage-at-arms
with Francis, Hastings thought that it was not safe
to keep his wife at Calcutta, who might very pro-
bably get alarmed.’ So he took her in a boat and
went straight to Chinsura ‘where he left her in the
hospitable charge of his friend, Governor Ross, who.
was living with his ‘wife, a most amiable lady who-
welcomed her guest with the warmest cordiality. TIt,
however, appears that Mrs, Hastings was first left in
the house of Mr. Motte in the morning of Monday,
the 13th August, whence she and Mrs. Motte moved
together to Mr. Ross’s place in the afternoon ; for,
while in the letter which he wrote at 11 o'clock from
his boat opposite Nai Serai, Hastings makes no
mention of the Rosses, but of Mrs. Motte only,
the letter which he wrote in the evening he concludes
by saying, “ My compliments to Mrs. Ross and Bibby
Motte.” On this occasion Lady Hastings resided
at the Dutch settlement for some days together.
On Thursday the 17th. August, the day on which
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the duel was fought, Hastings writes from Calcutta
as follows : —“ My dearest Marian, I have desired Sir
John Day to inform you that I have had a meeting
this morning with Mr, Francis who has received
a wound in his side, but I hope not dangerous. [
shall know the state of it presently and will write
to you again. He is at Belvedere, and Drs. Campbell
and Francis are both gone to attend him there, I
am well and unhurt .« . oo I cannot leave Calcutta
while Mr. Francis s in any danger. But [ wish
vou to stay at Chinsura, I hope in a few days to
have the pleasure of meeting you there.” In the
evening of that very day he sent another letter to
his wife at Chinsura, the bearer whereof was very
probably Mr. Motte, who had 'brought her key and
some gold mohurs. In that letter he says,—“I am
obliged to stay in Calcutta at least until Mr. Francis
is known to be free from all danger, lest my absence
should be called a flight, so that I cannot join you
this week, but do not let this bring you to Calcutta
before the time you have fixed for your return,”
On the next day he writes to say that, “ Mr. Francis
continues well and I pronounce kis care certain.”
It would seem that Sir John Day, the Advocate
Geuneral, with his wife were also living at that time
in Chinsura, and possibly in the same hospitable
house of Mr, Ross. Lady Day had fallen ill, and
Mr. Hastings tenders his compliments “to her, to
Bibby Mbotte, and Mr. Ross.” Perhaps, Mrs, Ross
J
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was not at home on that day to the knowledge of
the writer, In the morning of Saturday, the 19th
August, Sir John Day returned to town, and in the
evening Mr. Hastings writes to his wife at Chinsura.
But before Thursday next week Mr. Iastings seems
to have removed to Mr. Motte’s house at Hooghly,
from which she stirred not for some time. In the
evening of that day Hastings thus writes to her:— [
am glad that you resolve tc accept no more invita-
tions.  Mrs. Ross is~too good not to approve vour
reasons, and if you wvisit nobody, nobody will be
displeased.” And ‘from the letter which he wrote
in the night it is clear that she was then putting up
at Motte’s “IHughly House.” ' Either in the end of
August or in the beginning of September she re-
turned to Calcutta and stayed there for some time.
Then, again, in December she came back to Hooghly
and took up quarters at the residence of her favourite
Bibby Motte. But Mrs. Motte was not her only
companion while she remained there; Mrs. Palmer,
Mrs. Sand, Mrs. Samson and a few others now and
then eagerly sought her company. In his letters
dated the 22nd December, which he wrote from
Calcutta, Hastings notices those ladies by name and
compliments them with his usual courtesy. That
Mrs. Hastings was very fond of Hooghly would
appear among others from Hastings’s letter of the
28th December. In that letter he writes, speaking
of Mr, Motte who now and again ran on errand
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from the husband to the wife,~“ I have referred him
to you, saying (which is not always true) that no-
body knows a lady’s mind so well as herself, but
that I supposed that if you did come to Calcutta
on Monday you would again return to Hooghly
some days after.” While at Hooghly, as large
boats were not always available, Mrs. Hastings
generally made river excursions in a small boat,
As this is not safe, especially in unfavourable weather,
Hastings is found warning her against running such
serious risk. In the letter referred to above, he
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writes :-“ 1 own ['am not pleased with your ven-
turing on the water at this season in a small boat.
I have made inquiries for a pinnace but hitherto
without success. [ will certainly get one for you
and a good one, I hope, in a few days. You may
then #7ve* about the river as much as you pleases
and neither of us be aloser by it.” From all this
one can easily make out how very tender and warm
were the teelings which Hastings bore towards his
beloved wife.

Although Mr. Motte held a very lucrative appoint-
ment,-for then as now the radically corrupt police line
has been notorious for the perquisites which it brings
into the pockets of its employees,-he could not
avoid running into debt. The probability is that he
was a veritable prodigal and lived far above his means

* T%we for drive, intended probably as a playful allusion to
Mrs. Hastings’ foreign pronuntiation of Eaglish.
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In 1781 his financial difficulties became so great
that there appeared an advertisement in the News-
paper calling a meeting of his creditors. We do not
know what the result of this meeting was, but it
appears that though recourse to law was postponed.
for a time, matters did not show any marked improve-
ment. Poor Mr. Motte was at last thrown into the
Calcutta jail in 1783, and he felt his position so
very hard that he erelong presented a petition to
Court, praying that with the consent of his creditors.
he might be released from prison on the score
of humanity. It does not appear whether his plain-
tive prayer was listened to or not, but this is un-
doubtedly true that not long after, Mrs. Motte accom-
panied Lady Hastings to Iingland. Before the year
1783 closed, the health of the Lady Governess had
given way, and the Governor-General, much against
his will, was obliged to send her home. Mrs. Hastings
sailed for England in'the A#as in January, 1784.
Macaulay says how busy rumour was, as to the
money lavished by the Governor-General in provi-
ding comforts and luxuries for his wife’s voyage.
Mrs. Motte, who had all along followed her as her
very shadow, was offered a very large amount in
order that she might give to the great Lady the
benefit of her society during the tedious voyage, and
it seems that she felt the temptation too strong to-
be resisted, even at a time when her husband was
sunk in the depth of misery. In the year following,
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Hastings himself followed his wife to the mother
country where his fortune underwent such sore trial.
The passionate affection of Hastings for his ‘elegant
Marian’ never out-grew its spring; neither time
nor fruition seemed to lessen the fascination which
even her physical attractions had for him, Writing
to her son in 1803, he says,~“ Your good and
amiable mother, who ~continues even in beauty to
exceed every woman who comes within my observa-
tion,”--and is candid enough to tell him how he loves
him and his wife, “as the children of my adoption
and of my heart’s election.”” Hastings after a very
stormy career died on 2zad August, 1818, in his
eighty-sixth year. Iis wife survived him nearly two
decades, for, as a matter of fact, she did not depart
this *“ vale of tears” uutil 29th March, 1837. While
residing in England, she was always called Madame
Hastings.



CHAPTER VIL

HoocHLY AS AN EMPORIUM OF TRADE.

Before Hooghly rose to fame, Satgaon was in
its glory : it was the recognized port of West Bengal»
and drove a very busy and brisk traffic. Both
Pliny and P'tolemy style it Gangé Regia and speak of
its importance in a commercial point of view.
Indeed, it was the trading centre of this part of the
country. The Divisional Governor also had his head
quarters there. [t was almost what Calcutta is
now in the present day. At that time the sacred
Saraswati on which Satgaon stands, was the main
stream of the Ganges, and was swarmed with ships
and sails of almost all nations. Satgaon being, as
it were, the focus of commerce; ‘merchants from all
important places came to it for purposes of trade,
In course of time the water of the Saraswati began
to run short, thereby! rendering navigation by
merchantmen and large vessels very difficult. De
Barros, the Portuguese Livy, who flourished in the
sixteenth century,» states :—* Satgaon is a great and
noble city, though less frequented than Chittagong,
on account of the port not being so convenient for
the entrance and departure of ships.,” This shows

* Born 1496, died 1570,
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that the mouths of the Saraswati had at least to a
certain extent silted up.

When Satgaon as a port was thus on the decline,
the Portuguese who had been transacting business
there came to settle in Hooghly, by which the main
stream had for some time commenced to flow.
At that time the place was mostly covered with
dense jungles and intested with wild beasts. The
Portuguese, taking the permission of the Governor
of Bengal, built a_factory somewhere in the year
13540. The factory was an ordinary building ; in
fact, it was no better than a collection of clumsy
bungalows and warehouses, all bamboos and
thatches, But notwithstanding their small beginn-
ing, they rose pretty rapidly, and, at last, succeeded
in diverting to a considerable extent the trade
of the Royal port to their new settlement. This
gave great umbrage to the Divisional Governor
who threatened to turn the “Feringees” out. The
Portuguese who understood eastern people  well,
silenced the offended Governor by giving what is
very cfficacious in purely worldy affairs, “a sop to
Cerberus.”  Indeed, bribery has a potent charm for
gaining favour and disarming opposition, and no-
where is its influence so much felt as in the East.
The Portuguese made rich presents to the Governor,
and the latter who had threatencd to gore thems
quietly drew in his horns, IHaving thus made their
position secure, they drove a brisk trade and suc.
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ceeded remarkably well in it. They lived in the
quarter called Bandel, a name which is only a cor-
ruption of the native word dandar, signifying a port.
Indeed, Hooghly rose so very high that it made
Satgaon “hide its diminish’d head.” When this once
famous place was thus rapidly declining, the turbu- -
lent Afghans from Orissa attacked and plundered it
in 1592, But this was not the only misfortune that
befell it. Four years after, the rebel, Sobha Singh,
with a body of chosen followers,; came upon it and
looted a considerable portion of its properties. In
this way this grand emporium was denuded of its
wealth, so that what little remained was only
a wreck of its former self. But none the less it
continued to attract people who resorted to it, at
least for purposes of personal comfort. Even in the
18th century the Dutch merchants of Chinsura are
said to have had country houses at Satgaon and to
have walked up to it from Chinsura, a distance of
fully six miles. Early in the 19th century the
village,-for the great city had dwindled into one
such,-was still in existence, and was celebrated for
its manufacture of country paper. Now it is for the
most part overgrown with jungle, thereby adding a
very striking instance of the instability of earthly
pomp and prosperity.

The decline of Satgaon hastened the rise of
Hooghly. Indeed, in proportion the one went down
the ladder, the other stepped up. Purchas, who
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lived in the reign of James I, thus writes :—"“The
Portuguese have here (Z e. in Bengal) Porto Grandé
(Sundip)* and Porto Pequeno (Hooghly), but without
forts and Government,” Hamilton, who travelled in
Bengal in the first decade of the 18th century, also
says, “ The town of Hooghly drives a great trade,
because all foreign goods are brought thither for
import, and all goods of the product of Bengal are
brought hither for exportation and the Mogul’s furze
or custom-house is at this place. It affords rich
cargoes for fifty or sixty ships yearly, besides what
is carried to neighbouring countries in small vessels,
and there are vessels that bring saltpetre from
Patna.” Bolts only repeats what ITamilton has
said. He writes :—“To FHoogh'y formerly all the
foreigners in general vesorted for the purchase and
sale of the commodities in isengal” Thus, it
appears that by this time Fooghly had become
the first port in Bengal, and fully deserved
to be called Porto Grandd, the name by which
Chittagong was known to the Portuguese. Indeed,
the trade and commerce of Hooghly was renowned
from remote antiquity. Bukshbunder, which seems
to mean a port with a custom-house, was an w/ias
of Hooghly, and the place has been so described in
the famous Fifth Report of the Select Committee
of the House of Commons on the Affairs of the Fast

* Rather Chittagong.
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India Company. Under the head of Sayer, that most
important official document contains the following
entry, relating to the year 1728-A. D..— Buksh
bunder or Hooghly.~The ground rent of 37 markets
and gunges, chiefly in the vicinity and dependent
on the European Settlements in the chukleh of
Satgong, together with the customs levied on goods
paying that grand emporinm of jforeign commnerce,
in all Rs. 343,708 ; deduct from which already includ-
ed under the head. of Calcutta Rs. 45,767 making
net Rs. 297,941.”% Fifty years later, river-borne trade
of Hooghly had' almost completely deserted in
favour of Calcutta, the gross collections on account
of port duties and customs being only Rs. 91,196 at
Hooghly, against Rs. 800,604 at the latter. Murshi-
dabad, Dacca, and Patna all gave a larger customs
revenue than Hooghly.

Bengal trade was ecarried on principally in salt,
sugar, tobacco, indigo, cotton| rice, piece-goods, silk,.
saltpetre and opium. Hooghly was the most im-
portant mart for salt, an article which forms an
essential ingredient in human dietary. The sale and
purchase of salt was on a very large scale. This
article was a local product, as it was manufactured.
down the river in Hijlee, Contai and Tumlook.
When on the fall of Portuguese power in Bengal the:
Moguls domineered in Hooghly without let or hin-

* See Vol 1, page 263.



HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT. 155

drauce, Hooghly still continued to be a mart for
salt.

The sweet savory cane, from the juice of which
sugar is commonly made, though scarcely known
to the ancient inhabitants ¢f Furope, grew luxu-
riantly throughont Bengal in the remotest times,
From India it was introduced ‘nto Arabia, and thence
into Europe and Africa. TFrom the Sanscrit term
for manufactured sugar . sarcara) are derived the
Persian, Greek, Latin and modern uropean names
of the cane and its produce. Even the Arabic term
may also be derived from another Sanscrit word
(¢ iand) which bears'the same signification.* [n later
times Mr. Croft, a personal friend of Warren IHastings,
had a large sugar plantation at Sooksagar which
at one time was in a flourishing state. After Mr,
Croft left, the place fell mto insignificance until it
was altogether engulfed by tne fitful river.

Tobacco, it is probable, was unknown to India
as well as to Kurope, before the discovery of
America. It was introduced into India by the
Europeans either in the reign of Jehangir, or in that
of his illustrious father, Akbar the Great. In the
current literature of the time it was described as a

¥ The aunthor of Remartys on the Hisbandry and Internal Commerce
of Fengal, (1794), supposes that Gaur, the ancient capital of Bengal,
and the name of the province itself, is apparently derived from cur,
which both in the ancient and modern Janguages of India signifies
raw sugar.  But this is clearly a mistake, for the word gaws means

heautiful, as in the name Gowranmga. The nume Ganr means the
camtiful city.
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“deleterious reed,” and its use was condemuned by
government. King James wrote a short treatise
poohpoohing it in very strong terms. However, the
practice of inhaling the smoke of hemp leaves and
other intoxicating drugs is ancient. In the present
day, tobacco has become a necessary article of life
in most parts of the world, and its consumption
is simply wonderful. I doubt very much if any
European could be found: who did not smoke cigar
or some other preparation of tobacco.

Indicwm, from which the words 7Zndico and indigo
are derived, is, as its very name shows, of Indian
origin. The Americans, it is said, call it A#z/, which
is evidently a corruption of the oriental name Ni/
Yet the plant is probably indigenous in America
as well as in Hindustan, Indigo,* however, was
not largely manufactured in Bengal. It was Mr.
Prinsept who for the first. time gave a strong im-

* There was an indign factory at Taldanga within the limits of
Chinsura as well as at Bansberia, The original proprietor of the
former was a Dane, named Berg Andreas, and that of the latter
Mr. J. B. Birch. Both these factories were in a flourishing state.
When in 1827 Mr. Temple held the Bansberia concern, he took a
lease of the large char, in front of the place, measuring 1700
bighas at one rupec per bigha, of which 1500 bighas were actually
sown with indigo. In later times indigo plantations were carried on
with a vengeance in the Nadia district ; and the oppressions of the
foreign planters became so very great that Government thought
it right to interfere. It was about this time a popular poct of Bengal
wrote a drama called N/ Darpan, or the Mirror of Indigo, which
created quite 2 sensation and opened the eyes of the public to the
evil. Mr. Long rendered the piece into English, and though he
sufiered for his performence, has left a name which will be always
remembered with gratitude.

1 Chintz was also introduced by him.
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petus to its culture and manufacture. Indigo is used
for the purpose of colouring cottons.

Cotton seems to be of Indian origin. The term*
is evidently derived from the Sanscrit word carpas,
At any rate some sorts of cotton are certainly
natives of India; some are undoubtedly indigenous
in America. Dacca has long been celebrated for
its muslins, These fine fahries were known in
Furope in the first quarter of the Christian era, and
according to some  writerstithey constituted the
*serice vestes” which were 50 highly prized by the
ladies of Imperial Rome in the days of its luxury
and refinement, Both Pliny and Arrian testify to
their coxtreme fineness and transparency. “Car-
passus” and “carpassium ” or “carpassian” ! are
the words used by thema for Indian muslins
and other fine kinds of cloth. The fine cloths of
Dacca § are also mentioned in the *Accounts of
[ndia and China by two Mahomedan Travellers in the
oth century.” The fine muslins of Dacca are styled
in the figurative language of the East “webs of woven

* The Arabic word, A/, considzrably resembles the English word,
cotton.  The Persian term for the article is poméd.  Cotton was long
known in Arabia,

I Salmasius and Dr. Ure, for instance.

3 Capasia, it is to be noted, is the name of a village in pargana
Bhawal in the district of Dacca. It produces cotton and has been
producing it trom a very long time. ¢ Linum carpassium”’ of Pliny
is the fine dax of Spain. In fact, *‘carpassus” came to mean any
fine cloth.

§ Subarnagram, also in the Dacca district, has long been famous.
for its fine embroidered cloths.
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wind.”*

In the reigns of Jehangir and his son and
grandson, when Dacca was in its most flourishing
state, those gossamer-like cloths were largely made,
which have been compared “to the work of fairies
rather than of men,” and which constituted ‘*the
richest gift that Bengal could offer to her native
Princes.” The Dacca muslins were introduced into
England + between the years 1666 and 1670. In
1787 the whole commerce of Dacca was estimated
at one crore of rupecs; of which “thirty lacs was the
value of muslins ‘exported 'to Kurope. With the
abolition of the commercial Residencies I the export
of muslins to England has' altogether ceased,
Indeed, the days of Dacca muslins have been well-
nigh numbered. Muslins and other cloths which
were manufactured in the country were like others
all brought into Hooghly and from thence exported
abroad. [u this way Hooghly drove as busy a trade

* The two kinds are respectively called ““ abroan” (rruning water)
and ‘‘shubnam” (mornimg dew), names which testify to their
wonderful fineness and transparency.

1 The English appear to have settled in Dacca about the year
1660.

+ These Residencies in which silk and cotton cloths appear to have

been the chief articles of manufacture were gradually abolished, and
the buildings and sites were sold off between 1830 and 1837. The
ommercial concerns of the Great Company were by degrees wound
up by the Board of Salt, Customs and Opium, and the post of Resident
appears to have been abolished about 1830. The cause of this
collapse was the competition of cheap Manchester cotton goods.
The native cloth industry is in a moribund state, and most of the
weavers who for several generations together had merrily plied the
shuttle and managed the loom have through pure painful necessity
taken to other pursuits.
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as Calcutta does now, and was the most noted place
of trade and commerce in all Beugal.

Silk was probably the produce of China only. Seri-
culture, however, was not unknown to the eastern
parts of Hindustan, The ancient language of India
has names for the silk-worm and its manufactured
silk.  The mulberry tree is quite common in Bengal
as well as in many other parts of [ndia. Silk rrmals
and dhuntecs and  sarees ave still made in some parts
of the Hooghly district.  The. Watsons have the
largest concern of all in silkc in. Bengal. But the
palmy days of silk industry seem to be over.

Rice is the staple food of the people of Bengal
and is, therefore, largely eultivated in it.  The best
rice is produced in the districts of Barisal and
Burdwan ; 1llooghly -also “is a rice-growing district,
As for Backergunge, it is justly called the granary
of Bengal, and, in this respect, might stand compare
with Egypt in the olden times,

Saltpetre, ¥ which forms such an essential ingre-
dient in the manufacture of that diabolical instru-
ment of Death, namely, gunpowder, was also an
article of merchandise in Hooghly.,  Its manufacture
scarcely passed the western limits of Bibar. This
article was largely imported from Patna and Purneah.

Time was when there were many vessels in Hooghly

* Nawab Mir Jaffer, on being raiseC to the musnud, granted the
English, among other favours, the monopoly of trade in saltpetre.
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that brought saltpetre from these places, more
especially from the former.

Poppy plantation was very common in Bengal
and Bihar, more especially in the latter province;
and it is well kept up to this day. Opium, as we
all know, has been monopolised by Goverament.
In former times it used to be brought into Hooghly
and sold in market overt. It is now provided in
the provinces of Bihar and Beugal, and disposed of
in Calcutta by public auction. :Opium, poisonous
as it is when taken in large doses, is a necessary
article of food in the Celestial Empire, and a China-
man who does not take it in some form or other,
must be considered a rar avis. Opium is also very
prevalent among the Rajpoots who from a warlike
race have well-nigh become a strangc community of
idlers. IL.ike the generality of Chinese, they are
often found dosing junder the influence of this.
stupifying drug.

When the Portuguese held almost absolute sway
in Hooghly, trade was at its best. Indeed, they one
and all went in heartily for it. Even the big
officials, and, what would appear somewhat strange,
some of the professed Ministers of religion also could
not keep themselves aloof from it, so very potent
is the power and influence of Mammon over man-
kind. These foreigners prospered so very well that
they roused the jealousy of the natives. Indeed,
they became the eyesore of the Moguls themselves.
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who were the paramount lords of the country.
At last, matters came to a crisis, and it was deemed
necessary for Government to put down the foreign
merchants at any cost.  Accordingly, the local
Governor trumped up several charges against them,
one of which was the diversion of trade from the
royal port of Satgaon. Both the Emperor and
his beloved wife, the world-renowned Taj Bibi, who
were not at all favourably: disposed towards the
Portuguese, gave -ap willing car to these complaints,
and at once ordered the expulsion of the Frank
merchants, as the Europeans were called in  the
current native parlance.  Accardingly, a Mogul army
invested Hooghly, which fell after a siege of three
months and odd davs.  The Portuguese power was
destroyed altogether, and they who not long before
were audacious enough to have bearded the Great
Mogul himself, were reduced  to the condition of
petty traders. This memorable event took place in
the year 1632, Thereafter, the Portuguese remained
in Bengal only by sufferance. They, however, kept
up their trade though on a small scale, for Warwick,
a Dutch admiral, states that in (5667+ Satgaon was
still a great place of trade for the Portuguese.

The fall of the Portuguese paved the way for the

* About this time Mubammad Shail was Foujdar of Hooghly.
In August, 16065, he had been sent with 500 sharpshooters and 1000
matchlockimen to assist in the conquest of Chittagong.  (Hunter’s
Statistical Reporter, Vol VI, p. 293).

K
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coming-in of the English. So far from being damped
by the disaster of the Portuguese, they entered on
the arena of enterprise with greater zeal and vigour,
being firmly resolved to replace them in the best
way possible, They established a factory some-
where in the year 1651 and commenced trading on
a very large scale. This factory was erected under
the supervision of Captain Brookhaven of the
“ Lyoness,” who had been. sent from Madras, the
then chief seat of Government of the Kast India
Company. The English agents opened business at
Hooghly by purchasing silk and sugar. On the
31st December, 1657, the Madras authorities issued
instructions to the Council in/ “ the Bay " to procure
at Hooghly cotton yarn, saltpetre, silk, piece-goods,
cinnamon, Taffatas, turmeric and gumlac, In this
way, the trade of the East India Company went on
prospering.  John Kenn, who was appointed chief
of the Kasimbazar factory 'in' 1638, made a very
mteresting report on the trade of Hooghly in 16671,
from which it appears that English trade at that place
was rapidly on the increase,  The Report was pretty
elaborate and dealt with the subject quite cleverly,
giving among other particulars the proper time for
making purchases of goods at Hooghly.

In 1658 the governor of Hooghly, on behalf of
the Viceroy, insisted on the English making an
annual peshkask, or payment of Rs. 3,000 in lieu
of custom duties. Jonathan Trevisa, who had suc-
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«ceeded Gawton as chief in Hooghly in September of
that year, at first disputed the liability, but after-
wards gave in,  Streynsham Masters, who was sent
out from Kngland to re-arganize the Bengal settle-
ments, reached Hooghly on 13th September 1676,
As Governor of Madras he had control over Bengal
which was then under that settlemnent. He decided
aud very properly, that Hooghly should be the chief
factory in Bengal, and, “accoraingly, wrote to the
Lourt of Directors to that eflfect. His reason was
that IHooghly was the most fitting place, ““ being the
key or scale of Bengala, where all goods pass in and
out, to and from all parts; and being near the centre
of the Company’s business is more commodious for
receiving of advices from, | and issuing of orders to,
all subordinate factoryes.”s  AMr, W, Clavell was
then chief of Bengal, but he ‘died in 1677, Mr.
Clavell has done good. service to Bengal by wditing
an ¢ Accompt of the trade of Hugly.” His account
was sent home by Governor Streynsham Masters,
as an Appendix to his Diary.  Mr, Clavell says :—
“ About Hugly there live many weavers who weave
cotton cloth and cloth of Zesser or Herba of several
sorts, and from the parts thereabout there is brought
silk, sugar, optum, rice, wheat, ayle, butter, course
hempe, gunneres, and many other commodities.”

In the town there is a quarter which is known as

* See Hedges’ Diary, Vol. II, p. 236.
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Tantipara. Lven up to the middle of the last century-
many looms were at work here, so much so that the
sounds of shuttles shooting backwards and forwards.
almost deafened the ears of the passers by. But
those days have long since gone, and most of the
weaving class have sought “ fresh fields and pastures
new.” The weaving operation, however, was not
confined to that noted guarter, it was as well prac-
tised in some other parts of the town,

Mr. Wilson in his * Katly Aanals ” says that, in
the 17th century, “ Hooghly sugars to be bought at
Chandracona and Tania' ' Chandracona has also.
been loug famous for its fine cloth and g/ee (clarified
butter),

The Portuguese who had traded so triumphantly
in Bengal had by this time fallen very low, indecd,
their trade not being- worthy of notice. Speaking
of them, Mr. Clavell says :—“The Portuguese, though,
numerons in Hooghly, yett are reduced to a very
low, and meane condition, their trade not worth
mentioning, their subsistence being to be entertained
in the Mogall’s pay as souldiers.”

Mr. Clavell was succeeded by Matthias Vincent,
while Streynsham Masters was superseded by Giffard
at Madras on 3rd July 1681, Giffard, it would seem,
was in his turn succeeded by Huedges. The latter
remained at Hooghly until Christmmas, 1684, when he
sailed for the mother country. He had buried his
first wife at Hooghly. After his return home he
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‘was knighted by King James II. on 6th March
1688, a year memorable in English history. He died
in the second year of the next century. He left a
'most interesting Diary, which came to light in the
latter half of the 19th Century, and was edited by
‘Colonel Yule in 1887-1889 »

So long as IHooghly was not superseded by
Calcutta, it was the head quarters of the English in
Bengal, and as such had a lucrative and extensive
trade. This trade was, of course, not confined to
local articles produced or rnanufactured in or near
Hooghly itself, but the Hooghly factory was the
general Exchange to which the products of Bengal
were brought for export to Europe, and the exports
of Europe for distribution throughout Bengal. While
some of the articles so exported were produced
locally, such as silk -and such like fabrics, many of
the exports from Hooghly were not local products,
as for instance, saltpetre. which all the Juropean
companies obtained chiefly from Bihar, through
Patna,t

Even after Calcutta was founded by the English
and made their capital in Bengal, the trade of
Hooghly had not suffered much, for it is noted that
“everything had to be made, or got in the way of
furniture, from Hooghly.” The tables are turned

* See Crawford’s Hooghly, p. 17.
t See Crawlord’s .Wedical  Gazetteer of the Ilooghly District,
‘Chap. II.
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now, with a vengeance, when nearly everything used
in Hooghly has to be brought from Calcutta.
Hamilton, who visited Bengal early in the first
quarter of the 18th century, writes about [Hooghly
as follows :— *“ Hooghly is a town of a large extent,
but ill built. It reaches about two miles along the
river’s side, from Chinsura before mentioned, to the
Bandel, a colony formerly settled by the Portuguese
but the Mogul’s Fouzdar governs both at present.”

As in the time ot the Portiguese, so under the
Mogul Government, Hooghly was'a most important
mart for salt, The treaty between the East India.
Company and the young Nawab Najum-ud-Dawla
executed in 1765, stipulated that the duty of 2} per
cent. on salt was to be calculated at the “rowanna,
or Hooghly market price.” Khojah Wazeed, the
richest merchant of Hooghly, had the monopoly of
salt and was charged. with duty at only a rupee per
maund. These special privileges were given him in
consideration of his having rendered some good
services to the Company. The lucky Khojah made
a mint of money by his monopoly and lived like a
prince. To compare great things with small, he was
the Rothschild of his day.

There was a Salt Agency at Hooghly in the
Mogul’s time. This was kept up by the English
when they got iuto political power. In 1826 the
management of the Salt chowkis, or stations, at
Baduria, Gobardanga, Habrah, and Muilikbagh was
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made over to the Collector of Hooghly, who got an
allowance of Rs. 200 per month for his trouble.
There was a Collector of Customs at Hooghly up to
1827, when the post was amalgamated with that of
the district Collector. Mr. H, Belli was the first to
hold this dual office.

The smuggling of salt was most extensive in the
south of the district, and the Magistrate and Police
were ordered to make special c¢fforts to put a stop to
the illicit manufacture and sale thereof, Zemindars.
and others were warned, and, finally in 1333, a
Luropean officer, Mr.. Maclecd, was appointed as
Superintendent of the salt clowiss with bead quarters.
at Khirpai. [In the year following, a Goverument
salt gola, or ware-house, to hold about 50,000 maunds
of salt, was established at Bhadreswar. The Hooghly
Salt Agency continued till 1862 when it was united
with the larger one at Tumlook.

The whole trade seems to have been conducted
on a system of advances, or dadan, as it is called in
native parlance, a systemn, or rather practice which
is still adhered to in the case of indigo and opium.
Losses of advances must have been great, not only
from fraud and foul dealing, but from sheer ill luck,
such as the death or illness «of those who got the

advances.*

® At the present day the chief articles mported into the Hooghly
district are common rice, European pieze-goods, lime from Sylhet,
Burdwan and Raniganj, timber, and ar:icles of luxury. The chief
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Hooghly has long ceased to be a place of trade
and is now fallen very low. Indeed, Calcutta has
taken all the shine out of it, leaving it a poor
wretched thing which  has now nothing to boast of
but its glorious past.

exports are fine rice, silk, jute, cotton, cloths, vegetables, and brass
and bell-metal utensds. {See Crawford’s Aledical Gaselteer of the
Looghly district, Chap. T1).



CHAPTER VIiI.

HISTORY OF THE HOOGHLY DISTRICT
FROM ITS FIRST FORMATION TO
ITS FULL DEVELOPMENT.

After the office of Fouzdar had been abolished,
Hooghly was thrown into the back-ground in which
obscure position it continued till it was again brought
to the front by being formed into a district in 1795.»
On its first formation the new district, carved, as it
principally was, out of the districz of Burdwan,
was placed in the charge of the Hon’able C. A.
Bruce, as Judge and Magistrate, the revenue juris-
diction remaining, as before, with the Collector of
Burdwan. Mr. Bruce ‘would secem to have been
much above the ordinary run of district officers,
inasmuch as he corresponded direct with the Govern-
or Generalt in Council.” We do not know what the
exact extent of his criminal jurisdiction was but it
must have been pretty considerable as it com-

* Previous 1o this year, the town and some parts of the Hooghly
district were withia the jurisdiction of Nadia,

1 Sir John Shore, afterwards Lord Teignmiouth,  Sir John distin-
guished himself not only in the region of politics, but also in the re-
public of letters.  His biography of his fanous friend, Sir William
Jones, whom he succceded in the presidential chair of the Asiatic
Society of Bengal, is an excellent production.
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prehended thirteen thanas* Mr. Bruce's tenure of
officet is not rendered notable by any event of impor-
tance. In fact, he left no mark on the district, any
more than his successor, Mr. Thomas Brooke, who is.
remembered only for a very able report which he
made in 1799} condemning the character of the
village paiks, and recommending a more efficient safe--

guard against dacoities§ which were unfortunately

* Hooghly, Bansberia, Benipur {now Balaghar}, Pandua, Dhania-
khali, Haripal, Rajbalhat (now Kristanagar), Jehanal:ad, Dewangunj;
{now Goghat), Chandracona,  Ghatal, Bagnan and Ampta. Baidya-
bati and Chinsura have since b2en added, while, on the other hand,
Chandracona and Ghatal ‘have been transferred to Midnapur, and
Bagnan and Ampta to Howrah.

t Mr. Bruce was in charge of the district til 1799. He was
afterwards appointed Governor of Penang where he died on 27th
December 18710.

% In this year, Ward and Marshman, on being driven out of the
dominions of the East India Company, took refuge in Danish Se-
rampur, where they were joined by Carey from Malda carly in the
next year. lHlere they set up a printing press, managed by Ward,
and while Carey was engaged in translating the Bible into Bengali,
Marshinan preached, and both he and his wife opened schoois. ALl
these undertakings piospered exceedingly well @ the receipts from
the schools sometimes amounted to Rs 4000 a month.  Shorntly after-
wards, Carey was appointed Professor of Sanscrit in the College of
Fort Willam in Caleutta. In 1812 they founded the Serampur Coll-
ege which is still in existence. To these large-hearted pioneers of
education, the inhabitants of the district owe an immense debt of graui-
tude,

§ Dacoity was not an outcome of British rule 5 it had been in exis-
tence long previously. But during the transition period, whea peace
wag striving for supremacy, it stalked over the Jand with giant
strides, The terrible famine of 1770 added much to its strength,
by compelling many people to take to highway robbery. Weak as
the Police was at the lime, the dacoits ravaged the country with
impunity, and even went to the length of attacking the red coats of
the Company. Iunter in his ““Annals of Rural Bengal,” says that
in 1780, they burnt to ashes 1500 houses and 2co souls in Calcutta,
In fact, even Anglo-Indians lived in the utmost dread, and untit
they had well secured their household goods for the night, they
would never unbolt their doors.



HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT. I7h

then becoming too common.  Some steps were taken
to arrest the rapid course of crime, but they failed to
restore peace. The dacoits continued their ravages»
and no man’s life or property was safe. In 1808 the
dacoities in the district amourted to over a hundred.
In the year following, Mr. Secretary Dowdeswell
drew a most harrowing picture of the heartless en-
ormities committed by the dacoits, which was followed
up by a despatch from the Governor-General to the
Court of Directors describing the terrible state of
affairs. The result was that a Superintendent of
Police was appointed  to huit down the dacoits by

means of  goindaiisx Of all the districts of the

Among these dacoits was one Sham  Mullick who was the head
of a very powerful gang. But thougha robber by profession, his
mind possessed a certain degree of riclleness: and he was much
vexed that the great pundit Jagannath Tarkapanchanan  who
had go: together a large amount of moeney did not make proper
use of it.  Accordingly, one night he with a sturdy body of followers,
broke into his house at Tribeni and, taking his seat in the
outer courtyard ordered his wen at once to bring the old pundit
before him, that he might reprimand him tor his miserly habits.  Every
search was made, but the pundit was nowhere to be found, for,
in the confusion which followed the irst attack, he had managed
to make his escape. Sham  Mullick, thus disappointed of his
main object, gave the signal for retirement, and the whole party,
headed by their chief, walked out of the house in the same state in
which they had entered it This event took place some years before
the death of Jagannath, who breathed hislast in Assin 1214 B. S,
correspunding Lo September 1807 A. 1)., at the patriarchal age of one
hundred and thirteen years. Uma Charan Bhattacharjee’s Life of
Jagannark Tarkapanchanan. 1880 A, D.

* This system of espionage worked remarkably well, exemplifying
the good old adage, ““Set a thief to catch a thief.” The word
¢“goindah” means an informer and appears to have the same significa-
ion as the Sanskrit word char,
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Calcutta Division, Hooghly suffered the most from
their depredations,*

Mr. Brooket was succeeded by Mr. Ernest, who, in
addition to his proper title of Judge-Magistrate, was,
in 1809, also styled “Superintendent and Comunis-
sioner of Chinsura,} Chandernagore§ and Seram-

* About this time ‘“Radha_Dacoit” was the head of the dacoits on
this side the river. By his ruinous ravages, he had introduced =
“'reign of terror.” The Sultan of Morocco is not more tamely obey:
-ed by his slaves than this prince of dacoits ‘was by his fellows. He
was a man of very great pluck and power, and in the course of his
wild career, had performed very wonderful exploits. He might be
called a hero in a certain sensc'of the term, but he died a convict’s
death  The hour of retribution drew nigh, and he was arrested at a
harlot’s housz, tried by the Judge of [longhly, and sentenced to suffer
the extreme penalty of the law.  The sentence was duly excuted, and
the corpse was carefully disposed of, lest the mother of the *‘ great
dacoit,” by her marvelious power in the black art, should, as she had
boasted, conjure up such a dangerous character by muttering some
mystic mantras over the bones.

What Radha was on this side the river, Bissonath Bigdi was on
the other side. Strong in men who were all desperate characters,
Bissonath carried on his depredations without let or hindrance. But
though he robbed the rich, he was very kind to the poor, whose
wants he never failed to supply, after the manner of the well-known
xobber of Sherwood Forest. To distinguish him from the rest of
his class, he was called * Bissonath Baboo.” Baidyanath and
Pitamber were only second to Bissonath  Many of the Nadia dacoits
were arrested in 1808, A. D., and several of them paid dearly for
their crimes on the gallows,  Kartikeya Chunder Roy’s Acconents of
the Nadia Raj Fanmely, pp 27-28.

t He was in charge of the district till at least 1802, His rule
was signalized by the visit of the Governor-General who was kind
enough to put up with him for the time.

% Chinsura was taken possession of by the English onthe 28th
July, 1795, and ‘hey did nol restore it to the Datch uatil the 2oth
September, 1817. It was finally ceded to them in 1824.

§ Chandernagore was captured for the second time by the English
in 1704, and it continued in their hands 1ill 1815, when it was given

up.
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pur”s these cities having, in the interim, come into
the hands of the Euglish.

But though the powers of its official head were
extended and enlarged, Hooghly was anything but
a respectable-looking town. Karly in June 1814,
the Magistrate described it &+ “a small .s‘tmgglikng
town.” In order to improve its condition the Muni-
cipal law, as embodied in Regu.ation XIIE of 1813
was introduced into itin the following year, and sixty
Chaukidars were appointed to the two main sections,
Bali  and  Gholeghaty into; which the town was
divided.  The law thus introduced had its desired
effect, and the Magistrate was able to reportt that
“ gince the establishment of the Chaukidars in
the town of Hooghly there have been no robberies
or thefts”  Hoochly = prospered under the rule
of Mr. D. C. Smyth:  who was appointed its

Judge-Magistrate about 1817.§  This officer, whose

* Serampur was taken by the English in 1808, and it was not
restored to the Dunes uatil the Warterloo year. It was finally ceded
o the English in 1845, when the Hon’ble L. Lindhard was its
Governor.  Serampur iy held £has by Government, and is under the
management of an olticer who is caited the Khas lehsildar.

| This report, it would seem, was prepaved at the request of the
Governor-General himself, who made a orogress through some parts
of the district in that year.

+ This very excellent officer was afterwerds raised o the Bench
of the Sudder Dewani Adalar,  He remained in this district for the
first time till 1820 and was again in charge of it from 1827 to 1836.

§ Middleton was Bishop of Calcuttain this year. He was not
anly an excellent Christian minister but was a ripe scholar ; anil his
Life of Cicero is a masterly prodaction.  His name lives in a well-
known Street in the grand ““city of palices.” But he is more

onorably rémez mhered for his having founded the Bishop’s College.
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name has become a household word in the land,
was a very able man, and he laboured for the district
with admirable zeal and energy. Not long after
he had taken charge, his attention was called to the
affairs of the local I'mambara. The two Matwalis
‘having mismanagec the trust property, Government
stepped in and interfered under Regulation X1X of -
1810, Syed Ali Akbar Khan was appointed, in
September 1815, as “ - Ameen, or Controller of the
funds of the Institution,” and the l.ocal Agents, of
whom Mr, Smyth ‘was the chief, were instructed to
make a full and searching inquiry into the affairs of
the Imambara in concert with him. The report
drawn up by Mr, Smyth in 1817 was a masterpece of
+dts kind, and received high commendation from the
Board of Revenue. He showed, bevond doubt, that
the Matwalis had misappropriated neacly fifteen
thousand rupees ; and the result was that, in August
1818, they were dismissed, and Ali Akbar Khan was
appointed in their place, The latter continued to
hold the office till 18306, when he, too, was removed
for a similar offence.

Hooghly had, it is true, much improved but there
was wanting a Collector to make it a full-formed
district, This want, however, did not long remain
ansupplied,  In 1817 Mr. A. Ogilvie was deputed to
it as Assistant Collector. He might be considered
the first Sub-Divisional officer ever appointed to the
district, In 1819 a further advance was made by the
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appointment of M, R. Saunders as “Collector of
‘Government Customs and Town Duties at Hooghly,”
with the power of collecting the land revenue and the
saper duties in the melals then under the Assistant
Collector.  This state of things continued till the 1st
May, 1822, when Honghly became a full Collectorate.»
The Collector, Mr. William . Belli, was ordered to
go to Burdwan, aund sort and bring away the records
belonging to his charge... The land revenue of the
district was Rs. 11,23,474 and the stamp, abkari and
other revenues about Rs. 76,526, making a total of
twelve lakhs of sicca rupees. as against thirty lakhs,
which remained as the'revenue of Burdwan and the
Jungle Mehals.+

But although Hooghly was made a full Collectorate
in 1822, still the office of Collector of Cuastoms and
Town Duties was not amalgamated with that of the
Collector of land revenue,  This position of affairs
continued till 1127, when the two offices were joined
in one and the samme person, [For this addition to

his duties, the Collector was allowed Rs. 200 over

* Dr. Hunter, however, gives a different accouunt.  Ie writes: —
‘¢ The revenue jurisdiction of the district of 1lughli with Howrah was
established in 1819. P'rior to that year it had formed a part of the Col-
lectorate, although it had heen created a District Magistracy some
years previously.  The Resolution constituting the district of Hughli
is dated 26th February 1819, Mr. R, Saunders, the first Collector,
was appointed on the 18t March 1819, —*“Statistical Acount of Bengal,
Vol III, p. 253.

+See Mr. G. Toynbee’s Administration of the Hooghly District from
1795 /0 1845, p. 32. This very useful publication has been of con-
siderable service to me in the preporation of some portions of this
book.
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and above his pay and commission. Afterwards, on
the 1st May, 1836, the Customs office was abolished,
and with it the allowance of Rx, 200 which the Col-
lector had been in receipt of. Mr. Belli made a very
feeling representation to Government regarding his
loss, but it does not appear that his appeal was
listened to.x

* Mr. Belli remained in the district till 1841.  Though his name is
not so much known or honoured as that-of Mr. D. C. Smyth, still
there is no doubt that he “deserved well of s people, in whose
welfare he took considerable interest.  During the period of nearly 20
years for which he was incharge of the Collectorate, he seems to have
availed himself of leave for a few months only. He was succeeded,
by Mr. James Baliour Ogilvy.



CHAPTER IX.

INTERESTING ISVENTsS IN HOOGHLY FROM
1823 TO 1337,

The Dutch had made Chinsura “the cynosure of
neighbouring eyes,” but with the decline of their
Indian trade it lost much of its former attractions.
At last, matters came to such a pitiable pass that
the painiul resolution was. formed to part with it,
Mr. David Anthony Overbecicy its last Governor,
gave his reluctant consent to the proposal « and
negotiations were at once opened with the Knglish
for its transfer, While the terms were being settled,
a serious natural calamity oveirtook this part of the
country. This was the memorable “flood of 30,”
which is still talked of by “zhe oldest inhabitant
as an event that has no parallel in the rural annals
of Bengal, The river IHooghly,* rosc to an un-
precedented height. = Dharampur, Mulla Kasim’s
Hat, and Bali, all in the town, were entirely sub-
merged, and the roads rendered impassable. The
portions of the town which were above water were

* The treaty was signed on the 17th March, 1824. In the
following year was passed Regulation NV[II for annexing the settle-
ment of Chinsura to zillah Hooghly.

t The /ittle Ganges is more commonly called the Aiver Hooghly. —-
Orme's Industan, Vol, I1.

L
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crowded with men, women and children, who had
come from the interior with their household goods
and cattle. Prompt steps were taken by the Judge-
Magistrate, Mr. Smyth, for their relief and protec-
tion. Temporary huts or sheds were put up for
their accommodation, and food to the value of
Rs. 123 was distributed gratis to the weakest, and
Rs, 138 was spent as wages of the able-bodied who
were employed on the station roads. It was at
this time that the old Mogul fort and the buildings
which had been 'in the possession of Nabab Khan
Jehan Khan up to his death, were pulled down, and
the materials thereof were partly utilised and partly
sold. la the flood, Pargana Mandalghat,* which
then formed a part of the district, would appear to
have suffered the most. The Collector, Mr. W, H,
Belli, was ordered to proceed thither and ascertain
by actual inspection the amount of damage sustained
by the ryots. His report disclosed a most lamen-
table state of things. But, serious as the calamity
was, it was not followed by disastrous consequences.
There was no famine, or even scarcity, such being
the wonderful recuperative powers of the soil and
the people of the district,

A few days after the flood, the sepoys mutinied
at Barrackpur, In this matter, too, the Magistrate
of Hooghly acted with his usual energy, and his

#* Mandalghat is now included in the district of Midnapur. Itis
the Zemindari of the well-known Seal family of Calcutta.
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efforts were crowned with success. He promptly
sent the Police burkundazes®* to the scene, and,
as good luck would have if, they succeeded in
arresting forty-five mutineers, of whom twelve were
executed on the spot.  This had a very wonderful
effect, and the mutiny, which would otherwise have
assumed  a  very serious  aspect, was at once
quelled.

Reguiation XIIT of 1813 was introduced into the
town of Hoeoghly carly in June the following year;
but defects in its working/having come to light, it
wis amended by Regulation NXXIT of 18165, and
this law contains the first provisions made for conser-
vancy, lighting and other municipal purposes, In
18235+ nearly Rs. 2,000 was spent on the improve-
ment of the town, from the surplus town duties
levied under Reaulation X of 181c. This was
followed up by a further expenditure of Rs. 4,768
in 1829. The road near the Collector's Auschery
was widened ; the large tanik opposite the Civil
Court buildings, the Pipalpati and some other tanks

* The native irregulars designated  ** Buxaries,” who were formeri
i3 > ’ y

employed at Calcutta as necessity arose, were nothing more than
Burlundaz aomed and equipped in the asual native manner, with-
out any attempt at discipline or regularity.  (Sce Broome’s Z/istory
of the DLengal drmy, p. 92).

+ Doubts having been raised as to the legality of an union of
the powers of Judge and Collector in one and the same person,
Regulation V was passed in this year to remove them.  Within two
months of the passing of this Regulation was passed Regulation X11
for exempting females from corporal punislunent by stripes, and for
discontinuing the forak as an instrument of punishment in all cases.
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in the town were excavated ; trees were planted by
the road sides, and several of the roads were metall-
ed with brick. Some conservancy “carts” were
also purchased, and “a staff of scavengers” was
entertained to work them

In 1828, the well-known Zemindar, Baboo Pran-
krishna Haldar, made a gift of Rs, 13000 fora
masonry bridge over the river Saraswati, at Tribeni.*
The bridge was built by Mr. Goss.?  The donor
in recognition of his munificence, was allowed the
privilege of entertaining six sepoys as sentries at the
gate of his splendid dwelling-house (the present
College building). Tn' the same year a suspension
bridge was also constructed at Nauserai from money
raisedd by publie subscription ““under the auspices
of Mr. D.

C. Smyth.”
In 1829 § Mr, Smyth signalised his administration

¥ See Mr. Toyrbee's Administration of the Hoaghly District,
page 124,

b Tribeus is not the name of a place, it means the confucice of
thiee streams.  There are several such spots in India, but the wmost
sacred of them ally in the eyes of an orthodox Hindoo, are those at
Satgaon and Allahabad.  The former is called the Sonth Priyag,
the latter North Priyag i —They arve the Adngs of holy places.--See
also Raghunandan’s Zrapaschetta 7atzea.

¥ This bridge was nearly destroyed in the great storm of 1242
B. C. by an overflow of the Damudar. {See Rev. J. Long's article,
*The Banks of the Bhagirathi,” in the Caleutlia Reziew).

§ Tn this year the Courts of Circnit were abolished, and their
duties were transferred to the Commissioners of Circuit, who were
likewise Commissioners of Revenue. But this plan being found
very inconvenient, the Zillah Judges in 1832, were, with few excep-
tions, vested with the powers of the former Courts of Circuit which
they have ever since exercised in their capacity of Sessions Judges.
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of the district by another act of public utility, which
still bears his name. We refer to the handsome
masoury gkas near the Civil Court buildings.  This
ghat, as the tablet shows, was built from subscrip-
tions given by some of the Zemindars, Government
amlas and muktears; and the chandni, by Baboo
Chhaku Ram Singh of Bhastara alone, at a cost of
Rs. 3000, The Baboo was ouce of the most public-
spirited and enlightened-land-holders in the district,
and many were theacts done by him for the public
good,  His charaeter stood wvery high, and he was
kind and even indulgent to his happy tenantry. The
Magistrate commended this gentleman to the special
notice of Government, and asked that he might be
“decorated.” But it does not appear that his recom-
mendation was complied with,  However, he was
known as the “Raboo” per excellence. [n the
same vear the Raja of Burdwan gave Rs. 36,000 for
the construction of a masonry bridge across the
Kunti Nala, at Magra, The bridge was probably
built by Captain Vetch, and is still in existence. In

The Chinsura barracks were built by Captain W. Bell in 1829.
Before that the soldiers that used 1o ccme, were accommodated in the
old Dutch barracks,  The soldiers continued coming to Chinsura
till 1871, when the barracks were finally vacated by the Military
Department, but they are still under their superintendence. B

Towards the close of the year 1829 was passed Regulation XVII
for declaring the practice of Saz/, or of burning or burying alive the
widows of [lindus illegal and punishable by the Criminal Courts.

+ It was known in old records as C(rolagore, so called, perhaps,
from its having contained alarge number of Go/es, or warchouses.
Magra is still a place of trade.
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consideration of his princely gift, the Raja was
allowed to have badges for his peons. The old
circuit-house was also built at or about the same
time, It was until recently used as the Courts of the
Joint-Magistrate and the Bench Magistrates, and
some other offices.

In 1830 Hooghly witnessed the beginning of a
noble undertaking which has borne good fruits,—the
great Trignometrical Survey, was commenced by Mr,
Oliver, The operations werc suspended in June
1831, and reswmed in. March following. In 1843
they were again carried on, the spacious roof of the
Hooghly College buildings being selected as the
first station. The survey parties experienced the
greatest difficulties from obstruction on the part of
the inhabitants, most of whom did not at all under-
stand the laudable object which Government had in
making the survey. There was, therefore, consider-
able delay, and, as a matter of fact, the operations
were not finally concluded until after 1843,

In 18321 a wholesome change was made in the
mode of administration, the offices of Juage and
Magistrate, which bad hitherto been combined, being

* In this year was passed Regulation V for extending the powers
of Munsiffs and Sadar Amins in the trial of civil suits; and for
authorizing the appointment of Principal Sadar Amins at the Zillah
and city stations.

t Maharaja Tej Chandra, Zamindar of Burdwan, died in 1822, In
this year fufwas by Mahomedan law officers were dispensed with.
(See Reg. vi of 1832).
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separated. This separation was not only desirable
but necessary, as it had become almost impossible
for one officer to perform the duties of both offices.
Besides, it was deemed inadvisable to keep the
judicial and executive powers in one and the same
person,  Mr. Smyth continaed Judge. while another
gentleman was appointed Magistrate » This change
in the administration was followed in the next year
by a change in the aspectof -the district, which was
caused by a storm® of *incredible violence” that
swept over the land on the 21st May. It blew a
perfect hurricane for full six ‘hours, accompanied by
heavy rain, and the damage done was immense.
Almost every embankment in the district was des-
troyed. But the after effects were more sericus still ;
sickness prevailed to an alarming extent, insomuch
that civil and criminal-business was almost brought

to a stand-still.}

* Dr. Hunter, however, places the event in the year 1820. He
says that *“up to 1829, a single officer exercised the powers of Judge
and Magistrate throughont the entire district of Hooghly with Howrah ;
but owing 1o an increase in bLoth departments, the offices were
separated on the 26th Septewber 1829, and My, IL. B. Brownlow was
appointed Magistrate of the district, he civil jurisdiction remaining
with the Judge.”  (Iunter's Statistice! Acconnt of Bengal, Vol 1,
p. 253). Dr. Crawford says that Mr. (afterwards 3ir) Prederick
Jaumes [alliday was appointed Magisirate of Hooghly in 1829, and
Mr Henry Benjamin Brownlow in the vear following. (See Medical
Gazetteer of the Hooghly District, Chas. XIV).

t Like the great tempest in November, 1703, which Addison, in
his well-known poem of the Campaign, describes, —

“Such as, of late, o’er pale Britainia pass'd.”

+ In 1833 was passed Regulation VIIT for the occasional appoint-
ment of Additional Judges.
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The year 1834 is memorable for a noble act ot Mr,
Smyth’s in the direction of education. In appears
that from before 1824 Government had been support-
ing fourteen schools with a monthly grant of
Rs. 809, These schools were situated on both sides
of the river, and were the only schools available in
these parts, except the Hooghly Imambara school
and the Chinsura Free school. The Government,
for reasons best known to itself, withdrew the grant
from the 1st of November 1832, but it offered to
make over the school-houses ' (with the furniture)
and keep them in repair, should any parties be will-
ing to carry on the schools as private institutions, Un-
fortunately, no onz came forward to accept the offer,
in spite of the efforts of Mr. Lewis Betts, the late
Superintendent of the schools, in that direction. At
last, Mr. Smyth, the Judge, came to the rescue and
founded the present Branch School. The Govern-
ment gave the site, measuring two bighas and seven
cottahs, and the funds for the building and other
expenses were raised by subscription among the
principal zemindars of the district, the noble founder

also giving his own quotax To indicate the source

* The tablet in the school hall contains the following inscription :—-
*“ This school-house was erected in 1834 under the patronage of D. C.
Smyth Esquire, Judge and Magistrate of Hooghly, with the funds
subseribed by the following gentlemen and others :
D. C. Smyth Esquire
Maharajah Dhira) Mahatab Chunder Bahadur
Bahoo Dwurka Nath Tagore.
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from which it was established, the school was called

13

the * Subscription School ;"* and it continued to be
so called until the 4th December 1837, when it was
opened as a branch school ¢f the College of Moham-
mad Mohsin.  With this school was subsequently
associated the Maidrassa attached to the linambara,
Baboo Parvati Charan Sircar, elder brother of the
well known educationist, the late lamented Baboo
Peary Charan Sircar, was the first Head-master of the
Branch School, This institutior flourished well under
the fostering care of its founder, who is still remember-
ed as a public benefactor, a just and humane judge,
and a true friend of 'the people.

In 1836 there were many brave doings in Hooghly,
the first and foremost of which was the opening
of the Hooghly College, established through the
munificence of a wealthy Mahomedan,t who, in

Baboo Callynath Moonshee.
Jaboo Pran Chunder Roy.
Baboo Sheebnaran Chewdery.
Baboo Ramparan Mookerjee.

Opened on the 4th December 1:37 asa Branch School te the
College of Mohammad Mushen.

T. A. Wisg, Principal.”

* Balico Ishan Chunder Bannerjee, who is so well-known in the
education department, was the first Head-master of this school.  He
afterwards became a professor in the Hooghly College, where he, with
his very worthy brother, the late Bahoo Mohesh Chunder Bannerjee,
taught  for years together. Baboo Jshan Chunder used to spend
most of his time in reading nnd study.

t The stone in the College ITall bears the following inscription:—
““This College was established through the munificence of the late
Mohammad Moshin, and was opened on the 15t August 1836.”
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1812, left his large property ¢n pios usus. We have
already seen that the two Matwalis were dismissed
by Government in consequence of their having mis-
appropriated trust funds to the tune of Rs. 15.000,
So far from remaining satisfied with the orders of
Government, they filed a civil suit to contest the
legality of their dismissal. The litigation dragged
its slow length along, and terminated in their total
discomfiture in 1835.% ~It'was found that, during
this long period, the surplus of the Mohsin funds
had accumulated to over eight lakhs of rupees. Out
of this large sum, the Hooghly College was estab-
lished. The splendid edifice, now occupied by the
college was built by a Frenchman named Perron,t
in 1810. He came out to India in 1774 as a
common sailor on a French frigate, and afterwards-
entering the service of Scindia, rose to eminence,
and amassed a fortune which was believed to have
amounted to half a crore of rupees, Having retired
from service, he settled down at Chinsura and, built
the edifice in question, There he lived like a prince.

From his possession the building passed to Baboo

* By the by, I may mention that in this year, rupees were first
issued in the name of an English King, the Company’s coinage having
bitherto been issued in the name of the Mogul Emperor,—-See
S, L. Poole’s Catalogues of Oriental Coins.

1 General Perron must not be confounded with the great Oricntalist
of that name, who was present at Chandernagore when it was capiured
by Clive in March, 1757. The latter was a very learned scholar and
linguist. Born 1731 ; died 180s. For further particulars regarding
the General, see Co'. G. B. Malleson’s article, ‘¢ Foreign Adventurers
in India,” in the Calcutta Review, 1877,
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Pran Krishna Haldar, who converted it into a palace
of pleasure. When fickle fortune frowned upon
Pran Krishna, Baboo Jagomohan Seal, of the same
place, caused it to be sold in execution of a civil
court decree in 1834, and purchased it himself.
It was from Jagomohan that it was bought
for Rs. 20,000 for the new College, which was
opened on the 1st August, 1336.* Dr, Thomas A,
Wise,T the Civil Surgeon, wes its first Principal, and
he continued to occupy the post till 1339, when he
left the district, oun being apoointed Secretary to the
General Committee of Public Instruction in Calcutta.
About seven years  afterwards, the wellknown
Captain D. L. Richardson? was appointed Principal.
He was succeeded by Mr. James Kerr, and the latter
by Mr. Robert Thwaytes, 'who held the post for a
cousiderable period.  Mr. Booth was also Principat,
who, like his immediate predecessor, Mr, Griffiths,
has the reputation of being an-able mathematician,
The present incumbent is Mr. Robert W. . Shaw.
The “ Joykissen Mookerjee affair,” as Mr, Toynbee

* The Hurkura, Felruary, 1839, says “hat ¢“ the General Committee
of Public Instruction have paid twenty theusand Rupees in purchas-
ing CGeneral Perron’s house, for the reception of Mahomed Mohsin’s
College, instead of building one for that purpose.”

+ Dr. Alexander Wise was a voluminous writer,  ITis chizf works
are ““A Commentary on the Hindu Systam of Medicine”; ¢ A
Treatise on the Diseases of the FEye, ¢s they appear in Hindustan 7
¢ Cholern, its symtoms, causes, and remedies ”; and ¢ A Review of
the History of Medicine,” He retired en 11th May, 1851 ; und died
on 23rd July, 1880.

1 Captain Richardson was appointed Principal in 1846 ard acted
as such till 1848.
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‘calls it, also took place in 1836. The Baboo had been
appointed record-keeper of the Collectorate by the
‘Collector, Mr, Belli, who entertained a high opinion of
his ability and energy. In addition to his duties as
record-keeper, he had to see to the exchange of Dutch
for English pattabs of the Chinsura ryots, It was in
the bona fide discharge of this special duty that he
got into a serious scrape. The Revenue Board’s
orders regarding the exchange of pattahs were
extremely unpopular-with the ryots, and it was enly
natural that Baboo Joykissen, who was very strict
in carrying them out, should have become an object
of dislike to them, . So, when, in the cold weather
of 1835-36, the Commissioner, Mr, Evelyn Gordon,
visited Hooghly, they in a body went up to him with
a petition charging the Baboo with taking fees for
himself on the issue of ‘EKnglish pattahs. The Com-
missioner sent the petition on to the Collector with
a private ncte saying that he “ believed it all.” But
as no specific charge was made, the latter returned it,
stating that he could not proceed regularly uader
the provisions of Regulation XIII of 1793. The
Board then ordered the Commissioner to inquire into
the matter personally. He did so, and the result
was that Baboo Joykissen was dismissed.* The

« To compare great things with small, Joykissen’s dismissal from
the Collectorate *“ Duftar,” like Lord Bacon's removal from the
* Marble Chair,” proved a great blessing. IFrom that date, he com-
menced the role of a patriot, and soon distinguished himself, Indeed,
there was not a public movement in which he did not take a part,
and his words of wisdom were always listeaed to with the attention
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report of the Commissioner was quite out of the
ordinary run of such documents, for, instead of con-
fining himself to condemning the character of the
party accused, he made some uncalled-for reflections
upon the conduct of the Collector himself. But Mr.
Belli was not the man to pocket such an insult, and
he, accordingly, vented his spleen in a manner which
showed that he was a better master of the language
of abuse than his detractor... As to the merits of the
case, the Collector was perfectly justified in con-
demning the proceedings of the Commissioner, for a
calm and impartial consideration of all the papers
on the subject shows that great injustice was done to
Baboo Joykissen, who was merely the victim of a
foul conspiracy on the part of the Chinsura ryots,
The year 1236%also witnessed a change in the
official language of the Courts, the Bengalee super-
seding the Persian.  This change was justly con-
sidered one of the greatest’ blessings that British-
rule had conferred upoun the country. The Persian,
however, was still retained for correspondence, but
whenever possible, the Ilnglish language was to be
used. The English, were also substituted tor the

Bengali, months, in the revenue accounts. As a

they deserved. Whatever may have been his faulis, they were
counter-balanced by his good qualities. Taking him all in all, we shall
not find his like again. Raja Peary Mohun Mookerje, C. S. I. who
is well-known for his public spirit, is the worthy son of sucha
worthy sire.

* In this year was passed the well-known Black Act which..
bore the number XI.
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necessary consequence of these changes, the staff
in the English Department was increased.

A semewhat sensational case marks the year 1837,
Three moonsiffs made a serious complaint against
the District Judge, Mr. Charles Ray Martin, who
was thereupon suspended pending further inquiry
One Noona Bai also came forward and charged him
with having received money from her under promise
of bestowing Moousilfees on certain persons named
by her. At the same time, the Government pleader,
Moonshi  Tafazzal = IHosein, was suspended on a
«charge of taking a large amount of money from
a client on the plea that it was required to be paid
to the Judge, according to ' dustoor,” or custom,
in order to win thecase A full inquiry was held
under the provisions of Regulation XVII of 1813,
and the charges brought against the Judge were
cousidered to have been so far proved by the investi-
gations held by Me. W, W. Bird, that I1is Honor,
the Deputy Governor of Bengal, deemed it inex-
pedieut to continue him in office.  Accordingly, he
was remeved, and Mr, James Curtis was appointed
to fill the office, Much praise was bestowed by His
Honor on Mr. Lowis for his first having brought
to notice the reports affecting Mr. Martin’s charac-
ter which were current in the Hooghly district.»

* See Caleutta Monthly Journal, part II, (1838), p. 74. Mr.
“Toynbee, however, states that Mr. Martin was found not guilty, and
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‘The Government pleader was also removed and his
place given to Baboo Prosunno Coomar Tagore.

The Collectorate also was not without its
disturbance. In it was brought to light a case of
embezzlement which covered a period of five years,
beginning with  September, 1832, It was found
that no less than Rs. 16023 had been misappro-
priated by the mohurrirs concerned, from sums paid
to Government under thetheads of fines, ferry-funds,
and escheats,  The dcefalcation was made good by
the luckless treasurer, It does not clearly appear
what punishment, if any, was inflicted upon the
guilty parties, beyvond disinissal.

<

The first systematic attempt at ‘““numnbering
the people” was also made in. 1837. The proce-
dure adopted by the Magistrate, Mr, Samuells, was
to send out blank forms to gomastas, village head-
men, and Zemindars, with orlers to fill in  and
return them. On receipt, the papers were made
over to the Dolice darogahs for check and scrutiny,
The result of this census, if we may so call it,
showed an aggregate population of 1,508,843 souls in

the whole district. inclusive of 70,0235 in the town,

that his accuser, Noona Bai, was prosecuted for perjury and sen .enced
to seven years” imprisonment. What became of the Moonsiffs he does
not say one way or the other.  See his Advuinistration, p. 146,



CHAPTER X

THE GRFAT BURDWAN CASE, OR THE TRIAL
OF THE SO CALLED JAL RaJA.

The present Raj family* of Burdwan was foun-
ded by Abu Rai, who, with his son, Baba Rai, came
down from the Punjab and settled in Bengal about
the middle of the seventeenth century, In 1068
Hejira, Abu Rai was appointed Chowdhuri and
Kolwal of Pekali Bagan in the town of Burdwan,
under the Fouzdar of chukla Burdwan, His son,
Babu Rai, farsd much better and became owner of
pargana Burdwan and three other mehals, The
sixth in lineal descent from Babu Rai was Chitra
Sen Rai, who first got the title of Raja, IHe died
in 1744, and, as he left no male issue, was succeeded
by his cousin Troyluckya Chandra «/Zies Tiluck
Chand., The latter cut a very remarkable figure,
and was created “ Maharaja Dhiraj Bahadur” by
the Emperor of Delhii -~ He died in 1771, leaving a
minor son, named Tej Chandra to succeed to his vast
estates. Tej Chandra had a wife, Nunku Bibi, who
bore him Protap Chand., But, though he had a son
living, and was himself turued forty, he married a

* For an account of the ancient Raj family to which Bir Singh of
Vidya Sundara fame belonged, see Khitish Fangsavali Charitam,
W. Pertsch’s Edition with English translation, Berlin, 1852.
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voung girl of the name of Kamal Kumari, daughter
of one Kashinath, This fortunate man had also a
son, who was afterwards known as Poran Babu,
Kashinath settled in Burdwan, and, like Nur Jehan’s
father, soon rose in power and riches. After his
death, Tej Chandra, who had already enjoyed half
a dozen wives in succession, married, in his old age,.
Basanta Kumari, Poran Babui’s daughter* Thus
Poran, like a skilful actor; dexterously passed from
the gay to the grave side of relationship.

Protap’s mother having died when he was a
mere infant, he was brought up by his grandmother,
the Dowager Maharani Bishen Kumari. As usual
with sons of rich men bred up by their grand-
mothers, Protap’s education  was neglected, and,
in point of fact, he learned very little; but nature
had given him very strong common sense, “that
best and rarest of all senses” as Southey calls it.
After he had attained years of discretion, he was
styled the “Chota Raja.”+ With all his short-
comings, Protap was sociable} and often mixed
with gentlemen of this part of Bengal. His most

* Napoleon Bonaparte married Josephine while his brother Louis
married the Princess Hortense, her daughter by another husband.

1 Meeran, the favourite son of Nabob Mir Jaffar, was called the
“Chota Nabob.” He was a greater villain than Siraj-ud-dewla
himself. He died in his twenty-first year, being struck by lightring
in his tent on the 2nd July, 1760. Mir Kasim was also called the
*Chota Nabob” before he became Naboli himself on the forced
retirement of Mir Jaffar.

¥ Would we could say with the poet thai he led ‘¢ A social, not a
dissipated life.” But truth compels us to say that he wasall but a

M
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intimate friends were Nabob Babux of Singhoor,
and Ramdhone Babut of Teliniparal During his
stay at the Chinsura Rajbati he spent many
pleasant hours with Mr. Daniel Antonio Overbeck,
the last Dutch Governor of that Settlement.

‘Protap hated his wily uncle, Poran Babu. Indeed,
there was no love lost between them. Finding Poran’s
influence continually on the increase, he got his old
father to execute a deed of gift of all his property in
his favour. After that, he took upon himself the
whole management, ‘and, be it said to his credit,
effected many reforms and improvements. It was
at his suggestion that Government framed and passed
Regulation VIII of 1819,$ more commonly calied
the Parni Regulation.  But sociable and business-
like as he was, he. was unfortunately addicted to
“wine and wassail” which got such a firm hold on
him that it was little restrained by the strait-laced

confirmed rake, and it was not unoften that he was admonished by
the Dutch Governor of Chinsura, Mr.  Overbeek, for his gaities and
lax habits.

* His real name was Srinath.  He was the handsowmest as well as
the richest man of his time in the Honghly District. Jodunath, who
was also a man of note, was his younger brother. Srinath’s branch
of the family has beceme extinct.

+ Ramdhone Babu is now represented by Babu Bhagabati Charan
Banerjee.

* Among the Hindoos of Caleutta, Protap visited the houses of
only two, namely, Gopi Mohan Deb of the Shova Bazar Raj family,
and Ram Mohun Roy, the famous IHindu reformer.

§ See S. B Choudhart’s article on Pattani or DPatui Tennres in
the ¢ Calcutta Review,” 1876.
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tenets of his religion. This bad habit did him
infinite harm, and at length estranged his doting
father from him,

Thus passed twenty-six years of his life, after
which there was a sudden change in his mind and
mood. . IHe Jost his usual hilarity and became
pensive and morose. He seldom talked with any
body. Except Sham Chand Babu* and the well-
known painter, Chinnery, whom he had engaged to
paint his portrait, Tie allowed no one to have the
pleasure of his company. 'This  melancholia was
followed by an intermittent fever which soon took
a very secrious turn, At his own request he was
taken over to Kulna that he micht die on the hanks
of the holy Ganges. No relitive or friend accom-
pained him, nay, not even one, of his wivest was
allowed to go with him. Tej Chandra was then at
the Kulna Rajbati, but he recurned to Bardwan on
the very wnight Protap died.I Three or tour days
after, however, a rumour got abroad that the  Chota
Raja” had not died, but had fled from the burning
ground. Tej Chandra also heard the rumour, bat
he did not say yea or nay toit. As Protap had
acquired the whole of the Raj estate by virtue of

* Sham Chand was the brother of Maharani Joy Kumari, the elder
wife of Tej Chandra.

T Protap had two wives, Peary Kumari and Ananda Kumari

+ This was in January 1821, when the Samachar Dusrpan of the
«day stated he was aged only twenty-nine years and two months.



196 HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT.

a deed of gift from his father, his two widows.
brought a civil suits for recovery of the same. But
ultimately the gift was pronounced void, and thus.
the property remained, as before, with Maharaja
Tej Chandra, the baffled Ranees being merely
allowed an inconsiderable monthly sum for their
maintenance.

Some time after, a proposal was made to the old
Maharaja to take a son in-adoption as he had no.
natural-born son living.. He was at first averse to
the proposal, but at last gave in, and the youngest
son of Poran Babu, who, like our Krishna, was his
eighth child, was duly adopted. This lucky boy
was afterwards known as  Maharaja Mahtab Chand
Bahadur, Tej Chandra died -in 1832, and was
succeeded by his adopted son. As the latter was
then a minor, the estate came under the management
of the Court of Wards, but the party really in power
was Poran Babu, the father of the young Maharaja,

Fifteen years after Protap’s death or disappear-
ance, that is, in 1835, a Sannyasi presented himself
in Burdwan. He looked with earnest, inquiring
eyes into every creek and corner, as if they had
been the scenes of his early days. At last, he
appeared at the gate of the well knewn Golap Bagh.

* In this suit the Ranees were assisted with money by Babu
Dwarka Nath Tagore of Calcutta. Mr. Oakley decided this suit.
This gentleman was Judge-Magistrate from 1816 to 1826, having
succeeded Mr. William Biodie.
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‘One Gopinath Moira* who had kept a confectioner s
shop there for a long time, recognised him as the
“Chota Raja.” In this he was confirmed by several
others. This unpleasant news coming to the ears
-of Poran Babu, he sent a parcel of sturdy clubsmen
who drove the suspicious Sannyasi across the
Damudar. + A few months after, the same Sannyasi
made his appearance at the Bishnupuart Rajbati,
‘The then Raja, Khetter-Mohan Singh, soon recog-
nised him as Raja. Protap Chand, and treated him
in a manner quite becoming his high rank and
position, By his ‘advice the  so-called Sannyasi
proceeded towards Bankura with a view to having
an interview with the Magistrate. He reached his
destination, but reached it ‘only to be arrested as a
vagabond and peace-breaker by the Magistrate, Mr,
James Balfour Elliott,} along with some others who
had come to see him.§ He was at once sent to jail

* This man was examined as a witness in the trial which was held
in the Sessions Court at Hooghly in 1838.

t Bishnupur preserved its independence during the Mahomedan
rule. The AbLé Raynal is lavish in his praise of this country which
he describes ‘“as a happy and fortunate spot where liberty and
:property are held sacred, robbery, either public or private, is never
heard of, and beneficence to strangers is practised both by the
-sovereign and his subjects.” History of Suropean Settlements, Vol
II, Book III. Alas! times have since altered, and Bishnupur is
mow almost a desert.

¥ In 1858, when Commissioner of Burdwan, Mr. Elliott pointed
out to the late Babu Sanjeeb Chandra Chatterjee, Deputy Magistrate,
‘the very spot where he had arrested the psendo-Raja as he called
dim,

§ The excitement in our hero’s favour, said a Paper of the day,
fanned as it was by the disaffection and hostility subsisting towards
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where he was incarcerated for nearly eight months %
when he was ckallened to Hooghly for trial, although,
as a matter of law, he should have been tried at
Burdwan. Here his trial commenced in due course
before Mr. Ilarrington, the Sessions Judge. Mr.
(afterwards Sir Thomas) Turton,t the well-known
barrister of Calcutta, came to defend him, but he
was not allowed to utter a single word in his client’s
favour. The learned counsel then moved the Nizamat
'Adalut at the metropolis, but his motion was reject-
ed, that Court taking the same view as the Hooghly
Court, The cliarge against the accused was that,
though his real namme was Aluk Shah} he had
collected followers calling himself Raja Protap Chand,
and had thereby given occasion for a breach of the
public peace. The charge was found to be true, and
the accused was sentenced § to simple imprisonment
for six. months, and was also ordered to enter into
a recognizance for Rs. 40,00C to keep the peace for
one year after the expiry of the term of imprison-
ment. The sentence was duly worked out; and the
convict was allowed to go at large, but not before

the family of Poran Babu, contribused, in no small degree, to render
his cause highly popular: but it gave a handle for the institution of
a public prosecution against bim.

* Ie was detained in custody in the Bankura jail until August 1830,

b Turton was appointed Advocate-General of Bengal upon the
retirement of Mr. John Pearson in 1839.

I It is a mere sobr Zguet, signifying Inwisible King.
3 This sentence was passed on the 4th August 1836
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he had executed the said recognizance. This was
in February 1837*

The above mischance does not seem to have
damped the ardour of our hero and his followers a
whit, and, asa matter of fact, his popularity, so far
from losing hold, continued to gain ground. The
so-called Aluk Shah after his release, went down to
Calcutta where he was recognised by most of his
former friends and acquaintances as the real Protap
Chand. They naturally expressed great sympathy
with him and advised him to go to law for recovery
of the Raj estate. By their advice, backed as it was
by counsel’s opinion, he brought an ejectment suitt
in the Supreme Court in respect of three Calcutta
Bazars, the well-known Dewan of the General
Treasury, Babu Radha Krishna Bysack, supplying
the sinews of war.X  The suit was contested by the
Court of Wards on_behalf of the minor Maharaja
Mahtab Chand ; Maharani Basanta Kumari also put
in a defence therein. The hearing began in due
course. Some respectable persons of Calcutta were
examined, and they one and all declared that the

* Alexander Ross was then Deputy Governor of Bengal. He began
his Indian career as an Assistant in 1795, atd rose to be a Sadar Tudge
in 1825.

F In this suit the Advocate-General, Mr. C. R, Prinsep, M. L.
Clarke, and Mr, J. I Leith were counsel {or plaintift.

I Protap puat up at the splendid Boitakkhana of Babu Bolu Chand,

the eldest son of Baboo Radha Krishna, He afterwards reraoved.
to a house at Fouzdari Balakhana.
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-plaintiff was really Raja Protap. But this evidence
was not thought sufficient by the Court, and it,
therefore, became necessary to examine some in-
‘habitants of Burdwan as to his identity, Protap
Chand offered to go himself to Burdwan ;» but this
was no easy matter, as there was every probability of
his being roughly handled, if uot killed outright, by
Poran Babu’s myrmidons.  So,on the 13th February,
'1838, he petitioned the Deputy Governor, Mr,
Alexander Ross,i praving that ““his Honor would be
-graciously pleased to urant to him (through the proper
-chanuel) some means of safeguard to protect his person
and life fror any eventual insult or danger during the
‘time he might be obliged to stay at Burdwan.”;, On
the sth March following,” the Government Sccretary,
Mr, Frederick James Halliday,§ informed him in
reply i that his prayer could not be complied with.

* i{is petition to the Deputy Governor, however, shows that his
object in going to Burdwan was to ‘‘ personally prosecute his claim
before the established judicial tribunal stationed at the place, and in
the meanwhile to show himself to his step-mother, aunt and wives,
and other relations, and thereby, if possible, to induce them to
persuade the usurper of his property to come to an amicable adjust-
ment with him.”

+ The Honourable Mr. Ross retired in January 1839. He was
very hospitable. Bentham was his favourite author.

1 Some say that his alleged purpose was to obtain an interview
with the Ranis.

§ Mr. (afterwards Sir Frederick) Halliday succeeded Mr. Ross
Donelly Mangles as Secretary to the Bengal Government in the
judicial and revenue departments in 1838,

i The reply was quite Spartan-like, it was in these words: *‘ The
_prayer of this petition cannot be complied with.”
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But nothing daunted, Protap made up his mind to
go, and after making necessary  preparations,
started* for Kulna, on his way to the seat of the Raj.
He embarked at Jagannath Ghat and procecded up
the river, a fleet of thirty or forty boats with
numerous servants and followers on board accom-
panying him, and after « slow journey, reached
Kulna on the 13th April 1838+ On reaching
Kulna he sent up two muktears to Burdwan with
a petition to the Magistrate, asking to be allowed
to go to that place. But before they had an oppor-
tunity of presenting the petition, they were arrested
by the Magistrate, Mr. James Balfour Ogilvie, and
at once Jodged in jail. . He also sent orders to the
Daroga of Kulna, Mahaboollah, ; directing him to
call upon the psendo-Raja to disperse his ‘“rabble-
ment,” and, in case of refusal or ‘non-compliance, to
arrest him.

On the 20th April, Protap Chand landed on the
Pathuria Mahal Ghat, and paraded the place in a
Tonjon, with due “pomp and circumstance” Mr.

Alfred Alexaunder, the local Padre imissionary), who

* This was on the 7th March 1838, ““Sad was the hour and
luckless was the day.”

t He passed through the districts of 24-Parganas, Hooghly and
Nadia, on his way to Kualna, and stayed several days at Santipar,
only twelve miles distant from Goari, the birthplace »f Krista Lal
Brahmachari, about whom we shall have to say much laier on.

T A worthy Daroga indeed, '‘ who could neither read nor write,”
and was aiso such a huge heap of flesh that he could neither “ walk
nor run,”
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had been asked by Mr. Ogilvie to watch the move-
ments of the psexdo Raja and inform him thereof,
gave an account of the matter to the Magistrate;
but his letter, which was probably based upon the
report of one of his trusty underlings, was a little
too highly coloured.* On receipt of this letter Mr
Ogilvie sent down his Nazir, Assad Ali, with orders
to arrest Protap Chand, Poran Babu at the same
time sending a batchi of 'stout clubsmen under
Radha Mohan Sircar.  Not satisfed with sending
his Nazir with such strict orders, the Magistratet
himself accompanied by his worthy adjutant, Dr,
Cheek, the Civil Surgoon, started for Kualna and,
taking with him on the way a detachment of native
infantry which was then halting at Boinchee, under
the command of Captain Little, reached his destina-
tion some time before dawn.: At that “still and

* The Padre’s letter ran  as follows :—-*“ My dear sir,—DProtap
Chand has just gone on board his boat, after parading the whole
length of Kulna ina Zonjokn with a drawn sword in his own hand,
attended by upwards of a hundred swordsmen and double that
number of sticksmen. The concourse was ailogether 6,000 or 8,000.
He appeared to be intent oa the Rajbarry.  But your active Darowa
prevented him. The aspect of things, I think, threatens an affiay,
if he is not checked soon.” This letter was written in reply to the
one which he had received from Mr. George Nicholas Cheek, the
Doctor, on the night of the first of May The Doctor, it scems,
was a tool in the hands of the Magistrate.

+ The Magistrate and the Doctor were each armed with a double-
barreled pistol, which was given them by Mr. Barlow, the Judge of
Burdwan. Dr. Cheek, as he himself admitted in his evidence, was
once in the artillery.

+ The Hurkura of the 7th May, however, says that the Magistrate
arrived with Captain Little and his company in the morning of the
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solemn hour, ” the Raja and his people were sunk in
sleep in the boats but the Mayistrate could not
brook delay in the execu:ion of what he in his
overzeal considered to be his duty. Firing com-
menced, dnd some innocents were woundzd while
laying in an unconscious state.s The Raja awoke
and, plunging into the river, saved himself from the
bullets of the sepoys by his practical moor-hen like
skill in the art of diving, e got to the other side

of the river out of harm’s way., So did his friend,

3rd May and gave directions to fire a volley only to check the Hight
of the impostor and his men on beats.  Protap got to the other side
where he lay motionless hke a corpse.  But lLeing discovered by an
experienced habildar who ‘had given him a kick, he was arrested.
Among the persons who were made prisoners in the boats were Mr.
Shaw and two other Luropeans, ‘sho were lodged in the Bardwan
jail.  Protap was sent to  Hooghiy in charge of Litile and his
company, and was early in_ the morning of the 6th Muy delivered
over to the [Tooghly Magistrate who saw him safely Todged in jail.
But the ZEunglishman, the Daily Intelligencer and the Culcutta
Cowricr’condemn this hostile tone of the Huskara and lay  the whole
Llame upon the Magistrate.  They also say that Shaw was not present
at the disturbance, and that he wasarrested while hie was coming down
to the Raja’s boats from Mr. Lyall’s factory in a Za/li.  So far from
stirring up sedition, the main object of his coming to Kulna from
Calcutta was to play the pacificat and prevent any bicach of the
peace on Protap’s part.

* Mr. Ogilvie having considered the presence of Trotap to endanger
the peace of the district had <ought the instructions of the Governor
as to the cowrse he was to pursue ; and he received orders Lo arrest
tim, if no other alternative renuined for preserving the public
tranquillity.  The Magistrate and Cuptain Little’s regiment marched
all mght, and before daybreak arvived on the bank of the river. As
there was not the shightest show of resistance, or even preparation
for any on the part of Protap, the order to fire was quite unjustifiable.
The Magistrate, it is said, was also accompanicd by a number of the
mounted soldiery of the de facto Raja of Burdwan, who were drawn
up on the shore, and the balls which proved so fatal were discharged by
them,—ZFrsend of India, 17th May.
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Raja Nara Hari Chandra of Nadia, and the two
passed the rest of the night at a place to the north
-of Santipur.

The firing ceased, when plunder commenced, and
.after the plunder was over, there were arrests.
But a sufficient number not being found on the
Raja’s boats, it was made up by arrests on some
pilgrim-boats which are lying at anchor at a little
distance. In this way two hundred and ninety-four
persons, * amongst. whom were several of the oppo-
site sex, were arrested. The Raja and his friend,
Nara Hari Chandra, + were also sought out and
added to the number, Protap Chand, instead of
being sent up to Burdwan as the others were, was
challarned to Hooghly for trial, His attorney, Mr.
William Dalrymple Shaw, also did not escape arrest,
although he was not present at the engagement at
Kulna. This arrest was made by Mr. Ogilvie him-

Several persons were wounded of whom three only, to wit, Tara
"Chand Chakravarti, Siraji Manjee and Gobinda Sing, died of their
wounds. The story of about fifty men being killed is entirely false.

* Many of them had no more connection with Protap than the
man in the moon. Mr. ¥, C. Smith, Police Superintendent of the
Lower Provinces of Bengal, made the investigation.

t They were arrested by the Magistrate on the same day. The
other arrests were made the next day, thatis, the 2nd May. The
Hurkura of the day, which was most hostile to Protap all through
remarked :—*“ If this man should be permitted to go at large and
wander about with a parcel of armed followers, from the thoughtlessness
of the moment thousands of the people m10h1 be mduced to join his
standard, and thus cause a regular civil commotion.”” The Calutta
Courter slyly observed that ‘‘there 1s a good chance of his closing
his eventful career, an exalted character.’



HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT. 205

self, while Mr. Shaw was returning from his friend
Mr. Lyall’s factory at Pygatchee, three or four cros
from Kulna, and he had to suffer a good deal for
his high-handed and arbitrary proceedings.:

[n the momning of the 6th May, Protap Chand
arrived at Hooghly under a Police guard, and was
immediately placed in the local jail where he was
made to await his trial.  Mr. . A, Samuells + was
then the Magistrate of this District, Before that he
had been for some timein charge of the Burdwan
Magistracy, where he hadl heard all about the so-
called  psendo  Raja from Poran Babu, He had
already formed his opinion that the claimant could
not be the real Raja but a mere Perkin, He had
heard from somebody that one Krishna Lal Brahma-
chari, son of Sham T.al Brahmachari of Goari in
Nadia, had not been heard of for four or five years,
and he at once jumped to the conclusion that the

pretender was no other than that notorious cheat,

* Mr. Shaw was taken to Burdwan on Friday, and was mewed up
“in durance vile.” In this miserable state he remained till the oth
May, when he was released under a writ of Habeas Corpus.  His
caption and detention wmade a great sensation.  Two actions were
brought agajust Mr. Ogilvie in the Supreme Ceurt, one by Mr Shaw
for wrongful confinement, and the other for manslaughter of Tara
Chand Chakravarti at Kulna.  The latter ise came on for hearing
before Sir John Peter Grant on the 13th August 1838  The Judge
in his charge having expressed it as his opinion, that ““the fatal firing
was purely accidental,” the jurors by their foreman, Mr. Cameron,
returned a verdict of “‘not guilty.” Mr, Shaw’s case was tried by the
Chicef Justice, Sir Edward Ryan, also with the aid of a jury, and
resulted in the conviction of the accused who was fined Rs. 2000.

t He had been officiating in Tooghly for Mr. Grant since 18335,
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He tried all manner of means to prove their identity
and, as a matter of fact, nearly four months were
occupied in the procuring of proofs* At last on
the 1st September, the trial commenced,t and the
trying officer was Mr. Samuells ] himself.  The

* The following letter which he wrote to Babu Dwarka Nath
Tagore of Calcutta, plainly shows that the spirit in which he acted
in the matter was not that of an impartial Judge, trying a case on the
evidence adduced before him, bat that of an interested party, bent
upon securing a conviction.

“ Hooghly, September 4, 1838 My dear Dwarka Nath,—-T was
disappointed ar your non-areival as [ think you could speak more
decidedly than any of the other witnesses to the man's non-identity,
but it 1s not of much consequence: I have no objection to make a
bargain with you. I will let you off altoze:her if you will procure
me the names of half a dozen good respectable witnesses from.
Baranagore, who know him as Kreishna LAl I dare say yon could
do this through Kali Nath Roy Chowdhury, Mathosra Nath Mukerjee,
or any of your own servants. - Let me know what you say to this.
What a scoundrel that Buddinath Reyvi is. If T had known his
character T wouli rather have gone without evidence altogether than
have had his.

Remember I must have the evidence from Baranagore within a
week or so. Persuade Mathoora Math  also to come.  Mis horwrat
and 7i7ur shall be hureck swornt se bakal,
Yours truly,
EJA SAMUELLS”

1t is true, however, that as the law then stood, the Magistrate in a
case of public prosecution  was competent to search for and produce
all the evidence which he might deem requisite 5 but in this instance
\[y. Samuells overdid the law, defeciive as it was.  FHe went to the
length not only of discovering evidence but also of inventing it,
The *¢*Buddinath Roy” spuken of above, is no less a personage than
Raja Baidyanath of Calcutta, and he is abused so vory grossly because
he stated what he knew to be true, and not what the biassed Magis-
trate had expected from him.

+ On this occasion Protap was permitted to be defended by
counsel, and, as a watter of fact, was defended by Messrs,  Leith
and Morton, Mr. Turton being unwell at the time could not hold a
hriel for him.  The prosecution was conducted by Mr. M. A, Bignell,
the Superintendent of Legal Affairs for Government.

1 1is pay as acling Magistrate was only Rs. 700 per mensem. He
was made pucca in September 1838,
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charge was that the accused had suppressed his real
name and had falsely, deceitfully and wickedly
assumed the name of Raja Protab Chand, the
deceased zemindar of Burdwan. The trial lasted
till the 2oth September, in the course of which a
large mass of evidence was adduced, and the Magis--
trate being of opinion that the prosecution had
made out a sufficient priina facie case committed the
accused to the Sessionss ' Mr. James Curtis was
then the Sessions Judge.  The trial had been fixed
for the 2oth of November, but it actually began on
the day previous.  The same counsel who had con+
ducted the prosecution and the defence before the
Magistrate were also counsel on the same sides in

the trial before the Sessions Judee, Monsaram

* While Protap wasa denizer- of the local jail awaiting his trial
hefore the Sessions Judge of Itooghly, a contemporary thus writes
of him and his claims @ His ambSitions claims, though certainly by
no means established, are not yut absolutely proved to be built upon
sand, and after all. in great attempts ““tis glorious ¢’en to fail
Again he says, ““If the whole »f Bengal Proper werz to be bronght
to the roll, we suspect the show of hands would be incontestably in
favour of our hero.,” He thus describes him @ ““In person the
subjent of our sketch is of a tall and  well-proportione:d figure:  Ilis
countenance is expressive ;s the hack eye has a somewhat pensive and
melancholy gaze, the nosc is aquiline, the features reguolar, and his
hair is unusually worn long and flowing behind.  \When well-dressed,
our hero certainly poSsesses someting of an air /it7ngwee, and has no
reason at all to be ashamed of his external fout cncemhle.”  Calcuita
Monihly Journal, Parv 1, 1838 : Hwrlura, pp 97-100. The late
Babu Gour Das Bysack who had scen the claimant, I'rotap, many
times and conversed with him, told us that his was a noble and grand
appearance, considerably resemblirg Lord Mayc, the Governor-Genera
But opinions differ, some declaring that the true Simon Pure, compared
with his present representative, was Hyperion to a Satyr, or if there
was aught of vague resemblance, that ‘‘Esaw’s hands suit ill with
Tacoly's voice.”
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Sircar, whose name is still held in abhotrence tor
ministerial misconduct, was Dewanx to the Judge.
His influence was very great, indeed, even greater
than that of the Judge himself. After the prelimi-
naries had been gone through, the charges were read
out to the prisoner. They were as follows: —1. That
the accused whose real name was Aluk Shah a/lias
Krishna Lal Brahmachari, had practised imposition by
assuming the name and title of Maharaja Protap
Chand, the late zemindar of Burdwan. 2, That under
the said false pretence he had cheated Radha Krishna
Bysack, Dewan of the Government Treasury, out of
his money, 3. That he had formed an unlawful
assembly at Kulna on the 2nd May, 1838,

The prisoner pleaded nos' guilty. As he was un-
well, he was allowed a chair during the trial of his
case.

The Sessions Judge had a mind to try the case
with a special jury, but the gentlemen summoned,
with the exception of Babu Annada Prosad Banerjee
of Telinipara, having for reasons given by them
refused to act, he was obliged to call in the aid of
the Mahomedan Law Officer of the zillah, Moulvi
Syed Ahmed. The first day was taken up in arrang-
ing the preliminaries, and the witnesses were com
menced to be examined on the 20th November.
Evidence was given under four heads:—

* Now called Sheristadar.
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1. As to the identity of the prisoner with
Maharaja Protap Chand. 2. As to Protap’s death,
3. As to the prisoner being Krishna Lal Brahmachari
of Goari. 4. About the alleged unlawful assembly
at Kulna.

The onus was upon the Government to prove
that the prisoner was not the man he represented
himself to be, and the Government prosecutor, Mr.
Bignell, admitted it in somany words. Seventy wit-
nesses were examined on the side of the prosecution,
most of whom were not men of much consequence.
The most important witnesses who deposed on the
question of identity were Mr.  Gregory Herklots, the
Iriscal of Chinsura, Mr. Henry Thoby Prinsep,* the
Government Secretary, Mr. C. Troyer, the Collecter,
M. John Marshall, ‘the Brevet-Major, and two well-
known natives of Calcutta, namely, Babu Dwarka-
nath Tagore and Babu Radha Krishna Bysack, Mr.
James Pattle, a member of the Revenue Board, Mr.
John Ross Hutchinson,t a Judge of the Sadar
Dewani Adalut, Mr, D. A. Qverbeck, the late
Dutch  Governor of Chinsura, and the Rev, W.
J. Deere of Krishnagar had been examined before
the Magistrate, but they were not produced before

* The father of the great artist, Mr. Valentine Cameron Prinsep,
better known as Val Prinsep, and of the eminent Judge, Sir Heary
Thoby Prinsep, late of the Calcutta High Court,

1 He was gazetted in 1836, to act as a Julge of the Sadar Dewani
Adalut, He died on the 2nd September 1838, The Calcwtta
Monthly Journal, Part 1, 1838.

N
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the Judge, although the Magistrate had stated that
every witness called for thc prosecution in his Court
would, as a matter of course, be produced before the
Sessions Court.  Mr. Overbeck and the Rev. Mr.
Deere were, however, examined on the side of the
defence. Besides the spoken evidence of witnesses,
there was also a peculiar kind of evidence, which,
though mute, spoke witha hundred tongues, and
was of very great importance to the Judge in arriv-
ing at the real truth:—It was the life-like portrait of
Protap, as painted by the well-known painter,
Chinnery, a friend of the Raja. This portrait was
brought down from the Burdwan palace, and was kept
in a room adjoining the hall in which the trial took
place. It was, as the Harkura of the sth September
stated, “a rather hostile witness.”

Mr. Herklots said: *“My impression is that the
prisoner is not Protap, whose features I have no
precise recollection of.” Thus, from his own words
the evidence of this witness is not worth much, if
anything at all. Mr. Prinsep stated: “I should
say that the prisoner is not Protap Chand. He
appears much taller than Protap Chand.” Te also
stated that in June or July 1837, he had an interview
with the prisoner at his office, when the latter mis-
took Pattle for him, and could not point out Hut-
chinson who was present in the room. FHe, however:
admitted that General Allard told him that he had
seen the prisoner travelling about Lahore as a fakir,
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and that he believed him to be what he gave out he
veally was, namely, a Bengal Raja. On seeing the
portrait referred to above, Mr. Prinsep said that
there was no resemblance between it and the
prisoner. The witness, Mr. Troyer, was Collector
of Burdwan from 1808 until about 1817, and was a
personal friend of Protap Chand with whom he not
unoften played chess. He said that the picture
which he saw in the Magistrate's Court was a strik-
ing likeness of Protap, and he gave his emphatic
denial to the prisoner being Protap by observing
that, “If the prisoner were to speak to me till eternity,
‘he would never be able to convince me that he is
Protap Chand.” However, he admitted that Dr.,
Halliday, who was the family surgeon of Protap,
and who had operated on a large boil on his thigh
had told him that the prisoner was the Raja. Mr.
Marshall stated: “I believe the prisoner to be the
person I used to meet at Chinsura upwards of twenty
yeras ago, under the name of ‘the young Raja of
Burdwan’ I must have seen him frequently at Mr,
Qverbeck’s when he was Governor of Chinsura, and
that was in the years 1818, 1819 and 1820. The
Raja was decidedly tall for a native.” Babu Dwarka-
nath Tagore said that if he knew that the prisoner
was the real Raja, he would gladly give him five
lakhs of rupees out of his pocket. He also stated
that Gopi Mohan Deb, who wds one of the two
natives whom Protap would visit at their house,
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refused to see the prisoner, Babu Radha Krishna
Bysack having assisted the prisoner with funds, his
evidence might be objected to on the score of interest
But there is no doubt that he was a very respectable
man and that his veracity could not be impeached
except on very strong grounds which, however, did
not exist in the case. e stated that, on being
assured by Dr. Halliday of the identity of the pri-
soner with Protap Chand, he advanced him money ;
that General Allardalso told him that he, the pri-
soner, was the son of the Burdwan Raja ; that relying
on the worlds of the General, Ganga Prosad Ghose
also advanced money as did Dr. Jackson ; that his
own belief was that/the prisoner was in reality what
he gave himself out to be,

As the evidence for the prosecation stood, it did
not satisfactorily prove that the prisoner was not
Protap Chand, nor did it conclusively show that he
was so.  But when "thisievidence is coupled with
the other evidence adduced in the case, as well as
the surrounding circumstances, there remains not a
shadow of doubt as to his identity with Raja Protap
Chand.

The evidence adduced on the side of the defence
consisted of the testimony of forty-five witnesses,.
Most of these witnesses were of the ordinary run,
but there were some whose integrity and impartiality
could not be questioned. They were Mr. Robert
Scott, Surgeon, 37th Madras Native Infautry, Mr,_
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Daniel Antonio Overbeck,* the last Dutch Governor
of Chinsura, Dr. Leotard, the indigo planter, David
Hare,+ the veteran educationist, and Raja Khetter
Mohan Sing of Bishenpur. Dr. Scott said: “ I was
officiating surgeon at Burdwan from 1815 to the end of
1817, I knew the prisoner as the young Raja. He spoke
and wrote Inglish, but not very well., I was very
intimate with him. [ attended him in 1817, when he
had an ulcer in the inside of his right cheek. The
mark of the ulcer is-still seen in-the prisoner’s cheek,
and the tooth opposite to it js gone. The Raja had
lost his tooth when I attended him. The prisoner’s
face is darker than Protap’s; but the body is similar.
The Raja used to perspire even in cold weather; the
prisoner is troubled with the like complaint. The
prisoner is thinner than the young Raja; he, I have
no doubt, is Protap Chand.” Mr. Overbeck said :
“1 can recognise the prisoner to be Raja Protap. [
have traced the contour'of the prisoner’s face in the
picture, which was shown as the picture of Raja
Protap Chand. I have traced all the marks which
Protap had on his body, and {n my close examina-
tion of the prisoner in the presence of the counsel
for the prosecution and the defence, he has answered

* Mr. Overbeck survived until the 25th September 1840.

t David Hare came to Bengal in 1800, and died of cholera on 1st
June 1842. IHe was the father of **Native Education,” and his
whole life was devoted to one generous end, which, as the poet truly
8ays, was

¢“To bless the Hindu mind with British lore,
And Trath’s and Nature’s faded lights restore.”
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every question which I put to him of days past
satisfactorily and without any hesitation ; conse-
quently, to the best of my belief the prisoner is
Raja Protap Chand”. Mr. Overbeck went on to
state : “Shortly after Protap’s alleged death, I heard
that he had absconded and was alive. I made enquiries
and learnt that at sunset he took a bowl of broth;
after which he was taken out in a palkes into a tent
near the river, surrounded by, funnets and attended
by his servants, At.night, he was suddenly missed.
Search was made for him, but to no purpose. Raja
Tej Chandra was inforined - that his son was glorified.
He ordered his funeral ceremony, and a trunk, filled
with shells, was burnt on the pyre, and the ashes
were collected and carried ta Ambica. The report
was, I believe, very general. [ have been fifty-two-
years in India.” The HHarkura of the 2nd January,
1839, stated that on the day (Ze. 27th December)
on which Mr. Overbeck gave his evidence, the
Court compound and the entrance room were quite
thronged by the populace; and that the crowd, as
the pseudo Raja left the Court to get into his palkee,
thrice shouted Jaya Dhunnalr Raja Protap Chand.
Mr. David Hare said: “I was acquainted with
Raja Protap. 1 saw him six or seven times at his
house at Chowringhee. I think the prisoner resem-
bles the Raja Protap Chand very much, [ have seen
the picture in the room adjoining the Magistrate's
Court. [ examined him very minutely with it, and
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[ traced a strong resemblance between the nose
and eyes of the prisoner with those in the picture,
Then from prisoner’s reply to certain questions which
I put to him at the jail, I verily believed him to be
Raja Protap Chand of Burdwan.” At the conclu-
sion of his deposition, Mr. Hare spoke of a peculiar-
ity in the prisoner’s nose which he did nct find in
the nose of any other person, thatis, that it perspired.
The Bishenpur Raja, -Khetter Mohan Sing, said:
“The prisoner is certainly and, undoubtedly Raja
Protap Chand. About three years ago I sheltered
him at my house at Bishenpur for three months,
The Bankura Magistrate, Mr. Elliott, abused me
for succouring the prisouer, whom he termed an
impostor and a vagabond, and he also threatened
me with imprisonment in the event of my persisting
in the same course., [ have sold my zamindari to
Raja Tej Chandra.” Besides the witnesses already
examined on the side of the defence as to identity,
the prisoner had a mind to exarine Poorsun Chand
Baboo, Protap’s maternal uncle, who all on a sudden
presented himself in Court on the 15th Japuary, but
his legal advisers having advised him to the contrary,
his evidence was not taken. They said that the
evidence already adduced was quite sufficient for the
purposes of the present trial, and that, as it was not
a civil case, stronger evidence as to identity was not
at all necessary. In this advice they were not far
wrong, for as the evidence stood, it was quite
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sufficient to establish the identity of the prisoner with
Protap, If, however, stronger evidence was thought
necessary, it was quite within the power of the
Court to take it. But, as a matter of fact, the best
evidence that was available in the case was withheld.
The way to test the prisoner truly was to have him
seen and examined, of course, so far as Hindu man-
ners and customs would allow, by Protap’s wives and
aunts, all of whom were alive, and also to examine
him by some artificial meansiwhich were not wanting
in the Rajbati. Buat neither of these courses was
adopted.  The Ranisof Protap Chand were naturally
very anxious to have a look at the prisoner, but they
were not allowed to satisfy their curiosity. Indeed,
when it became known that the younger Rani
on being convinced, by the anecdotes which he
related of his sweet dalliance with his wives in the
sleeping chamber, of the identity of the prisoner
with Protap Chand, wasanxious to see and have him,
some of her confidantes were removed from the place
and double guard placed on it to prevent all egress
and ingress. Protap’s paternal aunt, Rani Tota
Kimari, who along with the late Dowager Moharani
had brought him up from his infancy, was also very
anxious to see the prisoner; so was Protap’s mater-
nal aunt, Bibi Badami. But none of these ladies
was allowed to have their wish gratified. Mr. Curtis,
the Judge, on being pressed by the counsel for the
defence to give these ladies an opportunity of seeing
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and examining the prisoner, observed that he did not
think Rani Tota Kumari would ever come to his
Court and give evidence in the cause, and that the
evidence of Protap’s wives would not be legally ad-
missible as wife and husband are, in the eye of law,
one and the same. But was Rani Tota Kumari
really unwilling to come? We trow not, As for
the objection raised by the Judge to the legal admissi-
bility of the evidence of Protap’s wives, it could
stand good only where the refationship of husband
and wife was not disputed; whereas in the present
case that was the very thing which was the subject of
the inquiry, Thus, the Judge's objection had no
force at all; indeed, it invalved the logical fallacy of
petitio principii, or begging the question. At length,
to make matters all square aund perfect, subpanas
were issued to the ¢lder Rani and the aunts of Protap,
in reply to which a petition was put in as coming
from them saying that being convinced of the fact
of Protap’s death and of the prisoner being an impos-
tor they did not think that their evidencs would be
-of any avail to the latter, and they accordingly de-
clined to attend. We doubt very much if the ladies
aforesaid kunew of the sudpwnas or of the petition
purporting to have come from them. But even
supposing that the petition did really come from them,
was it not incumbent on the Judge, for the ends of
justice, more especially when the matter was so
carnestly pressed by the defence, to take their evi-



218 HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT,.

dence and place the whole thing beyond the domain
of doubt? The Harkura of the z2r1st May properly
remarked : “ Suspicions, well or ill-founded matters
not, but suspicions are afloat throughout Burdwan,
Bancoorah, and Muishidabad, that Poran Babu is at
the bottom of this attempt on Protap Chand’s life,
and it is absolutely necessary for the peace and quiet-
ness of the country, that the truth or falsehood of
the impression should be placed beyond all doubt.”
When such was the state of the public feeling, and
that this was so might be easily inferred from the fact
that a Journal which was notoriously hostile to the
prisoner all through, gave such emphatic expression
to it, was it not necessary, if not for anything else,
at least for the good name of British justice against
which there were *curses, not loud but deep,” to
make every possible dnquiry into the fact whether
the prisoner was really Protap or a mere pretender ?
But it does not appear that the Judge who tried the
case was actuated by any such noble motive, and so
far from trying all possible means to get at the truth
he in a manner stifled inquiry. But supposing for
the sake of argument that there was some difficulty
in taking the evidence of the ladies, what difficulty
was there in examining Poran Babu who was so well
competent to speak to the fact. And is it not very
strange that Poran Babu himself, who did not spare
means or money to put down the prisoner, if not to
polish him off the world, did not of his own accord
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come forward to say on oath that he was not the man
he represented himself to be but a false pretender.
Again, there were some old servants of Tej Chandra
and Protap Chand living at the time, and they too
were not called to the witness-bex,  Protap had also.
some fast friends in this part of the country, conspic-
nous amongst whom were Sree Nath Babu a/Zias
Nabob Babu of Singhoor, and Ramdhone Babu of the
Telinipara zamindar family;, But no attempt would
seem to have been made to take their evidence.
Both of them were then resicing within the juris-
diction of the Judge of Hooghly, and nothing was
therefore easier for him te produce them in his Court,
if he was so minded, But for some reason or other,
neither of them was called to the witness-box, The
mere fact that the prisoner counld have examined
them but did not do so, was not sufficient for the
Government that was conducting the prosecution to.
have dispensed with their evidence. It should not
have left any stone unturned to have the matter
thoroughly sifted in order to find out the truth. Thus,
it is quite clear that the best evidence that was avail-
able in the case was kept back without any very good
reason being assigned for its nor-production.  Again,
the prisoner had stated that there were in the palace
a Pandan  (betel-holder) and a hand-box so ingeni-
ously made as to baffle the skill of all but the initi-
ated to open them, But neither the Pandun nor the

hand-box was produced, and as there was nothing to
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show that they were not forthcoming, or that there
were no such things in the Rajbati, their non-produc-
tion could only be accounted for on the supposition
that had they been produced they would have estab-
lished the prisoner’s statement and gone a long way
to proving his identity with Protap Chand. Besides
the evidence that was produced and the evidenee that
was kept back, there were many significant circums-
tances which served to_raise a strong presmnpti()n_
amounting almost to a moral certainty, that the pri-
soner was the real man  and not a counterfeit.
We have already ~observed that many respect-
able persons, including some Europeans, advauced
him large sums of money.  Babu Radha Krishna
Bysack,+ the Dewan of the Treasury, alone lent him
more than a lakh, and the amounts advanced by other
gentlemen were also not inconsiderable.  Now, while
these gentlemen assisted him  with the sinews of
war, there were several Rajas'who, anxious as they
were to see him restored to his ancestral Raja, in a
manner fought for him. The Raja of Nadia, Nara Hari
Chandra, and the Bishenpur Raja, Khetter Mohan,
suffered much for him.  As for the Raja of Pachete
(Panchalkote), he actually broke out intn open revolt

T oAttempts were made oa the part of of Poran Babu to induce
Babu Radha Krishna to abandon his protege to his fate. At first,
Babu Dwarka Nath Tagore was deputed to him for the purpose,
but he failing, Babu Mathera Nath Mullick ot Ramkrishnapur
was asked to try the same thing.  Very strong temptation was laid
before Radha Krishna, but he put it aside, and went on assisting
the man until he found that the matter was quite hopeless and
beyond human power.
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and attacked and took possession of a factory of Dr,
Cheek; and the matter at last became so very serious
that Mr. [Talkett, the Magistrate of Bankura, found
it necessary tocall in the military to put him down.
If these very respectable personages, whose position
as the recognised nobility of the land dated from
very remote antiquity, had entertained any the least
doubt as to the identity of the prisoner with their
brother Raja of Burdwan, wou.d they have done and
suffered so much foriliim, -~ This circumstance, signi-
ficant as any circumstance conld be, was alone suffi-
cient to show that it was very probable, if not morally
certain, that the prisoner was the real Simon Pure
and not a false pretender. . Unfortunately for the
cause of truth and justice, all these circumstances
were ignored by the Judge, nay, not even so much as
taken notice of. But nat ouly the gentry and the
nobility of the land espoused. the cause of the prison-
er and did their best to sce him restored, tire general
body of the people took great interest in his welfare
Both while he was on his way to Court and back
during the trial at Hooghly, the commoners never
failed to set up crics of Jya Raja Protap Chand.
This peculiar kind of demonstration, spoutaneous
as it perfectly was, had its origin in the conviction
that the prisoner was the real Raja Protap Chand
and not a false pretender*  And this conviction

* Some old people still believe that the ostensible was he real
Raja.  Indeed, his case stands on a much better footing than that of
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would seem not to have been confined to the men,
but extended to the women, who wished in their
‘hearts to see him restored to the Guddee at Burdwan,
It is said that while on his way to Kulna wherever
he made a halt, the old matrons of the place would
come to the river side, and standing at a respectful
distance, feelingly exclaim, “Go child, go to thy
home, sweet home, after suffering the pain of loug
exile, and reign in peacein thy own Raj!” This
general out-burst of love and affection in favour of
the prisoner afforded a very strong moral proof in
support of the truth of his claim, but such was the
spirit of the times that'the voice’ of the people was
given the go-by and the voice of the devil prevailed.
Then, again, the prisoner -had described some papers
and documents bearing his signature, which used to
be kept under lock and key in the Rajbati. It was
not said that there were no such papers or documents
existing, and yet none of them was produced to
show whether the signaturce therein tallied with the
signature of the prisoner or not. But this was a
stmall matter compared with the other circumstances
we have mentioned before,—circumstances which,
to use the words of the greatest of modern poets,
“lead directly to the door of truth.” One word
more about the pmtr(ut referred to above, and we

Perkin Warbeck who is believed by some great historians as the veri-
table Richard Plantagenet, Duke of Y ()r]\, ceven though Warbeck
himself confessed his imposture on the scaffold.  But opinions differ —
quol leomines, fat scaleilie.
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shall have done with this part of the case. To
repeat the words of the Hurkura it was “a rather
hostile witness.” True it is, Mr. Prinsep, the
Government Secretary, said that there was no resem-
blance between it and the prisoner; but this state-
ment, it is to be observed, was not made after due
comparison, else he would have agreed with Mr,
Overbeck and Mr, Hare who took great painsin
making the comparison, and gave it out as the result
of their close examination that: there was a strong
resemblance between the two.  In fact, the portrait
was a damaging piece of evidence, and spoke, as we
have already said, with a hundred tongues testifying
to the truth of the prisoner’s claim.

On the second head, the officials of the Rajbati,
who were quite under. the control of Poran Babu,
were examined. Of course, they gave a tstory in
support ot the prosecuticn, but their evidence was
not worth much, if anything, Though they were
very large in number, the weight of their testimony
was very small, Surely, evidence is not to be
uumbered but to be weiched. But the credulous
Judge, overlooking this most important rule of the
law of evidence, preferred wumber to weieht, and held
upon the evidence of those witnesses that Protap’s
death had been established beyond doubt. There
were, however, very strong circumstances which went
dead against such a finding, and yet, strange to say,
they were not even taken notice of. Protap Chand
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had two wives living, and there was also his father
present at Kulna at the time. None of them did
him the last funeral service; but the purohit,
Ghasiram (since dead®, according to the witnesses,
gave “the lighted torch to his face.” This was quite
contrary not ouly to well-established practice but
also to Hindoo Shastras; and if Mabaraja Tej
Chandra had been fully convinced of the death of
his son he would not have allowed such a thing to
be done, supposing: that it was done at all, Our
impression is that what Mr.  Overbeck stated in his
deposition before the Judge was the true state of
affairs. A few days after the alleged death of
Protap, there was a rumour, that “dispenser of popular

favour,”

that he had fled from the burning ground
and was still alive.  This report, as Mr, Overbeck
said, was very general, and spread like wild fire from
one end of the country to the other, It cannot be
denied that history furnishes only very few instances
of such report spreading and gaining ground in cases
of real death. This report, so far from fading away
in course of time, received considerable strength
from the ever-increasing number of its believers. In
fact, it was seldom, if ever, disbelieved by anybody.
Tej Chandra, when he was asked to take a son in
adoption, long hesitated to take any such course,
evidently in the belief that his son was not dead but
might return home. It was after very strong induce-
ments, which were brought to bear upon him by his
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favourite wives, Kamul Kumari and Basanta Kumarir
that he at last consented to adopt Poran Babu’s
infant son. If Tej Chandra had not been enfeebled
by old age nor had been under the sweet but none
the less coercive control of his young wives, this
adoption would most probably have never taken
place. Again, if Protap’s death had really taken
place, or had been placed beyond all reasonable
doubt, his shrad ceremony would have been per-
formed in the usual way.  Mis wives had the
preferential right ta it, and failing them, his father
was entitled to perform it. But in this case, although
both the wife and the father were living and were
fully competent to perform the ceremony, strange to
say, neither of them did it but that this all important
duty, upon which rest  the future happiness and
misery of a Hindoo in the world to come, was
performed by the purohit, Ghasiram. This circum-
stance, coupled with' the other circumstances we
have taken notice of before, gives rise to a host of
doubts and suspicions as to the truth of Protap’s
death, In fact, his alleged demise at Kulna is a
mystery which has never been cleared up and never
will be. The probability is that, by some unusual
method, of which he was a master, he feigned
death, and thus effected his escape, as he said,
from the funeral pile at Kulna. Such feigning of
death is not improbable in itself, and is quite
possible, as is proved by the well-known case
8]
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of Colonel Townsend, related by Dr. George
Cheyne.s

As to the cause of his having adopted such un-
usual means of escape, and abandoned not only kith
and kin but such large estates, the prisoner stated
that in an unguarded moment he had committed a
great sin,* which lay like a mill-stone upon his con-
science, and that, being advised by pandits and
astrologers that it could only he expiated by death,
or by remaining zweognito for fourteen yvears, he
struck in with the latter condition and effected his
flight from Kulna D I this way he had travelled
over many countries, from Chittagonz on the one
side to the Punjab on the other. He stayed o
Kashmir for six yvears, where he became acquainted
with General  Allard§  Av Delhi he was  recos-
nised by AM: Ramsay. After the stated term of

see Vo VL Tanae™s /actice of Videoine, vol 1.

boIUwas vot generally known what the nature of that great sin was,
bt the THnCRr Was that he huwd s]]])]nri o one of his ~tep-motiier-,
most profaldy Benta Rumad, Fodipnss olfence was certaindy of
Wograver characte r,o but it was purely aceidental, wherens 1? muxp N
offence, though not equally grave, had no such pallining ciream-
~tance

+ While admitting that certain ceremonies  were perforn o, he
declared  that his tomb was a cenotoph, that his illness ane deain
were teraned. that the officiaing priest (since defunct) who preiendes
1o give Wi the cvreme aection, was in league with him in the
deceit, and aided him in lis escape in the darkness of the night,

£ A NMard was one of the fnluﬂn Grenerais in the sarviee of Maharaja
Ranjit Sing. Ile was in high h\mxr with his roval asier, who was
hinselt o firstorate gener, ral. Ranjit’s  other 11)fcign (h‘l!cl'.l's W e
Vientara, Avitable ant Court. Abhard assured  Daba dht Keishn
ivsach and others that he hud seen Promn Chomd trvelling about
{f.ahore as a fakir, ’ i
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‘fourteen years had thus expired, he returned to
‘Bengal, and was arrested at Bankura by Mr, Elliott.
‘It was at that time that the invaluable Diary which
'he had regularly kept during his travels was lost,
HHe stated all these facts in Court; and then con-
cluded by saying that if he had really died, he would
certainty have made some arrangements for his vast
estates, either by a Will or by a deed of gift, which
there was ample time for making, as he had lain sick
for several days..

On the third head, =everal witnesses were
examined. As most of themn had been bought over
by Poran Babu, whe, to use a native phrase, spent
money like water, they supported the prosecution,
But there were a few others against whose testimony
nothing could be said. Of these witnesses the most
respectable and important was the Rev. William
James Deere of Krishnagar. He had known
Krishaa Lal Brahmachari “for a pretty long time,
-and his evidence on the point was, therefore, entitled
to very great weight. He said: “1 cannot say
decidedly whether the prisoner is Krishna Lal
or not.  Krishna’s nose pointed wpwards, and the
prisoner’s downwards. | heard in 1821 bazar reports
that Protap Chand left his country to go to Runjit
Sing to form a conspiracy against the British
Government.” At the conclusion of his evidence he
stated that “ to the best of my recollection the pri-
soner isnot Krishna Ilal) the latter was much fairer,”
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After a careful consideration of the whole evidence
and the surrounding circumstances the Mahomedan
Law Officer gave his opinion that the prisoner's.
identity with Krishna TLal Brahmachari was not
established. The Judue secems to have agreed with
him in the main, but he observed, “circumstances
considered, I look upon the proofs as being on the
whole satisfactory.” Fowever, he went on tosay
that © the matter of thejidentity was of no import-
ance, seeing that the death and: cremation of Raja
Protap Chand had been firmly established.” Strange,
very strange indeed, that a Judge who had received
proper legal training and had long been adminis-
tering justice in the name of Great Britain, where
justice of all others is so very highly revered, should
have considered the very point which was the
principal issue in the case as a “matter of no import-
ance.”

As regards the fourth and last count no evidence
had been taken by the DMagistrte, and the Judge,
too, expressed an opinion that the matter of the
unlawful assembly was not material.  And yet, as
if to make the record complete in every respect,
some evidence was taken. Nazir Assad Ali, and
Daroga Mohaboollah were the principal witnesses,
They stated many things thereby rendering their
testimony open to the charge of proving too wuch:
As for the chowkidars of Kulna, they flatly denied
that there was any unlawful assembly, The Judge,
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‘however, held that the charge was substantially
established, though he admitted that there was “no
proof of an affray, or actual breach of the peace”
After the arguments had been read out, for the
-counsel on both sides did not argue the case orally
but submitted zwritten arguments, the Judge and the
Mahomedan ILaw Officer dJdiffered in opinion, the
latter holding that it was not proved who the prisoner
really was, and so he_could not be punished for
having assumed the name of Protap Chand, and the
former holding the other way. According to the law
then in force, in case of difference the Judge was not
competent to pass sentence, so he referred the matter
to the Nizamat “Adalut, stating, at the same time,
that all the charges except one had been brought
home to the prisoner, and recommending that he
might be sentenced to imprisonment at least for
three years, if not five.*

On the reference of the 'Sessions Judge being
placed before the Nizamat Judges, Messrs, W,
Braddon and C. Tucker, so late as the 13th June,
they found themselves in a difficulty from which they
saw no means of escape. They could not convict
the prisoner on the ground of his having cansed an
unlawful assembly inasmuch as the Chief Justice,
Sir Eward Ryan,T in the case brought by Mr. Shaw

* The proceedings of the Sessions Court were sent up to the Sadar
Nizamat under a letter dated the 23rd Janvary 1839.

1 Ryan was Puisne Judge of the Supreme Court for seven years
before he became its Chiel Justice .u 1833.
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against the Magistrate, Mr. Ogilvie, had given it as:
his opinion that “ there was no disturbance whatever
when the affray took place, nor had there been
any for a considerable time before the events took
place.,” While the Judges were in this pitiable
plight, the Kazi attached to the Court came to their
rescue. He said that the accused might be punished
for having, for his own beuvefit, assumed and used
the name of another, Thus fortified with the fatwa®
of this oracle of the: Mahomedan law, they ordered
the defendant, Aluk Shah alias Protap Chand alias
Krishna Lal Brahmachari, to be fined Rs. 1,000 for
having falsely and fraudalently assumed the name
of the late Raja Protap’ Chand, and, in default, to
undergo imprisonment for six months. As regards
the other charges they entirely acquitted him thereof.

After the order had been passed, the aggrieved
party presented a petition for retrial, mainly on the
ground that the petitioner had not had anything like:
a fair, complete and satisfactory trial regarding the
question of identity ; and that further evidence as to
his identity with Protap Chand, which circumstances
beyond his control had prevented him fiom adducing:

* The fatwa ran in these words or to the following effect: ¢ False
personation for one’s own advantage is an offence under the Maho-
medan law ; and although no specific punishment is laid down for
such offence, it is discretionary with the Hakim to award what
punishment he thinks fit to iuflict, with a view to restrain the offender.””
The very wording of the fatwa gives ample ground for thinking that
sach false personation was no offence under the Mahomedan law, for
an offence without any punishment being prescribed for its commission
would, in reality, be no offence at all.
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at the time of trial, might be taken and final order
made.  This petition was, as a matter of course,
heard by the same Judges, Messrs,  Braddon and
Tucier, on the st July, when it was rej-cted, the
Judges being of opinion that the said evidence not
having been produced before, could not be taken
new, more especially as the death and  cremation. of
Raja Protap Chand had been established by satisfac-
tory evidence, After thisorder was passed, another
petition was presented to the same Court on the
13th July, asking the Court to cite the authority on
which the sozzoa of the Law Offizer, declaring  that
false personation for one’s own advantage was an
offence under the Mahomedan lav, was based; and
also to mention the Circular (hder or Regulation
under which the  proceedines in the case were
referred to the Sadar Nizamat by the Judge of
Hooghly, and the petitioner fined by the Nizamat
Adalut. Couched as it was in improper language,
this petition shared the same fate with the last, The
Judges Aessrs. Braddon aed Tucker) in rejecting
it on the 19th July said that the proceedings in the
case having bren finally closed by the rejection of
the petition for retrial, which, by the bye, did not
contain the said objection on the score of mistike
in law, they could not be reopened ; and they con-
cluded by ohserving “ that as they had judidally
pronounced the petitioner not to be the MNaharajah

Protap Chand, they could not in future receive any
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petition or application from him under that name
and title,” This order gave a death-blow to the
cause of the claimant, inasmuch as it closed the doors
of the Civil Courts against him at once and for ever.
But, though he was thus cut off from what may have
been really his own, the general public sympathised
with him, and condemned, in very strong terms, the
decisions of the Company’s Judges. Thus defeated,
the claimant gave up all hopes of recovering his
property.  He continued to reside.in Calcutta until
the breaking out of the First Sikh war, when the
vigilant eye of Government being again fixed upon
him, he fled to the French Settement of Chanderna-
gore. After remaining there for some years, he passed
-over to Serampore, which had not then come under
British rule. Here he stayed for nearly six years,
and such was the force of his moral and intellectual
powers, that he was_ regarded as one far above
ordinary humanity, In fact, the women in the
neighbourhood looked upon him as a divinity, and
identified him with Gauranga Deva.x In this way he
set himself up for a religious reformer, and many
eagerly took wmaniras from him, acknowledging
him as their gwru, or spiritual guide. Tt is said
that now-a-days his followers number more than the
Puritan sect of Brahmos. It is not clear what the
precise nature of his faith was, but it appears that

* The well-known founder of Vaisnavism in Bengal. He flourished
in the first half of the sixteenth century.
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from having been a Hiudoo, he afterwards adopted
Buddhism with some modifications.

IZight or ten months before his death, he had
returned to Calcutta and stationed himself at the
suburban village of Baranagore* The Harkura
of the day stated that the pseudo-Raja tried to lord it
over the zemindar of that place; but the latter
soon collected a picked nand of clubmen and made
his Rajaship decamp. ' The late Babu Gonr Das
Bysack, who knew the muan well; informed os that
duriny the Sepoy Mutiny he was confined for some
fime in Fort William, and that after he was released

he lived in complete obscurity,

¢ The world forgetting, by the world forgot.”

<
He was sociable in his manners and found much
pleasure in talking and conversing® with the gentle-
men of the village, [Te died unknown and unwept
towards the close of 1837 or in the beginuing of
13358, Although, owing to circumstances over which
ne had no control, he failed to receive justice at the

hands of the most enlightened Government in the

* Baranagore (more correctly Earahanagore) ad its name from the
fact of the Company’s servants having been in the habit of slaying
foazs and hogs there. The fanous Tyrolese Jesuit, Tietienthaler,
says that this place was famous for its haf7ek cloth s and Price, in his
Dbseroalions, observes that the cloth manufactories there de[enmnu‘l
Charnock 1o choose Caleutta as the site for ]n.s new scttlenient
hanter’s Stasistical Account of Beiggal, Vol 1o po 379, note. From
s having been the resort of had women, Bars n.\gnr( was called by
the early English travellers the ¢ Paphos of Caleutta.”

+ Besides [lindustani and Bengali, our hero was conversant with
the Perstan and ondersiood a little of Fnglish,
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world, there is no doubt that he was a very extraor-
dinary man and has left & name which generatizns

¢:

after generations “ will nor willingly let dic.”

CHAPTER XI.
Hooaiiuy DeRING THE T.asT TWENTY
YEARS OF THE COMPANY'S RULE,

The approvriation of the surplus town-duties to
purposes of public improvement had produced its.
desired effect, and both "Hooghly and  Chinsura
looked much better than before. © In a report dated
March, 1833.% the Magistrate stated that these towns
presented “an appearance of neatness and regularity
not often observable in the towns of the Lower
Provinces.”  But, while rejoicing at his success, he
did not farget that such “neatness and regularity”
conld not last long unless they were kept up by
proper supervision,  Accordingly, we find that there
were six conservancy-carts, with sweepers, costing
Rs. 8o a month and two ameens on Rs. 10 a month

to look after the repairs of the roads and to prevent

* In the sume yem a terrible famine swept over the North-West
Provinces. O all the distressed districts Cawnpur felt it mest intensely,
as appears from the Statistical Report of that Distriet by Mr. (afier-
wards Sir) Rohert Montgomery in 1890,
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encroachments.  And not only were the towns thus
sedulously cared for, the villages also had due share
of attention paid to them. The Dhaniakhali Road,*
which passes through a thickly-populated and fertile
region, was commenced in 1838, A peculiar interest
attaches to this road, as it was mainly constructed
with funds raised by public subscription, and as.
the supervision of the expenditure of these funds
was entrusted to a_committee of six well-known.
zemindarst of the District, thereby laying the foun-
dation-stone of the Local Self-Government edifice,
which took nearly balf a century in building. To
crown all these ben=fcial movements, the commer-
cial Residencies? were abolished, thereby opening
up private enterprise to the District,
By this time the judicial machinery had been

placed within easy reach of the people. The Moon-
siffee system§ had fully developed in the District,

* This road, which commences at Khudnia, is, after forming the
western portion of the southern boundary of the town, crossed by the
trast Indian Raiway line at a shert distance frem the Hooghly
Railway staticn, whence it yvuns westward as far as Tarakeswar, the
most noted place of MHindu pilgrimage in all Bengal.

t Paran Chandra Roy of Makhalpore, Chhaka Ram Singh of
Bhastara, Roy Radhagobindo Singh of Hatishdld aZiay Bosho, Jago-
mohan Seal of Chinsura, Kali Kinkar Palit of Amarpore, and last,
though not least, Joy Kissen Mookerjee of Uttarpara. The road,
important as it was, would appear to have been finished by the end
of the year 1839.

4+ The rules for the conduct of the commercial Residents and
Agents were embodied in Regulation NXNXI of 1793, which having |
heen partially repealed by two subsequent Regulalions was at last
wholly repealed by Act VIII of 1868.

% The posts of Moonsiffs were created in 1793, and those of Sndder
Awins in 1803. This state of things continued up to 1836, when by
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and in 1839% we find no less than nine Moounsiffs
dispensing justice according to law, equity and good
conscience. Besides the Moonsiffs, there were the
Sudder Amin and the Principal Sudder Amin, who
were stationed at the head quarters.  All these
officers, together with the Zillah Judge as their chief,
“formed the entire body of the civil judiciary of the
District.+

Act VIIT the posts of Priacipal Sudider Amins were created. In 1858
he law relating to native Judges was again amended and  consolidare
by Act XV1 of that year, The principal changes made by this Ao
were that, the office of Sudder Amin was. abolished ; the designation
of ¢ Subordinate Judge” was substituted for that of “Principal Sudde
Amin,” and the jurisiction of Moonsitfs was extended to all original
suits cognizable by the Civil Coures, 'of which the subject-matter does
not exceed in amount or valie one thousand rupees.  Act NV oF
1868 was amended by Act LI of 1870, and both these Acis were
repealed by the Bengal Civil Courts Act (VI of 1871} which, with
certain moiiifications made by a subscquent’ Act, is substantially the
law refating o the District and; Subordinate Civil Courts in Bengal.

The Moonsiffs were at first. paid by commission.  Afterwards, on
the abolition of such fees by act V of 1835, their pay was fixed v
Rs, 100 rising to Rs. 150 but as they could il affurd to maintain
-their position with such small pdy, most  of them swerved fromt the
path of rectitude, and sapplied their wants by unfair means. Babio
Hurro Chandra Ghose, however, was an honorable exceptiom.  He
was distingoished no less for his ability than for his integrity, and,
in recoguition of both was afterwards appoinied Sudder Amin of
Hooghly. Babu I'rotap Chandra Ghose, the late popular Registrar
of Calcutta, is his son,

* These Moonsifts were stationed at Hoozhiy, Nauserai, Mohnad,
Baidyabati, Ryapore, Dwarhatta, Kheerpoy, Bali and Uluberia, .\
change has since taken place in the locale, the present Moonsitice
centres being at Serampore, Howrah, Uluberia, Amta and Jehanabad,
hesides the Sudder station of Hooghly,  The number of suits having
increased enormously, there has heen a corresponding increase in
the number of Moonsifts, 22/z., from nine to lifteen,

T In the East India Registers of 1813 to 1830 appear ihe nimes
of officers holding the appointment of Register (Registrary of Zillah
Tooghly. As this appointment disappears about the same time as thal
of Magistrate and Deputy Collector appears, probably the func-
tions and duties of the two offices were somewhat similar.  Among
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The District, it is trues, had made considerable
prosress in many respects, but in the matter of
sccuring safety to person and property it had ad-
vanced only a little. Mr, Samuells had tried hard
to improve the village police, which certainly needed
reform, but he could effect very little in that dircc-
tion, The fact was that he was much in advance
of the age in which he lived, and that most of his
projects did not reach the, stage of action. But
there was one very important measure, the seed of
which he sowed with soimme suecess :—This 'was the
initiation of the Municipal system, properly so-called
Under his auspices a meccting was held by the
inhabitants of Hooghly, Chinsura and  Chander-
nagore in June 1840,*% at which the first Manicipal
Committee was elected. = Notwithstanding consi-
derable opposition an the part of the common people,
who, not understanding its real object, took it to be
a preliminary to fresh taxation, the committee lin-
gered on, and, after its term was over, was re-elected
in February, 1842, Its first act after its re-election
was the most reasonable and sensible one, of asking
the Magistrate to move Government to define more
clearly its duties, powers and responsibilities.  The

3]

© Registers 7 of Hooghly, we find the names of Mr, David . Smyth
and Mr. (afterwards Sir Robert) Barlew.,  (See Dr. Crawford’s  ddi-
cal Gaseteor of the Hoophly Distroct, Chap, NIV.)

* In the month following, the B-upald Gazcftr was fiest printed
and published at Serampore by e Marshman,

¥ Vide Mr. Toynbee's fiuinsiration, pp. 125-26.
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outcome of this request was the passing ot Act X of
1842-—~the first purely Municipal law in Bengal—“ to
make better provision for purposes connected with
the public health and convenience” The local
Municipality is now a well-accomplished fact, and
surely it speaks much in favour of the sagacity and
foresight of My, Samuells, who had laid its founda-
tions under such adverse circumstances,

While Mr. Samuells-was busy planning  his
measurss of reform; the Collector, Mr. C. Troyer, got
into a scrape in consequence of the wickeduess of
the stamp-vendors, - Under the svstem which was
then in force, the vendors on furnishing securities
were allowed to take stamps on credit. This prac-
tice had been in operation for a long time, and all
previous Collectors appeared to think that it was
working well.  But the evil, which had been gra-
dually increasing in magnitude, at last became too
big for concealment, and it was found that the stamp-
vendors had fallen into arrears amounting to no less
than Rs. 21,197. The sale of their securities being
found quite iusufficient to cover the deficit, the
Collector was ordered to make good the balance.
But this officer showed very clearly that, having been
in the District only for a short time, he could not
justly be held liable for misdeeds which must have
been in operation from before his time, Being
impressed with the force and reasonableness of his
explanation, and not seeing its way to distributing
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‘the deficit among the several Collectors, the Govern-
ment ordered it to be “written off” While the
Collectorate was thus put out of joint by the rascality
of the stamp-vendors, the covntry at large was
terrorised by the ruffianism of the dacoits. Taking
advantage of the powerlessness and corruptibility of
the Police, these dangercus characters infested the

Jand and kept all good citizens in constant dread

and  alarm, The Grand Trunk Roads between
Hooghly aud Magra wis so unsafe, that the Magis-
trate found it necessary to send a Eunropean head-
constable with four durkundases to patvol it, Not
to speak of natives; who were maltreated in every
possible way, ‘even Europeans were attacked with
dmpunity.  About this tinre M. Samueils left the

District, and his place was taken by Mr. 5, Wauc-
hope. + Buat the ravages of the ducoits being daily
on the increase, the latter officer, who had the
reputation of being a first class detective, was ap-

pointed  Duacoity  Commissioner, when Mre. G. P

* Tins road commences from Sulkea and runs towands the Northe
West Provinces, ~ze Burdwan. It was pioceeded with gradually,
is history beginning as far back as 180 In 18291 11]);1&:11; to have
been izt userd by troops in preference 1o be old Benares Road, and
the Mitituy autheritdes speak of it as “the new ronte.™  This reyal
voold of India- -2he smooth bowling vrcen of Sir Charfes Weood -
earned for Lord William Bentinek the singnburly inappropriaic sou-
vriquet of 1 the Conguerer, in consequence of his  huwing
metalled it with dunkers Dr. Russell comperes it G ' great while
straight vibbon.” The voad cost, in rovnd nambers, fifly lass of
Tupees.

F Mr, Wauchope again became  Magistraie of  flooghiv in 1848,
and governed it Ul 1832, when Mr. Caarles Thonte - Buel land
took his plae.
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Leycesters was put in charge of the Magistracy.
During the incumbencyt of this officer, the Deputy
Governor of Bengal visited Hooghly. As such
gubernatorial visits were “like angels’ visits, few and
far between,” there was an unusually large gathering,
and the town presented a grand spectacle. Mr. Ley-
cester remained in the District for nearly three
years. The soldiers stationed in the Chinsura
Barrack having become. a positive nuisance to the
inhabitants the able Secretary of the Municipality,
Baboo Ishan Chandra Banerjee, addressed a feeling
letter to him in March 1842, and he took prompt
steps to remove it.  Indeed he was always mindful
of the interest and well-being of the people whom
Government had placed under his charge,

The duties of the Magistrate having by this
time considerably increased, it became absolutely
necessary to relieve him of a portion of the
burden. Accordingly, Howrah was cut out from
Hooghly, and formed into a separate Magis-
tracy. The Government orders sanctioning this
separation bear date the 27th February, 1843.%

* He was, if my information is right, the son of Mr. W. Leyecester,
who was the Chief Judge of the Sudder Dewani Adalat till the 1st
April 1831.

4+ In January 1841.

% In this year Lord Ellenborough created the post of Deputy
Magistrate, as Lord Bentinck had created the post of Deputy
Collector ten years before. Baboo Roma Prosad Roy, who afterwards
so much distinguished himself, was the first Deputy Collector of
Hooghly, and he took part in the memorable meeting of 1840, at
which the first Municipal Committee was appointed. In 1842 he:
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Mr, WilliamTaylor* was appointed Joint Mauistrate
of the newly-formed Zillah, with jurisdiction over
Howrah and Sulkea. He was allowed Rs, 250 for
establishment, and he began holding his Court in
the building which in later days was used by the
Magistrate of the 24-Pergunnahs. Mr. Taylor was
succeeded by Mr. G. F. Cockdurnt in 1845, in which
vear certain villages appertaining to Baidyabati
thana were transferred to Howrah. Some further
additions have since. been 'made, and, as it now
stands, Howrah is well worthy of being called a
zillah, but its separation  from Hooghly is only
partial, its fiscal duties having all along been
performed by the Collector of the parent District.
David Money's is an honoured name in the
District, He succeeded Mr. 5. Sterling in the Col-
lectorate, and presided over it for a considerable
period.  In securing lasting popularity he s
equally fortunate with ' the father of the Hooghly
Collectors, Mr. W, H. Belli; and the memory of both
these deserving officers is still cherished with the
most heart-feit respect, While Mr, Money was in

was put in charge of the District daving the Collector’s illness, the
first instance probably of a native Deputy Collector being in such
chage.

* This gentleman rose to he a Divisional Commissioner, in which
capacity he rendered yeoman's service during the dark days of the
Sepoy Mutiny.

+ This officer rose 1o be a District Judge, in which capacity he
gained a good name in Sylhet.  Like Sceevola in ancient times and
Ilardinge in modern, he was one-handed.

P



242 " HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT.

charge of the Collectorate, Mr. F, Whitworth Rus-
sell was the Civil and Sessions Judge. The latter
officer, too, remained in the District for a long time
and by his ability and integrity earned a good name,
which is not likely to be forgotten, the more so as it
is kept in constant remembrance by his fine portrait,*
which graces the Judge’s office.  He had a very able
Dewan in the person «f Krishna Chandra Chow-
dhury, who for his long meritorious services was,
while enjoying pension, honoured-with the then very
rare, now very commou, title of Roy Bakadur, and
was also invested with a rich Akilat, or robe of
honour. The influence of the Dewan over his
master was very great, indeed, but he always took
great care not to abuse it.  True it is, he did not
know English, but he possessed strong common sense
and had such a fine judicial head that the Judge
was only too glad to avail himself of his valuable
assistance in deciding intricate points of law and
fact.

Mr. Money and Mr. Russell did not, however, gain
such enviable popularity by merely performing the
functions of their respective offices with ability and
integrity ; they always took great interest in the
mental welfare of people. They were warm

* From the inscription at its foot it appears that he was Judge of
Hooghly from 15th March 1841 to 5th January 1853. Dr. Crawliord,
however, states that Mr. Russell was Judge from 1842 to 1851, (See
Medical Gazetteer, chap, XIV.)
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advocates of native education, and encouraged the
«cause of science and literature in the best possible
way they could. In (845, Mr. James Esdaile made
some experiments in medical mesmerism in their
presence, and, as the attempts proved pretty success-
ful, and met their approval, the experiments were
wepeated in subsequent years.s  Mr. Mouey used also
to award gold medals to tne best students of the
Hooghly College.  In 1853, as well as in 1334, the
tustrious Dwarka Nath Mitter, whose life was one
continued series’ of brilliant intellectual triumphs,
ccarried off his gold medal, thereby giving rise to
that good feeling which culininated when both of
them were in the Sudder Dewani Adalat, the patron
presiding on the bench, the protege practising at the
bar. Mr. Money’s tenure of office in the Sudder Court
was, however, not long, as he was obliged through
ill-health to retire before the happy union of the
Supreme and the Sudder’ Courts took place. It is
stated by Dwarka Nath's friend and  biographer,
Baboo Denobandhoo Sandyal, that on the day on
which Mr. Money sat for the last time on the Sudder
Bench, he took his young favourite into his piivate
chamber, and peefigured in glowing colours the
glorious future which awaited him, if God only

* As long as the learned Doctor yemained in India, the canse of
mesmerism fared well.  But with his return o England in 1831, it
fell through, in consequence of, as Dr. Buddun Chunder Chowdhury
says. ‘“a majority of medical men giving preference to chloroform in
operative surgery,”
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spared his life. He then grasped his hands and
shook them warmly.*

Mr. Wauchope had well begun his career as
Dacoity Commissioner, but it was no easy thing to.
repress in a short time gang-robbery which had
assumed such a gigantic shape. Certain it is,
Darogahs had been stationed in all the principal
villages from the time of Lord Cornwallis, but in
ninety-nine cases out of -a-hundred, they abused their
power and authority; and so far from trying to check
crime, they tacitly encouraged it by their culpable
connivance. As for the wvillage watch, instead of
being a safeguard to the people, it was the chief
source of their molestation.i = The evil began to be
felt more keenly as time rolled “on, and before half a
dozen years had elapsed; a very important provision
was made for the greater efficiency of administration
in the Moffussil.  This was the establishment of sub-
divisions in 1845, a year memorable for the addition
of Serampore to British India.l Mr. (afterwards

* Lifu of Mr. Justice Dwarka Nath Mitter, page 54.

+ Mr William Brodie, the fifth Judge-Magistrate, in his report on
the crime in the Tlooghly District in 1814, thus condemns the
village watchmen : ** The greater number of robheries and dacoities
are done by the village watchmen, who select houses froms which the
males are absent.  No nightly watch is kept up by them, and few
robberies occur in this district unless actively aided or secretly
abetted by them.,” What was true in 1814 was with some little
modifications also true in 1843. The ostensible protectors were in
many cases the real destroyers.

I At this time Sir Henry Hardinge—the one-handed hero—-was
Governor-General of India. Ie won his laurels by demolishing the
formidable Sikh army. A great warrior as he was, he was not the less
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Sir, Louis  Stewart Jacksons was stationed at
Dwarhatta as sub-divisional officer of the present
Serampore sub-division ; and Baboo Issur Chunder
Ghosal,t who is so well known as a model Deputy
Magistrate, was sent to Kheerpoy to take charge
of the sub-division, subsequently called Jehanabad*
«and now Arambagh,

Simultaneously with the ravages made by the
-dacoits, did the elements carry on their warfare with
great fury,  In June; 1842, there was a cyclone, in
which among other damages, a flcet of Government
arsenal boats was wrecked.  The country had barely
recovered from the shock thus given to it when it
was overtaken in Angust, 1844, by a serious flood
which, in violence and the amount of injury done by
it, was only second to the memorable flood of 1823.
The river Damudar burst its basks and bunds in
several places, and. the villages all round were
mundated. The waters even reached Chinsura and
Hooghly and filled the ditches and drains of those

an encourager of popular education.  During his rule a hundred-and-
one Bengali schools, bearing his proud name, were planted in different
parts of the country.  Lord Hardinge returned to England in 1848,
after having been raised to the Peerage.

* This distinguished officer was afterwards elevated to the High
Court bench which he adorned for many years.  He then retired on
pension and died only lately.

t This gentleman belonged to the renowred Ghosal family of
‘Calcutta, which must not, however, be confounded with the Bhukailas
ifouse.

+ In later times Baboo Issur Chunder Mitter distinguishad himself
at Jehanabad. He has since retired from Government service, and
has been enjoying his well-earned penston for so.ue time past.
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towns, This flood was also followed by drought, and
their joint agency caused much distress and mor-
tality. [t seemed that inundation had become
chronic in the country, as there was another flood in
September, 1845. It was described by one officer
as “ frightful” and the damages done by it were very
great. Like the one in the year preceding, it too was
followed by drought, and not a drop of rain fell
between the end of August and the second week of
October. Distress and increase of crime were anti-
cipated in the cold weather of 1846 ; and the people
had already begun to flock to Calcutta and Seram-
pore for work. It does not, however, appear that
any relief measures were adopted to meet these
repeated calamities. | The probability is that the
consequences, serious as they were, were of a merely
temporary character, and that the country soon
recovered its usual condition.

There was comparative calm in Hooghly for some
time, when all on a sudden a terrible storm was
raised. It commenced brewing in Calcutta, but its
greatest fury was felt in this place. Raja Radha
Kanta Deva, the metropolitan head of the Hindoo.
community, had established a market near his dwell-
ing house at Shova Bazar, and it proved a successful
concern, Baboo Baikantha Nath ’\Im)nshee of Taki

* Blllno F'ul\'\mha Nath was the very reverse of I\Am )\adha
Kanta, /uttialisme and litigation h(:m;5 his favourite pursuits.  Some
years '\fler, ne was 1mphc ited  ina murder case, and on coming to
know that a warrant of arrest had heen issued against him, he Hed
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became jealous of the Raja’s success, and with a
view to thwarting him, established, in the beginning
of 1848, a rival market in the vicinity,* As the
success of a market depends upon the number of
persons who resort to it for sale of their garden
produce, each party tried to secure as many such
people as they could for their respective markets,
In this way several skirmishes were fought between
the men of these rival zewmindars on the banks of
the Bali Khal, by which Moffussil vendors come
down to Calcutta. But these skirmishes were only
preliminaries to the great fight that was to decide
which of the two markets should stand, At last,
the fatal day of the 11th July dawned. Both parties
had mustered strong at Monohurpur, a small village
situated on the Bali Khal between Bali and Jonai.
The Raja was assisted by Rutton Roy of Narail,
while the Moonshee Baboos were assisted by Rutton’s
first cousin and enemy, Gurudas Roy. The zemin-
dars themselves were not present on the spot, but
were represented by their respective agents, who took
the actual lead in the whole affair, The combatants

into the French Settlement at Chandernagore.  There he lived like
a prince, and such was the power of his purse, that the knglish
authorities failed to bring him to ook,  He died a voluntary exile
in 1262 B, 5.

* The joint-cditors of the Sabdataipadruma, in a short life of the
‘Raja which they published in 1854, however, give a different account
of the cause of the affray.  They say that it originated * from the
rival claims of two parties (one of which was the Moonshee and the
other a perfect stranger to the Raja) to a cectain share in the farming
of the same village.”
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were almost equally matched, and their number was
a legion. In fact, the combat looked like a little bit
of a battle, Rashu Pal headed the Raja’s party,
while Ram Doyal Singh led the Taki party. Both

“make

these leaders were remarkable for their giant
and might,” and their heavy clubs dealt death at every
stroke, The fight commenced at five o’clock in the
morning, ard lasted for four mortal hours, Victory
at first seemed to lean to the side of the Moonshees,
but when in the thickest of the battle Ram Doyal
was lanced by ‘a sturdy spearman, the tide was
turned on the Rajah's side.  Secing their stalwart
<chief laid low on the ground, the Taki party took to
their heels, leaving the Raja’s people victorious on
the field.

As the affray, or Bakamdanga as it was called
in the court slang of the day, was of a very aggravat-
ed character, and as two persons were killed and a
great many wounded, the matter before long came
to the notice of the constituted authorities, and
Baka-ullah* the Darogah of Chanditala, was directed
to hold a local enquiry. Baikantha Nath Moonshee
tried hard to implicate Radhakanta, and, strange to
say, he succeeded in doing so to a certain extent,
although, as a matter of fact, the Raja was perfectly
innocent.  The latter was hauled up before the Joint
Magistrate of Serampore on a charge of aiding and

* His son, Moulve Fuzlul Karim, is now a Deputy Magistrate and
Deputy Collector.
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abetting the affray. As he was the recognised head
of the Hindoo community iu Calcutta, almost all
big folk came to Serampore in the hope of assisting
their chief. Mr. Gordon Young* was then in charge
of the Serampore sub-division, He was a sensible
man and was well worthy of succeeding Mr, L. S.
Jackson in the post he held. At the outset he acted
very properly, and after some witnesses had been
-examined, remarked that a_strong case of alibi had
been established, and that it was not necessary for
the Raja to attend again uatil officially required.
But before a fortnight elapsed, a change came over
his mind, and the Raja was ordered to attend and
was treated verv unbecomingly.  Althongh the
-offence was bailable by law, and bail to any amount
was forthcoming, yet he was sent to JAajut. It is
true, the Raja was not cousigned to the ordinary
cell of an undertrial prisoner,—he was lodged in
a room standing upon the compound of the Joint
Magistrate’s own  quarters,—but this little favour,
which was shown in consideration of his high rank,
did not in any way take off from the grave indignity
to which he was subjected by being sent to lajut,
No time was lost in moving the Nizamat Adalat, and
the Raja, as had been expected, was ordered to be
enlarged on bail.+ This interference with his order

* Mr ;\'r‘)u'lxz’—s’fqmj{o'oﬁ—?/' Lo 13usscsed "at one time con-
siderable celebrity.

t Sir Robert Barlow in passing the order animadverted strongly on

the arbitrary proceedings of the Joint Magistrate and on the abuse of
discretionary power in the hands of irexperienced executive officers.
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naturally irritated the Joint Magistrate, and he,
believing that a prima facic case had been made out
against the Raja, sent him up for trial before the
Sessions Court at Hooghly. The two regular
Sessions Judges having declined to hold the trial,
Mr. Robert Torrens of the Civil Service, was ap-
pointed Special Sessions Judge to try the case.
Almost all the well-knawn barristers of Calcutta
were encaged on the ouerside or the other. The
trial commenced ou the 19th Qctober and occupied
thirty-seven days. . The learned Judge after con-
sidering all the evidence and circumstances came to
the conclusion that “the charge had no foundation
in truth and that the Raja had been unnecessarily
dragged into Court. He was according acquitted.*
This honourable acquittal of the' Raja, which was
pronotunced on the 26th November, was a source
of great satisfaction to  his . friends and rela-
tives. Not to speak of the natives generally, who
congratulated him oun the occasion, even high
European officials did not fail to express their

pleasure at the successful termination of his case.

* On hearing this very just decision of the Judge, the Raja who
had, throughout the whole trial, preserved a dignity of demeanour
which only conscious, and I had almost said heroic, innocence and firm
faith in a just Providence inspire, rose up from his seat and compli-
mented him by quoting a couplet from the cclebrated Persian poet,
Sadi, in praise of King Nushirwan, whose blessed name still survives
for justice, though ages have passed since he died.
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No less a personage than Sir Herbert Maddock,
K. T, the then Deputy Governor of Bengal, in a
letter dated the 14th January, 1849, thus wrote to
him :—* T wish you would call upon me to-morrow
or the next day. You have had my sympathy in
vour ltate misfortune, and I wish to congratulate
you on the honourable acquittal which vou have
received.”*

The temporary excitement which had been created
in the town by the trial of Raja Radha Kanta
subsided with his honourable acquittal ; but the
chronic anxiety in which the ‘geople of the District
had been living in'consequence of the repeated
ravages of the dacoits was not a whit diminished.
Mr. Wauchope had entered upon his career as
Dacoity Commissioner in right good earnest, but his

* Radha Kanta was born in 1783 ; made Raja Bahadur in 1837 ;
and was created K. C. S, T0in 1866, In the year following, he died
a saint’s death in holy Brindabun: Bholaaath Chandra in his ¢ Traze/s
o7 a Hindoo,” while noticing the notabilities who were present at the
Grand Durbar which was held by Lord Canning at Agra on the
20th November, 18358, thus describes Raja Radha Kanta:—* There,
100, was one who commanded the general respect  of his countiymen
for his venerableness, his rectitude, and  his remarkabhle consistency.
In youth his habits must have been temperate, and to his temperance
does he owe his singularly green old age. Long has he passed his.
eightieth year, but he still retains the vigour of his body and mind.
Toiling for half a century in the cause of s nation's cducatisn and
well-being, and begueathing a literwy legacy for distant unborn
generations, he had retired to a quiet baven to spend the evening of
his life.  But bis sovereign had reserved honours for him, and «quitting
his seclusion, his peace, and his preyers;, he had once more
come befsre the world to receive those honours It is long that
Bengal had ceased to have her national historic character, and the
name next to that of Ram Mohun Roy, that shall adorn onr historic
page, is that of the author of the Subda Kulpa Droom.” Vol. 11
pp. 406-7.
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first attempts, as we have already observed, had not
proved successful.  In fact, the dacoits, emboldened
by his failures to capture them, continued their
depredations with greater freedom and fearlessness.
By this time sub-divisions had been established, and
able executive officers placed in charge of them.
Having got such powerful allies to back him, Mr.
Wauchope renewed his attempts with the aid of the
goindals, but as the dacoits carried on a sort of
guerilla warfare, he still. fonnd it very difficult to
capture them. [In this way somec years passed
without his being able to do anything. Indeed, the
effect would seem ‘to have been in the other way.
In no year down to 1849 did the number of dacoities
committed in the district come up to one hundred,
but after that vear the number went on increasing,
till, in 1852, it rose to one hundred and twenty-eight.
This terrible state. of things; which would have
damped the spirit of an ordinary man, only served
‘to brace the energies of Mr. Wauchope whose long
experience enabled him to direct them in the right

course.*

* About this time Gour Vediya gained great notoriety by his daring
deeds. e lived on the other side of the river, within the jurisdic-
tion of the Naihati thana. Though inferior to the great robber-
chief, Radha, in prowess «nd influence, Gour was not an ordinary
mortal.  Many wonderful fiats were performed by him, and well-
to-do people stood so mnch in dread of him that they used to make
him yearly allowance according to their respective means. It was
he who committed dacoity in the hoase of Madhab Chandra Datta,
which was almost within a stone’s throw of the Military cantonments
at Chinsura, and carried off considereble property both in cash and
jewellery. Tt was said that even while he had 1o pass his nights at
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He found out the forest retreats of the dacoits.
and attacked them in their solitary strongholds,
There were many passages-at-arms between the two
parties. but at length the peace-seekers prevailed
over the peace-breakers. Many of the dacoits were
captured and their gangs broken up, and the country
was restored to peace which it had lost for so many
years, This hero of a hundred fights got his laurels,
and his name deservedly becarae a household word
in the land. His vigilance nduced the famous
author of the “Aeghanathbadha Kabya" to nick-
name him “ Sam Watch-up,” and the systein of
espionage adopted by him carned for him  the proud
title of “The Indian Fouche.”s

While the District was suffering from the conti-
nued depredations of the dacoits, the cause of native
education received a rude shock from the death of
Mr. Drinkwater Bethune in 1350. The same fell
disease which had carried off David Hare in 1842

the  Police station under strict survetllance, he more than once
managed to commit dacoities without even giving rise to the least
suspicton of his having done so.  His widow died only lately, and
his son Bechu is still alive. but he is a quict sort of man, and earns
his livelihood by the sweat of his hrow.

* After he had restored peace to the District, Mr. Wauchope was.
appointed  Additional Judge of East Burdwan, whence he was trans-
ferred to Hooghly in the same capacity ahbosut the middle of 1865.
This office he held for several years, till he was made Police Com-
wissioner of Calcutta. Lven after retirement from Indian service
he was not allowed 1o enjoy his well-ewned rest. He was called
upon by the same Government to take charge of the London police,
and he responded to the royal sumimons with commendable alacrity.
His usual success attended him in his own country and he has left a
name in England as well as in India which generations after genera-
tions will hold in grateful remembrance.
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also swept away this next best friend of the natives.
Mr. Bethune was not only President of the Coun-
il of Education* but also Law Member of the
Supreme Council of India, and in his dual capacity
he has rendered imimense service to the cause both
of Education and of Legislatlon. His successor
in the Supreme Council effected tmmany reforms to-
wards the material prosperity of the country., The
Telegraph was introduced in 18352,1 and was follow-
ed by the universal use of half-anna postage stamps,

The Charter of 'the Honourable East India
Company was renewed for the last time in 18353,F

* The General Committee of Public Instruction wus appointed
on the 17th July, 1823 On 7th March, 1835, Lord Bentinck in
Council recorded aresotution directing the promotion of Furopean
science and literature by mieans of PFnglish edueation alone,  This
resolution havirg cagsed | great dissatisfaction, bis suceessur, Lord
Auckland, recorded a minute on the 29th November 1839, adopting
Enghish and the vernacular as media of instruction Gl a series of goud
vernacular books were prepared.  The Education Despatch of 1853,
which was promulgated in India on i8th July 1834, settled this vexed
«question, by declaring that “our objectis to extend European know-
ledge throughout all classes of ‘people,”™ and that ** this object must
he effeeted by means of the Fnglish language in the higher branches
of instraction, and by that of the vernacular languages of India to
the great mass of the people.”  The Cualeatia University and the
Grant-in-Aid  Schools in Bengal were the results of this famous
Despatch, which has immonalised Sir Charles Wood, the then
Secretary of State for India.  This University was established under
Act Il of 1857, when William Gordon Young was the Director of
Public Instruction in Bengal, and Hodgson Pratt and Henry Wood-
row, Inspectors of Sehools,  The first Chancellor was Lord Caoning,
and the first Vice-Chancellor was 8ir fames William  Colvile, Chief
Justice of the Supreme Court.

+ Act NNNIV for regulating the establishment and management
of Flectric Telegraphs in India was, however, not passed until late
in the year 1854. )

Y The Hindoo Datriot was started by the talented Harish Chandra
Maokerjee in 1853, and, after his death in 1861, was conducted by
that seif-made man, the itlustrious Kristo Das Pal. It is now in the
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aot for a definite period, but only for so long as
Parliament should see fit. Oun this occasion the
number of Directors was reduced, and their patron-
age as regards appointments to the Civil Service
was taken away, to make room for the principle of
selection by competitive examination, Bengal was
placed under a Lieutenant-(overnor, and Mr,
Halliday .« (afterwards Sir Frederick James Halliday),
was appointed its first Lieatenant-Governor, in 18354.

This year, which saw so many. good things doue,
also witnessed a sight the like to which had never
been witnessed before.  This was the opening of
the East Indian Railway.t  The trial trip was made
in July, and the line was regularly opened up to
Hooghly on the 19th - August, and, two months later,
extended to Burdwan. But as every human good
has its attendant evil, the facilities which the rail-
road afforded for travel, brought down desperate
characters from the North-West. Some of these
ruffians soon made their appearance in this part of
Bengal, and in December, a horrible murder was
committed, Availing himself of the Christmas holi-
days, Baboo Madhab Chandra Datta of Chinsura
came down from Calcutta on the evening of the

editorial charge of Rai Rajkumar Sarbadhikari, who has converted

it into a daily paper,—a change which has not been attended with
beneficial results,

* Mr. Halliday was for some thne Magistrate of Hooghly. His
son was for some time a member of the Board of Revenue.

+ The first enactment relating to Railways in India is Act XVII of
1854.
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24th December. While he was driving home in &
hackney carriage, accompanied by his son-in-law,
Sreenath Mullick, some up-country people, probably
five in number, waylaid him near Jiban Pal’s splendid
garden. His son-in-law, who was on the coach-box,
jumped down and ran for his life into a neighbouring
paddy field. He was not pursued, as the object
of the way-layers was to take away the life of old
Madhab Datta. The latter, being left alone in the
carriage, defended himself for some time by holding
fast the bars, but was at length obliged to give in,
when he was shot dead like a dog. As the murdered
man was not on good terms  with his son, Gurudas,
suspicion pointed to him.  But no other circum-
stances cropping up at_thel time to confirm the
suspicion, the matter was allowed to drop, though
not until some rich offerings had been made in
the Police pagoda. In the Mutiny year, however,
two up-country reughs ' came down to Gurudas's
house at Calcatta, and, not finding his Jemadar,
Gonesh Singh, there, went up direct to him, and
demanded the balance of the money which Gonesh
Singh had, as they stated agreed to pay them on
condition of their killing Madhab Datta, which they
had done. Gurudas, thus taken quite unawares,
made them over to the Police on the ground of their
having made false statements. While in the custody
of the Police, they made a clean breast of the whole
matter, and Mr. Wauchope, who was then at the
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head of the Police, believing their statements to be
true, arrested Gurudas in his house at Calcutta, and
bringing him up to Hooghly, lodged him in the
local jail.

Some time after the arrest of Gurudas, the trial of
the two ruffians who had indirectly accused him
took place at Hooghly. They could not have said,
and, as a natter of fact, did not say, that he had
etigaged them to murder his father ; on the contrary,
they stated that they did not know him, but had
been: hired by Gonesh Singh ta do what they had
done. As Gonesh Singh was then not to be found,
the link which might have been supplied by him was
wanting to connect Gurudas with the offence, He
was, accordingly, allowed to'gn at large.  As for the
two assassins, they were couvicted on their own
coufession, and were hanged on the spot where they
had perpetrated the “foul deed.”

[n the beginning of 1855 sions of discontent
showed themselves in Santhalia, which before long
assumed a threatening aspect.  Its semi-barharous
population rose up in rebellion under their chiefs, who
hoped to conquer India with antiquated biws and
arrows. But the destructive fire of British guns soon
made them repent of their folly, At one time the
danger was felt to be very great; and the people
expected something like a renewal of the Marhatta
raids. At last, the storm passed over, and was
followed as usual by a calm, but this calm was only

Q
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short-lived, and was erelong disturbed by a terrible
hurricane which swept over the whole of the Gan-
getic valley. Need we say that we refer to the
Sepoy Mutiny. At this critical period Mr. F. R.
Cockerell was the Magistrate of Hooghly. While
the whole country was trembling at the sounds of
war, he was engaged in a work of public utility
which has rendered his name famous in the annals
of Hooghly. The Strand Road, which is so great
an acquisition to the town, ‘was projected and com-
menced by him. The credit of completing it, how-
ever, belongs to his successor, Lord Ulick Browne,
who set up a stone, with his name engraved on it, in
commemoration of the event, The stone bears the
date 1858.



CHAPTER XIIL.

MouaMED MOHSIN AND TUE HooGuLny
INAMBARA,

When the great Murshid Kuli Khan was Governor
-of Bengal, a Persian merchant, named Agha Mo-
hamed Mutahar, who had been domiciled in India,
came down with his family to settle in Hooghly.
He was a favourite of the Mogul Fmperor, Aurung-
zebe, and had received some jzo/irs at his hands
Whatever might have been the reason which led to
his removal from Hindoostan Proper, there is no
«doubt that he did a very wisc act in quitting the
Imperial capital; which was soou after thrown into
the utmost confusion, After coming to Hooghly,
‘he purchased the site of the present Imambara, and
built thereon an ordinary one-storeved house, which
he dedicated to God, calling it “Nazargah Hossein,”
This was in A, D. 717, Afterwards, his son-in-law,
Mirza Saleh-uddin Mohammed Khan alies Mirza
Saleh, extended the building, in 1148 Hegira (1735
A.DS, by adding a portion which he termed “Tazea
Khbhana” 1t was upon the ruins of this ordinary,
looking house that the present grand edifice was,
erected.

Agha Mutahar, as we have already said, was a

family man. But though he hore an excellent
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character, he failed to secure that first of human
blessings—a quiet and happy home. Mutahar's wile,
whose temper was akin to that of Xantippe, rendered
his abode too hot for him, and he would have left
it, but for his only daughter,* Mannoo Jan Khanam,
to whom he was most tenderly attached, Domestic
happiness lengthens life, while family dissensions
cut it short.  This was painfully exemplified in the
case of Agha Mutahar, who fell a victim to carking
cares before he was well stricken in years.d e left
a will by which he made his beloved daughter,
Manneo Jan, the sole heiress to his property. The
bereaved widow, agorieved as she was at the conduct
of her husband, did not take any step to question
the validity of the will, but showed her displeasure
in a way which was (uite in consonance with the
teachings of her ‘religion. Awvha Mutahar had a
nephew (sister’s sony of the name of IHaji IFaizulla.
This person, like this uncle, was a merchant, and
had acgnired much money ; but having suffered
considerable loss, he was now in impoverished cir-
cumstances,  To him Mutahar’s widow pledged her
love, and the nephew and the aunt were soon united
in holy wedlock, and the good Hajit came to reside
with his newly-married wife at the house of the late:

* ““The sweet Ada of his house and heart,”

I Agha Mutahar died in 1144 Hegira,

+ A Mussalman, who in a religious point of view makes a pilgrimage
(%)) to the holy Caaba, the Sanctum Sanctorum of the Mibomedans,
becomes a Haji.  So also does a Greek who makes a pilgrimage to
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Agha Mutahar, and be it.said o the credit of both,
they enjoyed comfort and lived happy days. The
fruit of this union was Mohamed Mohsin, who was
born in the year of grace, 1732 * A. ).

Mannoo Jant was quite youug when Mohamed
Mohsin saw the light of heaven ; but it was not long
before she was married to Alirza Saleh-uddin, of
whom we have already spoken. This gentleman had
come from Ispahan, aund as he had great parts
was employed by Nabob Ali Verdi Khan Mohabut
Jung, to negotiate a treaty with the Marhattas, which
he succeeded in concluding to the advantage of his
Government. I or this successful diplomacy he was
recommended to the limperor of Delhi, who, in
recoguition of his valuable services, bestowed a

klilat and jaghir on him.  Te was also appointed

lerusalem acquire the same appellation. — The Armenians term such
a person w M akdsse which is inreality a "Furkish word.

The Greck histortan Diodorus, in his description of the coast of the
Red Sea, evidenly refers o the famous temple al Mecen, whose
superior sanctity was. as he says, revereC by a# the Arabians. The
fine rich veil or curtain, which is annually renewed by the Sultan
of Turkey, was first presented by a pious king of the Hamirités, whe
reigned 700 years before the time of Mahomet.—Gibbon's Do 2o
and Fail, Vol 111, page 128,

Haji Faizulla died in 1157 iHegira.

“ Warren Hastings, the first Governor-General of India, was alse
born in the same year.  [le attained a1 pe old age, dying in 1518,

1 The author of the Hooghly Lnamdbara, o historical romance in
Bengali, makes Mohamed Mohsin and  Mannoo Jan children of the
same father, Agha Mutahar : but this is falsified vy Mohsin's deed of
endowment, in which the endower describes himsclf as the son of
Haji Fazulla.  The fair writer also errs in making Mohsin the clder
of the two.

T In the famous Fifth Report of the Select Committee of the
{louse  of Commons, this gentleman’s name appears among the
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Fouzdar ot Hooghly on a pay of Rs. 1,500 a
month; and it was during his incumbency that he
married the beautiful Mannoo Jan Khanum., The
marriage, as had been expected, proved a very
felicitous one, husband and wife being well worthy
of each other* Their lives passed smoothly
along, Being in affluent circumstances, they spent
a good deal in charity, thereby ¢endearing themselves
to the people in the neighbourhood. The illustrious.
Mirza, who, by the by, wasa good Persian poet,
was rich in the possession of many noble acts—-“that
best portion of a good man’s life”—but all of them
have perished save and except one which still bears
his proud name :-—It iis' the flourishing Hat which is.
held twice a week on the grounds near the ITmam-
bara buildings,

As for Mohamed Mohsin, he grew up under the
fostering care of his mother, and, when he was in

a position to receive education, the same Shirazi
principal of lh( Zamindars who held estates near the Caleutta
Zemindary of the Fast Indm Company ; and in rvegard to his cstate
it states as follows :-—*¢ A considerable dismemberment by Suanud
from the original Zemindarry called Jessor a/iay Yusefpoor, wok
place in favour of a Mussalman landholder, Seliah u'dien  Mahomed
Khan, including under the head of Saidpur, one-fourth of tha
pergunnah, with the like proportion nearly of the ancint painara, or
territorial jurisdiction of Vusefpoor.” (See Zifth Repore, p, 382,
published in 1¥12).

* The author of the Fooyhly Imamhara, whom [ have already
veferred to, however, represents Saleh-uddin as a dissipated young
man of Jonse morals, and makes him leave Mannoo Jan, when she
was barely twenty years of age, and marry Roshunara, daughter of
Nawab Shere Jung.  But this is only sacrificing trath at the alter
of imagination, the real fact being that Saleh-uddin was an excellent
man and proved a very loving husband.
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who had been Mannoo Jan's tutor, began to teach
him. The boy made rapid progress, and learned a
good deal of Persian and Arabic. He became also
a first-rate penman, and his handwriting, which is so
carefully preserved in the Hooghly College Library,
is highly praised by the Maulvies. But he was not
only a good hand at caligraphy, he was also a good
hand at the most attractive of the fine arts that
*“hath charms to soothe the savage breast.” He
could play very well on the s7/Ze/ra,» having taken
his lessons regularly  for some’ years from one
Bholanath, who was one of the best musicians of the
day. In the midst of all these improvements of the
mind, he did not, however, forset to taxke sufficient
care of his body, Infact, not a.day passed without
his devoting some time to bodilv exercises, and the
result was that he became very robust and strong.
But he was not a mere athlete; he could dexter-
ously play with the sword. Ile was also a good
pedestrian, and seemed to find great pleasure in
walking long distances.  Mohamed Mohsin’s morals
were of the purest ; he had taken the vow of celibacy
and there was nothing in his conduct or character
which could raise the slightest suspicion of his
having ever made a slip. He professed to be a reli-
gious man, and a religious man he certainly was, In

fact, he was more an ascetic than a man of the world.,

* The sitara, which is a four-string d instrument, is said to awe its
origin to the fine poet. Amir Khusro.
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His tutor, the old experienced Shirazi, having
instilled into him a desire to see men and manners as
they appear in different countries, Mohamed Mohsin
set out on travel, now that the property of his
affectionate sister, Mannoo Jan, was being looked
after by her able husband. His travels had a wjde
range, and included even distant Arabia. He thus
acquired a valuable stock of knowledge, which could
not have been got together by the mere study of
books. He, it would seem, hada mind to pass his
davs in this way ; but the melancholy death of
Saleh-uddin, in 1167 Hegira (1754 A. D.), brought
about a change in' the programme. Mannoo Jan,
it is true, was an intelligent lady, and was compztent
to look after her own affairs. But still she was a
woman with all the disadvantages attending the
life of a rich widow, and she plainly saw that
she could not get on without the helping hand of her
brother, whom she knew to bela very anle and honest
marn. Accordingly, she sent words to him, earnestly
insisting  upon  his immediate return  to  India.
Mohsin, reluctant as he was to engage any more
in worldly affairs, could not refuse the request of his
beloved sister, and retorned to Hooghly, accompani-
ed by two chosen friends, Rajab Ali Khan and Saker
Al Khan*  His return was the occasion of great

rejoicings amongst the inhabitants of the place. As

* These two ygentleman were not strangers (o each other.  Indeed,
the latter was the son-in-law of the former.
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for Mannoo Jan, her joy knew no bounds. She had
long cherished the desire to make Mohamed Mohsni
heir to her vast estate, and she now rejoiced to see
her wish on the eve of fulfilment.  True and faithful
wife as she was, the very thought of taking a second
husband appeared tc her unholy, so that when
Nabab Khan Jehan Khan, the most inﬂuex‘\t»’i:aI
nobleman of the place, made a proposal of marriagé,
she rejected it with contempt. Thus, she lived like
a Hindoo widow, mach to the wonder and admiration
of the people.  She died in 1210 B.S,, corresponding
to 1303 A. D.

As Mannoo Jan ‘deft no nearer heir, the whole of
her property was inherited by her brother. The
estate, as we have alreadv stated, was large enough.
Kismat Syedpur, in the Jessore Distriet, alone
yielded a net income of Rs. 45,000 # and there were

some other propertiest besides. Mohsin  entered

* Dr. R. F, Thompson, in his Report of the Hooghly District fo
1869, stated that the Jessore Estate yiclded Rs. 1,635,000, of which
Rs. 95,000 was Government revenue, leaving a net income of Rs.
69,000,  Thix substantially agrees with the information which
the present Matwali has been good encugh ta give me.  He says that
the income of the Wagf mahals in 1810 was abous Rs. 69,000 and the
interest on 10 lics ol rupees was Rs 40,000 making a total of rupees
1,00,000.  From 1870, however, he continues to state, the net income
from the mahals in Jos-ore has been about Rs. 64,135, and that from
properties situated in Hooghly, 24-Pergiras and elsewhere, R+ 3,780,
besides interest on about 13 lacs of rupees.

t Of these properties the lakhara) mahal of Sobnal is the most
valuable, in respect of which Turb Ali. the younger son of Shaker
Ali Khan, set up a tenure, alleged to have been created in his favour
by Mohumed Mohsin in 1213 B. S, He also set up a tepure in
resp-ct of Basandia, Chingotia and Magora, the most valuable mahals
of the Trust Fstate. But both the grants were pronounced by the Sudder

‘Couri to be forgeries, and the two suits brought hy him were dismissed.
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into possession, but a rival presented himself in the
person of one Bandah Alij» who laid his claim on
the ground of his being the foster-son of Mannoo
Jan. On his claim being treated as fictitious, he
sought the assistance of the Court, but the suit was
dismissed, and Mohamed Mohsin was declared the
sole legal heir of the deceased. This vast acquistion,
which would have turned the head of an ordinary
mortal, wrought no change'in the mind of Mohamed
Mohsin. e remained: what he was—an intensely
pious man-—only  that he was now possessed of
means of satisfying  the longings of his heart
by active benevolence,  His charity had a wide
range. In fact, he lived only for God and wman,
and did his best to serve the one and improve the
other. Ilis deed of endowment ' by which he left

* The old dilapidated building, opposite the south gate of the
Collector's compound, was the dwelling-house of Biadih Ali.

1 The present Matwali has favoured me with an English transiation
of his deed, which is in Persian.  As this document is of consicerable
importance we deem it advisable to insert the translation in full. It
runs thus:—*“ I, Haji Mahomed Mohsin, son of Haji Faizulla, son of
Agha Fuzlullh, inhabitant of Bundar Hooghly, iu the full possession
of all my senses and faculties, with my own free will and accord.
do make the following correct and legal declarations: That the
Zemindary of DPergana Kismat Syedpur, &c., appendant to Zilla
Jessore and Pergana Sobnal, also appendant to the said Zilla and one
house situated in Hooghly (known and distinguished as Imambarah),
and Imambazar and Hat Imarket) also sitnated in Hooghly, and all
the goods and chattels appertaining to the Imambarah agreeably to
a separate list;—the whole of these properties have devolved on me
by inheritance, and the proprietary possession of which I have enjoyed
up to the present time: as I have no children, nor grand-children,
nor other relations, who would become my legal heirs ;3 and as I have
ull wish and desire to keep up and continue the usages, and charitable
expenditures {Murasum-o-ukhrajat-i-husneh) of the Fateha, Sc.. of
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his whole property in pios usus, shows what excellent
stuff he was made of. As he had no heir or kinsman
to inherit his property under the law, he made God
and man his heirs. He, however, did not forget his.
two staunch friends, Rajab Ali and Saker Ali, who

Hazrat (on whom be blessings and rewards) which have heen the-
established practise of this family, I therefore hereby give purely for
the sake of God the whole of the above property with all its rights,.
immunities and privileges, whole andentire, little or much, in it, with
it, or from it, and whatever (by wayof appendage) might arise
from it, relate ‘or belong to it, as a permanent appropriation for
the followmg expenditures 3 and have hereby appointed Rajah Ali
Khan, son of Sheik Mohamed Sadiq, and Saker Ali Khan, son
of Ahmud Khan, who have been tried and approved by me as
possessing understandiﬂg, knowledge, religion and probity, Matwalis
{trustees or superintendents) of the said Waqf or Appropriation, which.
{ have given irf trust to the above two individuals; that aiding and
assisting each other, they might consult, advise, and agree together
in the joint management of the business of the said Appropriation
in manner following—-that the aforesaid Matwalis after paying Govern-
ment revenues shall divide the remaining produce of the Mahals afore-
said into nine shares, of which three shares they shall disburse in the

observance of the Fateha of Hazarat Syed-i-Kayanat (Iead of Crea-
tion) the last of the Prophets, and of the sinless Imams (on all of
whom be the blessings and peace of God), and in the expenditures of
the Ushra of Mohurrum-ul-huram (ten days of the sacred Mohunum}
and all other blessed days of feasts and fesiivals; and in the rebuild-

ing of the Imambara and cemetery. Two shares, the Matwalis, in

equal portion, shall appropriate to themselves for their own expenses ;.
and four shares shall be disbursed in the payment of the establishment

and of those whose names are inserted in the separate list signed and

sealed by me. In regard to the daily expenses, monthly stipends

of the stipendiaries, respectable men, peadas, and other persons, who

at this present moment stand appointed, the Matwalis aforenamed,

after me, have full power to retain abolish or discharge them, as it

may appear to them wmost fit and expedient. I have publicly com-

mitted the Appropriation to the charge of the two above-named indi-

viduals. In the event of one of the Matwalis finding himself unable

to conduct the business of the Appropriation, he may appoint any one

whom he may think most fit and proper as Matwali to act in his-
behalf. For the above reasons this document is given in writing, this

the gth day of Baisack in the year of Higree 1221, corresponding to

the Bengal year 1213, that whenever it be required it may prove a

legal deed.”
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had accompanied him from abroad, but appointed.
them supervisors of the endowed estate. The deed,
after giving some account of the founder and of the
property which formed the subject of the endowment,
went on to state that the proceeds were to be divided
into nine equal shares, of which three shares were
to be applied to the celebration of the Mohurrume
and other festivals and feasts and the repairs of the
Imambara buildings, and the cemeteryT attached
thereto ; two to be allotted ‘as remuneration of the
two Matwalis appointed to sapervise the affdirs of

* This is the greatest festival among the Mahomedins, so called
from its taking place in the month of that name, which is the first
month of the Mahomedan year. It is annually observed in comme-
moration of the martyrdom af Hosein, the younger of the two sons
-of Mahomet's son-in-law, Ali. ' Hosein, having resolved to prosecnte
his claim to the Caliphate against Vezid, the tyrant of Damascus, was
proceeding towards the banks of the Euphrates, accompanied by a
handfal of followers.  Afier the little party had reached the plain of
Kurbala, they were encompassed by a body of 5,000 horse, whom
Obeidollah, the Governor of Cufa, had sent to waylay them. An
-engagement ensued, in which the Fatamites were defeated, and theic
leader Hosein slain  with  three-and-thirty strokes of lances and
swords.  This tragic occurrence took place on the 1oth October 680,
A. Do In commemoration of this sad event is celebrated the
Mohurrum which Jasts for ten days, and is marked Ly the religious
frenzy of sorrow and indignation. (For a fine graphirc description
-of this festival, See ¥, B, Bradby-Bir''s Chofa Nagpore, pp. 52,53.)

+ This cemetery is situated in a garden adjoining the Hat. In the
‘midst of the garden, which is partly a parterre of flowers and partly
an orchard, stands a makbrrd, or walled enclosure, containing six
tombs. Beneath five of these tombs lic the remains of Mohamed
Mohsin, Mirza Sale-uddin, Mannoo Jan Khanum, Agha Matahar and
Haji Faizulla, but as to the one which is in the extreme west, it is
not known Lo whom it belongs. Qutside the makdurd there are about
a dozen other tombs interspersed over the whole garden. The makburd
is lighted every night. and passages from the Koran are read morning
and evening for the.spiritual benefit of the souls of the dead One,
and all the tombs are, like those in the Khiusru Bagh at Allakabad,
-on the model of a Mahomedan Tazea.
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the - endowment; and the remaining four to be
devoted to the expenses of the establishment and-
the pensions and allowances.» The Matwalis were
given ample powers, and it was also provided that,
in the event of either of them finding himseif unable

* How the proceeds of the trust properly are at prezent appro-

priated, will appear from the followirg information, which the present
Matwali has been pleased to furnish tie with,  After stating  that the
net income from the Mahals in Jessore has Leen ahont Re. 64,135, he
goes on to say, that of this amount *the Matwali receives one-ninth
share as his own portion ;  threesninths share of itis devoted 1o the
religious purposes of the Imambara ; another ~one-ninth share called
the College share, under the control of Government, is for educatton ;
and out «f the remaining lour-ninths share Rs  10,653-12 is for the
secular establishment cf the Imanitara and Committee ; Rs. 8.090-
12-5 for the Imambara Hospital ¢ Rs. 1,669 for the waine Imambara
Dispensary : Rs. 640-1-9 for local Agency ; Rs 61 for pension, and
the remainder in the hand of Government for cecular purposes ™

As regards the interest onaccumulaticns he states, that *“out of it
such amounl i» sel apart as is necessary to provide appropriate
buildings, including the charges of rebuilding or 1opeirirg the
[mambara and other religious houses, and the remainder 5 considered
as Tiust Fund, the interest on which, along with tle one-ninth
College share, lapsed pension, &e.. is appropriated to the purposes of
education.”  fle adds that *“ the Chittagong, the Dacci, the R jshahi,
and the 1Tooghly Madrasas; as-also :he foraghat Branch M .draga and
the Mahomedan Hostel at Hooghly are supported from the Mohsin
Funds.,  Besides, one half, and in some instunces 1wo thirds, of the
schooling fees of almest all the Mahomedan boys, along with the
pay of the Persian teachers. are contributed from the <ame funds,
in the Sehools and Colleges all over Bengal.  There are also Moshin
~cholarships for the encouragement of Mahomedan  education.”
Expenses for religious. charitable, and other purposes, and costs of
the secular establishment of the Imambara are thus given in deail ¢

*“The expenses of Mohurrur are ab ut Rs. 7,000. and those of
Rumzan Rs. 4,006 exclusive of the perman-nt religious, cuisine and
Toshakhana establishments  which are Rs. 8.190,630 and 1407
respectively,  The  establishment of the Guards Departmert ensts
Rs. 2,085, that of the Tmambara Oftice Rs 2,448, tha: of the Com-
miltee Rs 624, and that of the Moomly Imambara, excluding repairs,
Rs. 1,200, The other expenses, including the performunce of other
religious ceremonies, Thursday wmajilzses, daily lights, wmaintenances,
mosaffers, students, &c., exceed Rs. 1,000; so that there is no
surplus left,”
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to conduct the business of the endowment, he might
appoint & fit and competent person to act in his
place. This deed of endowment, the beneficial
effects of which are still enjoyed by the people, was
executed on the gth Baisack 1213 B, S., correspond-
ing to the 2oth April 1806 A, D., some six years
before the death of the endower.»

Learned man as he was, Mohamed Mohsin was
not slow in providing means for the education of
others. He established.a school-where Persian and
Arabic were taught by two well-known Moonshees.
It was, of course, a free institution, and was open
both to Hindoos and Mahomedons, After his death
the two Matwalis appointed by him trod in his steps
in this respect. They established what was called
the Imambara School, having Mr, Francis Tydd as
its head. This gentleman was a good educationist,
and the school flourished under his care and manage-
ment, It continued in this state till it was amal
gamated with the Hooghly College in 1836 A. D.

One of the blessings of charitable and religious
habits is healthy longevity, and this blessing
Mohamed Mobhsin enjoyed to a considerable degree.
He died, as I have already stated, on the 29th
November, 1812, + after attaining his eightieth year.

* Mohsin died on the 16th Aughran, 1219 B, S., cerresponding to
the 29th November, 1812 A, n.

I Lord Canning was born on the i4th December 1812, and died
on the 17th June 1862, having left India in March preceding.
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He enjoyed good health, and retained his faculties
unimpaired till his last moments. His remains were
interred in the Imambara garden, close to the tombs
of Agha Mutahar, Haji Faizulla, Mannoo Jan and
Mirza Saleh-uddin. ITis resting place is of the
commonest kind possible, no monument or tablet
marking the sacred spot, but it is well cared for, and
honours are done to it in the orthodox Mahomedan
fashion. As for his name, it has become a household
word in this part of Bengal, and s kept in grateful
remembrance by ‘the thousands: benefited by his
bounty and generosity,

The two Matwalis; Rajab Ali and Shaker Ali, had
taken the management of the trust property even
in the lifetime of Mahomed  Mohsin.  After his
death they continaed to act in harmonious concert
for some months, when Shaker Ali» died, and his
son, Baker Ali, took his place in the matter of the
management of the endowment, on the allegation
of an appointment from him. Some time after,
Rajab Ali on his part appointed his son, Wasik Al
alias Mogul Jant to act on his behalf. These two

* Shaker All died on the 28th Baisack. 1220 B. S,
to the oth May, 1813.

T Mogul Jan's house stood on the site on which Dr. Buddun
Chandra Chowdhury has crected his picturesque dwelling-place.  From
Mogul Jan's widow, Nurunnissa a//as Nishani Begum, his house was
purchased by Gopi Kristo Gossain, of Serampore, in 1264 B. S., and
from Gopi Kristo it passed into the hands of the Doctor.  The
Doctor’s new residence has proved an apple of discord, and the
matter has become so very serious that even the Lieutenant Governor,
Sir Charles Ellintt, deemed it necessary to advert to it in the speech

corresponding
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persons, the sons of the first Matwalis, did not,
however, agree together, and mismanagement fol-
lowed as a necessary consequence. The Board of
Revenue interfered nncder the pravisions of Regula-
tion XIX of 1810, and on the 16th November, 1813,
Nawab Ali Akbar Khan Bahadur was appointed
Visitor to report abuses, and check the Matwalis in
the management of the trust. The ILocal Agents
at Hooghly were at the same time asked to make a
full and searching inquiry ito the affairs of the
imambara, in concert with  Ali- Akbar Khan. The
result of this enquiry, as embodied in a very able
and elaborate report of the senior l.ncal Agent,
Mr. D. C. Smyth, disclosed a misappropriation of’
trust funds to the exteat of nearly Rs, 15,000,
Pending the enquiry, Rajab Ali had died, leaving
his son, Wasik Alijhis.sole beir. = After considering
the report of Mr. Smyth and the statements of the
Collector of Jessore, the Board was convinced that
the Matwalis had been guilty of wvarious acts of
abuse and misfeasance; and, accordingly, on the
12th September 1817, it held that Baker Al was
unfit to hold the officc of Matwali, and as regards
Rajab Ali’s heir, Wasik Ali, it held that he was also
unfit to succeed to the vacant Matwaliship, as his
participation in abuses was apparent, and, besides,
the office was not hereditary. The Government, in

which he delivered on the occasion of the opening of (he local Town
Hall. )



HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT. 273

confirming these orders, on the r3th September, 1818,
constituted itself one of the Matwalis, and another
Matwali was appointed to administer the religious.
functions in the person of Nabob Ali Akbar Khan,
The management of the Syedpur estate was entrost-
ed to the Collector of Jessore, under whose super-
vision the finances of the institution improved
considerably.+

Of the two dismissed Matwalis, Baker Ali went
mad ; and Wasik Ali, having- failed to secure his
restoration by amicable means, instituted a civil suit
in the Court of the District Judge to recover the
office of co-curator of the endowment, with the
emoluments annexed, in 1826, His case was this : —
“Iu Baisak 1220 (April 1813), my father, Rajab Ali,
acting on the power given him in the deed, appointed:
me Matwalt in bis place. [ anc Baker Ali (who had
been similarly appointed by his father) thus became
joint Matwalis ; notwithstanding this, the Board has.
displaced us from our offices and appointed Akbar
Ali Khan in our place. The deed of trust executed
by the Haji is not merely a deed of endowment,
but includes also a testament. My removal con-
travened the general law, and, in particular, section
2, Regulation V of 1799, whereby an executor

* In the interval, from the end of 1816, the estates had been under
the charge of the Collector, and the other affairs of the trust under
the direction of Al Akbhar as Visitor.

t The Syedpur Trust Estate was managed by Government till 1823,
when it was let in putni,

R
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is only removable on breach of trust judicially
proved. Baker Ali has become insane, therefore I
alone sue for my own right, | estimate the cause of
action in the sum of 7,199 Sicca Rupees, being one-
ninth of the net income of the estates.”

The defence of Government was this :-——Rajab Ali
and Baker Ali, the last Matwalis, had on enquiry
been found guilty of abuses. Under the provisions
of Regulation XIX of 1810, the Board had assumed
the control of the trust, and displaced them, and
with the sanction'of ‘Government, Akbar Ali Khan
had been appointed sole Matwali.

On the 12th September, 1826, the case came on
for hearing before Mr, D. C. Smyth, the District
Judge * He was of opinion that the plaintiff had
failed to show that be had been legally appoinbted to,
and held, the office from' which he alleged his
removal. e had not been displaced,—but the former
Matwalis had been guilty of abuses, in which plain-
tiff too had participated, and hence he had been
passed over, in the selection of a successor. Then,
referring to the Sudder Dewani case of Mahomed
-Sadik wersus the sons of Mahabbat Ali, he ohserved
that the principles of Mahommedan law laid down
therein showed that the Ruling Power might remove

* Mr. Smyth was afterwards promoted to the Sudder Dewani
Adalat, having been appointed an officiating Judge thercof on the
23rd June, 1834. He afierwards reverted to his permanent post in
Hooghly, remaining in it till 1836,
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a misfeasing trustee of an endowment, and appoint
a fit person, where no competent heir of the endower
existed. The Board had done this under section 3,
Regulation XIX of 1810, and the claim of the
plaintiff was untenable. The learned Judge consi-
-dered section 2, Regulation V' of 1799, relied upon
by the plaintiff, as quite irrelevant. The essence of
a testament was irrevocability: now, the endower
could not, had he wished it,'have recalled the Appro-
priation made in 1213, and since plaintiff could not,
by inheritance, claim the income assigned to an
office, Mr. Smyth dismissed his suit.

Wasik Ali, not satisfied with the decision of the
District Judge, preferred an appeal to the Sudder
‘Dewani Adalat ; but there, too, ill success followed
him, and his appeal was thrown out on the 29th
November, 1834, the final judgment being passed by
Mr, C, W. Smith.* The case was afterwards carried
up to the Judicial Committee in England, but their
Lordships of the Privy Council did not see any
greund for interfering with the concurrent decisions
of the Indian Courts, and thus all hopes of Wasik
Ali were put an end to.

During this long litigation, which lasted nearly ten
years, a large surplus had been accumulating until

* Vide the cise of Wasik Ali Ahan vs. Government.—6 Sclect
TReports, pp. 427-37.
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it swelled to Rs. 8,61, 100 in 1835.* This surplus
was devoted to the establishment of the Hooghly
College and to the construction of the present
fmambara buildings and the masonry revetment.

Ali Akbar Khan had enjoyed his office for a pretty
considerable time. At last, when it was found that
he, too, like his predecessors, had misappropriated
the trust funds, he was made to share their fate.
The Government dismissed him in 1836, when the
Local Agents took temporary charge of the institu-
tion. On the 3rd Jawuary, 1837, the Government
appointed to the vacant post Moulvi Syed Keramat
Ali Sahib of Jaunpur, the companion of Lieutenant
Conolly’s travels, on a fixed salary of Rs. 500 a
month, together with any surplus which the one-
ninth share might yield over and above that amount,
He joined the appoinment on the 18th April, 1837,
Moulvi Zainuddin Hosein Khan having acted as the
sth Matwali until his arrival. Syed Keramat Al
was a great favourite with Government, and this
prize appointment was given him in reward for his
former important services. He was a very able and

learned man,* and it is, therefore, no wonder that

“ In this year the Governor-General, Sir Charles (afterwards Lord).
Metcalfe, wrote his well-known minute on the Mohsin endowment,

+ Syed Keramat Ali was not a were literary scholar, he was also
well up in mathematics and the sciences.  He had attempted to solve
the mathematical riddle of lLisecting an acute angle geometrically,
and, be it said to his credit, nearly succeeded in doing so. In his.
old age he was engaged in compiling a philological lexicon, but did.
not live to complete it.
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independence formed a prominent feature in his
character, So far from tamely obeying the orders
of the Local Agents, he often set their authority at
defiance, and acted according to his own sense of
duty. At length, matters came to a crisis, and he
received a severe rebuke from Government, which
brought about a thorough change in the manner of
his dealings with the constituted Authorities, -

The handsome buldings and river revetment,
which now form the chief attractions of the town
form an architectural point of view, were constructed
under his supervision. - There was considerable dis-
cussion as to the agency by which these buildings
should be erected, and the matter was allowed to
remain in abeyance until 1841, when the Deputy
Governor of Bengal, after an inspection of the Imam_
bara, decided that the work should be entrusted solely
to the Matwali, the engineering officers of Govern-
ment confining themselves tothe general duty of see-
ing that the money spent was properly applied. The
work was begun in August 1845, and was not finished
uotil May 1848* The original estimate of costs of

* Baboo Bholanath Chandra first visited Hooghly on the 1uth
February, 1845. He, in his well-known ‘ Travels of a Hindoo,”
has described the local Imambara, but his description could not be
contemporaneous with his first visit, as the present building which
orms its subject, had barely been commenced at that time. In fact,
the description refers to a period long subsequent to the year of his
first visit. e says :—%“One of the noblest buildings in Bengal is
the Zmambara of Tlooghly. The courtyard is spacious and grand.
The trough in the middle is a little-sized tank. The two-storied
bui ldings, all around, are neat and elegant. The great hall hasa



278 HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT.

the buildings was Rs. 2,85,000, but the actual cost did
not exceed Rs. 2,17,418. The revetment appears to
have cost in round numbers Rs. 60,000. The tower-
elock, which is of so great use to the public at large,
was procured from England, at a cost of Rs, 11,721,
The Matwali was thanked by Government for his
very careful supervision.

Syed Keramat Ali was the recognised head of the
Mahomedan community. . Indeed, his influence with
the Mahomedans of “this part. of Bengal was as
great as that of Raja Radha Kanta among the Hin-
doos of Calcutta. In the case which he brought
against Doyal Chand Mullick in respect of a garden
which one Mahomed Daem had made Wuqgf in 1844,
but which his son, Golam Sarwar, subsequently sold
to the said defendant, Mr. Justice Glover described
him as “the leading Mahomedan of Hooghly, and a
man of considerable influence and importance for
many miles round,”* ' He was instrumental in bring-
ing about the amalgamation of the Bara Imambara
with the Mohsin Imambara, in the year 1864. The
subsequent years of his life were not marked by any

royal magnificence. But it is profusely adorned in the Mahomedan
taste with chandeliers, and lanterns, and wall-shades of all the colours
of the rainbow. The surface of the walls is painted in blue and red
inscriptions from the Koran. Nothing can be more gorgeous than
the doors of the gateway. They are richly gilded all over, and upon
them is inscribed, in golden letters, the date and history of the
Musjeed-"—Vol. 1, pp. 13-14.

* TIn that snit the great Matwali succeeded in all the three Courts,
the judgment of the highest Court in the land being dated the 3oth
June, 1871.—16 Weekly Reporter, p. 116,
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public act. They were, for the most part, employed
in learned labours in the study. He died on the oth
Angust, 1873, at a good old age. He had been consult-
ed by Government as to the person whom he wished
to succeed him it the office, and he nominated the
present incumbent, Moulvi Syed Asruf-uddin Ahmed.
This gentlemen is the eldest son of the late Nabob
Amir Ali, who so much distinguished himself in
several spheres of life. He is a quiet man, and has
been discharging his duties/in a manner which quite
becomes the head of a religious institution.x

The Imambara Hospital was established in 1836.
It was brought into ‘existence by Dr. Wise, the first
Civil Surgeon of Hooghly, the wherewithal being
supplied out of the Mohsin funds., The good doctor,
who, like his celebrated relative of Dacca, Dr. James
Wise, was a man of varied acquirements, watched its
progress with parental care, and it flourished under .
his charge. He left the district in 1839, and was suc--
ceeded by Dr. James Esdaile, who, too, took consider-
able interest in it. In 1847, Baboo Buddun Chandra
Chowdhry was placed in charge of the hospital on a

* Two importan: cvents have happened during his incumbency,
viz. the appointment of the Committee for’ the Imambara in 1876,
and the repairs of the Imambara buildings by Governmen’ in 1883..
He has lately been elevated to the rank of Khan Bahadoor, an honoux
to which he is fully entitled, as well by his personal merit as by the
respectability of his family. Only the other day he was offered a.
high post in Egypt by Lord Cromer, but he declined to accept it,.
preferring the clear atmosphere of the cloister to the hazy gloom of
the cabinet.
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salary of Rs. 160 a month; and from that time the
allowance of this sum, hitherto drawn by the Civil
Surgeon, was discontinued, Dr. Buddun’s appoint-
‘ment was not at all liked by the Mahomedan commu-
nity, and they, accordingly, got up a petition, charging
him with haughtiness of spirit and neglect of duty-
They also stated that they considered his salary to be
a “mis-appropriation of the Imambara funds.” Only
-one solitary Hindoo signed the petition. The l.ocal
Agents were fully satisfied with the Baboo’s explana-
tion, and there the matter came to an end.s The
localé of the Hospital has not been the same from the
beginning. Its present “local habitation ” is at Chin-
sura, to which it was removed in August, 1862, The
nuamber of patients who have received treatment in it
have never been less than seven thousand, nor more
than ten thousand. The patients receive medical
advice and medicines grazis., The establishment also
contains sufficient accommadation for a goodly num-
ber of zndoor patients, and, as a matter of fact, it is
never without some such patients. This Hospital
being the only public dispensary that exists in the
whole Municipality, it behoves every one who has any
hand in its management to see that it does really

* Baboo Buddun Chandra is still alive. He is perhaps “‘ the oldest
inhabitant” living in the town. He is an adept in the healing art,
and his fame as a medical practitioner is very great. He is still with
his armour on, and benefits the country by his sound advice and skil-
ful doctoring.
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good service to the poor and the miserable who resort
to it,

Thus, the princely charity of Mahomed Mohsin
has bad a very wide range : it has contributed not only
to the glorification of God, but also to the mental
-and physical welfare of God’s noblest creatures. The
good and great Hajiis one of those few glorious
mortals who are sacredly sepulchred in the hearts of
the many, and being so sepulchred,

i in_such pomp do lie,
That kings for such a tomb would wish to die,”



CHAPTER XIII.

Hoocury DURING THE TIME OF THE
(QQUEEN’S RULE.

THE storm of the Mutiny was followed by a calm,
but "not a calm of that kind which is more appalling
than the tempest.” No retributive measures were
adopted to avenge the shocking cruelties which had
been perpetrated by the rebels. The divine spirit of
forgiveness prevailed, and peace was proclaimed
throughout India on the 8th July, 1859. This peace,.
heralded as it was by trophies of war, had also
trophies of its own to boast of, Several important
reforms were effected in the matter of the general
administration of the country. The hitherto unsettled.
relation of landlord and tenant was placed on a
permanent basis, The procedure for the trial of
Civil Suits was improved and arranged in logical
order, People, with old claims, were roused from
their lethargy,* and, ‘as’ ‘a- consequence, the Courts.
were flooded with suits, so that even the humblest
member of the legal profession was agreeably sur-
prised at the sudden increase in his income. An old

* The Mahomedan statute-book does not contain any law for the
limitation of actions. According to it, lapse of time, however long,
does not bar any claim which is otherwise good.
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friend of ours,» who had deservedly led the local
bar for a considerable period, told us, that, although it
was only the beginning of his forensic carcer, he
made a mint of money during that millennium for
Bengal lawyers, and laid the foundation of his
future fortune. In the midst of this unprecedented
activity, the Collector had his burden of business
considerably increased. Hitherto the offices of
Magistrate and Collector had been held by two
different persons; -but this being found neither
necessary nor canvenient, the two offices were com-
bined. The order sanctioning the union was passed
in 1859, but it was not carried into effect till the
year following, when Mr. Charles Scott Belli,+ the
son of Mr. W. H. Belli, was appointed to the dual
office.  The Bellis are not likely to be forgotten in
the District, the one heading its Collectors, the other
its Magistrate-Collectors.  This time, Mr. Belli was.
in charge of the District only for a year and odd
months, but he did not leave it for good, as he
again came to rule it in the same capacity a few
years later. The people loved him, especially for
the sake of his father, and he, on his part, took good

* Alas ! that friend is now no longer amongst us: he has.
travelled into an unknown region, ** from whose bourne no ‘waveller
returneth,”

+ This gentleman rose to be a District-Judge, in which capacity he
distinguished himself in Rajshye, and carned well-deserved popularity.
While he was in Iooghly, he was commonly known as ““Chota
Belli.” Mr. C. S. Belli was also Magistrate of llooghly from 1854
to 1857,
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-care not to abuse their love, Indeed, if the son was
not equally popular with the sire, he was only second
to him in that respect.

While Mr. C. S. Belli was in charge of the District,
-a great change came over the criminal administra-
tion of the country. This was the passing of the
famous Act XLV# which is better known as the
Indian Penal Code. It had been drafted by the
celebrated Thomas Babington Macaulay so far back
as 1837,7 but it did not receive the assent of the
‘Governor-General till the 6th October, 1860. Hither-
to, the Mahomedan law, bristling as it did with

* This Act, although it was passed in 1860, did not take effect
-until the 1st May, 1861.

1 The Bill, on its first promulgalion, met with bitter opposition
from the Press. A writer in the Hus/kare thus begins a letter, bear-
ing date the 19th January 1838 :—“The Code of Penal Law just
promulgated, is so replete with absurdity, that one would suppose it
to be rather a burlesque on legislation than a reality.” Then, point-
ing out some supposed absurdities, he concludes his tirade with a
“inal fling at ““lucky Tom’s” departure from India. As the conclusion
is quite of a piece with the commencement, we will quote it also for
the delectation of our readers. ““Truly,” says this Thersites, °* Mr.
Macanlay does wisely to run away from his Code ; a more childish
piece of insanity was never put together. Ie had *done his job),’
and the Macaulay job is the most flagrant. A code of law! a
Jegislator !

Little Bo-Peep
Has lost her sheep,
And cannot tell where io find him,
Let him alone,
He'll soon go home
: And leave his Code behind him.”

But, condemmned and laughed at as it was in the beginning,
Macaulay’s code has proved to be an excellent piece of legislation.
e, however, did not live to see it permanently placed on the Indian
Statute-Book, as he was cut off, in the midst of his brilliant career,
‘in 1859, a year which deprived English literature and Indian history
of two other most worthy workers in Washington Irving and Mount-
stuart Elphinstone.
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barbarous punishments, had been in force, The
new Code did not come upon the public as a very
agreeable surprise, but even its bitterest opponent
could not deny that it was leniency itself comnpared
with the cruel law which it superseded. Severe as
some of its provisions were, it was principally a
preventive measure, as criminal codes generally are,.
the object of the Legislature being that, except in
extreme cases, which crop up only rarely, the
maximum punishments. provided for by it should
not be inflicted. It was intended to be viewed rather
in the light of a Damocles’ sword than that of a
Procrustes’ bed: it is something like a scarecrow:
set up more o preventia breach of the law than.
to punish it to its -fullest extent. President
Washington used to say, ‘that to be always ready
for war is the best way of preventing it) The
object which the wise code-makers had in view was.
something of the same sort.

But although the code was passed in 1860,* it
took some time for the general public to learn that
such a terrible weapon had been introduced into the
legal arsenal. The Mofussil people being for the
most part igrorant, and law being quite foreign to
their ordinary pursuits, it is no wonder that it was

* This memorable year also witnessed the well-known Indigo crisis,
in which the founder and first editor of the Hindoo Zlatriv so much
distinguished himself by his able advocacy of the cause of the weak
ryols as against the powerful Planters.
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long before its stringent provisions came to the notice
of the villagers*; the criminal list of the district
for the yeart was a heavy one and contained offences
of divers descriptions. But there was one case
which was unique iu its character.- It was a charge
of culpable homicide brought by a native named
Hoshein Buksh against one Mr, T. Morrel. The
accused was committed by the Joint Magistrate, Mr.
R. V. Cockerell,} and was tried by the then Sessions
Judge, Mr. C. P, Hobhonse.w The charge was
brought home to the prisoner by good legal evidence,
but the Judge did not think it necessary to inflict a
severer punishment than a fine of Rs, 500

* Surely, it would be sheer cruelty to apply the well-known legal
maxim about the non-excusableness ot th: ignorance of law to the
common people of this country.

1 To add to the sufterings of the people of Lower Bengal, the much
dreaded Burdwan Fever, asit was called, appeared with all its horrors
this year. Tt visited Chakdaha, whence it extendhd along the east
bank of the river, in a southerly: direction down to Kanchrapara,
alishahar, Naibati, and other places. = Then suddenly appearing ar
Tribeni on this side of the river, it spread like wild fire along the west
bank to Kalna in the Burdwan District.  In 1861, it broke out with
redoubled fury: Dwarbashini was nearly depopulated : Santipur and
Ulla suifered most severely ; Halishaharas well as Kancharpara Jost
most of its inhabitants. In 1862, the same harrowing scene was
repeated. But in the following year, there was a slight abatemient in
its virulence. The Ipidemic l'ever Commission was appointed, and
by the 31¢t March, 1364, they were ready with theic Report, in which
they ascribed the fever to sub-soil humidity caused by obstracted
drainage, The drainage theory originated with Dr. Dempster in 1845,
but it was the late Raja Degumber Mitter who discovered thay
impeded drainage, generating dampness, was causcd, not by siited-up
Ahals and rivers, as had been hitherto supposed, but by the Railways
and their feeders.

+ This gentleman was the younger brother of Mr, ¥. R Cockerzl,
who was Magistrate of Hooghly in the Mutiny year.
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Reforms in criminal law were followed up by
reforms in other directions. An Act of Parliament
was passed in 1861,* establishing High Courts of
Judicature in India, In pursuance of this Act,
Letters Patent were issued on the 14th May, 1862+
constituting the High Court of Judicature for the
Bengal Division of the Presidency of Fort William
in supersession of the old Supreme and Sudder
‘Courts.  The new Court- consisted of a Chief
Justice and fourteen'- Puisne  Judges, the first Chief
Justice being Sir Barnes Peacock Simultaneously
with the passing of the High Courts’ Act was passed
the India Councils’ Act, which brought about a
great change in the Legislative power. Previous to
1834, when the Legislative Council of India first
came into existence, each Presidency Government
had power for itself to enact what are called Regula-
Zions ; but in that year this Legislative power ceased,

=

and until the coming into operation of the [ndia

* In 1861 our late beloved Queen lost the Prince Consort, and
the legal profession, Lord Campbe]l

+ In 1862 Ylenry Thomas Buckle, whose History of Civilization
is so well known, departed this world.

+ Sir Barnes was Law Member of the Supreme Council before he
became Chief Justice. In both capacities, he highly distinguished
himself ; but it seems that his reputation as a Judge has ecllpvcd his
reputatlon as a legislator. After his relirement from Indian Serviee,
he became a member of the Judicial Committee. 1Iis son, Mr T. E.
Peaeock, was Chief Secretary to the Government of Bengal. He has
since retired on pension, Mr. F. B, Peacock’s son, Mr. I'. Peacock,
is a rising member of the Calcutta bar. lle is now officiating as
Receiver of the Court.
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Councils’ Act, which received the royal assent on the
Ist August, 1861, the Legislative Councii of India
was the sole body. Since that Act came into force,
the governments of Bengal, Bombay, and Madras
have each had power, subject to certain restrictions,
to pass Acfs. While these reforms were being
introduced into the two highest departments in the
land, the subject of criminal administration was not
lost sight of. The Indian Penal Code had been passed
in the previous year, but as such substantive law
requires for its full operation the aid of adjective law,
the Criminal Procedure Code (ActXXV)x was
passed in the year under notice. Both these Codes are
excellent in their own way, and it is not at all to be
wondered at that they still substantially retain their
place on the Indian Statute-Book. A Police Actt
was also passed, whereby the District Superintendent
of Police was invested with anthority over village
watchmen, subject to the general control of the
Magistrate. But though these measures were initiated
with a view to the repression of crime, still they
did not appear to exercise a wholesome influence
over the Hooghly District. True, no dacoity or
murder was brought to light; but offences of a
deeper dye, so far as the morals of the people are

* The draft was ready by JTanuary, 1857, and the Bill was introduced
by the Hon'ble Mr. Peacock, then at the head of the L’IW Com-~
xmssmn But it did not become law until 1861,

T Act V of 1861.
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concerned, were committed. In proof of this, we
would mention two important trials which were held
in the Sessions Court, and ended in the conviction
of the parties accuced. The one was the case of
Babu Jovkissen Mookerjee of Uttarpara, and the
other that of Ramji Ghose of Hooghly. The Babu,
who had a chsquered career, was charged with
having been privy to the forging of certain leases
relating to the Mukla talook, the Debutter property
of the Dhurs of Chinsura:  His brother, Babu Raj-
kissen Mockerjee; who, from a devoted friend had
become his deadly “enemy, being interested in the
same estate, took up the cndgel against him and
fought with might and main. The preliminary
enquiry was held by Mr. G, P Grant,* Joint Magis-
trate of Serampore, who, being. of opinion that a
prima facze case had been made out, committed the
accused to take his trial ih the Sessions Court.  The
trial came on before Mr. F. E. 8, Lillie, who, accord-
ing to the practice then in vogue, was assisted by a
Mahomedan officer of law, The prosecution was
conducted by Messrs, R. V. Doyne and 1., Clarke,*
while the prisoner was defended by Messrs. A, T, T

* This gentlewan is the son of the then Licutenant-Governor, Sir
John Peter Grant. Mr. Grant distinguished himself in the honour-
abile service to which he belonged. Lle became Judge of Hoeoghly,
and, while serving in that capacity, officiated for some tme as a Judge
of the High Court.  He has since retired on pension.

+ Mr. Clarke stood nalli secundus, and had a very extensive
practice.  His bland and persuasive address reminded one of the
great Roman orater, Cicero.
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Peterson and W. Newmarch.] The trial lasted for
some time. Very strenuous efforts were made by
the counsel for the defence to get the Babu off, and
it seems that their great forensic powers, more
-especially those of Mr. Peterson, had produced con-
siderable effect on the mind of the Judge. The
latter held that there was no sufficient evidence to
bring home the charge to the accused, and that he
would not at all be justifiediin convicting him. But
the native Kazi or rather Mufti: was of a different
opinion, and thought that the offence had been
satisfactorily established against the prisoner, As
the law then stood, incase of difference of opinion
between the Judge and the Kazi, a reference was
necessary. Accordingly, al reference was made to
the Calcutta Court, which, nnfortunately for the
accused, upheld the views of the latter and the result
was that he was convicted and sentenced to rigorous
imprisionment for five years and a fine of ten
thousand rupees. He lost no time in sending his
counsel, Mr. Newmarch, to England, where an applica-
tion was made to the Privy Council for leave to appeal
from the sentence of the Court in India. This appli-
cation was heard on the 16th July, 1862, by four
Judges, of whom two, Sir Lawrence Peel and Sir
James William Colvile, had long been Chief Justices

* To good legal lore Mr. Newmarch added high mathematical
acquirements.
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of the Supreme Court, There were two questions
for the decision of their Lordships :—/rsz, whether
there was a prerogative right of appeal to the Privy
Council in matters of Criminal Jurisdiction; and,
secondly, whether the case in question was one in
which the authcerity of the Crown counld properly
be interposed in the interests of justice.

Asregards the first question, the Judicial Committee
held that the Crown had such a power. But the
second question their | Lordships answered in the
negative. They, however, gave it as their opinion,
that justice had not been very well administered, and
that if it had been a civil case, they would certainly
have recommended Her Majesty to admit the appeal.
But the case before them, they continued to observe,
was a criminal one, and was subject to very diffzrent
considerations. Then, showing how, if the appeal
were admitted, ““ not only would the course of justice
be maimed, but in very many instances it would
be entirely prostrated,” they rejected the application.
But as their Lordships believed that justice had not
been done, they suggested that an application might
‘be made to the Sovereign in Parliament, who, they
had no doubt, would examine into the peculiar
«circumstances of the case and do that which justice
might requires Accordingly, an application was
made ad misericordiam, and vwas attended with its

*1 W, R. riv. €. Rulings, pp. 13, 14.
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expected result.  Considering all the circumstances
of the case and keeping in view the many good anc
charitable acts which the Babu had done for the
public good, and which on this occasion pleaded for
him with that silent eloquence which is some-
times more effective than the thunders of a Demos-
thenes or the persuasions of a Cicero, Ier Majesty
in the exercise of her Royal mercy, pronounced
the defendant’s release from prison.

Mr. C. S. Belli;~as [ have already stated, was
in the District for alittle more than a year. After
he left it, his place was taken by My, Archdale
Villiers Palmer.s  Notwithstauding his eccentricity,
Mr. Palmer was an able officer, and he signalized
his rule by some important acts, of which the most
important was his bringing te justice Ramji Ghosc
aforesaid. This notorious rogue was in the habit of
forging deeds and documents, and his skill in this
black art was such thatin many instances his forgeries.
had escaped the vigilant eyes of very able and care-
ful judicial officers. As zemindars who profited by
his malpractices used to countenance him, he thought
himself out of the reach of danger. But, at length,
his fancied security proved his greatest enemy, ana
he was ruined for life. Oune Ram Chandra Mookerjee,
having got scent of his evil doings, after he had

* This officer rose to be a District Jadge, in which capacity h.
distinguished himself in Shahabad in South Behar. He held the
tlooshly Magistracy and Collectorate fronn 1862 tn 1360,
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made sure of his ground, informed Mr. Palmer of
the matter. That wary Magistrate took it up in
right gnod earrest, and, availing himself of a favour-
able opportunity, of which he was duly informed by
Ram Chandra, came upon the forger unawares, and
caught him red-handed, as it were, with all the
appliances of his foul practice. .\ formal enquiry
was held in accordance with the provisions of law,
and the accused, with some others, was committed
to the Sessions oo the 31st October, 1361, Baboo
Ramkrishna Tarkdlankie® the then Peshkar of the
friminal  Cowt, conducted the prosecution, while
the principal accused, Ramiji Ghose, whose cause
was espoused by the zemindars who had benefited by
his misdeeds, was defended by some able pleaders,
The case created an immense sensation, and the
court-house was full to over-flowing while the trial
lasted.  Every endeavour was made by his pleaders
10 get Ramji off, but the charge was so clearly proved
that the Judge felt no hesitation in convicting him
and an order was passed on the 3ist January, 1862+

This gentleman distinguished him-etf as Sherishtadar of  the
IHooghly Collectorate. He retired on pe1sion in the time of Mi. Cooke,
The titde of Koy Bakaduwi was aflerwards conferred upon him in
recognition of his meritorious services, and, as a further mz‘uk‘uf
special favour, the office of Sub-Registrar was given him, in \yhlch
capacity he served in Serampore for sume years until death relieved
him of all earthly labours.

t In this vear, Lornd Elgin succeeded Lord Canning in the Vice-
rovalty, bat died at o ITimalayan station in the year following, a year
Which saw My, W, M. Thackeray close his very amusing and interest-
ing labours on this s de the grave.
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whereby he was sentenced to transportation for a
period of seven years,

Mr. Palmer left the District in 1866« and was
succeeded by Mr. R. \". Cockerell+, who held charge
of it for a considerable period, not bidding it final
farewell until 1870, A few months after he joined
office, a terrible cyclone swept over the land, spread-
ing ruin and desolation in its way. The wrath of
Aolus  was followed by the wrath of Indra.
The clouds forget to rain, .and mother Karth
was scorched up.  IFell Faminel made its appear-
ance carly in the next year, and there was wail and
woe all round, The “meagre Iiiend” stalked over the
length and breadth of Bengal, but her malignant
influence was most severely felt in the districts of
Burdwan and Midnapore. When it was fouud that
people were dying of sheer starvation, relief centres
were opened on the part of Government, and a few

rich folks also came forward to invest some portion

* In the conmuencement of 1864 Sir John (afterwards Lord)

Lawrence took charge of the Viceroyalty : and towards its close, the
great Rent Case was heard by the full complement of the High
Court Tudges under the presidency of Sir Barnes Peacock, in which
Dwarka Nath Mitzer so ably succeeded in defending the cause of the
ryots, and thus paved his way to a seat in the same high tribunal.
The Whipping Act (Act VI) was also passed in 1804

+ This gentleman rose to be a District Judge. Ie officiated for
some time as Additional Judge of Chittagong in 1867.  Dr. Crawford
states that Mr. Palmer was succeeded in Hooghly by Mr. David
James MeNeile and the latter by Mr, George Stewart Park,  (See
Medical Gazetteer, Chap. XIV).  But he does not appear to be corvect.

* In Caleutta the price of /Aa/am rice rose from Rs. 3-1in October,
1863 to Re. 3-12 in November, 1866, [looghly and Howrah were
considered distressed districts in the latter year.
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of their surplus money in works which make the
ascent to heaven much easier.  We know for certain
that in this town not a few middle-class people,.
whose peculiar social pesition did not permit them
to partake of charity, somehow managed to keep
body and soul together on only one poor meal a day.
In the matter of providing relief for the many the
Magistrate did his utmost, and he is deservedly held
in love and esteem for his good work at this trying

time.

But while this life-and-deatlc struggle was go-
ing on, Mr. Cockerell did not forget to look after
the improvement of the town, into which the Muni-
cipal Act (11T of 1864, had now been introduced.
As its first Chairman under the new Act, he tried
to supply its wants. The firsi thing he put his
hand to was the making of a road, ranning from
the Hooghly Railway Station to the side of the
river at Baboogbuge. "This road was commenced
in 1863, as appears from his rzport to the Divi-
sional Commissioner,e dated the 2nd June, 1366
But, though it was proceeded with without inter-
mission, it was not finished before 1368, The road
cost, in round numbers, eighteen thousand rupees.
In connection with this improvement, it may be

mentioned that some portions of private lands

* Mr. Charles Irancis Montresor, who was Commissioner of th:
Burdwan Division from Juune 1803 to August 18600, and again fron:
December 1866 to January 1868,
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which fell in the road were given free »f charge by
the benevolent gentlemens of Hooghly and Chin-
sura who were the owners thereof, As this road,
which forms, as it were, the girdle of the town,
owes its existence to Mr. Cockerell, it ‘ustly bears
his name.

While Mr. Cockerell was thus ingratiating him-
self into the favour of the people by his good acts.
Mr. Arthur Pigou was discharging the duties of
head of the Civil Department. e joined his office
early in 1864, and soon made his mark as a good
judge.

During his incumbency, Mr. Pigout had to try
severel dacoity cases, of which we shall notice only
one, to wit, the Kurtapook dacoity. This dacoity
was committed on the nicht of the gth November,
1366, Karly the unext morning, six of the dacoits
were caught at the neighbouring village of Chandi-
pur.  Jogeswar Baodiand several  others were
committed to the Sessions, and were tried by Mo,
Pigou. The Judge, concurring with the Yury, con-
victed all the prisoners. On appeal to the High
Court, the sentences were upheld except as to
Sadoy Mitia, whose seutence was amended. The
final order passed by the Court of Appeal is dated

* Amonz these benefactors of the public the name of Raja
Purnendu Deb Roy Mahasoy of Bansheria is worthy of special
notice, who made a free grant’ of a large quantity f and and for
‘which be was warmly thanked by the Commissioner,

¥ Mr. Pigou was Judge of Hooghly from 1862 1 1803, and, again,
from 1864 to 1867,
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the 28th May, 1867.« Perhaps, this was the last
«criminal trial held by Mr. Pigou, and hence its
painful significance,

Mr. Pigou died, somewhat suddenly, on the 17th
April; 1867, and was buried in the crowded ceme-
tery at Dharampur in Chinsura, which contains
the bones of many a Furopean, including some
Dutch Governors of the place. He was succeeded
by Mr. George Bright, who came by traunsfer from
ast Burdwan. The new Judge, like his lamented
predecessor, was an able officer, and he soon gained
a good name in the district by his just and equitable
-decisions, Several important trials were held by him
in his capacity of Sessions judge, one and all of
which created considerable sensation at the time.

Towards the close of the year 1868+ a Maho-
medan of Paharpur preferred a complaint against
Bahirdas Sircar and Dharmadas Sircar, two power-
ful zemindars of Peashara, charging them with
having, by their labourers and laz/ials, forcibiy cut
and carried off his paddy and beaten him and his
people, they themselves being present on the spot
and giving orders. Mr. W. H. Ryland, the Sub-
Divisional officer of Serampore, within whose juris-
diction the offence was said to have been committed,
held the preliminary enquiry, and, being convinced
that the case was a true one, committed the accused

*7W. R, Cr. Rulings, p. 100,
1 Lord Brougham, the great Jawyer and writer, died in 1868.
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to the Sessions. Mr. Bright held the trial. The
Government pleader, Baboo Eshan Chandra Mitter,
conducted the prosecution, while Mr. Peterson, the
then leader of the Calcutta bar, defended the pri-
soners, Mr, Peterson had the reputation of being
a first-class cross-examining counsel, and so he
certainly was. Indeed, he was a terror to the
witnesses. The witnesses for the prosecution could
not stand the brisk fire of his cross-examination,
and the result was that the evidence lamentably
broke dowu. The ‘jury, headed by Baboo Gopt
Krishna Gossain of Serampore, returned a verdict
of *not guilty” and the Judge, concurring with.
them, acquitted the prisoners. This order, which,
however, was not received by  the public with un-
mixed satisfaction, was passed in February, 1860,

The case against Baboo Purna Chandra Banerjees
was even more important thau the Peashara affair.
The Baboo was a well-known zemindar of Ahla,
a village within the limits of the Dhaniakhali Thana.
The offence with which he was charged was of a
very serious character, the complaint being that he
had killed a poor man of the weaver class with a
double-barrelled pistol. The defence set up was,
that the fatal shot which was intended to kill a
rabid dog, missing its aim, hit the deceased by the

* This gentleman had long been a wmember of the Subordinate
Execulive Service, but, for some gross misconduct, afterwards lost
his appointment.
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purest of accidents. The Government pleader,
Baboo Eshan Chandra Mitter, as usual, conducted
the prosecution, while Mr. J. W. B. Moneyx*
Barrister-at-law, defended the prisoner. After the
evidence had been gone into, it was found that the
charge of murder or culpable homicide was not
sustainable. However, the prisoner could not be
allowed to go scot-free, seeing that he confessed to
having caused the death of a human being, though
by pure accident. Accordingly, he was found
guilty under Section 338 of the Indian Penal Code
and was punished with the maximum fine of one
thousand rupees provided by law.

Two things are necessary for the good administra-
tion of a District :—firsz, that its two chief officers.
should be able and honest men; and, secondly, that
they should not be antagonistic to each other. At
the time of which we are speaking, Hooghly was
very fortunate in this respect. Both Mr. Cockerell
and Mr, Bright were able and honest officers, and
they were also on the best of terms. But, in the
discharge of their rcspective duties, their intimacy,
warm as it was, was never allowed to influence their
conduct. Cases happened, though their number
was not large, in which the Judge, having found
fault with the orders of the Magistrate, did not fail:

* Mr. Money’s work on Jere in which he made some strong
strictures upon the legal practitioners rendered him very unpopular.
He was an able counsel and had considerable practice.
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to invoke the aid of the High Court for their
reversal or modification as the case in his opinion
required. In this connection we may mention two
typical cases, viz,, Shanta Teorni versus Mrs. Belilios,
-and Mr. Larrymore 7ersxzs Baboo Purnendra Deva
Roy.

In the first case, the woman Shanta brought a
charge of theft against Mrs. Belilios. The District
Magistrate made over the matter for disposal to the
Deputy Magistrate, My Godfrey, who, deeming a
Police enquiry necessary, requested the Magistrate
toorder it, The Magistrate, in compliance with the
request, directed the Superintendent of Police to
make the necessary euquiry. The latter reported
that the charge was utterly false, and he also re-
commended that = the complainant should be
summoned for preferring a false charge. The Magis-
trate, in his order upon the Police Superintendent’s
report, passed no decision on the original complaint ;
he merely stated that he could not encourage the
bringing of charges of “false complaint,” but that
the injured person might appear and swear on in-
formation, if she chose, under section 200. A day
or two after this, the complainant again made a
petition, praying that her witnesses might be
summoned, who were to prove the charge of theft.
She also objected to the Police proceedings as being
irregular, and asked that the Police report, together
with the other papers in the case, might be sent back
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to the Deputy Magistrate by whom the case was.
first entertained. But the Magistrate rejected her
prayer, sayiug that her case had been dismissed as.
false. The Sessions Judge, on being moved in the
matter, made a reference to the High Court, mainly
on the ground that, as the case had been made over
to the Deputy Magistrate, the Magistrate had no.
jurisdiction to do anything more in it so long as the
transfer to the Deputy was in  existence. The-
reference came on for hearing on the 16th September
1869* before Mr. Justice Glover and Mr. Justice
Dwarka Nath Mitter, who, agreeing with the
Sessions Judge, quashed the proceedings of the
Magistrate as bad in law, and ordered that the case
as brougbt by Shanta against Belilios, should be
returned to the Court to which it was originally
made over for final disposal.«

The facts of the other case were as follows: One
evening, about the middle of the year 1870, Mr. A.
W. Larrymore, the Superintendent of Police, was
riding along a narrow road, when Baboo or rather
Raja Purnendra Deva Koy,! the head of the

* Dr. Thompson, in his Report of :he Hooghly District for 1869,
states that there was a hurricane on the 9th June, which was followed
in the mext day by an earthquake, causing oscillation ¢f buildings.
Beyond causing cracks in some old ricketty houses, no substantial,
damage was done by the earthquake, but the fury of this visitation
proved fatal to scme trecs which were blown down.

This year forms an epoch In the commercial world in conse
yuence of the opening of the Suez (wral,

+ 12 W. R, Cr. Rulings, p. 53

+ This excellect gentleman has only lalely died,
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renowned Mohasaya family of Bansberia, was coming
in a carriage from the other side. Mr. Larrymore
called the coachman to stop, but, for some reason
‘or other, the latter did not do so, and the result was
a collision, in which Mr. Larrymore was injured.
The Joint Magistrate, at the instance of the Magis-
trate, tried the case. He held that as the Baboo did
not interfere, he was liable under Section 279 of the
Indian Penal Code, and he, accordingly, inflicted a
fine upon him. The Baboo then applied to the
District Judge, Mr. Bright, aud he thinking that as
Mr. Larrymore did not address himself to the Baboo
inside the coach, and 'as there was no ground for
assuming that, although hearing Mr, Larrymore’s
calls to the coachmau, he, the Baboo, who, by the
bye, was sleepy at the time, tacitly assented to the
coachman disregarding them, referred the matter
to the High Court under Section 434 of the Criminal
Procedure Code, with his'opinion that the convicticn
and sentence were not good inlaw. On the 13th
August, Mr, Justice Kemp and Mr. Justice Bayley
heard the reference, and, after considering the argu-
ments addressed to them by the pleaders on both
sides, held that the coachman, and not the Baboo,
was liable under Section 279, and, accordingly,
quashed tbe conviction and ordered the fine to be
refunded to the Baboo.t

* 12 W. R, Cr. Rulings, p. 53.
1 14 W. R. Cr. Rulings, p. 32.
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Fast friends as Messrs. Cockerell and Bright were
the stern exigencies of Government service brought
-about a separation between them in 1870.% Mr.
Cockerell was transferrad from the Hooghly District,
and his place was occupied by Mr. F. H. Pellew. After
the latter had joined office, the Village Chaukidari
Act (VIII of 1870)t was passed by the Lieutenant
‘Governor in Council, thereby giving large powers
to the District Magistrate., True the chowkidars
were placed under the direct control of the village
punchayet, but the thread of their destiny was in
the hands of the Magistrate.  Mr, Pellew exercised
his powers of superintendence with great care and
discretion, and the result was a cousiderable improve-
ment in the character and efficiency of the village
watchmen. Dacoity, which had again reared its
grissly head, was caonsiderably repressed. The num-
ber of dacoities previous to 1870 averaged forty a
year, but in 1871} it was reduced to ten. Thus the
District became comparatively quiet and peaceable.
But, though it was fortunate in the matter of the
repression of crime, it was very uunfortunate in
another respect. Fever, which had begun to rage

* In this year England lost a worthy son in Charles Dickens and
France in Alexander Dumas. In the midst of this loss, the civilised
world rejoiced to find Rome united with Italy under Victor Immanuel.

t This Act is still in force, being only a little modified by Acts T of
1871 and 1886 of the Bengal Couacil.

+ In this vear, Sir William Grey retired, and was succeeded at
Belvedere by Sir George Campbell, who, like Sir John Peter Grant,
had been a Puisne Judge of the highest tribunal in the fand.
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in 1860, went on increasing, and reached its height
in October, 1871.

While Mr. Bright was Judge, a very important
suit was decided in the Civil Courts. The Deputy
Magistrate of Jehanabad, Baboo Issur Chunder
Mitter, having cut away a bund which had been
erected on the Mandeswari river for doro cultivation
by Baboo Taruck Nath Mockerjee of Jonai, the
latter brought a suit for damages as well as for
declaration of prescriptive tight to erect the dund,
making the said Deputy Magistrate and his two
subordinates, vz, the Ferry Fand Overseer and the
Police Inspector, defendants.  The Government had
not been made a party, but it elected to interfere in
the matter, and was, in accordance with its prayer,
placed on the record. The sunit was brought in the
Court of the Sub-Judge. Mr. Money, of the
Calcutta bar, led the plaintiff’s party, while the
Government pleader, the well-known Baboo Eshan
Chandra Mitter, led the defendant’s party. The
fight was a tough and obstinate one, and continued
for days together. The Subordinate Judge, in an
elaborate judgment, gave his decision on the several
issues which were raised in the case, and finally
passed the following order : “The plaintiff’s prescrip-
tive right to erect the disputed dund is declared,
and the claim for damages is dismissed, and in the
circumstances of the case, each party will bear his
own costs.” As such an order failed to satisfy any



HOOGHLY PAST AND FRESENT, 305

of the parties, there were no less than four
separate appeals to the Judge. The plaintiff
appealed as a matter of course, his claim for
damages having been dismissed. The Govern-
ment appealed, being dissatisfied with the declara-
tion of right which the plainiiff had obtained. The
other two appeais, which were preferred by the
Deputy Magistrate and the Ferry Fund Over-
seer respectively. were not of much importance,
All these appeals swere heard by Mr, Bright, and
he, too, like the Sub-Judge, passed an elaborate
judgment. He upheld the order of the Lower
Court as far as the dismissal of the claim for damages.
went, and modified its decree as to the rest.
The case then went up in special appeal to the
High Court, and a Division Bench, composed of
Mr. Justice L. S. Jackson and Mr. Justice Macpher-
son, decided it on the sth January, 1870.% Their
Lordships held that ‘the plaintiff was entitled to
recover damages from the defendant, Issur Chun-
der Mitter, in respect of an act done by him in
his official capacity as Deputy Magistrate of Jeha-
nabad, and that he was also entitled to a declaration
of his right to erect and maintain a certain bund
as against lssur Chunder Mitter and the Govern-
ment. Here, however, this litigation, which had
dragged its slow length along for such a long

* 13 W, R op.o13.

T
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period, did not end. The Government applied for
a review of judgments mainly on the ground
that the Honourable Court’s judgment was defective,
inasmuch as it did not decide whether the
Deputy Magistrate in removing the dbund, acted
judicially and with jurisdiction. This ground was
held to be good and wvalid; but as the petition of
review had been made by the Government, and
not by the Deputy Magistrate, it could mnot be
admitted as it stood. The! High Court, however,
deeming it proper to deal with the matter leniently,
allowed the petition to be amended by adding the
Deputy Magistrate’s name as a petitioner, Hav-
ing done so, the Court dismissed the plaintiff’s
suit as against the Deputy Magistrate altogether
and declared the plaintiff’s right to erect and main-
tain the lund as against the Government. Thus,
this protracted and expensive law-suit, in  which
the Government, having once made a blunder at
the outset, went on blundering to the very last,
ended in its total discomfiture by being made to
pay full costs to the plaintiff.

In the year 1871t a very important case was
decided by the second Sub-Judge in connection with
the local Imambara. Moonshee Abdool Waheb,

* 16 W, R.p. 63.

+ The Hooghly and Burdwan Drainage Act (V of 1871) was passed
this year. The great Mathematician, Sir fohn Herschel, died in the
same year. Ilis title descended to his son, William James Herschel,
who some time after, became Magistrate of Hooghly. Sir John was
the son of the famous Astronomer.
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who had served as Alhajonchi (treasurer) of the
Imambara from the 22nd November, 1860, was, on
the 6th March 1869, found to have embezzled
seventeen thousand and odd rupees, A criminal
prosecution was in the first instance instituted against
him, and he was committed to take his trial before
the Sessions Court.  Mr, Wauchope, the Additional
Sessions Judge, who held the trial, however, acquitted
the prisoner. Afterwards, Syed Keramat Ali, the
Matwali of the Imambara, brought a civil suit for
the amount so misappropriated, making Abdool
‘Waheb and his sureties defendants. The case came
on for hearing before Baboo Jagabandhu Baverjee,
the Sub-Judge. The hearing lasted for several days,
and did not come to an_ end until the 27th January,
1371. The learned Sub-Judge, after disposing of
the preliminary objections in favour of the plaintiff,
held, on the merits, that Abdool” Waheb had really
misappropriated the amount claimed, and, accord-
ingly, passed a decree for the entire claim with costs
against bim ; and, as regards the suretiss, he held
that they could not be rendered liable for more than
was covered by the stamp paper on which the surety-
bond was engrossed, and, accordingly, passed against
them a decree for Rs. 1,000 only with proportionate
costs. These appeals were preferred to the High
Court, of which the one made by the plaintiff had
reference to that portion of the decree of the Sub-
Judge which held the sureties liable only to the
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extent of Rs. 1,0co.  All these appeals came on for
hearing before Justices F. B. Kemp and E. Jackson ;
and their Lordships, agreeing in the main in the
conclusion arrived at by the Lower Court, dismissed
them on the gth January, 1872. In dismissing the
appeal of the sureties, the learned Judges remarked
that, although there was gross neglect on the part
of the Matwali in looking after the affairs of the
trust committed to his charge, vet, as there was nc
evidence of fraud  or  wirtual * connivance at the
delinquency of the treasurer, the sureties could not
be allowed to go scot-free.®* The decree as against
Abdool Waheb was only partially satisfied, as the
dishonest judgment-debtor had fraudulently disposed
of the main corpur of his property before it could be
attached and sold in execution. Thus, there wasa
considerable loss to the trust estate. As for the
Matwali, he was, it is true, not called upo>n to make
good the balance, but such was his high sense of
honour that the censure of the High Court greatly
affected him, and before long brought on a disease
which only left him with his life,

Mr, Bright was Judge of Hooghly when the em-
bezzlement of the trust funds was first brought to.
light, but he had left it before the civil suit which
arose out of it was finally decided by the High
Court. In fact, he bade adieu to the District towards

* 17 W. R, page 131.
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the close of 1871, when he was succeeded by Mr, H.
T. Prinsep.

The year 1872% is a memorable year. In it a
census was taken of the Hooghly District, at which
it was found that the town contained a population of
67,538 souls against 70,025 in 1837. This decrease
in population might very well be attributed to the
fearful mortality from the epidemic faver which had
raged in the District for such a long period.

During Mr. Prinsep’s time a very important case
was instituted in the Criminal Court, though he was
away from the District when the trial was held in the
Sessions Court.  We refer to the ugly affair in which
the Mohunt of Tarkeswar stood charged with a
most infamous offence, . The Tarkeswar adultery
case marks an important epoch in the annals of
Hooghly. It would have been very strange indeed,
if it had not created the sensation which it did, and
the reason for it was not far 'to seek, The accused,
Madhab Chunder Giri, was the premier priestof a
very rich Hindoo shrine, perhaps the richest in all
Bengal. It was not, however, for his immense wealth,
but for his supposed superior saunctity, that he com-
manded so much respect. Among his brother
Mohunts, he passed for a Maharaja, and was looked

* Tn January of this year, Lord Mayo in a luckless hour started
on a visit to the convict Settlement at Port Blair in the Andamans,
but he landed in it only to fall a victim to the dagger of a ruthless
ruffian.  Lord Mayo was succeeded in the Viceroyalty by Lord
Northhrook.
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tpon as their spiritual liege lord. As for the reverence
which he received from the Hindoo community at
large, it was alinost without a parallel. Even high
caste Hindoo ladies did not hesitate to appear
before him for the purpose of making holy salutation,
When it was reported that such a highly venerated
saint, who was enjoined by the rigid rulesof his
holy order to observe strictly the vow of celibacy,*
when people said and believed that such a vicegerent
of God, whose very touch had atalismanic effect in
the spiritual concerns of mankind, and whose very
word could raise a mortal to eternal bliss in Heaven,
or doom him to perennial punishment in Hell,—
when it got abroad that such a human divinity had
gone wrong with a beautiful girl of sweet sixteen,
it was only natural ‘that there should be a terrible
uproar and agitation in Hindu society, One and all
were anxious to know what the facts were, and the
facts soon became public. * Indeed, the facts lay in a
nut-shell.  The young Pandora who created this
unprecedented strife and commotion in the minds of
the Hindus, was a daughter of one Nilkamal
Chakravarti of Kumrcol, a village in the vicinity of
the Tarkeswar temple. When a mere infant,
Elokeshi, for that was her name, was married to a
high caste Brahman, namned Nobin Chandra Bando-

* A Mohunt has no zenana, and ought not to have any intercourse

. & :
with women whatsoever. Thus, he resembles the Roman Catholic
priest, and like him, unfortunately, often goes wrong.



HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT. 31r

padhya, Nobin was an employe in the Government
Printing Office at Calcutta, and, as usual with such
men, generally resided in his place of business, occa-
sionally paying visits to his wife at his father-in-law’s..
In 1873, having obtained leave on the Queen’s
birthday and for some days subsequent thereto, he
came to Kumrool on a visit to his wife. As people
are generally fond of publishing their neighbours’
shame,* he before long heard slanderous reports of
his wife’s misconduct.. Suspicion soon ripened into
certainty. On the fatal night of the 27th May, the
much-afflicted, but not the less enraged, husband,
stung by the hornets that were tearing him within,
suddenly asked his wife' point-blank what the real
state of the case was, and, on her repudiating the
imputation, thoush not with the bold consciousness
of offended innocence, made her pay the penalty of
her guilt with life. "This brutal murder was soon
bruited about in the village, and the result was that
the culprit was caught red-handed by the Police, or,
rather, be it said to his honour, he, of his own accord,
surrendered himself to them. He was brought up
before the Joint-Magistrate of Serampore, who
ordered him to Zajms. While there, he prefeired
a charge of aduvltery against the Mohunt, under
section 497 of the Indian Penal Code, and, accord-
ingly, in August, a preliminary enquiry was held by

* For, as Gay justly says, ““scandal is conversation’s spirit.”
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Mr. William Fitzpatrick Meres,* the Joint-Magistrate
-of Hooghly. The Mohunt, who had disappeared
after the murder of Elokeshi, did not appear in Court
until the 1st August.t The enquiring officer, Mr.
Meres, thinking that a prima facie case had been
made out against him, committed him to the Sessions.
‘This commitment, however, was quashed by the
‘Sessions Judge of Hooghly, Mr. Prinsep, purely
‘on the technical ground of non-jurisdiction, he being
of opinion that the preliminary-enquiry should have
been held by the Joint-Magistrate of Serampore,
within whose jurisdiction the offence was said to
have been committed. But Nobin was a very deter-
‘mined opponent. He renewed his complaint, upon
which a second enquiry was held by the same Magis-
trate, especially empowered it this behalf, and the
result, as had been expected, was a second commit-
ment, This time, the trial came on before Mr,
Charles Dickinson Field, who was then officiating
for Mr. Prinsep in the District Judgeship. The
Judge was assisted in the trial by two native
Assessors, Baboos Shib Chandra  Mullick and
Shumbhoo Chandra Gargory, both residents of
Chinsura. The trial commenced with considerable

““pomp and circumstance,” quite befitting the rank

* This officer, who earned great popularity in Flooghlv, rase to be
a District Judge. He was the son-in-law of Mr. R. Thwaytes, the
then Principal of the Hooghly College.

t A warrant for his arrest had been issued so far back as the
16th June.
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and respectability of the accusd person. The crowd
that used to assemble during the period it lasted was
immense. There was a sea of human heads in and
about the suffocated Court-house and the place look-
ed, indeed, like a great mela. Baboo Eshan Chandra
Mitter, the able Government pleader, conducted
the prosecution, while Mr. W. Jacksonx and Mr.
(afterwards Sir) G. H. Evans, two well-known counsel
of the Calcutta bar, defended the prisoner. The main
points for determination were;. firsf, whether the
accused Mohunt had intercourse with Klokeshi or not ;
and, secondly, whether at the time he had such inter-
course, he knew or had reason to believe her to be
the wife of another man. There was no question
as to Elokeshi having been the wedded wife of Nobin,
ar of consent or connivance on the part of the
husband. Gopinath Sing Roy was the most material
witness in the cause. He was in the employ of the
Mohunt as durwan, when the adultery was said to
have been committed. His evidence disclosed certain
circumstances which raised a strong presumption of
the Mohunt having really played the gay Lothario.
The prisoner’s counsel fought tooth and nail to
demolish the testimony of Gopinath, but truth
triumphed in the end, and the Judge fully believed

* Mr. Jackson is the nephew of Mr. Peterson, as the latter was
that of Mr. Turton. He is a very able criminal lawyer and is some-
times called the ‘“Tiger of the Calcutta bar.” Sir Griffith Evans
died only lately, and his untimely end has made a gap which is not
Jikely to be filled up. He wasa very sound and learned lawyer.
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him, There were some other material witnesses,
but before the second enquiry began they had some-
how or other disappeared from the scene. Ouly
Gopinath clung fast to the post of honour, Some
attempts would seem to have been made to buy him
over, but he stood firm and unmoved, and his evi-
dence turned the balance in favour of the prosecution.
The Judge, after a very patient and careful consi-
deration of the evidence and the surrounding cir-
cumstances, found the prisoner guilty on both the
counts. Baboo Shib  Cnandra Mullick concurred
with him, but the other Assessor, Baboo Shumbhu
Chandra Gargory, gave a different opinion, on the
ground that there was no direct evidence as to sexual
intercourse, quite forgetting that in such a case such
evidence could hardly be expected to be forthcoming.
Indeed, if the direct fact of adultery were necessary
to be established before a conviction could be had,
“there is not,” as is remarked by Lord Stowell in Lave-
den versus Loveden, “ one case iu a hundred in which
that proof would be attainable* The Judge, dis-
regarding the opinion of the dissenting Assessor,
convicted the accused under section 497 of the Indian
Penal Code and sentenced him to undergo three
years’ rigorous imprisonment and to pay a fine of
Rs. 2,000.+ This order, which gave general satisfaction

* 2 Haggard’s Consistory Reports.
+ The maximum punishment, as provided in the Code, is five years
imprisonment with or without fine.



HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT. 315

to the country, was passed on the 20th November,.
1873.%

There was, of course, an appeal to the High
Court, but the Mohunt was npot enlarged on bail
He was made to put off his holy canonicals, and,
put on the ignoble dress of a convict. The Jail
is a great leveller; it makes no distinction between
a pariah and a priest. As was the case with convicts.
of his class, he had to play the meanest part of
the bovine companion of his- Deity, being yoked
to the oil-mill and made to tread the rounds.

The appeal of the Mohunt was heard by a Divi-
sion Bench, consisting of Mr, Justice Markby and
Mr. Justice Birch, on the 15th December, 1873,
His counsel, Messrs. Jackson and Evans, fought
hard to get hitn off, but their ILordships held that
the conviction was good and valid. As regards
the sentence, they observed that, speaking generally,
though it might be considered to be severe, still
taking the peculiar position of the accused into
consideration, it ought not to be mitigated. The

* In June, there was an agrarian rising in Pubna, the ryots of that
district having broken out into a sevions revolt.  Moving in hundreds
and thousands from place to place, headed by three ringleaders, they
not only leo/ed goods and chattels, but sometimes cruslly took men’s.
lives and ignominiously committed outrages on females. The youny
widowed sister of a zemindar wzs taken away by force, and treated
wost brutally.  In fact, no one in the District considercd himself safe.
During this trying period, Sir George Campbell, who had, as I have
already stated, succeeded Sir William Grey, was the lLieuwtenant-
Governor of Bengal. | About this time the world lost a very able writer
and deep thinker in Sir John Stuart Mill, son of the historian and
philosopher, James Mill.
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-observations of Mr. Justice Birch on this point
being very proper and pertinent, I insert them
here. His ILordship said: “To my mind the offence
of which I find the accused guilty is considerably
aggravated by his position as head of a venerated
shrine, by virtue of which he is regarded by his
co religionists as an impersonation of the Deity
whose shrine is in his charge, A man in his posi-
tion has immense power and influence in this
countrv. [f he is faithless to his trust, and if under
the cloak of religion; and regardless of the decided
prohibition of such conduct in the writings which
he holds <acred, he employs his opportunities to
debauch married women, he merits condign punish-
ment”+  Surely, if persons, who from their peculiar
position  are supposed to possess special sanctity,
5o far {orget themselves as to commit foul offences,
the Court ought ‘to inflict exceptionally severe
punishment upon them.

The Mohunt’s senior disciple, Sham Chand Giri,
took his place on the guddec at Tarkeswar, while
he himself passed his hard and laborious days in
the local jail.  The term of imprisonment, however,
at last expired and he was released in the latter
part of November, 1876, His locum tenens, Sham
Chand Giri, having refused to vacate the guddee in
his favour, he forcibly re-entered the temple premises
and resumed possession of them and of the

*12 W, R. pp. 13-21,
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landed property. Sham Giri brought a summary
suit for recovery of possession under Section 15 of
Act X1V of 1859 in the District Court at Hooghly.
Mr. G. P. Grant, the Judge, decreed the suit on
the 28th August, 1877. On the 3rd September,
the defendant, Madhab Giri, moved the High
Court under Section 135 of the Charter Act, where-
upon a rule was granted, calling upon the other
party to show cause why the order of the District
Judge should not 'be set aside. This rule was
heard by a Division Beunch consisting of My, Justice
R. C. Mitter and ‘Mr, Justice W. Markby on the
24th  November, 1877, Their Lordships, while
finding fault with the Judgze as to the way in which
he tried the suit, held that they could not interfere
with his decision under their general powers of
superintendence, and they, accordingly, dismissed
the application. Thus defeated, Madhab Giri
brought a civil suit for declaration of title and
recovery of possession, and in this he was signally
successful. He was restored to the guwddee which
he occupied up to the time of his death, which
took place only lately in Calcutta,*

As for poor Nobin, he was tried for the murder
of his wife, and was convicted and sentenced to
transportation. He was deported to a lonely and

* Since his death, there has been a scrambling for the guddee.
True it is, Satish Chandra Giri has taken possession of it upon the
strength of an alleged Will of the late Mochunt, but his position is
anything but secure. The fight was raging high when Sham Giri
died, leaving Satish Giri almost without 2 rival,
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desolate island; but, in view of the peculiar charac-
ter of his offence, he was released in 1877, on the
accasion of the assumption by the late Queen of
‘the title of Empress, when, according to a time-
honoured custom, upwards of three thousand
prisoners were set at liberty before the expiry of
their term in the exercise of royal mercy,

Orissa had, as | have already stated, been
depopulated by a terrible famine in 1866.# Before
seven years elapsed, a similar visitation overtook
the two other Provinces of the Bengal satrapy.
Taught by bitter experience, the heads of Govern-
ment were on the alert this time, Relief measures
were promptly adopted, and the result was that
there was not much distress or death. Only a little
scarcity was felt in Hooghly, and it was of a short
duration, the price ‘of food-grains soon coming

down to its normal rate.}

* This famine was mainly due todrought. The distress and mortality
caused by it were very great. A writer in the Caleutta Review
for 1874 thus describes the harrowing state of things :—‘‘The suffer-
ings and anguish-of the poor and helpless people it is impossible to
depict. After the generality of people were unable to obtain grain,
they subsisted for a short space of time on the roots and branches
of trees, and greedily devoured even the snails they could pick up
on the tanks and trenches ; truly this disgusting fare too soon failed
them. Then very many died in their homes, and far more emigrated
to the metropolis and other well-known places; but of these, the
greater portion composed of men, women, and children, perished
en - roule. ... The mortality of the inhabitants during the continuance
of the famine may, without any exaggeration, be set down at the
‘high . figure of two millions ¥ The Lieutenant Governor, Sir Cecil
‘Beadon, was justly accused of culpable carelessness and surely in
this instance he could not be said to have ““done his duty.”

.+ Theé loss of life caused by this threatening calamity was infinite-
simal, and hardly numbered more than a score.



CHAPTER XIV.
THE BANDEL+« CHURCH AT HOOGHLY,

Toe Portuguese may have, as Fariay Souzat
says, first entered Bengal as military adventurers
about the year 15381 but there is nothing to show
that they had made their settlemeat at Hooghly
before the Pathan domination was put an end to
by the Moguls. Indeed, that event, as [ have
already shown, took place somewhere in the eighth
decade of the sixteenth: century. After Bengal

* The name Bandel appears fo Dbe another form of the Persian
word bandur, the letters 1 and r being convertible, and to signify
a port, as Hooghly, the Paorte Pequsnp (the Little Ilavon) of the
Portuguese, was. So also there is Bandel Church (I.e Bondor) ax
Chittagong, the Porte Grande (the Greal Hoven ) of the Povtuguese,

+ Manuel Faria y Soura’s history of e Poriuguesa, which is
in Spanish, commences with 1412 and closes with 1640.

T This was the last year-of the DPortuguese Vicercy of Irdia,
Nuno da Cunha. In 1534 he had sent Martin Alfonso with 200
men in five ships to Chittagong with a view to establish friendly
relations with the King of Bengal, and to cbtain permissicn to erect
a fortress and build a factory at Chittagong.  The mission, however,
failed, and Martin and some of his ‘men were made prisoners and
forwarded to Gowr. Antony de Sylva Meneses was then sent by
Cunha with 350 men in nine vessels, to try and effect the ransom
of the prisonors. At this time, Mahmud Shah, the last of the
independent kings, rcigned in  Beugal. The Dortuguese having
agreed to assist him against Sheére Khan, the King released most
of the captives retaining only five as hostages for the succour which
was expected from Goa. But when this succour arrived in nine
vessels under the command of Vasco Perez de Sampayo, Shere
had taken Gour and Mahmud bad been killed. Sampayo came
and saw and went away without doing anything. (The Feriughecs
of Chittagong by Mr,—afterwards Justice—Beverley, Caloutta Review,
1871.)
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had come under the Mogul sway, Akbar ordered
his Viceroy to send up a picked wman among the
Feringhees to the Presence. Accordingly, a cap-
tain of the name of Taverez went up to Agras
which had been newly made the capital of the
Empire. He was treated by the Emperor with the
utmost kindness, and, as a mark of Imperial favour,
was given permission to pitch upon any spot near
Hooghly for the erection.of a town, with full
liberty to build churches and preach the Holy
Gospel.  Availing themselves of such -an unexpect-
ed opportunity, the Portuguese settled on the
lands now occupied by the Church and its sur-
roundings, and built houses for trading and other
purposes.t As the. province was then anything
but peaceable, and as disturbances were always.
apprehended, the new settlers deemed it absolutely
necessary to fortify their settlement. The requisite
sanction being given by ‘the Mogul Governor,
they built a fort! in the place now called Ghole-

* Agra  (dgravan of the DPavranic writers) was a mere village
before Akbar’s time. He turned 1t into a splendid city, and gracec:
it with a palace, the largest and most magnificent in the Fast.
The world-renowned Taj 15 also near Agra. To this newly-built
city, Akbar removed his capital from Futtchpore Sikri in’ 1566,
calling it after his own name, Albaradad.

t The Skat Jekhaw-namalk states that the V'ortuguese, purchasing
some lands in Hooghly, built houses thereon with the permission
of the Nabob.

¥ Purchas, speaking of the Portuguese settlements in Bengal,,
writes :—“The Portuguese have here Porte Grande and Porte
Pequeno, but without forts and Governments; every man living
after his own lust, and for the most part they are such as dare not
stay in those places of better Government for some wickedness by
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ghat. It was of a square form, flanked by four
bastions and surrounded by a deep ditch on three
sides and by the deeper river on the fourth. This
must have been done before 1583, inasmuch as the
well-known traveller, Fitch, who visited Hooghly
in that year, described it as “the chief keep of the
Portuguese.” As the Portnguese went on pros-
pering in their new settlement, the missionaries of
the order of St. Augustine came to Hooghly and
founded, in the year 1599, » the Convent of Bandel,
the Cathedral Church of St. Paul, and the Church
of Misericordia, to which was attached an orphan-
house for the protection of young ladies. Mer-
chants and others, whom business or enterprise
called to distant parts, committed their maiden
daughters, in their absence, to sacerdotal protection
in the orphanage of the Church of Misericordia
These sacred edifices were frequented by a large
body of worshippers, ‘and, thus, Hooghly became
a place of great importance from a secular, as well
as from a religious point of view.

them committed.” But the historian does not appear to be quite
correct in his statements, for the Portuguese had built a fort at
Porte equeno (Ilooghly) in the reign of (ueen Llizabeth, whilst
the fixst volume of his Pilgrimages or Relations of the World was
published in 1614 in the reign of James I.

* This is certainly a memorable year, as in it the Fast India
Company was formed, and the Dutch first traded to the Moluccas.
But not only from a commercial, but also from a religious point
of view, it is kept in remembrance, for in it the furious bigot,
Archbishop Alexis de Menezes, held his famous, or rather infamous,
Synod at Diamper or Udayampura, entirely effacing the individuality
of the Syrian Church in India. The eéfforts which culminated

U
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The Portuguese drove a brisk trade, and their fame
as master merchants spread far and wide. In the
meantime the great Akbar was summoned from this
world by the mightiest of monarchs, and was suc-
ceeded by his son, Jehangir. The latter, though
undoubtedly much inferior to his father in wisdom
and ability, was not an intolerant prince. So far
from molesting the Portuguese, he bore kindly
feelings towards them. The French traveller Ber-
nier % states, “that Jehangir suffered the Portuguese
in Hooghly upon account of traffic, and of his
having no averston to  Christians, as also because
they promised him to keep the Bay of Bengal
clear from all pirates” + Tn this way the Portu-
guese gradually rose to be a power in the land.
They acquired lands ou both sides of the river,

and collected the rents, or rather revenues thereof

in that Synod had their origin in the full fervour of missionary
enterprise which set in after the time of St. Francis Xavier, and
which was directed towards stamping out the peculiarities of the
Syrian Christians, and bringing their doctrines into harmony with
those practised by the Catholic Church in Europe. St. Xavier came
out with the Governor of Portuguese India, Martin Alfonso de
Souza, and arrived at Goa on the 7th May 15¢92. He was the
recognised head of the Jesuits of India. He lies buried in New
Goa, and his tomb is certainly, as Bishop Wilson has said, ‘“‘a
great curiosity.”

* Bernier resided in India for twelve years from 1657 to 1669.
The greater part of his residence was spent at the court of Aurung-
zeb, whose camp he followed in 1665 from Delhi to Cashmere
through the entire length of the Punjab. He was a physician
by profession.

T In the time of the early Mogul Emperors, the Bay of Bengal
was infested with Mughs and TPortuguese, who lived by “‘levyiug
chout on the seas,” as that arch-pirate, Angria of the Malabar Coast,
ased to say of his dreaded sea-robbery.
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after the manner of princes. Their fort at Hooghly
was well garrisoned, and they haa also a sufficient
number of war-vessels always ready to protect them
from the attacks of the enemy. Though nominally
subject to the Great Mogul, they often assumed
an air of independence, and were certainly not very
regular in the payment of tribute due to the Para-
mount Power. At this time, however, an event
happened which had the .effect of undermining
their power and prosperity in Bzngal. The Empress,
Nur  Jehans who had  absolute control over
the pleasure-loving Emperor Jehangir, and “ whose
lightest whisper moved him more than all the
ranged reasons of the world,”" having shown herself
hostile to the interest of the Heir Apparent, the
latter revolted, and being pursued by the Imperial
army, flad to Bangal-and stationed himself at
Burdwan., While at this place, he asked for some
assistance from the Portuguese Governor of Hooghly,
Micha! Rodriguez, who had waited upon him;
but his request was not complied with. This
refusal, polite though it was, so
“Rankled in him and rufied all his heart,”

that, after ascending the throae, he made it a point
to drive the Portuguese out of Bengal,  Accordingly,
he directed his Viceroy to watch their move-

‘ments with the eye of a spy, and to lodge com-

* Light of the I¥orid, and really the Jady was so for she was the
Helen of her day.
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plaints before him, if in any matter they overstepped
the bounds of law and justice. The result of this
well-laid plan was the siege and capture of Hooghly
in 1632. The fort was demolished, so also the
Churches, but it would seem that the Convent did
not suffer much, if at all, The Governor and a large
number of Christian captives were dragged to the:
Imperial residence at Agra, where they were very
harshly treated, Iixcepting the five Augustinian
friars, the rest of the prisoners of war were distri-
buted as slaves amongst the grandees of the Court..
The monks were more cruelly dealt with. Four of
them were immediately put to death, and the fifth,
Padrex da Cruz, was reserved for a severer punish-
ment, for which a day was appointed. When that
dreaded day dawned, the Emperor, forgetting his.
usual good nature, ordered him, in the spirit of a
Nero, to be cast under the feet of a furious elephant.
But, wonderful to relate, the burly brute, moved at
the sight of the holy man, lost his native ferocity,
and commenced cockering him gently with his “lith
proboscis.” The Emperor was taken quite unawares,
and, seized with religious awe, at once determined
on the Padre’s pardon, and also offered to grant any

* Padre is a Portuguese word signifying a priest, a missionary.
Tt has a close affinity to the Sanskrit pe/ara, Latin pafer, and English.
father. Several other words which are in common use in Bengal
are also of Portuguese origin, such as chadé (Port. chawe), a key;
kabi (Port. gquove), cabbage; grija (Port. igreja), a church ; fitak,
(Port. fita), a ribbon; caste (Port. casfa, breed), a class; nilam
{Port. leilam), an auction.
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reasonable request he might make. The good
Augustinian solicited his own liberty, with permis-
sion to reconduct the surviving Christian captives
to Bengal, and also a grant of some rent-free lands
as an endowment to the Bandel Church. Both the
requests were readily granted by the awe-struck
Emperor, and thus some amends were made for the
immense loss which the Portuguese had sustained at
his hands.

The grant, thus nade in 1033+ covered an area
of 777 bighas of land., By the firman which was
granted on this occasion, the Portuguese were given
permission to found churches, and the friars were
exempted from the authority of the Fouzdar and
-other officers of Government. Within the precincts
of that small tract they were allowed to exercise all
agisterial powers with regard’ to the Christians,
save and except the stuctly royal prerogative cf
life and death, They were, at the same time, ex-
empted from all taxes and tolls. This little bit of a
principality, as one might say so, appears to have
included all the foreshore from the present jail to
the northern limit of the circuit-house compound.
There is a small piece of a very old wall still remain-
ing on the extreme ecast of the [Hooghlybridge-
yard, which is said to be the remains of the Portu-

guese fort.  The Kuti-pukur, or the factory tank,

T This geant wis connirine 1 in 1646,
14
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which is at the south-west corner of the jail, was, it
is believed, attached to the Portuguese factory, as in
later times it certainly was to the English factory.

uch of the land so granted was, however, lost
during the times of the hostilities between the
English and the Nabob of Moorshidabad, and the
area has now dwindled down to about 380 bighas
yielding a rental of about 1240.%

The Convent + of Bandel, which is dedicated:
to the Virgin Mary of Rosary;} is the only building
which remains to tell the sad tale of I.usitanian
grandeur at Hooghly. = It is the oldest Christian
building in Bengal. " Eight years after the siege of
Hooghly, it was pulled down, and all the records
that were preserved in it were destroyed. In 1661 it
was rebuilt by that pious Christian, 7. Gomez de
Soto, and, as if to wipe out all marks of Mogul
outrage, the new building was inscribed with the date
of the old. In the nice little chapel which forms one
side of the Convent, there is an inscription which
shows that * the chapel was privileged for Saturdays

by the Supreme Pontiff Benedict XII.in 1726 7

* Besides property in lands which are all Jeased to ryots, there ave,
as the quondam Prior the Rev. Da Silva Iurtado said, other sources
of income. But he was not aware of the net annual proceeds, nor
of the amount of expenditure.

1 The monastery used to be occupled by Augustinian friars, the
last of whom, Father Joseph Gomez, died in 1858. There is now
in charge only a Parish priest, who, however, still retains the:
title of Prior.

1 Convent De Nossa Senhora De Rozario of Bandel.
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The vault below contains the remains of Soto and
his family, as well as of some other fortunate
Catholics.

The Auvgustinians of Bandel hail from Goa, and
are subject to the Bishop of Meliapore,+ not to the
Vicar Apostolic. The Portuguese in Bengal, like
the Jesuits in Pondicherry, have never recognized the
ecclesiastical authority of the Pope of Rome.t The
Court of Portugal, ever since the first establishment
of its dominion in India, has fuvariably claimed the
exclusive right of ecclesiastical  patronage, and has
viewed with great jealousy any interference with it}
But it is very much to be regretted that it has not

* Meliapore (probably Malayapuran) was erected into a Bishopric
in 1607. It is now known as 5t. Thomas, after the great saint who-
wrought some miracles in ‘India. At Jast, he was killed by
the lance of a Brahmin, while kneeling at the altar. e is
said to have built 3300 stately churches. The Portuguese Tower
thus speaks of Mehapore in its days of glory :

““Narsinga’s fair domain behold ; of yore
Where shone the gilded towers of Meliapore.”

+ The Padroado was granted Ly the Pope to the King of Portugal
in the days of Portuguese supremacy in the East. But now that
Portugal is only a petty Indian Power, the great majority of the
Catholic Missioparies and Catholic converts who reside in British
India, resent the claim of the Portuguese to this right of patronage
to all bishoprics and benefices in India. The Portuguese cling to
the right ot the Padroado as a relic of their ancient greatness, while
the DPope sympathises with the attitude taken up by the majority of
Indian Catholics.  After many fruitless attempts at an amicable settle-
ment  of the question, concordats were signed between the two
parties, first in 1856, and afterwards in 1836, which have had the
effect of placing the Catholic Church in India, outside the sphere of
Portuguese territory, under the direct vule of the Pope. This dispute
about Padroado has been a great obstacle to the progress of the
Catholic Church in India.

+ The late Prior of Bandel, the Rev. DaSilva Furtado, informed
me that the reigning King of Portugal, Don Carlos De Braganza,

;5 on friendly terms with the Pope, and is in spiritual communior:
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been equally careful in making a proper use of that
privilege. The priests appointed by Government
were, as a rule, not only ignorant, but also bore a bad

3

character. “ Buried in debauch,” as they were, they
were studious of their own ease rather than of the
good of their spiritual charge. At any rate, they
have never been highly spoken of for purity of morals.
Captain - Alexander Hamilton* thus wrote about
Bandel: —*“ The Bandel at present deals in no sort of
commodities, but what are in request at the Court of
Venus, and they have a Church, where the owners of
such goods and merchandise are to be met with, and
the buyer may be conducted to proper shops, where
the commodities may be seen and felt ; and a priest to
be security for the soundness of the goods.” Thus, the
profligacy of the Bande! priests seems to have equalled
what is told of the corruption among European
ecclesiastics in the Middle Ages, and their ignorance
was equal to their licentiousness. | Nothing was more
common than to see high ecclesiastical offices conferred

on men as amorous as Sybarites and as ignorant as

with him, as the head of the Catholic Church. He also stated that
not long since His Iloliness made a handsome present to the Queen
of Portugal.

* Hamilton traded in the East Indies from 1688 to 1723. He
wrote his Accowunt of the East Indies about the year 1690, when
Bandel was ‘‘chockful of pretty women.” De Foe’s well-known
lines apply with full force to-the state of the Bandel Church at
the time :—

“Wherever God erects a house of prayer,
The Devil always builds a chapel there,
And ‘twill be found upon examination
The latter has the largest congregation.”
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Roetians.® The church Government is still with the
King, and, judging from the lax and careless way in
which it is sometimes administered, it would seem
that the cause of morals and letters would not suffer
much by its being taken out of his hands and placed
in those of the Pope. Attached to the Convent there
was a Nunnery in which many dark deeds were done,
-over which a thick impervious veil has beeun cast.t
Mention is made in 1723 of a College of Jesuits} at
Bandel on the way to Keota, ~Georgi § stated that
the Christian religion and learning flourished in
Hooghly under the auspices of the King of Portugal,
and that the hospice of Bandel was as much crowded
with monks as its schools were with native converts.
But these statements = wmust be received with
considerable modifications, for, as a matter of fact,
neither the cause of religion nior that of education was
much advanced,. ‘

* The distinguished writer of the article, ““The Feringhees of
‘Chittagong,” to which we have already referred, very justly observes:
“*The general neglect of education among the Feringhees was chiefly
owing to the character of the priests sent from oa. These half-
caste men, renowned for their superstition, ignorance, and selfishness,
brought discredit on their profession.” What was true of the Bandel
-at Chittagong was more than true of the Bandel at IHooghly.

+ This has unfortunately been the case with almost all nunneries,
Though the nuns are closed about by hieh narrowing walls, and are
kept afar from the world and all its lights and shadows, they are
seldom found ‘‘to lead sweet lives in purest chastity.” Nothing has
contributed so much to immorality as the unholy vow of celibacy.

T Though the Jesuits have failed, they have afforded a noble
lesson to mankind, namely, that an [nstitution, however strongly
and vigilantly it may be fortified and established, if it ‘‘is not based
-on simple honesty,” must sooner or later fall to the ground.

§ His grand work is called dgprotatum Thibetrom.
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In 1760 this place suffered much from the cala-
mities which were brought about by hostilities
between the English and the Nabob of Moorsheda-
bad, and, as a matter of necessary consequence;
it was denuded of most of its inhabitants. The
state of things precipitated from bad to worse, so
that when, in the first half of the last century, the
author of the Sketches of Bengal wrote his valuable-
work, he found that Hooghly had well-nigh reached
its last stage of ruin.w He says: “Theancient and
famous port of Hooohly contains now but a few
small houses and several poor huts. The lascivious:
damsels of this once gay city slumber under its ruins.
When Pomp withdrew from thence, Debauchery
vanished, Poverty now stalks over the ground.” The
sight of the Convent, however, impressed him con-
siderably, and he could not avoid recording that the
frontispiece of the sacred edifice “appeared to him
to diffuse a cathedral gloom, and struck him with
religious awe,”*

The Bandel Churcht does not deserve to be called
a grand building, but its architectural skill lies in its
very strong and durable structure. Though nearly

* In 1829, the number of Christian inhabitants of eighteen years.
of age and more was only thirty in Bandel. (Toynbee’s Hooghiy,
p. 141). At the present day the number is still smaller.

t Bishop Heber visited Hooghly in June 1824. Ie thus speaks.
of this Church in his well-known Journal: At Chinsura is a Church,
and beyond Hooghly. at a place, I believe, named Banda, is a large-
Italian-looking Church, with what appears to be a convent.” Vol
I, p. 64. Most probably the good Bishop did not enter the Church,
otherwise he would have given some account of its sacred interior.
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three long centuries have spent their elemental rage
aund fury over it still it looks as fresh as if it had
been built only recently. The Church faces towards.
the south, and is entered by a big gate, which is kept
open only on service days and other important occa-
sions, It has three *“long-drawn aisles,” which ter-
minate in three handsome altars, of which the one in.
the middle is the most splendid. At the other ex-
tremity, over the entrance, there is a big organ, which
none but the initiated.may touch, Service takes place
before the midmost altar, when the burning ceuvser
and the sounding organ add much to the sacredness.
and solemnity of the occasion. In front of that
altar, at a distance, rises, under the support of the
left wall, the winding = pulpit, which attracts the
sight by its gorgeous appearance, One of the side
altars is very properly dedicated to the patron Saint
Augustine, who seems to exercise a greater influence
over the priests of Bandel than St. Verounigue
himself, the favourite Saint of the Portuguese. A
spacious hall was built about a quarter of a ceutury
ago at the expense of Mr. Barretto® and other

* The famous Barretto family came very early to Asia. Both T
Barretto and A. M. Barretto were Viceroys of Portuguese India in
the second half of the sixteenth century. The celebrated Barretto
brothers, Joseph and Louis, who were the recognised heads of the
Portuguese in the wetropolis of British India, have immoritalized
themselves by several pious acts.  The new chureh at Caleut:a and
the Roman Catholic Church at Serampore are standing proofs of
their piety and liberality. The Portuguese burial-ground at Baitak-
khana was the gift of Mr. Joseph Barretto, who purchased it for
Rs. 8,000 in 1785.
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Roman Catholics of Calcutta. It was intended to
serve as a sanatarium for invalids. The building, as
a whole, is a quadrangle, one side of which forms the
«chapel. It has three gates, of which the one at the
-east, which faces the ever-receding river, is now the
main entrance, though that honour is justly due to
‘the big gate on the south, which, as [ have already
related, is opened only on service days and other
important occasions. The west gate, which skirts
the public road, is seldom unbelted. Though itself
a branch of a bigger establishment, the Bandel
‘Church has a branch of its own in the neat Catholic
‘Chapel at Chinsura,  This sacred building, as the
tablet on it shows, was erected in 1740 with the
funds left by the well:known Mrs. Sebastian Shaw
and is dedicated to Jesus Maria Joze.

At one time the Bandel missionaries possessed
-considerable power and influence ; but, by the end of
the eighteenth century,’ it had well-nigh become a
thing of the past, and they regrettingly found them-
selves absorbed into the general mass of British
subjects, In 1797, the then Prior of Bandel memo-
rialised Sir John Shore’s Government with a view to
having independent civil and criminal jurisdiction
-over the ryots of the Bandel lands restored to him.
He based his claim on immermorial usage from the
date of the original grant by Shah Jehan in 1633,
and also on a certain letter from a high authority,
«dated the 17th July 1787, in which the Collector was
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prohibited from exercising any civil or criminal.
jurisdiction over the inhabitants of Bandel. But
the Governor-General decided against him. His
Excellency held that no such claim could now be
admitted, and that “the inhabitants of Bandel are
subject to the jurisdiction of the Courts equally with
other inhabitants of the Company’s provinces; but
that there was no objection to the Prior’s continuing
to arbitrate and settle the disputes of the Christian.
inhabitants of Bandel, ‘as herctofore, whenevar it
may be agreeable to the parties to refer to himn for
the purpose.” Thus, the question of jurisdiction
was set at rest by the highest authority in the land,
and one would have expected that thereafter the
church dignitaries would have quietly abided by the
decision. But it does not appear that the Priors.
always demeaned themselves as peace-loving and
law-abiding subjects. " In June 1828, the then Prior,
the Rev. I'. A. Guia, was' proceeded against in the
Company’s Court, in consequence of his having
wantonly assaulted two natives. A summons was
issued against him in the usual course, but, so far
from obeying it, he behaved in an “extremely
indecent, violent, and illegal” manner, He was,
accordingly, reported to Government, and it i{s very
likely that he got a severe reprimand at its hands.
This censure, well-deserved as it undoubtedly was,
had a very wholesome effect, not only upon the
individval for whom it was intended, but also uporn
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his successors in the Priory. In 1869 we find the
Rev. Aungustine Gomez in charge of the Church.
He was a good man, so was his successor, the
Rev. A. C. Rodriguez. The latter tried to retrieve
the reputation of the Portuguese as promoters of
the cause of education, and established the present
Bandel School on the roth July, 1870, This little
Tustitution prospered under his parental care, and
its successful working induced the English Govern-
ment, in 1874, to allow a grant of Rs, 20 a month,
The grant is still continned, 'and, together with the
Mission allowance ‘of Rs, 10, makes up nearly one
third of the establishment charces of the School,
the remainder being supplied from schooling fees.
The School teaches up to the minor scholarship
course, and the teaching staff consists of three
LInglish teachers and two. pundits. The Rev. A. C.
Rodriguez was succeeded by the Rev. D. Sante
Maria, and the latter by the Rev, G. A. Britto. On
the death of Britto, which took place on the 7th
July, 1891, the Rev. J. Beatly was appointed Prior.
Though not in charge of the chuarch for a long
time, his knowledge of Hooghly was much above the
average. The Rev, Da Silva Furtado was iny charge
for nearly two wvears. He possessed considerable
ability and . discharged the duties of his sacred
office wetl. He was a quiet sort of man, as becomes
a Christian of his order, and, what is rare among
monks and friars, bore a pure and unspotted
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character.* The Prior gets nothing from the English
Government. He is paid by the Portuguese Mission,
and he has also other sources of income, the priucipal
of which consists of presents from Roman Catholics
on marriage and such like occasions.

Four solemnities are principally observed in the
Bandel Church, namely, the Feast of the Blessed
Lady of Happy Voyage in the “merry month of
May ”; the Feast of the Patron Saint Augustine
in the Imperial month of August ; the Feast of the
Blessed Lady of Rosary, commonly called the
Novena, in the cold month of November; and
the Feast of Domingo da Cruz, in the hot month
of February or March. The first solemnity men-
tioned above is not of much importance ; but it
must not be confounded with: the Teast of the
Assumption which'is observed on the 15th August,
on which day, Virgin Mary, the reputed Mother of
Jesus Christ, is Dbelieved 'to have miracolously
ascended to Heaven without passing through the
gate of death. Augustine being the patron Saint
of the monks of Bandel, his feastis observed with
considerable pomp in the memorable month in which
he, having done his work here below on earth, found

supreme happiness in sweet communion with his

* The present incambent, the Rev. M. V. Rodrigues, is also a
good man and takes a deal of interest on behalf of the Church in his
charge. In the year 1899, which completed the tercentenary of its

existence, he published a liitle brochure giving historical facts in
relation thereto.
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Maker in Heaven, realizing the words of the poet—

f‘Man’s sickly soul, though turned and tossed for ever
From side to side, can rest on nought but Thee,
Here in full #rusé, hereafter in full jop.”

But the Feast of the Novena is the grandest of the
festivals which are observed in the Bandel Church ;
and this is as it should be, for the church is dedi-
cated to the Blessed I.ady of Rosary, in whose
honour the feast is celebrated. On this important
occasion the churchis brilliantly illuminated, and
divine service is performed with the accompaniment
of music, which adds much to the sacred solemnity
of the occasion. After service fireworks of divers
sorts are let off which, like a flourish of trumpets,
wind up the ceremony, Visitors flock to the spot
from Calcutta, Chandernagore, and some other places,
and the scene assumes.a most splendid appearance.
The pyrotechnic exhibition and the solemn peal of
the organ, with its “ winding 'bout of linked sweet-
ness ”, have such a fascination for the common
people, that the numbers that assemble on the occa-
sion are very considerable. Sight-seers and others
leave the place in the course of the night, so that,
when the day dawns, one finds it difficult to realize
that it has only a few hours before been the the scene
of such rejoicings.

The last, though not the least, is the Feast of
Domingo da Cruz. This is a peculiar ceremony with
the Portuguese, and is as rigidly observed by them



HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT. 337

as the Roszak is by the Mahomedans. On this occa-
sion a procession, representing the Saviour bearing
the cross, is formed on a Sunday in Lent, which
makes the circuit of the entire quarter. The name
of this ceremony reminds one of that very remark-
able friar, Padre da Cruz, who, by his miraculous
encounter with the royal elephant, gained the favour
of the Great Mogul, Shah Jehan, and with his per-
mission conducted the Christian captives back to
Bengal.

Bandel is not what it was in bygone times. “Stern
ruin has driven her: ploughshare” hard over it. It
has lost all its former pomp and magnificence, and
stands as a sad and sorey relic, reminding one of the
mutability of all mundane things, The very sight of
the place amply testifies to its ancient grandeur.
Indeed, at one time, it teemed with a gay stream of
population in which the gaudy train of beauty shone
the brightest. The 'present 'inhabitants of Bandel
might be counted on one’s fingers, and the sad loneli-
ness of the locality offers a striking contrast to the
sweet liveliness with which it was pregnant even at
the beginning of the last century.

Save and except the church, which rears its hoary
head in solitary gloom, a few broken walls, cver_
grown with bushes and brambles are all the “splendid
wrecks” which remain to tell the painful tale of its
former pride and populousness. Irom a splendid
town Bandel has dwindled down into a sorry village

v
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of the lowest type possible. Even the very river,
which forty years before laved the church foundations
with its sweet waters, as if afraid to catch the cou-
tagion of the surrounding desolation, has receded
considerably to the east, leaving a large space of dry
land, which was oue vast sheet ot water displaying a
hundred gorgeous sail. But Bandel does not stand
unique in this respect ; this has also been the case
with all the Portuguese secttlements in India, now
that their power inthe IZast has fallen so very low.
Bishop Wilson visited New Goa, the metropolis of
Portuguese India, on the 6th December 1335, and
this is how he has described it in his Journal : “The
Portuguese, for one hundred and fifty years the great
European power in India, is silent in darkness, and
the ‘Beast,” which' enjoyed her protection, expiring.
Instead of two thousand priests, whose licentiousness
was proverbial, there arc now fifty, or even fewer
stragglers. Immense masses of building crumbling
daily, and some positively without a single monk.
The nunnery alone remains, and that is to receive
no more inmates. The Abbess has never been
without its walls for forty-five years. One sweet-
looking pupil attended her at the ¢7//e, downcast as
a flower doomed to fade. The nuns we could not
see.” The reason why the good Bishop could not
see them is, however, not far to seek; for, as ¢
matter of fact, nuns there were very few, if any,
Similar fate has befallen the Convent of Bandel:
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it, too, is bare of its inmates. Indeed, the place

dooks like
““a thing
O’er which the raven flaps his funeral wing.”

CHAPTER XV.
TaHe HoOGHLY JalL.

Simultaneously with the formation of Hooghly
into a district, there was established a jail for the
safe custody of prisoners. At the outset the jail
was little better than'a big clumsy hut, being built
-with mats and bamboos. - It was afterwards removed
to a somewhat better building, but that too was not
quite what a prison should be. Accordingly, in
1814 a new jail containing six wards, each 50X 30
feet, to hold about six hundred prisoners, was
sanctioned by Government at a cost of sicca rupees
69,580, the old jail being turned into a civil jail,
Early in May, Captain Cave arrived at Hooghly,
and fixed upon the site on which the present jail
stands, on the score of its being high ground not
liable to inundation by the flocd waters of that wide
unruly river, Damoodar.s# The total area of land

¥ Lucca embankments having since been erected on this side the
river, there is very little apprehension of these parts of the district
being flooded by its swplus waters.
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taken up was eighteen bighas, two cottas and twelve
chataks. The main building was finished in the
year 1816, and the hospital ¥ in the next. In
front of the Jail on the river side, was set up, some
years after, a pump + by which water was daily
pumped up from the river for the use of the pri-
soners. The Jail establishment on 1st January 1820
was one Jailor on Rs. 25 a month, one Naib on
Rs. 15, and twelve burkundaezes on Rs. 4 each, with
additional six durkundases for the Civil Jail. Neither
the Jailor nor the Naib had their quarters at the Jail.
The rooms over the main gateway, now occupied by
the Jailor as a residence, were formerly used as a.
godown and buttery, The above arrangement con-
tinued till the close 'of the year 1835, when the
dignity of the post of Jailor was considerably raised,.
a European on Rs. 200 a month being appointed
to it.

* A native doctor on a pay of Rs.- 25 a month is attached to this
hospital, whose duty is to look after the health of the prisoners
confined in the Jail. He is under the direct control of the Civil
Surgeon who visits the hospital every morning and supervises its.
affairs. Besides these duties which have reference to his profession
as a medical man, the Civil Surgeon acts as the general Superinten-
dent of the Jail. The official destiny of the sepoys who keep watch
and ward is in his hands. He can also punish the prisoners with
whipping, if they are found fault with. Iven over the Jailor and his
Assistant he has some little power, but in all important matters they
are under the direct control of the Inspector General of Jails, Bengal.

4+ This pump would appear to have been set up as early as 1837,
if not earlier still, It has Jong since ceased to exist. Now, water
is fetched from the river in Zulsecs, or jugs, and filtered before it is used
for drinking purposes. This improved water supply is very properly
assigned as one of the main causes of the present excellent coundition
of this Jail.
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‘Fhe average number of prisoners in the Jail be-
tween 1815 and 1829 was 414, and between 1830
and 1845, 3353, while between 1870 andi18g2 it was
only 2s50. Thus, it appears that there has been
-a constant decrease in the averages. At the present
time, however, the number is 385 including ¢
females and 2 juveniles.

Up to the year 1833, the prisoners received a
«daily allowance in money, and purchased their own
supplies from the Jail Moodse (grocer). In 1803
each prisoner’s allowance was fixed at three pice
or rather three puns of cowries. Owing to the
change in the currency in 1831, the allowance was
fixed at five-eighths of an 'anna, leaving it to the
discretion of the Magistrate to reduce it to four-
eighths, or to raise it to six-cighths. The allowance,
slender as it would now appear, was fully equal to
all the wants, such being the cheapness of the
articles for the daily mepn (*) of a native. This
state  of things continued till the close of 1833,
when the ration system was introduced on the re-
-commendation of the Magistrate, Mr. E. A, Samuells.
‘With this system the prisoners were said to have
been ‘“very happy and contented.” The monthly
cost of each prisoner under this arrangement was

* Mr.Toyabee in his useful Pablicatior: to which we have so often
weferred has given details of the ordinary daily wmeenn of a prisoner,
In the present day, prisoners are fed according to sanctioned scale
of diet, namely, rice eleven chuttucks and dal one and half chattucks.
besides vegetables and other necessaries,  Fish is given twice a week,
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Re 1-6-11. At first, the rations were given un-
cooked, but in November 1841 the system of giving
cooked food instead of raw rations was introduced,.
the prisoners not being averse to the change. By
Act XVIII of 1844, styled “An Act for the better
control and management of Jails within the Bengal
Presidency,” the control and superintendence of the
Jail * was vested in the Magistrate, acting under
instractions from the Judge and orders from the:
Government.

Out-door labour on roads was the commonest,
and, indeed up to 1836, the only form of labour on
which the prisoners were employed. Afterwards,
on the recommendations of the Convict Labout:
Committee which sat in Calcutta in that year, it
was abolished, except in special cases, and intra-
mural manufactures took its place. + Mr. Samuells,
the Magistrate, who was ane-of the ablest officers
that have held charge of this district, was strongly
in favour of the change, though many of his brother
officers ‘were against it, The credit of converting
this Jail into what is called an industrial Jail is.
entirely due to him, [I'he first manufacture intro-

* This syslem is still in use, but there has been some change in
the dietary. As for the civil prisoners, they find their own food and.
raiment. In fact, they have nothing to do with the criminal prisoners,
They are quartered in the Civil Ward which is near the Assistant
Jailor’s quarter in a corner of the Jail outside the wall.

+ This came to pass about the year 1840.

T Mr. Samuells rose very high in the Service, and was ultimately

raised to a seat in the Sadar Diwani Adalat at Calcutta,
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duced into it was that of paper, which was
commenced in July 1841. The Jail-made paper
was coarse and was certainly inferior in quality
and finish to that made by private parties; but
it was well able to “defy the tooth of time,” and
guard against the insidious incursious of the
Vandalic white ants, Notwithstanding its coarse
texture and rough exterior, the Magistrate largely
used it in his own office, and tried to induce other
officials to do the same. = The sale of the Jail-made
paper, though not rapid, was. still attended with
profits. From these profits, which in the average
amounted to about Rs. 758 a year, the Magistrate
in 1844 purchased four looms and started the
manufacture of clothing with the intention of using
it for the prisoners. ' As there were then some good
weavers among the inmates of the Jail, the manu-
facture proved very successful, and not only coarse,
but also fine, clothes were woven which were
quite fit for the use of ladies and gentlemen. The
Jailor was allowed 35 per cent on the net profits
of these manufactures by way of encouragement.
The result of this prudent and politic arrangement
was that in courss of time some other manufactures
were gradually introduced %, so that when in 1859,

* Mr. Dobson whom we find in charge of this Jail in the Mutiny
year and some years subsequent thereto, made considerable improve-
ments  He was rewarded for his long aud meritorious services in
several places and was at last raised to the position of Deputy
Superintendent.
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D¢ Thompson, the Civil Surgeon, drew up his
Report of the Hooghly district we find that
gunny-weaving, blanket-manufacturing, oil-preparing
and bed-making had been added to the number.
In 1872 when Dr. Hunter collected statistics for
his well-known Account of Bengal we notice that
there was the further addition of flour-grinding and
tailoring, besides  some trifles  which are not
worthy of special mention *, The subsequent
introduction of the manufacturing of satranchees
(country carpets) and the turning out boxes and
some other works of carpentry ‘made up the sum-
lotal of the manufactures which were carried on in
this Jail with more or less success. The subsequent
history of the Jail in' this respect is, however, one
of fulling off. Paper-making was given up in
consequence of the cheaper productions of the
Balli Mill; and ‘blanket-weaving in consequence
of the abundant supply of the Alipur Central Jail,
Flour-griuding was abandoued in view of the hard
competition occasioned by the extensive scale on
which this business has been carried on in Calcutta,
The absence of the wecaving class among the inmates
of the Jail put a stop to the manufacture of clothing.
Thus, it is quite manifest that the manufacturing
business has considerably declined, and, as a matter
of necessary consequence, the profits from Jail

* See Hunter’s Statistical Account of Bengal, Vol iii, p 391.
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Iabour have been much reduced. The only indus-
tries on which the prisoners are at present employed
are gunny-bag-sewing and oil-pressing, the former
the lightest, and the latter the hardest, form of
penal labour. The Jail oil, being manufactured by
human, instead of by bovine labour, is not used by
scrupulous  Hindoos. Bat  the article  itsclf s
comparatively  purer and at the same time not
dearer on that account....Some prisoners are also
employed in gardening.  Besides all these forms
of labour, some. fetch water from the river, and
some cook for the rest. Prisoners of the highest
caste are as a rule employed as cooks.

The prisoners in | this Jail are generally put to
light laboar.* s for the juv:niles and females, the
work they are made to do is lighter still; the former
being employed lon- bag-sewing and the latter on
husking and sifting rice, da/, and doing such like
things, Easy and light as is the general character
of the lahour the prisoners are employed on, they
are, however, on that account not kept on iusuffi-
cient diet, Indeed, they must be considered to be
fortunate in this respect, and, as the present jailor
informs me, are fed three times in the day, an extra
morning meal cousisting of rice being served them

before they go to work. They have to work only

* This is as it should be.  From innozence to guilt there is but a
step, and from guilt to innocence there may perhaps be Lat another.
See Hutchinson on Indian fails.
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nine hours in the day. After taking their afternoon
mzal they retire to rest for the night.  They slesp
in batches in their respective wards according to the
capacity of each ward.

While the Mahomedan criminal law was in force,—
and it was in force for a considerable period,—the
different punishments to which orisnners were
subjected were extremely severe, if not utterly
barbarous ; one of the commonest was the lopping
off of the right hand in case ofitheft. The present
Penal Code with all its stringent provisions falls
short of it in pointiof severity. Life convicts were
marked with the indelible curse of Cain. This was
done by a cruel process known as  Godena, whereby
the name of the convict, the nature of the offence,
the date of sentence, and the designation of the
sentencing Court were branded on the forehead.
Whipping which has from remote antiquity been a
well-established form' of punishment, was inflicted
from 1794 to 1796 with the much-dreaded * cat,”
but in the latter vear the less-dreaded © korah” was
again resorted to, until it gave place to the cane or
rattanx  The luckless convict was tied to the
whipping post, the “tik-tiki” of the commoners, and

stripes were applied to his bare back and shoulders,

* The Whipping Act (VI of 1863) provides that in the case of a
juvenile offender the punishment shall be inflicted in the way of school
discipline and shall not exceed 30 stripes.  In the case of an adult.
whipping shall be inflicted on his breeck with a rattan not more than
half an inch in diameter.
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and sometimes also on the posterior, The corpses
of prisoners sentenced to be hanged were, after
death, exposed to public view in gibbets near the
place of execution, and no one was allowed to
remove them. Up to 1810 the execution was
carried out at head-quarters, but from that year it
commenced to be done at the spot where the offence
had been committed. Up to 1830, when some
change in the mode of execution was made, the
gallows consisted of two ‘poles fixed horizontally,
and surmounted by a cross-bar. = On this bar rested a
ladder, which the convict and the executioner then
mounted. The latter descended after adjusting the
rope, and the ladder was then pulled away. The
fatal knot fixed itself on the throat, and after some
fitful struggle life ‘was extinct.. Until lately, the
execution took place outside the Jail, but now fcr
some time it has been done inside, and the mode
adopted is somewhat peculiar, Aunother curious,
but much milder, form of punishment was that of’
“taskir) or public exposure., The poor wretched
culprit, dressed in parti-coloured garment, with a
garland of old worn-out shoes on his neck, was
mounted on a donkey and paraded through the town
amidst the hisses and hootings of the assembled
crowd who sometimes went to the length of spitting
on his face or throwing dirt at him. Thus, this.
punishment somewhat resembled the pillory which
at one time was so very commonly practised in
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Europe* Relics of pillory * pitches” are still to
be found in England.

The practice of branding and exposing convicts
was abolished by Actii of 1849. The practice of
gibbetting was discontinued in 1833.  All prisoners
sentenced to labour were, unless found too old,
weak or diseased,t employed in gangs on the public
roads. They worked in irons, and at night were
secured in tents or huts by a chain passed through
the rings of their fetters, and fastened outside with
a padleck. Up to 1812, some of the Jails were so
insecure that prisoners were confined in stocks at
night to prevent their escape.  This practice appears
to have been entirely discontinued in 1817, Now
for some years Sunday.is allowed as a day of rest,
together with other pative festival days.

The up-country sepoys, as we have already stated,
keep watch and ward. They have no other duties
to perform. Besides these scpoys, there are five
burkundazest who are employed inside the Jail

* The pillory was established in 1837, De Foe's My to the

[2liory” opens with this noble couplet :--
¢ 11ail ! hieroglyphic state machine,
Contrived to punish innocence in.”

t Moribund prisoners are as a rule released if their relatives or
friends, as the case may be, offer to take charge of them and
guarantee their  safe keeping. Dr. Lethbridge, however, in his
Administration Report, discourages this system.

* The native irregulars, designated * Buxaries,” who were formerly
employed at Calcutta as mecessity arose, were nothing more than
Burlidases avmed and equipped in the usual native manner, without
any attempt at discipline or regularity. Broowme’s Zistery of the
Beugal Ay, po 92,
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during the day. The warder establishment consists
of 26 warders and 3 head warders. They are res-
ponsible for the safe kecping and maintenance of
order, as well as for the incustry of the prisoners
under their charge* The day of the Jailor rises
from Rs. 75 to 300, and that of the Naib from Rs. 40
to Rs. 30—a very wide difference indeed. The
present Jailor gets Rs. 133, and the present Naib
who is only an acting man’ s, 20 only.  This Jail,
so far from being a self supporting institution, charges
Government a great deal, the amount whereof varies
according to circumstances. The average cost per
bead in 1892 was fifty-twwo rupees and odd, while
the average earning per head was twelve rupees only,
Thus, it is clear that the charge for maintaininy each
prisoner was more than four tirres the earning. In the
same vear, the total profit was Rs. 3,944, Bnt this
profit, it must be observed, is 1ot profit ever expendi-
tire, but e reduction of it. In these circumstances,
the Inspector General is perfectly justifiei in ohserv-
ing that tooghly is ** once of the least cconomically
managed jails” in Bengal.t

* Conviet warders are ** public servants” within the meaning  of
Section 223 of the Indian DPenal Code, and are ecmpowered o keep
persons in confinement though they are themselves in confinement,
(Sce Oueen Vo Awlachand Maitree, 7 W L Cro Rulings, p. 09.)

b This observation was made by the Inspector General, Dr, Teth.
hridee in 1879, when Mr. Sankey, the very Falstaif of his day, was
the Jailor.  We wish we could say that circumstances arising since
have given the go-by to it, but the truth zan not be denied. The jail
does not fare better.



CHAPTER XVI.

THeE HoOOGHLY MUNICIPALITY.

HooGHLY, as we have seen, was almost in a state
-of nature before it was settled by the Portuguese,
‘the site of the town that afterwards arose, having been
for the most part covered with jungles and marshes.
[t was by reclaiming the jungles and filling up the
:marshes, that these foreigners laid the foundations
-of their settlement. ~The merchants who first came
to the place to dispose of their cargoes, built mere
sheds of bamboos for their temporary residence.
With the increase of their trade, the bamboo sheds
were replaced by |brick-built houses, Of these
buildings, the greater part were used for the storage
-of merchandise, and a few only for purposes of
habitation. Satgaon was then the main centre of
trade, but it was rapidly declining. The Saraswati
having begun to be silted up, communications by
large boats and larger vessels were becoming in-
-creasingly difficult, owing to which the ouce-flourish-
ing trade* of the place was considerably affected.
The Portuguese, taking advantage of this state of
things, tried to divert the trade to their own settle-
ment, and in this they were eminently successful.

# See Kabikankan's Cland
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This diversion of trade from the Imperial Port was
one ~f the grounds afterwards urged by the Moghul
Viceroy of Bengal for attacking Hooghly and
turning the Portuguese out of the Province.
Hooghly continued to prosper under the parental
care of the new settlers, and its fame soon spread
far and wide. The settlement, as we have already
shown,t was made somewhere in the last yuarter
of the sixteenth century, when the first and fore-
most of the four “ Great Moguls,” Akbar, was on
the throne. The necessary permission having been
given by the provincial Chief, the Portuguese lost
no time in availing themselves of it by creating a
permanent scttlement, The town which they built
probably extended from the northern limit of the
present circuit-house £ to the southern border of the
present Joraghat (double ¢kt 1t is certain that
they had no land higher up the river, and it is almost
equally certain that they had none lower down,
except, perhaps, the quarter known as Haldartuli.
As this part of Bengal was then anything but safe,
the DPortuguese thought it prudent to take steps for
the protection of their scttlement, and, accordingly
with the permission of the Mogul Viceroy, they
built a fort and dug a moat round three sides of the
town, the fourth being protected by the river, so

> Iile Chapter I
b This bailding staads on the bhoundary-line which separates Bandel
from Keota.
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that, when the moat was filled, as it was daily by
the tidal waters, the settlement assumed the aspect
of a small island. The fort had been built previous
to 1585, the year in which the place was visited by
the well-known English traveller, Ralph Fitch,

As the fame of Hooghly began to eclipse that of
Satgaon, the Mogul Governor who had his head-
quarters at the latter place, built a castle in the new
town and garrisoned it _with Moghul soldiers. In
1603, it would seem, this castle was captured by the
Portuguese and its garrison killed to a man. Itis
probable that the Moghul soldiers, or the Governor
of Satgaon, were much to blame, otherwise the
Great Mogul, Akbar)whose reign was one continued
series of successes, would not have allowed the
Portuguese to go unpunished.  As a matter of fact
they were not disturbed either in the reign of that
Emperor or in that of his son, Jehangir. Hooghly
rose to be the principal seat ‘'of commerce in this
part of Bengal, and attracted people from all
quarters. The Portuguese came in large numbers,
some from Goa and some from the mother-country.
Thus, in course of time, the number of Europeans
alone came greatly to exceed ten thousand. Though
the trade was principally carried on by water, still
the town possessed almost all the advantages of
lands within municipal bounds. There were good
roads for the convenience of passengers and equally
good drains for the discharge of surplus water.
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Indeed, sanitation appears to have made a fair
progress, and the general health of the towns-people
was far from bad. As a matter of fact, we hear
of no epidemic having broken out during the whole
period the Portuguese held it.  And not only sani-
tation, but what is called supreme law,* to wit,
the safety of the inhabitants, was duly provided for,
There were night-guards who were not allowed to
sleep over their duty as some of them now do
Though the surrounding villages now and then
suffered from the ravages of robbirs, Hoouhly itself
was seldom the scene of such clisturbances. The
only oppression which the natives suffered was from
the Portuguese themselves, and this was sometimes
very unjust and arbitrary. | Even the serious matter
of religion was interfered with, and not unfrequently
were people forcibly  converted to Christianity,
against the spirit of its teachings.

The Portuguese at Hooghly reached the acme
of their power and affluence in the beginning of the
seventeenth century. But their fall was as sudden
in its occurrence as it was terrible in its consequence
This event took place, as we have already stated,* in
1632. The town was destroved and with it the
Portuguese trade in Bengal became a memory of
the past. The offices were removed from Satgaon
to Hooghly which became the chief port, if not the

* Salus populr suprema lex.
t Pide Chapter 1.

W
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only port, of the western arm of the Ganges. Thus,
as a matter of fact, the prosperity of the town
was not much affected by its change of masters.
A Fouzdar was appointed to keep the country
~under check and control, and he fixed his head-
quarters at Hooghly. This officer was liberally
paid, and possessed considerable powers. [n fact,
he was only second to the Chief Governor of Sircar
Satgaon. The Portuguese fort having been demol-
ished, another fort was built by the Moguls for
the protection of the town. Close to the fort were
the private palace and gardens of the Fouzdar.
These works occupied the grounds extending from
the deep ditch to the west of the Post-office buildings
right up to the place  on which the present jail
stands.

Shortly after the expulsion of the Portuguese,
the English came to Hooghly for purposes of trade,
but they were not allowed to build a factory until
the year 1644. The Dutch also arrived about the
same time, but they soon removed to the neigh-
bouring village of Chinsura* and established there
their settlement, which they afterwards strongly
fortified. The north gate of their fort stood some-
where on the land which adjoins the Joraghat.
The Dutch drove as brisk a trade at Chinsura as

* The r)hl)()GODth hhmrnn of the vrpp&an Settlements in f/lf,

East and [Vest Indies, the Abbé Raynal, describes Chinsura as a
suhurb of Hooghly.
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the English did at Hooghly, and as both these
nations were remarkable for commercial enterprises,
they received great encouragement at the hands
of the Mogul Governors. But though the town
did wnot suffer in point of trade by the expulsion of
the Portuguse, there was some falling off in a sani-
tary poiut of view, The roads were no longer kept
as neat and clean as they had been during the time
of the Portuguese, nor were the drains properly
looked after, Nevertheless, it would seem that
sanitation was not -altogether weglected, and this
is best proved by the fact that during the Mogul
sway, the townsfolk did not suifer from epidemics,
nor was there much sickuness in the land, True to
their instinct, the Mogul officers never attempted
European cleanliness in their peisons, or European
neatness in the piaces they lived in or governed.
But there was one important improvement which
the town owed the Moguls.  This was its division
into eighteen Mokullas,t or wards, some of which
are traceable even in the present day,

With the loss of Moslem supremacy in Bzngal
Hooghly was cast quite in the shade. In Javuary
1757, it was captured and sacked by the English.

* Commerce raised Holland from her rtorasses, and Venice from
her canals. Chinsura was the chiel trade-mart of the Duich
in Bengal.

T The town has now been exlended to the southern limit of the
village of Mir-Kala, and the number of 3/ku/las increased to
thirty-seven.
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This terrible mishap gave the death-blow to its.
pride and prosperity. Calcutta was establishod as.
the seat of Government, and all the public offices.
were removed there. Hooghly thus fell into sad
insignificance, True, it continued to be the resi-
dence of the Fouzdar, but it lost its former importance.
Even that office was at last abolished in 1703*%, and:
in 1795 the Hooghly district was formed. With
its formation into a district, Hooghly regained some
of its former importance, though it was a mere
trifle in comparison with what it had been before..
An officer was appointed, who exercised the func-
tions of both Judge and Magistrate, the revenue
jurisdiction remaining, as beforz, with the Collecton
of Burdwan. Though the town became the head-
quarters of the district, it 'but ill deserved that
honour, to such a low state it had fallen. Indeed,
it was anything but a respectable-looking town.
The Judge-Magistrate described it in 1814 as

“i’l

small straggling town,” and, what was more to be
regretted, it was anything but secure. The author-
ities soon adopted suitable measures for improving
this deplorable state of things. The Government
passed Regulation XIil in 1813, and, thus, sowed
the first seeds of Municipal Government in Bengal.
Uuder its provisions the inhabitants of towns were
empowered to make better provision for watch

* Mr. Morley, bowever, says that the Fouzdars were abolished in,
1781, The Administration of Justice, 1858, p 51.
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and ward, and for the protection of their property.
As Hooghly needed such a law, it was introduced
into it early in June the following year, Sixty
‘Chowkidars were appointed to the two main sections,
Bali and Goleghat, into which the town was divided,
and as they were only too earnest and careful in
the discharge of their duties, the sleepless gentlemen
of the night found their palmy days numbered.
“The Magistrate reported. that since the establish-
ment of the Chowkidars, there Tiad been no robberies
-or even thefts,

The Regulation of 1813 was certainly a whole-
some law, but the procedure prescribed in it was
not equally happy. | At any rate, serious defects
were found in its working, and it was deemed
-absolutely necessary to remedy them. Accordingly,
Regulation XI1* was passed in 1816 which besides
remedying those defects, laid down, for the first
time, rules for conservancy, ' lighting and other
municipal purposes. About this time, Mr, C. D.
Smyth, whose name has justly become a household
word in this part of Bengal, joined the District as
its judicial and executive Head, and it is to him
that Hooghly owes many of the improvements
which still live to tell their own tale But as
Mr. Smyth was engaged in other matters in the
first few years of his rule, none of these improve-

* This Regulation was a little modified by Regulations VII of
a8r1 7 and I of 1821,
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ments date from a period anterior to the year 1823,
in which a calamitous flood ravaged this part of
the Province. In fact, it was this disastrous visita-
tion which gave a strong impetus to his mind
and mainly led to his initiating the reforms which
he had so much at heart. He looked about for
funds, and finding to his satisfaction that the town
duties levied under Regulation X of 1810 showed
a surplus, he took some two thounsand rupees out
of them, and spent the amount-on the improvement
of the town. But he did not stop here. In fact,
this was only the beginning, and, as the measure
elicited praise from the higher authorities, it was
followed up, until in 1829 the town assumed a very
respectable appearance. In that year nearly five
thousand rupeés were spent, and as Mr. Smyth
was also a thorough man. of business, the money
was laid out to the best advantage. The public
road near the the Collectorate was widened; the
Civil Court tank, the Pipalpati tank and some other
tanks were excavated; trees were planted by the
sides of the roads, and some of the roads themselves.
were metalled with brick. The handsome masonry-
ghat which bears the familiar, but not the less
honoured, name of Smyth was built in the same
year. The old circuit-house also dates from about
the same time.

While these improvements were being made in
the town, down came like a bolt from the klue the
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order of the Government of India discontinuing “the
further appropriation of the surplus town duties to
purposes of public improvement;” dissolving the
local committees and placing their duties in the
hands of the Magistrate, Thus, the noble work
which Mr. Smyth had taken in hand and in which
he had made considerable progress, had suddenly to
be stopped, and it is, therefore, no wonder that we
hear no more of municipal matters until 1837, when
a change for the bettéer came over the aspect of
affairs.

By Regulation XV of that year, the maximum
Chowkidari assessment under Regulation XII of
1816 was raised to Rs. 2, ‘and the principle of apply-
ing the surplus collections to improvements in the
town was re-affirmed. Two fire-engines were pur-
chased from Calcutta-in this year. The work which
had to be stopped towards the close of the year
1820, was resumed with re-doubled vigour, and the
result was that Hooghly as well as Chinsura soon
presented “ an appearance of neatness and regularity
not often observable in the towns of the Lower
Provinces.” But the work of improvement was not
yet complete, notwithstanding the progress which
had been already made. Some parts of the town
were still overgrown with jungle and contained
many stagnant pools which required to be filled up
at once. The river, moreover, was subject to conta-
mination from corpses and carcases and the dirty
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contents of conservancy carts which used to be
constantly thrown and emptied into it.

The offices of Judge and Magistrate having been
separated* by this time, Mr. E. A, Samuells was
placed in charge of the executive department.
This officer was a worthy successor of Mi. Smyth in
the Magistracy, and gave his heart and soul to the
work he was entrusted with. Owing to the increase
of Chowkidari tax by Regulation XV of 1837,
collections could not 'be ade with ease and punc-
tuality.  The Chowkidars grumbled for the arrears
into which their pay had fallen, and the safety of the
town was jeopardised. At this juncture some lead-
ing men of the place came forward and offered to
take the collections into their own hands, guarantee-
ing the full amount of the existing assessment.
The Magistrate, Mr. Samuells, approving of this
system of local self-government, reported their offer
to Government for sanction, and, on this being

* This was certzinly a move in the right direction. Dr. Adam
Smith very properly oliserves 1 ** When the Judicial is united to the
Executive power, it is scarcely possible that justice should not
frequently be sacrificed to what is vulgarly called politics.  The
persons entrusted with the great interests of the Slate may even
without any corrupt views sometimes imagine it necessary to sacrifice
to those interests the rights of a private man.  But upon the impartial
administration of justice depends the liberty of every individual, the
sense which he has of his own security. In order to make every
individual feel himself perfectly sccure in the possession of every right
which belongs to him, it is not only necessary that the judicial should
be separated from the executive power, but that it should be rendered
as much as possible independent of that power.”  Wealth of Nattons
Book V, Chap. I, lart 1L See also  Sir Richand Garth’s, o /e
plain Truths abous India.
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-granted, called a public meeting of the inhabitants
on the sth June, 1840. The meeting was a great
success, and a Committee consisting of nine members
was appointed to take into consideration measures
for the Municipal management of the towns of
Hooghly, Chinsura and Chandernagore. Baboo
Roma Prosad Roy, who afterwards so highly distin-
cuished himself in the Sadar Dewani Adalat, and
Syed Keramat Ali, the recognised head of the
Mahomedan community, took part in the proceed-
ings. The Meeting, indeed, may be said to mark an
-epoch in the aunnals of thc Municipal Government of
Hooghly. The Committee, appointed at it, clected
Syed Keramat Ali as President. and Baboo Eshan
‘Chundra Banerjee of the Education Department as
Honorary Secretary. = This being done, they request-
ed the Magistrate to make over to them the full
.control of the conservancy, collecting and Chowkidari
establishments, and to/ appoint a writer “to do the
drudgery.,” But as the Magistrate was not legally
competent to grant such request, the Committee was
placed in an euntirely false position., In the mean-
time, the President and the members quarrelied over
the appointment of a Bukshee, and the result was
that the former threw up his appointment, when
Moulvie Akbar Shah, one of the members, was
appointed President in -his place. To add to the
«confusion, the people, mistaking the real object of
the meeting of the sth of June, took it to be a



302 HOOGHLY PAST AND PIPRESKNT.

preliminary to fresh taxation, and threw every
possible obstacle in the way of the Committee. Thus,
as a matter of fact, nothing of real importance had
been done, when, in September 1841, the term of
one year for which the Committee had been appointed
expired.

Considering the untoward circumstances with
which the Committee had all along struggled, there
seemed to be little probability of its being elected
a second time, but as gnod fortune would have it, it
was re elected in February, 1842, Its first act, after
its re-election, was the verv proper and sensible one
of asking the Magistrate to move the Government to
define more clearly its duties. powers and respon-
sibilities, and the outcome of this request was the
passing of  Act N of 1842%—the first purely
Municipal law in B2agal, “to make better provision
for purposes connzcted with the public health and
couvenience.” By this Act the inhabitants of the
town into which it was introduced were empowered
to appoint a Committee, and the Committee, so
appointed, was empowered to impose a tax on
houses not exceeding 5 per cent. on their annual
value. The details of the working of the Act were
provided for by rules, and the Government reserved
to itself the right of dissolving the Comumittee at

any time. Under this Act Chandernagore was added

* This Act was repealed by Act NXVT of 1850,
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to the Municipality, which formerly included only
Hooghly and Chinsura.  The Committee began
their work in right good earnes?, but an unforeseen
occurrence soon presented itself which upset all their
plans.  In August, 1844, the country was suddenly
overtaken by a formidable Aocod, which in violence
and the amount of injury done by it was only second
to the memorable flood of 1823. Many bieaches
were made in the Damudar. embankments, and the
consequence was that the vllages all round were
inundated.  The. waters rcached Chinsura and
Hooghly, and filled/all the ditches and drains.  This
flood was followed by drought, and the drought
again was followed by another lood in 1845.

From some timme before that vear Mr. G. P.
Levcester was Magistrate,  but he soon left the
District, making over charge to Mr. S. Wauchope.
The latter, too, remained only for a short time, and
we find him succecded in 'the next year by Mr. AL
Reid. Mr. Wauchope had already distinguished
himself as an executive officer ; but much greater
reputation was in store for him when, in his capacity
of Dacoity Commissioner, he succeeded in putting
down dacoity which had become so verv dangerous
to the peace of the country. The magisterial
authorities being busy with mere important matters,
the Municipal administration ¢f the town showed little
sign of fmprovement. In fact, this state of things

continned till 1856, when the Government passed
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Act XX, thereby repealing Act XIT of 1816, which
had all along been in operation.

By the new Act, power was given to the Magis-
‘trate to determine the number of Chowkidars, with
the limitation that in no case should it exceed one
to every twenty-five houses. In the matter of assess-
ment, option was given to levy the tax either accord-
ing to the circumstances of the people, or according
to the value of their heldings, But before the
authorities had had timeto put this Act into working
order, the Sepoy Mutiny: broke out and spread from
one end of Hindustan to the other. At this time
Mr, F¥. R. Cockerell was the Magistrate of Hooghly,
Fully alive, as he was, to the danger which was
hanging over the British Empire, he did not forget
the ordinary duties of ‘his office. Nay, he even
jound time to Jook after the improvement of the
town. As Hooghly stood in need of a Strand Road,
he made up his mind to construct one, and at once
commenced work which had advanced far towards
completion when the exigencies of Government
service compelled Mr. Cockerell to leave the district,
making over charge to Lord Ulick Browne, Only
the finishing touch, as it were, had to be put to the
work by the latter officer, and yet, taking the whole
credit to himself, he put up a commemoration stone
bearillg his own name and that of the Jailor. The
Strand Road is certainly a valuable acquistion to the
besides affording considerable facilities

tovn, for,
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for locomotion and transit, it has added much to its
beanty and symmetry. But, unfortunately, since the
construction of the splendid Jubilee bridge over the
river at Gholeghat, it has been wearing away, and it
is apprehenaed that, unless preventive measures are
taken, it will be swept away altogether in the course
of afew years. In this state of things it behnves
both the Magistrate and the Municipal Chairman
to make every possible effort to check the further
encroachment of the river.

Hitherto, no attempt had been made to reduce
municipal administration tc a system. But, as years
rolled on, such a system became necessary, and,.
accordingly, tn 1804 the Bengal Council passed
Act I11, which was the firszattempt in that direction.
This Act was introduced in Hcoghly in the following
year, when luckily the Magistracy was in the hands
of Mr. R. V. Cockerell, a_worthy brother of Mr. F,
R. Cockerell.  The Cockerells have done yeoman’s
service to the district, and it is only just and proper
that their names should be held in grateful remem-
brance. As under the Act the Magistrate was to be
the Chairman, Mr. Cockerell formed a Council of
his own, and, with the assistance of his co-adjutors,
proceeded to supply the wants of the town, But
nothing could be done without money. Accordingly,
assessment operations were set in motion., Baboo
Romesh Chandra Mookerjee, who had distinguished
himself as Darogah, was the officer selected for this
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purpose ; but unfortunately his proceedings caused
great dissatisfaction. That the hardship was keenly
felt is evidenced by the heavy arrears which were
{found to be due at the end of the year. The demand
for the year was Rs. 28,000 and odd, but the
amount actually  realised did not come up to
Rs. 22.000.

While assessment was busily going on, the Magis-
trate put his hand to a worloof public utility.  This
was the making of a road from the Hooghly Rail-
way Station to the side of the river at Baboogunge.
Some portions of the private Jands which fell in the
road were purchased, and some portions given free
of charge by their owners. 'The work was com-
menced in 1863, but althongh it was continued
without intermission, it was ot completed before
1868. The Chairinan's report of the 2nd June 1366
shows that in the year under review inore than
twelve thousand rupees had been spent on the road.
Indeed, it cost in round numbers eighteen thousand
rupees. But, heavy as the cost was, the road is
certainly a very valuable acquisition to the town.
Indeed, as far as road-making goes, the Cockerell
brothers might well vie with Mr, D. C. Smyth who
was the first to make some good roads in the station
which still testify to the deep interest he took in its
amelioration and advauncement. Mr. R, V. Cockerell
<arried out some other works for civic improvement,
but that for which he is best known, and which very
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properly bears his name, is the splendid road we
have spoken of above,

Mr. Cockerell left the district for good in 1870,
when Mr, F. H, Pellew took his place in the
Magistracy and the Municipality,  In that year was
passed Act VIII, which orovided for the appoint-
ment, dismissal and maintenance of village Chowki-
dars. This Act underwent some modifications in
subsequent years* but.the, main provisions have
remained unaltered-up to the present time, TIn 1871,
fever raged very violently in the district, and as
subsoil  humidity ‘and  obstrocted drainage were
considered to be its proximate causes, the Hooghly
and Burdwan Drainage Act + was passed.  Rut,
beyond passing the Act, no ' noteworthy attempt
wonld seem to have been inade to introduce a better
system of drainage. In fact. as far as the town is
concerned, its drainage s still anvthing but good.
But it is gratifying to observe that the Municipality
has, at last, warmed up to its duty, and has made a
survey aud measurement of the town in view of a
better drainage scheme ; and it is needless to say,
the sooner the scheme is put into operation the
better.

In 1872, when Sir George Campbell was in
charge of the Government of Bengal, a census was

taken of the whole Province, and it was found that

E By Acts T of 1871 and 1886.
t Act V oof 1871,
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the population of the Hooghly Municipality amounted:
to 67,538, showing a decrease of more than 2,500
souls from that of 1837, This fact is alone sufficient
to show that the health of the town, so far from
improving, had deteriorated, and this conclusion is.
confirmed by the successive reports of the Civil
Surgeon.

Act IIT of 1864 had worked pretty well, but
change of circomstances necessitated an alteration
in some of its provisions, and,accordingly, in 1876
the Bengal Council repealed it, along with its suabsi-
diary Acts, by Act 'V, which was properly styled
the Mofussil Municipalities Act. As a supplement
to the latter Act, was passed in 1878 Act VI, which
provided for the construction and cleansing of
latrines in first-class Municipalities. These two Acts
remained in force till 1884, when they were repealed
by Act I1I, which is the governing law on the
subject. This Act which came into force on the 1st
August had for its object the amendment and con-
solidation of the law relating to Municipalities. The
principle of this Act is very different from that of’
the English Municipal Corporations Act, 1882, for
while, under the latter Act, Municipality means the
‘whole body of the inhabitants of a borough, under
-the former, the body corporate is constituted by the
‘incorporation of the Commissioners only; but since
the introduction of the elective system, the difference
has to a considerable extent disappeared. Although,



HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT. 369

as a matter of fact, the Commissioners form
the body corporate, two-thirds of their number
being elected by the rate-payers, the inhabitants of
the Municipality as a body have evidently « voice
in the Council.

In order to understand the general scope of the
Bengal Act, it is necessary to consider what the
purposes are to which the Municipal fund may be
applied, and how they have been provided for
Those purposes, as rstated insection 69, are as
follows :—1. Construction aand  improvements of
roads, bridges, and the like. 2. The supply of
water, and the lighting and  watering of roads.

The erection and maintenance of offices and other
buildings. 4. Other  ‘works of public utility for
the promotion of the health, comfort or convenience
of the inhabitants. 5. The construction and repair
of school-houses and the like, 6. The establish-
ment and maintenance of ‘hospitals and dispensaries.
7. The promotion of vaccination, 9. The main-
tenance of a fire-engine.

The Municipal fund is mainly derived from a
house-tax* and a conservancy tax. Th<_ holdings

The principle under which houose-tax s q“cwul in I ngland is
thus laid down Ly 1. S, Mill: ““When t1e occupier is not the owner,
and does not hold on a repairing lease, the rent he pays is the mex-
sure of what the house costs him 3 but when he is the owner, some
other measure must be sought. A valuation should be made of the
house, not at what it would sell for, bat at what would be the cost
of 1'ebu|1dm<Y it, and this valuation might be periodically ccrrected
by an allowance for what it had lostin velue by time, or gained by
repairs and improvements. Loiitical Econony, Book V, Chap. 111
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are assessed according to their annual value, which
is determined by the gross annual rent for which
any holding may be reasonably expected to let.*
The only exemption is in favour of holdings of

which the annual value is /Jess than siv rupees. +

* This is the right principle : bnt houses not inhabited shauld not
be taxed at all,  On the subject of house-tax, Adam Smith’s Wealth
-of Nutions may be advantageously consulted. In that learned work,
the father of political economists observes :—¢“lHouses not inhabited
ought to pay no tax. A tax upon them would fall altogether upon
the proprietor, who would thus be taxed for a suhject which afforded
him  mneither conveniency nur revenue.  Houses inhabited by the
proprictor ought to be ‘rated, not according 1o the expense which
they might have cost in building, but according to the rent which an
equitable arbitratisn might judge them likely to bring, if lettoa
tenant.”  Book V, Chap. I, p. 355 Edinburch, 1829. A little
further on, the author says:—‘*Untenanted houses, though by law
subject to the tax, are, in most districts, exempted from it by the
favour of the assessors.” This is asiit should be. Tt is also worthy
-of remark that, as when a house is rehuilt, improved or enlarged,
there is a new valuation for purposes of taxation, so by parity of
reasoning in the event of a house having suffered much from wear
and tear of time, there should be a new valuation with a view to the
reduction of its tax.  But unfortunately this equitable principle is
seldom, if ever, acted upon in this Municipality.

1t Mill very properly observes:-—-“As incomes below a certain
amount ought to he exempt from income-tax, so ought houses bLelow
a certain value from house-tax, on the universal principle of sparing
from all taxation the absolute necessaries of healthful existence.”
Political Economy, Book \, Chap. III.  Houses being necessaries,
they should not be so heavily taxed as /wvaries. Hence, house-
tax must from its very nature be moderate; but, unforluna[cly for
the public, this sound principle is not always acted upon. In civi-
lised Greece, even war tax, which is so very necessary for the defence
of the country, was very moderate. The Abbe Raynal says;—
““The impost laid Ly Aristides on all Greece for the suppor: of the
war against Persia was so moderate, that those who were to contri-
bute of themselves celled it the kappy fortunc of Greece ! What times
were these, and what a country in which taxes made the happiness of
the people 1" History of Settlements in the East and IFest Indies,
Book XIX.

In Chapter V. of the aforesafd Book V, speaking of Jocal taxes as
distinguished fron: general taxes, the author says :— It is an impor-
tant principle, however, that taxes imposed by a local authority,
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The prevailing rate of taxation is not the maximum
rate ¥ of 7} per cent. allowed by the Act, but
6% per ceut. only, The conservancy tax is a little
more than half of the house-tax. In 1889-92 the
total income was Rs. 36,861, but in the next year
it fell to Rs. 49,531, and in 1862-93 it was stil; less,
being Rs. 47,438 only. Thus, the average income
may be stated in round numbers at Rs. 50,0002, +
and the average expenditure also being about the
same amount, equilibrium ‘is-nearly maintained. §
This being the state of the finances of the Munici-
pality, let us see how it has served the purposes for
‘which it has been established and maintained.

At the outset of British rule in Bengal, the district
had no road worthy of the name.§ As for the roads

heing less amenable to publicity and discassion than the acts of the
government, should always b especial laid on for some detinite
service, and not exceeding the expense actually incurred in rendering
the service.”  Le then goes onlto say that when, for instance, the
tolls on roads or bridges have repaid with interest the whole of the
ceapenditure, the voad or bridge should be thrown open to the general
public frve of #o/. In this connectior we deem it proper to notice
that in this Municipality 2o //s are lev.ed on roads or bridges.

* Unfortunately for this poor town, the maximuwin has now been
reached, and that at the instance of the present Chairman, Babu
Sistupacda Chatterjee, for which he certainly deserves to reciive some
substantial recoguition from Government,

+ In 1902-3 the total income was Rs. 54,000 against 56,794 in
the previous year.

v It is observable that while the population increased from 31,177
in 1890-91 to 33,060 in 1892-93, the number of rate-payers «decreased
from 8,406 in 1890-91 to 7,715 in 1892-73 ; and, accordingly, there
has been some diminution in the income.

§ In Rennell’s Map of the Hooghly district, however, it is shown
as traversed by roads in cvery direction, but they were rather tracks
set apart as roads than roads themselves.
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spoken of by the great geographer, they were, asa
rule, strips of land set apart at the various settle-
ments for the purpose of public trade. Metalling
and raising were quite unknown, and bridges there
were only few* This state of things continued till
Mr. C. D. Smyth was appointed to the district.¥
Now, what was true of the district in general was
not untrue of the head station. This town, too,
stood in sad want of roads. But, with the advent
of Mr. Smyth, this want was removed to a consi-
derable extent. He constructed some good roads,
most of which, if not all, are’ still in existence in
some form or other. "The example set by Mr. Smyth
was not lost upon his successors, so that Ifooghly
does not now stand much in need of roads. In fact
it is almost covered with a net-work of roads and
lanes ; and if one or two. deficiencies were supplied,
it would be well provided so far as road-making
goes.

Besides the Grand Trunk Road, there are the
Strand road, the Pipalpati road, the Pankhatuli road,
and the Chuck Bazar road, all running southwards

* Toynbee, p. 105.

t Even in 1837, the Magistrate remarked that “there was not a
single road in the district which a uropean vehicle could traverse,
while the number passable for hackeries in the rains are lamentably
few.” In connection with road-making, we deem it proper to mention
the name of Baboo Chaku Ram Singh, Zemindar of Bhastara, who.
at his own expense constructed and also kept in repair an excellent
road from Tribeni to his own village. He also gave Rs. 500 for the
repairs of the ITooghly town roads.
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towards Chinsura. The Bolagore road, which after
meeting the Grand Trunk Roac, passes through Bali
and the places to its south, supplies the wants of the
people residing in the western quarter of the town.
‘Corresponding to these roads which run north and
south, there are the Jubilee road and the Cockerell
road running east and west, The Jubilee road has
been recently made, and, as it was constructed
during the time when Mr. B. De was the Chairman
of the Municipality, “it bears his name. But, as a
matter of fact, the road was not the work of the
Municipality. It was constructed by the Railway
Company for the easy transit of their building
materials, and has since been purchased from them
by the Municipality, which has metalled it. This
road commences from the limambara ferry-ghat and
runs up direct towards-the west, until it meets the
Pankhatuli road, whence, taking a little turn, it
moves on like a huge unwieldy cobra before it crosses
the Cockerell road, whence it runs direct towards
Chinsura, The Cockerell road is the best in the
whole station. It lies like a long wide riband,
having its one end at the Baboogunge ghat and its
-other at the IHooghly Railway station. It is so
straight that even a blind man might travel by it
without the aid of a guide. At the boundary be-
tween Hooghly and Chinsura, there is a4 lane which
runs westwards from Joraghat, If this lane were
widened into a road and made to join the Charghata
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road, it would not only be a source of great conve-
nience to people living in that quarter, but would.
add to the beauty and symmetry of the town. The:
Bolagore road extension, which passes through Bali
and its neighbourhood, also needs to be widened in
some places. Some of the bye-ways, it is true, are-
not as good as might be wished, but it is impossible:
to give general satisfaction in this respect. Thus,
on the whole, Hooghly cannot be said to stand much.
in need of the means of easy and couvenient loco-
motion and transit,

But the mere making of roads is not all that is.
required of a Municipality ; it is equally necessary
to maintain them in proper order. It is often found
that to get a thing is not so difficult as to refain it.
In the matter of roads, other people might learn
from the French., Europe of all parts of the world
is famous for its roads, and France of all European
countries stands conspicuous in this respect. French
roads are the best in the whole world.* Their road-
men pay particular attention to the roads, and are
always vigilant over them. If anything goes wrong,
they readily set it right, always acting upon the
maxim of “a stitch in time saving nine” To
construct a road is not so difficult as to keep it in
order. Good roads become bad roads through:
neglect, while bad roads become good roads, if well

** See also Adam Swith’s Wealth of Nativns, Book V', Chap. B
Pp. 303-300.
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cared for, French roads are well keptin both wet
and dry weather. If there is mud in the roads, the
road-men soon scrape it off, avd if there is dust they
sweep it off. This should be cone in every respect-
able Municipality, but, as a matter of fact, it is.
seldom done. We hope, however, that in the matter
of the maintenance of the roads, the Muricipal
authorities of this town will try to follow the French,
and if they need ocular demonstration of the doings.
of that civilized nation, they might satisfy them.
selves by a glance at their only remaining Settlement
in Bengal. Bridges there are fcw in this town, and
they are not badly kept. But some hollow places.
require to be spanned. by culverts, for in the rainy
season locomotion becomes difficult in consequence
of the overflow of water in taem. This want is
keenly felt in certain parts of Gholeghat and Bali,
and [ need not say that it should be supplied without
any further delay.

Nothing is more conducive to health than pure,
wholesome water, and it is no exaggeration to say,
with the Sanskrit poets, that it is Jrfe itself. That
this is so, we need not go far for proof, as it is best
evidenced in Calcutta which, since the introduction
of water-works, has, from an unhealthy place, been
turned into almost a sanitarium. DButall places do
not require such works, nor can all places afford to
pay for them, Hooghly is too poor to bear such an
additional charge, and, unfortunately for us, we have
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no Nabob Gunny Meah or Nabob Ahsanullah
amongst us, [t is true, Maharaja Durga Charan
T.aha * is a oative of Chinsura. But, though the
Maharaja has certainly the means, I doubt very
much if he has also the wish to emulate these bene-
factors. We are told, however, that at a meeting
which was held for the purpose he offered to pay
ten thouasand rupees for the proposed works, on
condition that water should be supplied to the
inhabitants free of charge ; but where is the remainder
of the amount to come from? It is open to
question whether such works are absolutely necessary
in this part of the country. Here the water of the
river is not brackish as in Calcutta, and, except in
‘the rainy months, it remains sufficiently pure, requir-
ing no filtering before it can be drunk. In this
opinion we do not stand unique, as we are borne
out by the Administration Report of the Munici-
pality for the year 1890-9f. In that Report itis
stated, evidently on the authority of the local Civil
Surgeon, that the river water in this part of the
country is not unwholesome, and that the water of
‘the tanks resorted to by the people is also good.}

* This prince of native merchants has since died, leaving two
worthy sons to irherit his vast fortune,

t+ In the Serampore Municipality also, there are no water-works,
and yet the people do not seem to suffer at all.  ““The river water
is used by almost all the people residing close to the river.  The
peeple who live in the interior obtain water from tanks for drinking
and other domestle purposes.”  Administration Report of the Scram-
orfe Muicipality for 1892-93.
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This being the real state of things, and as increase
of taxation will make the burden intolerable, we
may well defer the introduction of water-works to
some future time. For the present, as a provision
against the impurity of the river water during the
rains, some additional tanks should be excavated,
which should be reserved for drinking purposes
only. To force water-works upon the people when
they do not urgently repuire them, would be neither
just nor proper. We nced not remind our Chair-
man,* in passing, that, while there was only one
meeting in favour of the scheme, there have been
several to protest against it.

Russell, in his Diary in the East, observes that
wind in Cairo means dust, and dust means utter
discomfort. Now, what is true of that Grand City
is also true of many other places in the FEast
Hooghly is not an exception, In the hot season
dust rises on the least provocation. In such a place,
road-watering is absolutely necessary, aud the
Municipal authorities too are not quite remiss in
this matter. But unfortunately for the general
public the watering is not doae in the way in which
it should be done. The fact is that while some
favoured spots are watered to the consistency of
clay, not a few are left wholly to themselves. In
this connection, we ought to notice the benefit which

* The Chairman  referred 1o has since heen sammoned away from
his world unto the next.
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has been conferred on the Municipality by the present
Chairman * by sinking a large well at Bhutkhana,
mainly for the purpose of watering the Pankhatuli
and Pipulpati roads. This well, though it cost a
pretty large sum, has done much good in the way
of supplying water for watering the roads as well
as for domestic purposcs. An establishment of
fifteen gariwans and ten sweepers has also been
kept up for the purpose of sweeping the roads and
removing the street sweepings:

The lighting of the town again has not becn
forgotten, the present Chairman - especially deser-
ving credit for having increased the number of lights
from 300 to 462. [n Calcutta, the lights are so
many and are so beautifully arranged that it seems
as if the festival of the Dewali were celebrated there
every night,  Although this not the case in Hooghly,
still the lights that exist are at least in some parts
reasonably sufficient for the purposes for which they
have been set up.?

Next in importance to the supply of pure water
is the drainage of Zwpure water. Water has been
called life, but what is /i/c under one state of
circumstances may prove deat/ in another. Water

which in its running state conduces to health and

* This was writter when the late Rai Eshan Chandra  Mitter
Bahadur was the Chairmarn.

t Vide the above Note.

+ In 1902-3 street lighting cost only Rs 3.875. No lighting
rate 15 levied in this Municipality.
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happiness becomes a fruitful source of injury and
misery when it is allowed to stagnate. This is
the main, if not the only, reason why low marshes.
and silted-up streams breed malaria and give rise
to fever and other diseases, The Districts of
Twenty-four Parganas, Nadia, Murshidabad, Burdwan
and Hooghly, were at cne time very healthy ; but
they have become for some years very unhealthy,
simply because the rivers _and streams, which were
the natural channels;~have silted up and ceased to
perform their functions, thereby producing obstruc-
tions and causing ague and fever, The silting-up
of the Saraswati has contriduted, not a little, to the
generation and spread of malarial fever in Tribeni
and its neighbouring villages, all of which were,
in days not loug gone by, remarkably healthy spots.
The drainage of the Dankunia &/kec/s in this district
has considerably improved the health and fertility
of the surrounding villages.' 'Not many years ago,
Calcutta was little better than the notoriously
unhealthy places lower down the river, but since
the introduction of water-works and the improved
system of drainage, a great change for the better
has come over it, insomuch that it would be no
exaggeration to say that it has become almost a
sanitarium.#  Kxcept in the comparatively dirty

* The island of Bombay was for a long time an object of general
horror.  No man chose to seltle in a territony so unhealthy as 1o
give rise (o the proverb, Zhat ar Bombay a mai's life Jid not
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quarters of Bali the general health of the town is not
bad ; but, bad though it is not, it cannot be said
to be positively good, and this is mainly owing to
its  defective drainage, True it is, there are no
marshes or swamps in it, or else the place would
become a regular Golgotha ; but the existing drains
are so ill kept that they have almost ceased to
perform their functions, As they stand at present,
the waters, not finding proper outlet, stagnate, and
by coming into close contact with rank vegetation,
breed malaria. Now that the Municipality has
gained importance as a public institution existing
for the promotion of the health and comforts of its
inhabitants, it is its bounden duty to show that
it has not been remiss| in_duly | executing the grave
«charge which it has taken upon itself to perform ;
and, as we have stated before, the proposed drainage
scheme, in view of which survey has been made
and levels taken, should be put into actual operation
without delay.*

Besides adopting means to promote the health of
its inhabitants, however, a Municipality should

exreed fwo aonsoons.  The country places were then filled  with
bamboos and cocoa trees: it was with stinking fish that the trees
were dunged, and the coasts were corrupted with infectious fens.
Afterwards, with the advent of the English, the insalubrity of the
air was corrected by laying the country open and procuring a drain
for the waters.  See Abbe Rayunal's Zlistory of FEuropewn Seitloments
i the East and West, Book 1IL, J. O, Justamond’s translation, 1873.

* In 1902-3 drainage cost Rs. 3,360 against 2,704 in the previous
yead.
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proceed further and also provide means for the
recruiting of health when it has been put out of
order. The human body, as the Bengali adage goes,
is a store-house of distempers, and however carefully
we may try to keep it from going wrong, it will now
and then lose its even tenour and have to seek the
aid of the healing art for the restoration of its
normal condition. Our Municipality does not fulfil
its duty in this respect, for the Commissioners have
no dispensary of their own* The only public
dispensary which exists in/ the Municipality is the
Imambara Hospital, the whole expenditure of which
is borne by what is called the Mohsin funds.  This
Hospital has been in existence since 1836,% and has,
we must admit, done some good to the general
public. A Cholera Hospital has since been established
in Chinsura, mainly through the exertions of the
present Chairman.! The attempt is undoubtedly a very
noble one, and we hope and belizve that it will prove
a successful institution in the cause of humanity.

[f, again, it is necessary to provide means for the
health of the body, it is equally necessary to provide
means for the health of the mind, ignorance being
no better than savagery. This want can only be

* The Serampore Municipality has ~wo Dispensaries o its
own, which are maintained at a cost of about Rs, 4,300,

+ The Serampore Native Hospital was also established in this year,
chiefly through the exertions of the Rev.  Dr. Marshman and Dr.
Voigt, the Civil Surgeon. See F. G. Elberling’s Report, 1845,

+ Written when the late Rai Eshan Chandra Mitter was the
Chairman. .
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supplied by proper education, and education, as a
rule, cannot be imparted without the agency of
schools. Of all the duties entrusted to Municipal
bodies, the encouragement of education, more
especially primary education, is one of the most
important, and it is needless to say that this duty
should be performed to its fullest extent, of course
as far as the funds in hand will admit. In the
Administration Report__for, 1865-66, we find no
expenditure entered "~ under ‘the head of public
instruction ; in fact, there is no such item mentioned
even by name. But since then matters have
improved, and we find that in 1889-90 Rs. 800 was
spent on that account, which was increased to Rs, g8o
in the next following year. In 1892-93 the expendi-
ture under this head came up to Rs. 1,859. In
this conuection we ~would snggest that, if the
Municipality can manage to establish and maintain
a free schoaol in the town, it will do an immense deal
of good to poor people who caunot afford to pay
for the education of their children.

In hot countries like Bengal, small-poxt is very
common, especially in the months of April and

* In 1g02-3 the total expenditure on the head of Public Instrection
rose from Rs. 796 to 833.  The increase was chiefly due to the grant
of Rs. 5 per month to the P'ublic Library.

t This dreadful scourge was unknown to antiquity, it having arisen
in modern times. Indeed, David Hume very properly obszrves:—
¢“ Discases are mentioned in antiquity, which are almost unknown to
modern medicine: and new diseases have arisen and propagated
themselves, of which there are no traces in ancient history. In this
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May, Inoculation was all along the settled practice
in Bengal, and it still lingers in some out-of-the-way
villages; but the practice now in general use, as being
favoured by Government, is vaccinations One of
the prescribed duties of Bengal Municipalities 1s the
promotion of vaccination. I or this purpose a staff
of vaccinators is maintainec at the expense of this
Municipality, who go about vaccinating the people.
Vaccination at a certain defined age has been made
compulsory, and any departure from this rezulation
is met with due punishment,

In connection with the subject of health, the
matter of burning ghats and burial grounds should
not be left unnoticed.  Neither the one nor the other
should, if possible, exist in ‘the heart of the town.
They should be relegated to the extreme limits, and
although that might entail some nconvenience on
people engaged i the performance of the most
painful of all duties, this does not count for much,
when compared with the danger arising from the
effects of cremation and interment in the midst of a
-crowded locality. The Kalitola burning ghat is not

particular we may observe, upon comparison, that the disadvantage
1s much on the side of the moderng. Not to mention some others of
less moment, the small-pox connniis such ravages as wowld almost
alone account for the great superiority ascribed to ancient times.”
Lssay on Populowsness of Anciont Nations. Sce also  Burton’s
Anatonty of lciancholy, Vol 1,

* The law rchating to vaccination is embodied in Bengal Council
Act V' of 1880. Opinions differ as to the superior efficacy of
vaccination ; and some doctors even go so far as to condemn it. It

‘seems to us that in Bengal it would he well if the old practice of
‘inoculation were restored.
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so objectionable as the Ghutia Bazar ghat, and if it
be possible, the latter should be closed up and a new
one built in its stead in a less crowded quarter. The
burial grounds which are in the midst of the town
are seldom restorted to, most of the corpses of
Mahomedans being interred in the maidan at
Kerbela, near the Hooghly Railway Station, The
Bandel burial-ground for Roman Catholics cannot
be removed, but its situation is not objectionable,
The Gorosthan burial ground for Protestants and the
Mogultuli burial-ground for Armenians have become
almost useless in consequence of the paucity of these
sections of the population in the town.

A word or two about the offices and other public
buildings, and [ shall have done with this part of’
the subject. On this head we are sorry to observe,
the Hooghly Municipality has not much to boast of.
It has no school, no dispensary, no hospital of its
own, But, though poor in these matters, it is rich
in the possession of a building for its office.  This
is the Jubilee Hall, which is situated in the very
heart of the town, and owes its existence to Mr. G.
Toynbee, of whom we have already spoken in con-
nection with his useful publication, This gentleman
called a meeting of the principal inhabitants of
Hooghly and Chinsura on the 21st March 1887, and
thus laid the foundation of a work which has since
become an institution of the town. Before this
building was erected, the Municipal Office had only
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“a name,” but, since its erection, it has also found
“ a local habitation.” Though nct a splendid thing,
it very well answers the purposes for which it was
built. It is a one-storeyed house, comprising four
rooms, two open verandahs, and a central hall, which
gives it its name. This is the main office, in which
all principal affairs are transacted. The building is
also utilized for the purpose of holding public
meetings., Thus, it is not only a business resort, but
subserves other important purposes as well,

A short description of the Municipality may fitly
close this chapter. It consists of [Hooghly Proper and
the townships of Chinsura and  Chandernagore, and
covers an area of six square miles, It extends
along the west bank of the Hooghly river, from the
southern extremity of Mircala to the southern extre-
mity of British Chandernagore, with an average
width of a little above a mile. It is divided into
six Wards, of which three are in Hooghly Proper,
two in Chinsura, and one in Chandernagore., The
admiaistration of the Municipality ‘is conducted by
eighteen Commissioners including th= Chairman and
the Vice-Chairman. Of these Commissioners, twelve
are elected by the rate-payers and the remaining six
are appointed by Government. The number cf rate-
payers is 7,715.% The Hindus muster strong in all

* In the Administration Report for 1902-3 it is stated that rate-
payers rose from 7,329 to 7,618, representing 25.g2 per cent. of the
total Municipal population which at the last census was 29,383. .

Y
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the three towns of which the Municipality consists.
The number of Mahomedans does not exceed six
thousand souls, At one time there were many
Europeans living in Hooghly and Chinsura, but a
change has since come over the place, and the
Furopean population has been reduced to about a

dozen,

CHAPTER XVII.

OBJECTS O ANTIOQUARIAN INTEREST
IN-HOOGITLY.

The Fandel Chiurch.~—This is the oldest church in
all Bengal, having been built in the last vear of the
sixteenth century. A certain captain, named Tavarez,
having ingratiated himself into the favour of the
Great Mogul, Akbar, obtained from His Majesty
full liberty for Christiins  to  preach the gospel
publicly, and also to erect churches for public wor-
ship, In accordance with this Tmperial permission
a convent was built in Bandel, a villase distant about
a mile from the Porturuese factory. It s, as Bishop
ITeber has described it, an Italian-toskme church

and extends from north to south, the altar like that
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of the Dutch being at the nerth end. The building
is of a Gothic make, being erected on very strong
foundations. At the western corner of the southern
end is a low tower, south of which is a pointed arch.
In a niche under this arch is a statue of the Virgin
and Child, “ Our Blessed Iady of Happy Voyage.”
Above the statue is the following inscription :—
“The old tower was destroyed by earth-quake on
12th June, 1897, The new tower was built by the
Rev. P. M. da Silva, Prior of the Bandel Church, by
subscriptions raised by him, November, 18¢g7.”
Beneath the statue is a model of a full-rigged ship.
The centre of attraction at ihe present morment
in this ouce famous| place is the statue of “Our
Blessed Lady of Happy Voyage.” This very same
statue was, it is admitted, located on the altar of
the Military chapel in the Portuguese factory at
Hooghly Gholeghat, which was destroyed by the
Mogul soldiery in 1632, The holy priest, Fra da
Cruz, was devotedly attached to the “ Blessed Mary
of Happy Voyage,” and was accustomed to spend
many hours in prayer at the foot of this particular
altar. A pious Portuguese merchant, an intimate
friend of Fra da Cruz, and a fervent Catholic, it is
said, had a lively faith in the maternal power and
invoked her aid in all his undertakings. During the
confusion which followed the assault on the Portu-
guese fort, this pious man, dreading the desecration

of the statue by the Mogul soldiers, watched fora
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favourable opportunity, and taking it from the altar
where it lay, jumped into the river with the intsution
of swimming across with it, but was seen no more.
This circumstance deeply impressed the holy priest
Fra da Silva, who was amongst the prisoners of
war, and he never ceased praying for the safety of
his daring friend and the sacred statue,

The prisoners were sent up to Delhi where most
of them were made to change their faith and adopt
Islam. Among those who would not obey the
Imperial command were the aforesaid priest 'ra da
Cruz and four other Friars. When all means failed.
to destroy them they were ordered to be tramnpled:
under the foot of a huge elephant. The big burly
beast which had been kept without food for some
days in order to make him inordinately furious, was
let Ioose on an appointed day, but the animal so far
from attacking the defenceless friars, all on a sudden
became as meek as lamb and began to crouch at the
feet of the holy priest. This wonderful circumstance
made a very deep impression on the mind of the
terrified Emperor, and he, there and then, ordered
that the holy men might return to the place whence
they had been taken. Accordingly, this handful of
Christians came back to Bandel, and collecting a
little money under the guidance of their zealous
pastor commenced to repair the damage which the
Church had sustained and also to improve it in
other ways. As they were materially assisted by
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‘Christians from al} parts of India and Ceylon, it was
not long before their task, arduous as it was, was
completed,

Just when nearing completion, however, one beau-
tiful night, the water of that part of the river over
against the Church commenced to roar as if a terrible
storm was at hand, and the roise swelled so very
high that the holy priest was rcused from his slumber.
Suddenly a voice, as if that. cf his intimate friend,
the merchant, who had jumped into the river with
the statue during the assault on the factory, was
heard, which spoke in these terms :—

Salva! Salva! Salva! a nossa senhora da Hoa

Viagem que dein nos esta victorin. Levante, levante,

0 padre, e orai por fodas nos.

“ Hail t Haily Hail+ to our Lady of Happy Voyage

who has given us this victory. Arise | Arise! Oh

Father ! and pray for us all.”

The holy priest was unable to sleep, but went at
-once to the window to see if he could fathom what
the mystery was. But directly he had opened one
of the venetians, he perceived that a part of the
river was beautifully illuminated, and it appeared
as if some one was approaching towards the Church,
In another moment the beautiful light disappeared,
all the noise ceased, and everything resumed its
former quietness. The holy man, however, made no
further endeavours in this direction, but imagining that
it was only a freak of fancy that had deceived liimg,
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sought his couch and was soon fast asleep. Early
the next morning some half a dozen natives were
seen neat the Church compound shouting at the top
of their voice that Gura Ma (meaning the Blessed
Virgin Mary) had come to reign in the temple. The
servants of the Church, noticing this, ran at once
to the chamber of their master and roused him, The
holy man, after hearing what the servauts had to-
say, saw at a glance that his experience of the night
previous was no idle dream but a stern reality, and
at the same time remembered the voice of his faith-
ful friend that had addressed him. He dressed as.
quickty as he could and ran out to verify the truth
for himaself. To his infinite surprise a few yards from
the Church-gate he beheld the image of his beloved
Heavenly Mother at whose holy feet he had poured
out so often the longinos of his pious soul. He
prostrated himself before the statue, offered a short
prayer of thanks-giving and carried the image with
pious care and placed it on the principal altar inside
the Church, A special feast was celebrated with
due “pomp and circumstance” in token of this
miraculous event, and on the feast day the image
was borne in procession and placed in the small.cavity
on the tower facing the river, Some years after,
it was again removed to the place which it now
occupies, facing the south in the direction of the
town proper. A ghat was also built on the spot
where the statue was found, in commemoration of’
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this great event, the contributions for which came,.
not only from the Christian, but also from some of
the non-Christian, families in the neighbourhood.
The feast day too did not pass without another
another wonder being added to the strange events
which had already come to pass, This relates to-
the great mast of an old Portuguese ship, which
stands in the small enclosure, south of the Church..
In those days of Portuguese power in India, Bengal
was visited by a large number of Portuguese vessels,.
which constituted the vehicle for carrying on exten-
sive commercial operations hetween Europe and
Asia. Several Portuguese firms, doing a very large:
business, were established in Bengal, While the
religious ceremonies, in connection with the remark-
able discovery of the sacred lmage were about to
begin, a large Portuguese ship, evidently belonging
to one of the firms referred to above, suddenly
appeared at the ghat, facing the south entrance of-
the Church. No previous intimation had been
received of this ship; and the officers and crew were
not a little surprised to find that they had been
brought to the very gate of a Church unknown to
them even by name. They availed themselves of the
opportunity, thus afforded them, of taking part in
the celebrations. The service being over, the captain
had an interview with the Rev Fra da Cruz, in the
course of which he related how his vessel had
encountered a terrific storm in the Bay of Biscay,
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how the safety of the vessel had been endangered,—
high waves, rising mountain-high, threatened every
moment to engulf the storm-tossed vessel. The
captain, a pious man, devoted to the Blessed Virgin,
then made a vow promising sunitable offering, if they
reached some harbour in safety. His prayer was
evidently heard, for the storm soon began to abate
in its fury, and after a short time there was a perfect
calm, Favourable wind and tide had brought them
to the Bandel gZat. The captain had one mast of
his vessel removed, aud he presented it to the Church
as a votive offering.. Iudeed, he had it firmly fixed
in the ground where it has remained ever since.
The mast has defied the elements for about two
centuries and a half, and an examination of the wood
shows no signs of decay,~—indeed, it bids fair to last
many years maore, Unfortunately, the name of the
ship or of the captain has not been preserved. This
is the story * of the mast which has been existing
since the year 1655.

The monastery used to be occupied by Augusti-
nian Friars from Goa, the last of whom, father Joseph
Gomez, died in the year 1859. There is now in
charge only a Parish Priest who, however, still retains
the title of Prior. The Church is, as we have

* The story of the mast as well as that of the discovery of the
sacred statue is mainly taken from the Prior, M. V. Rodrigues’s little
Brochure on the Bandel Church, published in November, 1899,
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already stated, under the Bishop of Meliapur and
the Archbishop of Goa.

At the south-west corner of the Church stands a
belfry five-story high, in which hangs a big bell,
This bell formerly used to be rung every day, but
now it is rung only on Sundays and on festive and
funeral occasions. The bell emits a very solemn
sound well fitted to the place in which it is, and is
heard at a long distance,

The Bon Masjid.—This temple, as its name implies,
is situated in the midst of a forest or rather jungle,
about a mile to the east of the Bandel Junction
station. It is an ordinary one-storeyed building,
having three wide openings together with a veranda
in front. It is not knewn when the inner room in
which the Sanctun is, was built. The inscription
which is on a black stone above the midmost open-
ing, however, might give some information on the
point, but unfortunately it is written in such uncouth
characters and is moreover so badly blurred that it
is impossible to make out what “the writing on the
wall ” means. Indeed, several attempts were made
at different times to decipher it, but they all ended
in failures. As for the fucade or veranda in front,
however, its origin is well-known. Haji Noor
Mohammad Zakariah of Calcutta caused it to be
erected in fulfilment of a vow which he had made
-anent a very dangerous illness from which he had
been suffering for long. The rich Haji had also a
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mind to furnish the openings of the inner chamber
with doors, but on being warned against it in a
dream by the presiding Divinity, he gave up his
design.

The temple itself, however, is not of so much:
importance as the cave-like little structure which
lies inextricably bound up with the giant roots of an
ancient weird-looking peepul tree close by. Tradi-
tion has it that the said cave was the astana, or
resting-place, of an old Fakir who was reputed for
his great piety and was known as the Shah Sahib.
He was credited with considerable powers over
Nature and was said to have effected some wonder--
ful cures. But his saintly fame seemed to have
died with him until it was revived in the first
quarter of the last century. A servant attached
to the Bandel Church had been ailing for a long
time, and life had become such an woeful burden
to him that he would have been only too glad to
have got rid of it. With some such object in view
he one evening stole into the forest where the
astana of Shah Sahib lay, and, accidentally lying
down resigned on the sacred ground which to him,.
however, was common mother earth, went to
sleep ; but what was his surprise when, the next
morning, he rose a sound healthy man free of all
diseases and distempers. Recovering from his.
surprise he hurried out of his forest retreat and
reported the matter to the Church people and
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others in the neighbourhood. In this way this
place gained celebrity and attracted persons from
far and near. The Mahomedan community of
Hooghly appointed a man to do regular service at
the Durgal of the Saint. Some years after, when
the Durzgak had risen conslderably in fame and
importance, the late Radha Nath Banerjee of’
Ghutia Bazar laid claim to the sacred ground as
forming part of his Zemindari and. therefore, liable
to pay him rent. This being denied by the then
Mullah, Solimullah, ‘the claimant had recourse to-
Court. Solimullah = being too poor to bear the
expenses of litigation sought the assistance of the
old Prior of the Bandel Church, who gladly responded
to his call. The litigation lasted for scme time
and ended with the discomfiture of Radha Nath.
The Prior who had helped the Mullah now asked
to be repaid the money he had spent on his behalf ;
and the Mullah vnable to meet his demand in kind
conveyed the land in question to him, himself
remaining as his tenant. Thus, the said land
became the property of the Bandel Church and
it is still so, The other land attached to the Durgal
which was taken afterwards belongs to a neigh-
bouring Brahman who also gets rent forit. The
aforesaid Solimullah is long since dead. The
present incumbent is Sheik Nababjan.

The Durgas is held in high esteem, and on every
Friday many Mahomedans of both sexes come and
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make free-will offerings, and after picnicing under
its sombre sacred shade return home by dewy eve.
At a few paces from the astana, there is an old-
Jooking well whose water is supposed to possess
some peculiar virtue. Indeed, it is considered to be
a miniature of the famous Zem-Zem at Mecca, while
the black stone abovs the central opening of the
inner room of the temple is viewed in the light of
the world-renowned Cuaba;, No wonder then, that
the Bon Masjid with its surroundings have quite a
charm for Mahomedans and serve to keep alive
their faith in the saints of old.

The Tomb and Mosque of Syed Chand.—Syed
Chand «eZias Shah Chand was an old fakir of great
note. There is no knowing of what country he was a
native, but this much is certain that he com-
menced his career of holiness in Hooghly in the
second quarter of the seventeenth century. The
times were very stirring, The Portuguese having
incurred the grave displeasure of the Great
Mogul of Delhi were attacked, defeated and turned
out of the place. The offizes were removed thither
from Satgaon, and Hooghly was placed under the
charge of a Fauzdar. Syed Chand was not only
revered by the Mahomedans but was also honoured
by the Hindus as well. Indeed, he passed for a

saint *. who could work wonders. At last, when

* ‘¥hat Shah Jelal was in Sylhet, Shah Chand was in Hooghly.
He was a prince of fakirs. As for Shah Jelal, he lived in much
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his time came, this great fakir, who almost rivalled
Methuselah in age, died and was buried at the spot
where his tomb now exists, The tomb is of earth.
earthy, no stone or brick being put onit, Itis a
plain, ordinary thing of its kind and has, as far as.
its character goes, no distinctive mark on it. But
erelong a little brick-work was put up close to the
tomb. This was done by a pious Mussalman, named
Mahomed Ahsanulla, -Naib Fauzdar of Hooghly,
under Yar Beg Khan, the Fauzdar. The mosque-
bears no date, but the probability is that it saw the-
light about the middle of the eighteenth century.
A person of the name of Mahomed Taheer was
appointed to perform the duties of Muazzim ¥, for-
which he received two anwnas a day from the-
contingencies of the Fauzdari funds. Taheer was
succeeded in the office by Habeeb Rahman, and the
latter in his turn by his son, Khairul Rahman., In
1811 Hyder Ali, son of Khairul, was found perform-
ing the religious duties in connection with the
above mosque and the tomb of the saint to which.
it is attached, After Hyder Ali came Sufder Ali

older times and wrought some wonders. That prince of Moslem
travellers, Abu Abdullah  Mahommed, commonly known as Ibn.
Batuta, who visited Bengal about the year 1345 A. 1., paid a rever-
ential visit to the Duwrgek of Shah Jelal. He says that the saint was
of a singular character and that his pretensions were wonderfal.
Shah Chand, though not so very well known as Shah Jelal, does not
yield to him in point of sanctity of character and wonder-working
powers.

* This word properly means one who calls others to prayer bothf
in the morning and in the evening.
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who for some misconduct was dismissed by Nawab
Khan Jehan Khan, the Ex-Fauzdar, who had been
allowed by the Knglish Government to occupy the
Mogal fort. The Nawab as head of the Maho-
medan community appointed Mahomed Muneer
who held charge of the mosque and tomb, receiving
Rs. 3-10 ans per mensem for his labour and trouble.
This allowance he drew till his death. Muneer
was succeeded by Mahomed Ameer who was found
holding the sacred office in 1822; when Mr, Henry
Oakley was Judge-Magistrate » By this time
Nawab Khan Jehan Khan had died and it does
not appear who ‘taok his place as head of the
Mahomedan cornmunity.

In 1829, when Mr. D. C. Smyth was Judge of
Hooghly, an addition was made to the mosque by
the erection of a prayver-room. +  Shaban Khan,
who, for his deep learning in Mahomedan theolngy,
was styled AZars Shaban Khan, was put in charge
of the mosque and the small property belonging to
it.  As he had no son living, he was succeeded in
his sacred office by his brother-in-law ‘wife’s brother,
Khari Goribullah, not an unworthy man to take his
place.  The latter died about three-and-twentv vears

ago, leaving a son, Abdool Karim, to succeed him,

* These facts T have gathered from a Porsian roholari of the
Colluctar of Hooghly, dated the 13th May, 1828, (See Tovnhee.
poa7 Mo Oddley was in Hooghly from 1816 16 1826,

I The inscription on it bears date 1244 Iegir, carrespoading o
Can A1),
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Abdool Karim was in his turn succeeded by his son,
Abdool Gofur Khan, who is the present incumbent.

It appears that the great saint, Syed Chand,
had his astana (resting place) at the foot of the
sacred peepul tree which has been so long protect-
ing his humble ecarthy tomb from the violent
attacks of the elements. As is the case with the
cave of Shah Sahib, close to the Bow Masjid, the
roots of the trec have girt round the tomb of Syed
Chand, as it were, with iron bands, so that the tree
and the tomb could ‘unt be separatcd. Thus, it
seems that there is truly what is called feeling of
affection and reverence cven in inanimate objects
for human beings. Like the tree the tomb anpears
to be rooted to the soil’ by being closely embraced
on all sides by it.

A little to the north-east of the prayer-room is
a walled enclosure which contains the tomb of a
fakir, named Mahbool “Shah, which, unlike that of
Syed Chand, is made of brick and mortar and in
shape and size resembles a Zwsew. This durbesh
was a very peevish old mar and was given to
abusing  people right  and left, who paid him a
visit. Ile oave up his chost  about thirty-three
y(‘ars ago,

The Durgak of Shah Chand has a wide repiite
and is held in high regard by o all scctions of the
community.  Poeople make their vows at the sacred

spot and, when their wishes are fulfiiled, present
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free-will offerings at the tomb and mosque. While
the Courts were here, the successful suitor seldom
left the place without making some presents to the
saint at the Durgak, Indeed, the place is deemed
a sacred ground, and people have the greatest regard
for its sanctity. It is a veritable sanctuiz sanctorum.

It is said that when Mr, D. C. Smyth wasin
charge of the district, he had ordered some branches.
of the sacred peepul tree that overhangs the saint’s
tomb to be lopped off../ A coolie had got up to the
tree, but as the poor soul was going to use the axe,
down he fell and died there and then after vomit-
ting blood in profusion. The Judge too, it is said,
being reproved by the saint in a dream, desisted from
making any further attempt at having his order
carried out. Surely, some spots have their peculiar
sanctity, and any attempt at desecrating them in
any way whatever is sure to entail some harm or
mischief on the audacious perpetrator,

The Protappur Masjid :—This mosque was built
on the site of an old mosque* which had been
pulled down by the powerful Haldars of Haldartuli_
In 1132 Hegira, corresponding to 1719 A. D., one
Mir Mohammad Sakir, a rich native of Jaunpur,
accompanied by a few followers, arrived at Hooghly
Bunder on their way to Mecca. While waiting for

* This mesque probably bore date 1102 H. E. It was known as
Bui-Shaken Mayid which means a Masjid Duilt on the ruins of ar
idol temple.
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the ship that was to start for that holy city, he,
having heard of the violent outrage which haa been
committed by the Haldars, resolved to wreak venge-
ance on them. Accordingly, there was a free fight
between the Hindus and the Mahomedaus, in which
among other mishaps, Moharnmad Sakir lost his
brother, Shahabuddin,  After the fight was over, he
brought the whole matter to the notice of the Nawab
of Murshidabad, the far-famed Murshid Kuli Khan,
who caused a new mosque to be built on the site
of the one pulled down, at the same time ordering
the Fauzdar of Hooghly to licep a sharp eye upon
the Hindus. The mosque with all its appurtenances
covered a piece of land measuring three bighas
While Murshid Kuli Khan was alive, the Haldars
did not dare interfere in the matter of the mosque
built at his instance. Nearly four years after his
death, that is, in 1142 Hegira, they again tried to
renew their animosity, but thzir efforts were baffled
by the activity of the Mahomedan (u:7, backed as
he was by the Mogul Fauzdar.
Mir Mohammad Sakir, feeling that his end was
drawing high, executed, in 1170 Hegira (1758
A.DJ)* in the fifth year of the reigning Emperor,
Alamgir 11, a deed of gift in favour of his two daugh-
ters, Taj Bibt and Rabiyah Bibi, thereby creating
them Matwalis of the Musjid, Some years after,

* At that time Solaman Beg was Nailt Fauzdar of Hnoghly
Z
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Rabiyah Bibi died without leaving any issue, where-
upon Taj Bibi, who by this time had married Mir
Fakir Mahi-uddin, became the sole Matwali. On
Taj Bibi's death, her only daughter, Budrunnessa,
who was married to Sheik Soft Sana-ullah, took her
place in the Matwaliship ; and, again, on Budrun-
nessa's decease, her son, Golam Hyder, and daughter
Kolimunnissa, became joint Matwalis, But, when
some years after, Kolimunnissa who had no offspring
to bind her to worldly coucerns, went to Mecca
and settled there for good, Golain [Hyder became
the sole manager of the mosque. This gentleman
was very fortunate in having left behind him as his
heirs three worthy sons. “The eldest, Moulvi Azhur-
ul-Huk, was a member of the Subordinate Execu-
tive Service. The second, Muzhur-ul- Huk, commonly
called Mejli Meah, was a good Persian and Arabic
scholar, and was in charge of the Musjid for some
time. IHe did vot take service under Government or
any body else, but was a gentleman at large. The
youugest, Zuhur-ul-Huk, also had acquired a good
stock of knowledge, but the tenure of his life was
short and he died quite young. The other brothers
too have since died, and the Musjid and the property
of the family are in the possession of their heirs and
representatives,

The Bhetiaralk Khana Mosque—This mosque is
situated in a quarter now called Bhetiarah or Bhut
.Khana, but formerly Shaistabad. There is nothing
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very peculiar in the structure of this building, it is
an ordinary one-storeyed house having three openings
for access to the Sawctum. This temple was built
by Syed Mohammad Ali, entitled Khan, in Hejira
1181, corresponding to 1769 A, D. It is walled all
round. The blackstone inscription above the Jate
of this mosque is well worth recording, and, when
rendered into English, runs as follows :—
“A good name is followed. by everlasting fame,
I do, therefore, mention one s¢ notable,
Perchance, good people, after the service 1s over,
May offer up prayer for the salvation of the founder
of this pious work.
Under directions | from Syed Mohammad Alj,
entitled Khan,
The foundation of this  yelicious institution
was laid,
With his great manificence and with divine
assistance,
When this structure was completed, 1 sought
for its date.
Wisdom, the old Sage, replied,
‘On the Sunday of Zikad,
‘In the year one thousand one hundred and
cighty one,
“This construction for the ofter of prayers
‘was made,
—which date

‘Thou mayest extract from the words—
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Quad Quamat is~—~Salot (verily the prayer is to
be offered=r1197) with the word ada7 ‘offered =16)
taken out.””

This prayer-room was until lately in the charge
of Moonshee Kefait-ullah, a government pensioner.
His great-grandfather, Nazib-ullah, came from
Hosenabad on the other side of Satgaon, and settled
in  Hooghly, He was a common school-master,,
whose earnings did not exceed Rs. 5 or 6 a month..
Nazib’s son, Dianut-ullah, it is believed, was first
placed in charge of the aforesaid ‘'mosque. Dianut’s
son was Moonshee. Saifullah; the grand-father of
the present incumbent, who is the son of Kefait-
ullah. The site on which the mosque was erected
was formerly occupied by a 'building (Katra) which
had been built by Nawab Shaista Khan, whose
name the quarter bore until it was superseded by
the present name,  Bhetiarah Khana. [t would
seem from the wording of the Persian inscription
that although the foundation was laid ander direc-
tions from Syed Mohammad Ali Khan he did not
live to see it become a fazt accompli. But as the
building was erected with his money, it properly
bears his name as the founder thereof.

The Forts—Three forts have existed in Hooghly
Proper at three different times, two of which must
have been places of strength and importance in
their day. The earliest of these was the Portuguese
fort which was captured and destroyed by the
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Moguls in 1632 A. D. This fort was built on the
bank of the river at a spot about midway between
the present Jubilee Bridge and the Hooghly, the
anain object being to safe-guard the factory -which
stood close by. The fort was, as we have already
stated,* of a square form,} defended by bastions
at the four corners. It was not only fortified with
-cannon, muskets and other implements of war, but
was also defended by a deep broad ditch on three sides
which was daily filled from the viver which protected
it on the fourth. " Thus strategically considered, the
place was a very strong one, and no wonder the
Mogul army found great difficulty in capturing it.
After taking the place the Mogul soldicrs levelled
the fort with the ground. Al that remains of this
stronghold are two low, braken walls which run
into the river just to the north of the ditch on the
west of the jail, and -are, visible only at low tide,
and not even then when the river is high, The
said ditch probably skirted the fort on the south,

* Vide Chapter I,

t Jort Orleans, which the IFrench built at Chandernagore, was
also of a sguarz form, “about three fourths of a mile in circumference,
with four bastions, each wounting sixtesn guns, besides some: on the
curtain and a battery of four pieces ol cannon on the wp of a church.
There was a dry fosse round the three sides to the land with a glacis
of about 40 yards. At the north-ward port (i. . gate) was a ravelin
mounting five guns, and opposite the port tuwards the river side was
a mud battery of six guns which flanked down the river”. (soe Ives’s
Voyage from Ingland to India). Thus, the French fort was much
stronger than the one in Hooghly belonging 10 the Portuguese 5 but
it was nevertheless captured and levelled with the ground by the
Anglish in 1757, Since then, Chandernagore has remained untortified.
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while the moat which bordered it on the other twe.
sides seems to have disappearcd.

The second was the Mogul fort, built when
Hooghly was declared the Royal Port of Bengals
after the menorable events which took place in 1632,
Like the Portuguese fort, it also stood on the river
bank and occupied the space from about the spot
where the Collector’s cutchery stood to the deep broad
ditch to the west of the Post Office on the way to Bali..
A little to the south of the Portuguese fort for the
space of about three hundred yards, a small indenta-
tion in the river bank gave rise to an eddy or
whirlpool, whence the inbabitants called the place
Gholeghat, The river having now silted up consi-
derably on the Hooghly side, the eddy has ceased
to exist, and if it appeais at all, it does so when
the river is very “high during the rains. The
foundations of the western wall of the fort which
still exist in  some form or other testify to the
strength of the place. Save and except this, no.
vestiges of the fort remain 7z sz, The fort was
pulled down in 1830, and its materials were largely
used in metalling the station roads..

The third and last was the English fort which
stood somewhere near the indentation referred to
above. This, however, could hardly be called a fort,
as it was abandoned before the European nations
.had seriously fortified their settlements on the banks
of the Hooghly. Fort William at Calcutta was
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4

the first position really fortified by the English,
The English factory in which Job Charnoch lived
at Hooghly was not a strong-built house at all.
In December 1712, a writer, quoted in Wilson’s Eardy
Annals of the Englisi in Bengal, councludes his
description of the English factory at Gholeghat
by saying that, “it is an old, ugly, ill-contrived
edifice wherein is not the least spark of beauty,
form, or order, to be seen, being. seated in a dull
melancholy hole enough to give one the Hippo-
chondra by once secing it.” No vestige remains
either of the so-called fort or of the factory. But
the factory tank, commonly @ termed Kuwizpukur,
still exists, and, like Goldsmith’s sad anunalist of
once “ Sweet Auburn,” tells tales, with its dumb
eloquence, of the days of Job Charnock and his

successors in ancient Hooghly.



CHAPTER XVIIL

SoMyME NOTARILITIES OF HoouHLY IN
MODERN TIMES.

Di. Badan Clhunder Choudhury.—This wellknown
veteran of the healing art is the oldest man living
in Hooghly. RBut though long domiciled in this
place, he is not one of its natives. He hails from
the “City of Palaces” where he not only saw
the lisht of heaven but also-imbibed the light of
knowledge. His father, Ram Narain Choudhury,
took great pains to train him up for the battle of
life. But though belonging to the priestly class,
young Badan was not intended to pronounce mass
for the soul, but to prescribe medicine for the body.
Accordingly, he was admitted into the Medical
College, then only recently established, Indeed,
he was one of its foundation students, and, as such,
was looked upon with some " consideration. On the
15th day of July, 1835, this promising lad entered
the solemn sanctuary of the first medical Institution
in Bengal, and studied in it for near seven years.
As he brought parts, patience and diligence into his
studies it was no wonder that he soon distinguished
himself and obtained scholarship, This initial
suecess gave a strong impetus to his mind, so that
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“shunning all delights and living laborious days,”
he prosecuted his studies with far greater earnestness
and laid in a good stock of knowledge and ex-
perience not quite common with men of his imma-
ture years. At the final examination he acquitted
himself well and obtained diplomma on the 10th day
of July in the year of grace 1842. A short time
after, he got into Government service and was
appointed  Assistant Surgeon to the Imambara
Hospital at Hooghly onia salary of Rs. 100 a month,
he being the first to hold that appointment, Thus,
commenced his connection with this place and as
years rolled on. it became stronger and stronger
until he made Hooghly ' the land of his adoption,
He scttled here for good, giving up what in the
language of law is called aninns revertendi,  As he
was well up in his profession, he performed his duties
at the Hospital to the satisfaction of his superiors
-and the benefit of the public,

While serving at the Hooghly Hospital, Dr, Badan
-came in contact with Dr, James Esdaile, who had
succeeded Dr. Wise both as Civil Surgeon of the
District and as Principal of the College, and by his
worth and assiduity soon ingratiated himself into
his  favour. That Medico-Majus was famous in
his time for his operations under mesmeric anus-
thesia before the discovery of chloroform, and
Dr. Badan was his right-hand man in making the
-experiments.  Dr. KEsdaile retired on 11th Octobers
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1853, leaving charge of his office in the hands of
his favourite Assistant, and it was from the latter
that his successor, Dr. Herbert Baillie, took over
charge on 220d November. Dr. Baillie was like
his predecessor a proficient in the healing art and he
soon gained popularity both by his successful
treatment of difficult cases and by his exceptionally
good manners.

Dr. Badar’s name as a good and efficient practi-
tioner spread far and wide, and the result was that
his income went on rising at a rapid rate. [n this
way he remained in Government service till 1353
when he retired and cairied on private practice
without let or hindrance. He succeeded remarkably
well and his practice became so very extensive that
he could hardly find time to take needful rest. He
had what might be called a!roari‘ng practice, and,,
thus, money flowed into his _pocket in streams. In
surgical operations he had no equalin the district
and only a few in all Bengal. He was also an expert
hand at doctoring, Dr. Radcliffe was not more
popular in London than Dr. Badan was in Hooghly.
But professional success, however great, cannot
prevent the operation of natural dscay brought on
by time, Weak old age stole in upon him, and,
at last, its infirmities weighed so very heavily upon
him that he found to his sore regret he could not stir
out of his house without doing serious injury to
hithself. Accordingly, since some years he has.
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altogether given up practice; but he still treats
patients at home gratis. Indeed, he is never sparing
in his efforts to do good to humanity by his deep
knowledge of medicine and wide experience. Any
attempt at numbering the difficult cases treated
by him is simply impossible; and though he did
not succeed in all, a feat which is quite beyond the
power of any human being to do, the percentage of
cures effected by him far-excecded the percentage
of failures, and if; among his patients he saw a
hundred die before him, he succeeded in recalling
ten thousands from death’s door. Thus, he has
well earned his rest, and [ wish from the bottom of
my heart that God would allow him to enjoy it for
a few more years to come.

Dr. Badan has made a mint of money and can
well afford to live like a lord.  But, wonderful to
say, he is as simple in his habits and mode of living
as an ordinary man having only a moderate income.
But simplicity in the midst of affluence is not his only
characteristic. His pleasing politeness forms one of
the best features of his eharacter, Though master of
many thousands a year, he does not know what pride
is, and, so far from encouraging pride in others,
always tries to check it without, however, giving
offence. Indeed, he is a model gentleman and is liked
by all who know bim. I doubt if he have any enemy
at all. The only defect which [ can find in his charac-
ter is that, considering the extent of his incomt he
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is not sufficiently charitable, and this I make bold
to say that should he spend even one twentieth
part of his income in charity, he would be doing
-an immense deal of good to indigent humanity.
Charity, it is said, begins at home, but surely it
should not end there, when one has means enough
to extend its range. If sincerity is the first of
virtues, charity is the first of blessings. Like the
heavenly ‘quality of merey,’
“it is twice bless’d,

It blesseth him that gives, and him that takes.”
Happy, thrice happy is that man who has both the
mind and means to acquire such an inestimable
blessing.

Dr. Badan is now running ' his gyth year and
judging from the present state of his health one
may well hope that he has some years more to live.

Rai Eshan Chandra Mitra Bahadur.—This gentle-
man was the most distinguished character of his
day in Hooghly. But this distinction he did not owe
to any adventitious circumstances, it was the pure
outcome of his own individual efforts, He cleared
the way for himself and rose to an eminence which
made him a glorious object of envy. For several
years he held the destiny of Hooghly in his hands
and was looked up to with a feeling in which there
was more of fear than of love. His death has been
a great loss to this old historic town.

Eshan Chandra was born in 1833 in Kona, an
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obscure village which, true to its name, occupies a
corner of the well-known pargana of Halishahar
His father, Guru Charan Mitra, was head clerk in the
Assaye Office at Calcutta; and as he was in good
circumstances, was not sparing in his efforts to give
his son, who was his first child, proper education..
When quite young, Iishan Chandra was admitted
into the Hooghly College which was then in the
heyday of its fame, As the promising lad brought
parts and diligence~into. hisstudies, it was no
wonder that he soon distinguished himself. He
obtained in regular succession junior and senior
scholarships, and, at last, lefl his A/ma Aater with
the reputation of a successful student in the
memorable Mutiny year.

Eshan Chandra: then joined the Presidency
College at Calcutta as a law student, where he took
his lessons at the feet of that eminent scholar and
jurist, Mr. William Austin Montriou, He studied
law with his usual zeal and diligence and in a couple
of years passed the Pleadership lxamination. He
got his diploma in August, 1850, and early in the
next year joined the bar at Hooghly., As the
practice then in vogue in the mofussil was to address
the Court in Urdu, he at first found some difficulty
in doing Court business, but he soon got over it by
learning that tongue which he did in a compara-
tively short time. He erelong made his mark at
the bar and attracted the notice of the big officials
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of the district, lndeed; his rise in the profession
was very rapid. Before he had been two years at
the bar, the post of Government pleader fell vacant,
There were then many older men in the profession
at Hooghly, but both Mr, A. V. Palmer, the
Collector, and Mr. C. T. Buckland, the Judge, re-
commended Eshan Chandra for the post and. as
was expected, their recommendatlon was carried
out. .~ This recognition of his merit by Government
gave a strong impetus, to. the popular mind in his
favour, and, thus; his forensic practice rose, as it
were, by a long leap. While careering gloriously
in his profession, the great Mohunt of the Tarkeswar
temple, Madhab Chandra Giri, was committed to
the Sessions on a charge of adultery, an offence
which the lowest Chandal should be ashamed of,
As the case was a very important one and was sure
to be hotly contested, the Government in its anxiety
to bring to justice the great culprit for whose offence
there was no excuse, had suggested that some first-
class counsel might be engaged; but Mr. Palmer,
who had great confidence in the worth and ability
of Eshan Chandra, wrote back saying that his
Government pleader was quite a match for any
counsel and would be able to conduct the prosecu-
tion single-handed ; and, indeed, Fshan Chandra
did more than fulfil his confidence, though he
had to hold his own against such picked men of
the Calcutta bar as Mr, William Jackson and
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{afterwards Sir Griffith) Evans, not to mention some
others of minor note. e conducted the prosecu-
tion very ably and cleverly, and the address which
he delivered to the Jury on the occasion was a
splendid performance which excited the admiration
amongst  others of the presiding Judge himself,
Mr. C. D. Field (afterwards a Judge of the High
Court), who was candid enough to remark to him
at the close of his address=—‘T1 wish I could speak
your tongue as fluently as you did mine” Indeed,
he fought the better fight and succeeded in getting
the “infamously famous” zccused convicted, cast
down and kept “in durance vile”, doing the meanest
drudgery for some years. Iishan Chandra’s position
at the bar was unique. He was its “friend, philo-
sopher and guide”  Never in the anuals of the
Hooghly Courts did a pleader command such
extensive practice  or  possess  such  honour and
influence. Ie gathered money with both lands,
to use a common expression, and rose high in rank
and riches. But self-aggrand.sement was not his sole
aim in life, he had also the good of the community,
in which he moved, at heart. After the transfer
of Mr. B. De, Joint Magistrate, lishan Chandra
was elected to his chair in the Municipal office. This
office he liked very much, as he was a warm advocate
of Local Self-Government, and he filled it for about
13 years with great credit <o himself and coiisider-
able advantage to the public. Indeed, the town
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owes an immense debt of gratitude to him, The
Hooghly Town Hail, Public Library and Lady
Dufferin Hospital, all owe their origin to him, Such
eminent public services, as might have been expected,
did not go unrewarded. Babu Eshan Chandra was
in his green old age decorated by Government with
the title of Rai Baladur, while the District Boards
of the Burdwan Division showed their appreciation
of his sterling merits by electing him as their spokes-
man in the Bengal Council. ' This last appointment
being inconsistent with his position as custodian
of the interests of Government, he had to give up
his Government pleadership after having held it for
three-and-thirty years.  In his new sphere of action
too, his usual success attended him. Endowed by
nature with strong commnon segse and fortified by
“the armour of experience,” he proved a very useful
councillor and his words of wisdom were listened
to with attention. The Tlate Sir Charles Paul, the
Advocate-General, than whom an abler man never
entered the Council Chamber, was much pleased
with the manner in which Rai Eshan Chandra
performed his duties at the Council Board. In
politics, he was neither a Radical nor a Conservative ;
he was an advocate of moderation and loved to be
“ Like good Erasmus, in a golden mean.”

He was in favour of progress, but not progress at
break-neck speed. In this he followed that great
.judge, Lord Tenterden, whose motto was Festina
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lente. Latterly, Rai Eshan Chandra’s health broke
down all on a sudden, and much-dreaded heart-
disease got hold of his frame. To keep in check this
insidious foe that had grabbed on his very vitals, he
gave up working altogether, bidding a long farewell
to the profession in which he had shone so brilliantly.
“ But a neck that’s once broken
Can never be set,”

Notwithstanding all the efferts of his friend, the
famous Dr. R. L. Dutt, to arrest its course, the dis-
ease grew on apace, and, at'last, carried him off on
the 17th January, 1897,in the 67th year of his age,

Thus passed away from this earth a remarkable
man who has left a deep mark on the history of this
district which is not likely to be effaced by time. Rai
Eshan Chandra possessed some very good qualities
and was loved and respected by all who knew him
intimately, He was, it is true, wanting in a flowing
courtesy to all alike, but he was a good man at heart .
and though his power to do good or evil was greater
than that of any other man in the place he seldom
abused it. In the domestic circle Rai Eshan Chandra
was an exemplary character. He had the highest
reverence for his old mother and was always
assiduous in fulfilling her wishes. His attachment for
his brothers reminds us of the Roman Cato who
would not accept service unless his younger brother
were given a similar appointment, Towards his
brothers Rai Eshan Chandra stood in Jocoparentis

FA?]
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and looked after their welfare as if .they were his
own, Ilis love for his kinsmen was also deen and
his long purse was always op=n to render them help
whenever they were in need or v difficulty.  But his
charity was not confined to his home and its
surroundings, it had a wider range and was devoted
to helping some indigent widows and poar boys who
were not his kith or kind., There was this noble
feature in the character of his charity that it was
gnite unostentatinous, and this was probably the reason
why he passed for a close-fisted man in the eye of the
general public who had no opportunity of entering
into the real state of his aff dirs.

Of the three worthy sons left by Rai Eshan
Chandra, Lal Behari, the best of the batch, has since
followed him. The ¢eldest, Benin Chandra, is follow-
ing the profession of this father.The voungest, Chara
Chandra, is a graduate of the Calcatta University and
4 promising young man,

Rat Fshan Chandra also left three brothers, but,
as is the case with his sons, one of them, Grish
Chandra, who was the Treasurer of the Hooghly
Collectorate and a really good man, felt the separa-
tion so very painfully that he soon followed his elder
to that unknown region from whose border no
traveller returneth, The death of two worthy sons
dealt a very severe blow to the old mother and she
soon succumbed under it.  Of the two youngest
Qrothers, Harish Chandra has only lately retired on
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pension from the Subordinate Executive Service of
which he was a worthy member. The Jast though not
the least is Mahendra Chandra, upon whom the mantle
of his illustrious brother scems to have fallen and who
is steadily treading in the latter’s footsteps., He is the
Government pleader of Hooghly and was until recent-
ly also the Chairman of the local Municipality. He
bids fair to keep alive the fame and reputation
achieved by Rai Eshan Chandra Mitra Bahadur.
Dewan Krishna Chandra Choudhury Rai Bahodur.
This gentleman, though ‘he passed a considerable
portion of his life in - Hooghly, was not one of its
natives, He was born at Audharmanick in the dis-
trict of Faridpur in the last quarter of the eighteenth
century, His father, Ram Kanta Choudhury, was
a man of some property and was held in high esteem
by his fellow villagers.  After he had learnt a little
of Bengali at the village passhala, young Krishna
Chandra was sent to Sylhet where his elder brother,
Shib Chandra, was Nazir in the Collectorate, and it
was at that outlying station that he commenced
learning Persian which was then the language in
vooue in the Courts, and in due fime completed his
education as it was understood in those days, Shertly
after, he entered as au apprentice in the Court in
which his brother had some influence, and having
served his novitiate for some time got a mohirirship
on a small pay. But as he bad good parts and
made virtue of industry, he rose rapidly in the
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service and was appointed Sheristadar in the Magi-
strate’s Court in Rajshahye. He acquitted himself
well in his new capacity and gained the goodwill
of his European master who was much pleased
with him.

From the Magistracy, Krishna Chandra got a
lift to the principal Civil Court in a similar capacity
and was put in charge of the Sherista of the Judge
of Murshidabad. Here his reputation as an able
and efficient Ministerial officer. rose very high and
he became a great favourite with his official supe-
rior, Mr. Whitworth ' Russell; and matters took
such a favourable turn that when in 1842 that good
Judge was transferred to Hooghly, he took his
Sheristadar with him. Thus Krishna Chandra’s
connection with this place commenced from that year,

Mr. Russell was a cadet of a noble family in
England, and a very near relation of his had consi-
derable influencc in Parliament. | As is usual with the
sons of nobilty, he was not disposed to work and
always preferred ease to labour.  To such a pleasure-
loving officer, an able and painstaking man like
Krishna Chandra could not but be very acceptable,
and it is, therefore, not surprising that he soon gained
his love and esteem. The Dewan, for so the head
Ministerial officer was then called, was given a seat
by the side of the Judge in Court, and he mate-
rially assisted him in the discharge of his judicial
duties  Ia  this way the influence of the Dewan
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became so very great that he eventually came to be
considered as the de facto Judge. When the pleaders
in their usual way were furiously contending amongst
themselves over a case, it was not unoften that
Mr. Russell was heard to say, ‘‘Patience, gentle-
men, allow my Dewan to understand the case.”
So, it was not Mr. Russell, but his Dewan, Krishna
Chandra Chowdhury, who was in reality the presi-
ding Judge administering justice. A man in the
enviable position of Krishna Chandra might, if he
was so minded, have made an immense fortune by
a little backsliding from the path of rectitude ; but
although the moral atmosphere of the Court at
the time was tainted and bribery was in its full
swing, Dewan Krishna Chandra preserved, like
“Oliver Twist,” a wonderful purity in the midst of
worst influences. Thus, he proved the very reverse
of his predecessor in office, Dewan Monsaram Sircar,
whose name has almost” become a bye-word for all
the vices of Amlahdom. We have learned from a
very reliable source that in one very important case
in which property of considerable value was at stake,
a rich Zamindar of the district offered Dewan
Krishna Chandra forty thousand rupees, but the
latter made no hesitation in rejecting the offer,
remarking at the same time that he had far greater
regard for honest poverty than for ill-gotten affluence.
This very notable trait in his character at a time

when official venality was very common and was
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generally connived at, was an open secrct to his
master, the Judge, and when with his pay of Rs, 100
a month Dewan Krishna Chandra could not meet
his expenses, Mr, Russell would be helping hin
with funds from his own pocket.  Indeed, the Judge
was under immense obligation to his Dewan, who,
though unacquainted with English and not  well
read in law, possessed strong common sense, and
such was the force of his intellect that the decisions
which Mr, Russell-passed "under his advice were
for the most part wpheld by the Sadar  Diwani
Adalat in appeal. In fact, by the aid of his Dewan
in the discharge “of his  judicial functions, Mr.
Russell gained the reputation of a good Judge and
people had such strong confidence in the ability
and impartiality of his Dewan that they always
felt that in his Court the party wronged and aggriev-
ed was sure to get proper relief. Mr. Russell
remained in Hooghly till 1851, and shortly after
his retirement a full-sized portrait of him was hy
public subscription prepared in his honour and put
up in the Judyge's Court. That portrait still graces
the Court-room, testifying to the goodness of the
officer who administered justizce in it in days long
since past.

Mr. Thomas Bruce # succceded Mr, Russell, and,

* Bruce remainde¢ in Hooghly for a little over one vear, and
was succeeded by Henry Stainforth in 1853, who in his turn was
sucteeded in the yemr following by James I Patton, afterwarsd
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as he was much younger and was not sufficiently
informed of the worth and importance of Dewan
Krishima Chandra, objected to the latter sitting in
his presence.  But when he came to know of his
Dewan’s rare merit and high position in society,
he veered round and began to show him  due regard.
Not long after, the good man having grown old
and infirm, retired on pension with a view to passing
the last few years of his life in peace and contem-
plation, as becomes aHindu_of his right orthodox
type. Buat pension -alone was not the only reward
the grand old servdnt of the Company got for his
long and meritorious services,  Two or three years
after his retirement be was invited from his lonely
retreat and was decorated with  the then very rare
title of Rai Balvidur, accompanied by a sever-purcha
Khelat (robe of honour cotsisting of seven picces)
and Rs. 2000 in cash, Such honour'done to a native
Ministerial - officer, “standing  as it does, almost
unique, shows beyond a shadow of doubt that the
fortanate recipient had done an immense deal of
good to government,

Dewan Krishna Chandra had always expressed a
wish to die in the place where he had so highly dis-
tinguished himself, the more <o as it was situated on
the banks of the sacred Ehagirathi  But Destiny
whaose decree is irrevocable, had, it seems, ordained

made a Judge of the Sadar Diwani Adalat at Calenva and als»
a distinguiched character in some other respect.
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otherwise. When verging on his eightieth year the
good old man paid a visit to the spot where he first
saw the light of heaven. On his falling ill there, he
asked to be taken back to his dear Hooghly. But the
ailment taking all on a sudden a serious turn, he could
not be removed, and so his most cherished desire
was not fulfilled, and he closed his eyes for the last
time just at the spot where he had first opened them,
The wise old man had long passed the Psalmist’s
cycle of three scare and ten when, about the year
1861, he breathed his last.

As Dewan Krishna Chandra lived almost from
hand to mouth, he could” leave only a little property
for his family, His sons too were then quite young
and were not at all in a position to earn. Thus, the
family fared all but/ill. But with the march of time a
change came over its fortune and it was certainly a
change for the better. Onu the occasion of a guber-
natorial visit to Hooghly, Mr. William Grey, then
Chief Secretary to the Lieutenant Governor, and after-
wards Lieutenant Governor himself, who knew Dewan
Krishna Chandra well, inquired about the state of
his family and on being informed that he had two
or three sons of whom one was far in his teens, made
a note of the matter, with the result that not long
after the Dewan’s eldest son, Kali Prasanna, was
made Special Sub-Registrar. This appointment was
after several years followed by his being appointed a
amember of the Subordinate Executive Service,
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which office he held till his death which took place
some five years ago. The Dewan’s second and only
surviving son, Tara Prasanna, is practising as a
pleader in Faridpur,

Dewan Krishna Chandra Choudhury Rai Bahadur
is a striking instance of the truth of the well-worn
maxim—" Honesty is the best policy.” In the
midst of the strongest temptations he kept himself
clean out of corruption-and led a life of wounderful
purity.  The tongue of scandal dared not villify
him, nor did the finger of scorn point at him. He
rose superior to all evil influences, and, to compare
great things with small; was like the angel, Abdiel,
the only faithful found among a set of rogues
and miscreants,  'his moral victory not only brought
its own exceeding great reward in holy peace of
mind, but also met with a regular ovation at the hands
of Government which filled the purse of the victor,
clothed him with a rich robe, and added a glorious
appanage to his name, and after his demise continued
its favour to his son, Surely, as the poet says,

“ An honest man is the noblest work of God.”

Babu Hara Chandra Glose—This gentleman be-
longed to the renowned Ghose family of Babugunge.
The orginal habitation of this family was at Khanacool
Krishtonagar in the district of Hooghly, whence the
grand-father of Hara Chandra migrated to the town
of Hooghly and settled in the quarter known as
Gholeghat.  The Ghose family of Gholeghat cwt a
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very prominent figure during the time when Mr, I1,
Belli was Collector ; and their social position too
was very high. They could make or unmake
Kayasthas by their breath, and any one who made
connection with them considered himself very fortu-
nate in a caste point of view. In course of time
this family increasing in number and accommodation
being scant, it became necessary for one branch of
the family to make a further remove. This was done
by Hara Chandra’s father, [Hallodhar Ghose, com-
monly known as: Hallodhar Kerawni, who removed
to the present residence.  Hallodhar Ghose was the
head clerk of the local Collectorate and was held in
esteem by the people at large. . The good old man
built a pucca house. at his new residence where he
lived in peace and comfort as the patriarch of a
happy family. He was blessed with six sons of
whom the subject of this short memoir was the
fourth. To all these sons he gave such education
as was available in those days.

Hara Chandra was born in the year 1817, When
guite young, be was placed in the Imambara school,
where, as was the practice in those days, he
learned Persian and Arabic. English education had
then only made a simall advance, but erclong a change
came over the place in that respect by the establish-
ment of the Hooghly College in the year of grace
1836. Hara Chandra was entered at this scminary,

wheee he prosecuted his studies with such assiduity
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that in a few vears he found himself as the headboy
of the highest class. He carried cff prize after prize,
and also obtained two medals, one of silver and thc
other of gold, for proficiency in literature. On the
occasion of the bestowal of the gold medal there
was a large gathering of the clite of the station, and,
what was very remarkable, His Kxcellency, Lord
Auckland, then Governor-General of India, himself
presided at the grand ceremonial, He harded in
the glittering gaud *  encased in a velvet-lined
watch box to the promising young lad and ccrdially
shook hands with him, saying with a sweet smile
on his lips, “T.ucky boy, the Governor-General shakes
hands with you” | This was. indeed, no small
honour, considering the position of the exalted per-
sonage by whom it was done. ~ Not long after, Hara
Chandra came out of the College with a repntation
far above his fellows and entered the world to fight
the battle of life,

Having had such a brilliant academic career, it was
no wonder that Hara Chandra found no diffi-
culty in getting employment.  In recognition of his
great scholastic  success, the then Head of the
Bengal Government favoured him with an appoint-
ment in the Excise departinent, posting him to

Rampur Boalia as Abkarl Superintendent in the

* The Medal bore this inscription :--

““Awarded to lurro Chunder Ghose, student of the Hooghly
College, by the Right TIon'ble George Earl of Auckland for the best
Jengalee translation of Bacon's Fssay on Truth (1841).7
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year 1344. Thence he was transferred to Malda
some time after. These Excise duties Hara Chandra
performed so very satisfactorily that he was ere-
long appointed a Deputy Collector of Revenue
Survey. In this capacity he served long in the
districts of Rungpur and Murshidabad, He surveyed
the well-known Baharbund estate of the Raj family
of Kasimbazar. In the course of the Survey opera-
tions he had encountered many perils and had
undergone considerable - privations and hardships.
This unpleasant sort of nomadic life told heavily
upon his constitution and he was obliged to pass into
the Executive branch of the Service. He became a
Deputy Magistrate and was posted to the district of
Burdwan in the year following the Sep>y Mutiny-
While at this place he was deputed by his immediate
superior, the Magistrate, to capture a gang of dacoits
who had been committing ravages in some parts of
the district. and, as luck would have it, succeeded
in capturing many of them. These ruffians were
tried in due course, convicted and were placed “in
durance vile” for their outrageous deeds. This signal
success in the detective line earned for Hara Chandra
Baboo a good name and his eminent services found
a fitting recognition in the pages of the Thuggee
Commissioner’s Report, But this was not the only
service he did to the district of Burdwan, The local
shopkeepers who were then in the habit of keeping
shost weights and measures were caught by the wary
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Deputy and made to put a stop to their dishonest
doings. Hara Baboo had remained pretty long in
Burdwan when the exigencies of service necessitated
his transfer elsewhere. In this way he served with
distinction in several districts, and in the fulness of
time retired on half pension in the year 1372, and
on returning home passed the remainder of his
life in the midst of his family until he was summoned
away from this world on_the 24th November, 1884,
As a revenue officer Baboo Hara Chandra had few
equals, and, though in privats life he was one of the
most kind-hearted of mortals, this did not prevent
him from proving an efficient Exccutive. But
Hara Baboo was not only 1 good official all round,
he had also gained a gooc name in the republic
of letters. After he had won the gold medal in
College, Iswar Chandra Gupta of Prodlakar fame
came all the way from Calcutta to pay him a visit
with a view to get him contribute articles to his
Journal. Hara Chandra thus began his literary
career and the papers which he contributed were for
the most part favourably received by the reading pub-
lic. But his literary efforts were not confined to stray
articles in Journals and Magazines, he wrote some
works which earned for him a name in the world of
letters.  Of all his literary productions Bhanumasi
Chittabilash and Charu Mukle Chitta Hara are the
best known. These plays were based respectively upon
“The Merchant of Venice” an: “Romeo Juliet” of that
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prince of poets, Shakespeare. His lyrical drama of
Bhanumati possesses this peculiar merit that it is the
first drama in the Bengalee language after Khadrarjun,
as appears from a little book on Bengalee literature
by the late Raj Narain Bose. The other drama,
too, is not quite unworthy of its great original, Ilara
Baboo's books at one time found many readers, but
with a change in literary taste they have fallen into
desuetude.

The deceased has left two sons, Gopal Krishna
and Ramn Gopal, of whom one is o Moousiff and  the
other a pleader.

Rai  Grish  Chandra  Ghose  Baladur, —This
most brilliant ornament of 'the Subordinate Judi-
cial  Service was born . on the 3oth September,
1819, Ile was the yvounger brother of Hara Chandra,
of whom we have already given a short ac-
count.  When quite young, Grish Chandra was
like his clder placed 'in the Imambara school
where he studied Persian and Urdu,  He was
considered one of the best boys, so that it was not
surprising that he got a scholarship, or rather stipend,
with which he joined the [Jooghly Crllege, then only
receutly opened, at the age of eighteen. As yet he
was a perfect stranger to IZnglish and it was at the
[Tooghly College that he commenced to learn his A.
B. C. At that time Dr. Thomas Alexander Wise
was the Principal of the College, in fact, he was its
firgt Principal. Grish Chandra prosecated his studies
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till 1841 when he left College, and, as he had by his
worth and industry attracted the notice of the then
Principal, Mr. James Sutherland, a distinguished
man of letters, it was noct long before he was appoint-
ed a teacher in the Hooghly Branch School on Rs. 50
a month. But he could not make his mark in the
Education departmment. The fact, however, was that
he proved an eyesore to his official superior, the
Head Master, and the resuit was that though he
was teacher for six years aud oddimonths he got no
promotion and ended his tutorial career with the
same pay with which he had begun it,

While working as teacher Grish Chandra had,
on the advice of the | Jaint Magistrate of Hooghly,
whom he used to teach vernaculars, ccmmenced to
read law, and when the time for Moonsiffship exam-
ination arrived, appeared at it, Sir Edward Ryan
of the Calcutta Supreme Court being Examiner-
in-Chief. As most 'of the questions related to
matters of procedure, Grish Chandra who had
learned only the principles of law and was il
acquainted with procedure and practice, could answer
only one or two out of the many questions set at
the examination, and was, accordingly, entered in
the list as “plucked.” But in spite of his name
being so noted down Sir Edward, whose curiosity
had been excited by his having been the only candi-
date who had written his answers in Fnglish,

condescended to. speak to him as' to how he.had
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managed to learn the general principles of Juris-
prudence, and in the course of conversation was so
favourably impressed with the worth and ability of
Grish  Chandra that he cancelled what he had
recorded before and passed him as being duly
qualified for a Moonsiffship.

Having achieved success by the purest of accidents
Grish Chandra resigned his office as teacher on gth
April 1848, and, on 15t May following, was appointed
to officiate as Moounsiff of Rajapur in the district
of Hooghly on the same pay on which he had been
serving in the Education department, From Raja-
pur he was sent to Faridpur as pucca Moonsiff on
a salary of Rs. 100 a month, which afterwards rose
to Rs. 150, In the Mutiny year he was made
Sudder Amin on Rs 250 a month..  In this way he
rose higher aund higher still until he got up to the
topmost rung of the ladder. e was Subordinate
Judge of Tirhut for a long time and it was at
that place that he highly distinguished himself.
Some of his decisions went up in final appeal to
the Privy Council and their Lordships of the
Judicial Committee were good enough to speak
highly of him as a Judicial officer. Indeed, he
was a capital Judge and discharged his duties very
ably, learnedly and conscientiously, and it would
not be too much to say that no member of the
Service to which he belonged surpassed him and
that only a very few equalled him. In recognition
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of his high judicial ability and wide experience he
was appointed to officiate as a Judge of the Presi-
dency Small Cause Court on a salary of Rs. 1050
which rose to Rs. 1100. His career in that Court
which lasted from 25th April 1877 to 5th January
1879, was quite in keeping with his career in the
Mofussil, and we have heard from one who was long
connected with that Court as an Interpreter that he
gave general satisfaction and his retirement which was
brought about by ill-health, was considered as a
very serious loss to the public.  Grish Baboo was
also in good grace with the “powers that be”. While
acting as a Judge in the Calcutta Small Cause
Court, he was selected by the Lieutenant Governor
to act as Additional Judge in Behar for six months
on Rs. 1200 a month, At first, he had accepted
the appointment, but subsequently receiving parti-
culars of the heavy work which awaited him and
deeming his failing health ill fitted for it, he declined
the offer, and shortly afterwards applied for pension,
which in view of the bad state of his health was
granted in no time. As he had served Government
for a long time, and served it so very ably and
meritoriously, he was granted special pension by
the Secretary of State for India under section 59
of the Pension Code, and, as long as he was in the
land of the living after retirement from active
service, he drew Rs 500 a month. But not only was
this special favour shown him, he was also decorated

zb
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with the title of Rai Baiadur as a personal distinc-
tion in August 1879,

While enjoving his ofiun: cum dignitate, Ral Grish
Chandra was appointed by His Honor the Lieutenant
Governor to arbitrate in the matter of the dispute
between the Maharaja * of Durbhanga aund his
brother regarding their ancestral property, the other
arbitrators bzing Mr. H. Reyunolds, Secretary to the
‘Government of Bengal,-and Mr. James O’ Kinealy
who ended his Indian career as a Judge of the High
Court, In the letter which the Government Secretary,
Mr. Reynolds, wrote to him on the occasion on 1oth
February 1880, he said, “ The Lieutenant Governor,
Sir  Ashley Eden, is of opinion that your high
character, your eminent legal attainments, and the
public confidence which you enjoyed as Subordinate
Judge of Tirhut, especially justify you for filling
the appointment of arbitrator in a manner satisfac-
tory to both the parties who are interested in the
question”.  This high commendation Rai Grish
Chandra fully deserved, and we feel no hesitation
in saying that he would have done full justice to the
choice had it been necessary for him to actin the
matter; but, as a matter of fact, the dispute was
in the meantime amicably settled between the
parties concerned, the younger brother who is now

* Maharaja Luchmeswar Singha, who has since died, leaving his
said brother as heir to the Guddee.
.



HOOGHLY I'AST AND PRESENT. 435

the Maharaja rstiring from the contest with only a
slice of the property.

Rai Grish Chandra enjoyed his well-earned pension
for a little over eight years, e died at his house in
Babugunge from failure of the heart on the 18th
June, 1888. lle was a really worthy man. May his
memory be cherished with fond regard. His only
surviving son, Surendra Nath, is a member of the
Subordinate Executive Service, a worthy son of a
worthy sire.

Ananda Chandra Lose—The life of this gentleman
affords a striking proof of thetruth of Dr, Johnson’s
saying,

‘Slow rises merit by poverty depress’d’,
Ananda Chandra rose from poverty to affluence,
When he began life as a mohirir. in the local Civil
‘Court he had only a hut cr two to hide his head ;
but as years rolled on he bscame the head of the
Ministerial department in the Highest Court in the
land and succeeded in building a palatial residence
with all the paraphernalia becoming the position of
a rich man. Indeed, his life was one of continued
success which ultimately landed him in a state which
well might excite envy in the minds of less fortunate
mortals.

Ananda Chandra was not a true native of the town
of Hooghly, he hailed from Akna, a village about
two miles to the west of the Mogra Station on the
East Indian Railway line, where he was born early in
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the beginning of the last century. His father, Chandi
Charan Bose, was a very poor man, and, to add to his
misfortune, died when he and his elder brother, Kali
Pada, were quite young. Being thus left in a pitiable
state, the two brothers came down to Hooghly and
building two wretched huts at the quarter called
Kabasdanga, settled there for good. The elder, Kali
Pada, had only learned the rudiments of knowledge.
Ananda Chandra  got himself admitted into the
Imambara Madrassa where he commenced to learn
Persian and Arabic, and as he was a young man of
parts, prosecuted his studies with cosiderable success.
The Madrassa was a free school, and, as luck would
have it, Ananda Chandra succeeded in securing a
scholarship, Thus, there was not much difficulty in
his completing the course which the institution gave
scope for. Aunanda Chandra, however, did not learn
Inglish at school, nor; did he attempt to do so at
home, In fact, he did not know IEnglish, not even a
smattering of it.

After leaving the Madrassa, Ananda Chandra got
into the Principal Civil Court of the district as a
mohirir on a monthly pay of Rs. 20. At that
time Mr. D. C. Smyth was the district Judge, indeed,
he ruled the district like a Governor, The Judge
was not only a very able man himself, but was
also a good hand at finding out ability in others,
Ananda Chandra by his able and assiduous dis-
charge of duties soon attracted his attention and
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became one of his favourites. He rapidly rose in
service and, shortly after Mr. Smyth was raised to
the Sadar Diwani Adalat, was taken there as Missil
Khan or Reader on the Appellate Side of the Court,
and from Missil Khan he was made Peshkar.
Mr. Smyth retired in January 1838, but with his
retirement the prospect of Ananda Chandra was
not at all dimmed, On the contrary, it brightened
up with greater lustre _when Mr. H. T. Prinsep
became Registrar son the Appellate Side of the
Sadar Court, Ananda Chandra soon gained the
favour of that eminent Civilian and the result was
that not long after he got a long lift by being
appointed Deputy Registrar on a salary of Rs. 500
a month. This was undoubtedly a great success,
seeing that the fortunate recipient was a perfect
stranger to LEnglish, But in  those days when
Persian was the language of the Court this defi-
ciency on his part did not interfere with the due
discharge of his duties; and, as a matter of fact,
he performed them to the satisfaction of his superiors
and the advantage of the public., In his new
capacity Ananda Baboo’s influence was very great
indeed, and if he was so minded, he might have
largely enriched himselfy but his watchword was
honesty, and it was, therefore, no wonder that he kept
himself quite free from the very strong temptation
which his office, high as it was, held out to him.
He becamne a general favourite and the business of.
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the departinent of which he was the recognised
head went on smoothly along. Years passed on in
this way until, as an effect of the Sepoy Mutiny,
there was a transfer of the rule of the Company to
the Crown. This transfer also necessitated the
amalgamation of the Supreme and the Sadar Courts
into the High Court, The language of the Court
so formed could not but be English, and, accordingly,
the Ministerial department could no longer remain in
the hands of one who was ignorant of that tongue.
Ananda Baboo was thus placed in a very awkward
position, and as his/age fell short of fifty-five years
he could not be compelled to retire. He was
therefore kept on, not, indeed, as Deputy Registrar
but as Assistant Registrar, Mr. J. H. Belchambers
being appointed Deputy Registrar on Rs, 1000 a
month, In this way Ananda Baboo served under
the latter for some time, and when he completed his
fifty-five years retired on pension, which he enjoyed
for some years.

The last days of his life were embittered by the
ungrateful conduct of his brother’s sons whom he
had well trained up for the world, and in sheer
disgust, if not through fear, he left the house which
he had built, and went to reside at his son-in-law’s
at Chandernagore. When he found that his end
was not far distant, he went on pilgrimage and
visited almost all holy places in the North-West,
While returning from pilgrimage he fell seriously
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ill on the way and died at Mongyr. This was in
1871, when he had just passed the grand climactric
of sixty-three. The deceased left no son but a
daughter only.

Balloram dfullick.—This distinguished member
of the Subordinate Judicial Service was born in
1843. His father, Padma ILochun Mullick, was
unot in very good circumstances, but he somehow
managed to give his son_a decent education. After
Balloram had learnt “the elements of Bengalee in
a neighbouring patshale, he was placed in the Free
Chuich Institution at Chinsura. and, as he possessed
natural parts and made a virtue of industry, pro-
secuted his studies with considerable success. He
carried off prize after prize and became a general
favourite with his teachers,  In 1830 he passed the
Entrance Examination-and obtained a scholarship.
He then joined the Duff Ccllege at Calcutta and
successively passed with credit the Little-Go and
the B. A. Iixamination.

Having thus finished his scholastic career, Balloram
entered the world as a teacher in the Hindu School
on a salary of Rs. 50 a month.  While serving in this
seminary he attended Law Lectures at the Presidency
College, and after completing the terms passed the
B. .. Examination in 1868, FHe at once joined the
bar at Hooghly, but a few months after, having
changed his mind on the advice of his maternal uncle,
the well-known Babu Surja Kumar Dhar, entered
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Government service as Moonsiff. In this capacity
he served in several places, always winning golden
opinions by able discharge of his judicial functions.
In due time he was promoted to the grade of
Sub-Judges. In that higher sphere too, his usual
success attended him and he gained the approbation of
his immediate superiors as well as of the High Court.

While serving as Sub-Judge his services were
lent to the Kuch Behar State. In that semi-inde-
pendent State Balloram was Chief Civil Judge as well
as Member of the Maharaja’s Council. In both
capacities he did yeoman’s service to the State and
the Maharaja would have been only too glad to
have had him ior good. But two years after, there
arose circumstances which threatened to disturb
the even tenour of affairs. Observing this change
in his relation, Balloram, iv order to prevent further
unpleasantness, threw up his appointment and
reverted to his substantive post in Government
service which he was fully competent to do. He
was posted to Pubna in 1836 where by his able
and impartial administration of justice he earned
a good name, Things went on in this smooth easy
wise till about the midde of 1887 when he got into
some trouble. Having come home during the Easter
Holidays without taking the permission of his imme-
diate superior, the district Judge, Mr. Bradbury,
the latter at once suspended him, but on the matter
beisg in due course brought to the notice of the
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High Court, this arbitrary order was cancelled with
this reservation that he was made to lose his pay
for the three days he was absent from the station.

In October following Balloram was transferred to
‘Cuttack where in a short time he gained the love
and esteem of the profession and the public. But
the one purely gratuitous act which will ever keep
his name in grateful remembrance in the minds of
the whole Hindu community is the repair which
at his instance and mainly by his exertions was
done to the Nilchatra over the temple of Juggernath
at Puri, The Raja had been directed by the
Magistrate to do the needful on pain of the stop-
page of pilgrimage to the Holy Shrine, but he
bhaving failed to comply with the order, Balloram
like a true-born Hindu came forward, and by
collecting subscriptions ‘commenced repairs in right
good earnest and in spite of his onerous duties at
Court, had laboured in that sacred cause until 1894
when he was transferred to Khulna. In 1896 he
was promoted to the first grade of Sub-Judges and
was posted to Alipur. From before the time of
this last remove his health had been going down,
‘but taking hope from despair he had applied for
extension of service. Ilowever, looking to the
shattered state of his health Government thought
that time had come for him to retire from active
life and he was, accordingly, pensioned off in
February 1899.
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While enjoying his well-earned repose, Balloram
directed his attention towards improving the shrine
at Saptagram which was the seat of a saint of the
Subornabanik caste, named Uddharana Datta, and
which contains his tomb. His efforts were crowned
with complete success; and besides needful repairs
done to the old shrine some new buildings were
erected, thereby adding much to the beauty and
attractiveness of the place... A mela is annually held
in the month of Magh in honour of the good saint,
which lasts for days together and during which gala
things are done ‘along with solemn religious.
services.

Balloram also tried to do some good to the town
of which he was a resident. At the request of
some (riends he stood for the Chairmanship of the
local Municipality, and as he had a respectable
record of services to show and was otherwise known
as an able intelligent man, he'was elected in 1900,
Though he had not been keeping good health from
long before, he laboured hard to do justice to the
choice which the people had made, and soon won
their respect and esteem, even at the risk of in-
curring the displeasure of the “powers that be.”
But this additional labour only the more told upon
his fast-failing health, and he found to his utmost
regret that he could not get on any longer. He,
accordingly, resigned his post in 19or. Thereafter
Jhe ‘lingered on slowly making his way, as it were
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to death’s dcor, which he at last reached on
4th January, 1903,

Thus passed away from this earth a really worthy
man whose life was spent in doing good to humanity
both in a secular and a spiritual point of view. He
was also a good IEnglish scholar and had a fair
command over the language of the rulers, Among
his works, “ Home Life in Bengal” and “The
Model Huzzoor” are worthy of special notice,

Mr. Brajendra Nath De—This gentlemar is not a
native of Hooghly, he hails from the “City of Palaces,”
as Calcutta is called, where on the 23rd December
1852 he first'saw the light of heaven. Mr, B, De’s.
parents were in very good ciscumstances, and they
spared no pains to give their son proper education,
Young Brajendra was educated in various schools.
including the Hare School till 18€5, when he was
taken over to Lucknow where his father was employed:
in the Commissariate departmment. He was soon
placed in the Canning College, where he matriculated
in 1867, and passed the First Arts in 1869, in each
examination taking a high place. In 1872 he
achieved brilliant academical successes which very few
have been able to do in such a short time, for while
he graduated B. A. in the beginning of the year, he
took Honours in Art about the middle, coming oug
with the late lamented Hukum Chund of Delhi as the
only two students who passed in English in the First
Division.
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Shortly after taking Houours, that is, in the
latter part of July, Brajendra Nath left India for
England, arriving there at the end of August, In
April following, he passed the open Competitive
Examination for the Indian Civil Service, securing, as
usual with him, a high place. In the beginning of 1874
he joined the Oxford University and obtained the
Boden Sanscrit scholarship, He then joined the
Middle Temple, and on_the completion of the re-
quisite terms was called to the Bar on the 7th June,
1375. A few days after, he sailed for his native land
and returned to it on the 6th September.

Mr. B. De began his offiicial career as an Assistant
Magistrate. He pretty rapidly rose in the Service
and earned name and fame., When a Junior Civilian
he obtained Degrees of 1Tonour both in Sanscrit and
Persian. As Joint Magistrate he served in Iooghly
for a considerable period during some part whereof
he was Chairmaa of the local Municipality. In both
capacities he wou popularity by the able discharge of
his duties. While he occupied the Municipal chair
the road which runs past the Hooghly Brauch line of
the East Indian Railway Company from the river
side right up to the Punkhatuli road was coustructed
and very propecly bears his honoured name. It
was while serving in Hooghly that Mr. B. De
purchased the house in Keota and considerably
added to it by making some additions and altera-
tions, All this shows beyond doubt that he likes
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the place, and, be it said to his credit, the people also
hold him in high esteem. Indeed, he is one of the
foremost residents of this old historic town.

Mr, B. De’s  official career, like his academical,
has been quite a success. He has been serving as
Magistrate and Collector for scveral years and it
is gratifying to observe that wherever he goes, he
wins golden opinions. This is no small credit for
a Government official, more especially for a high
officer in the Esxecutive lite whose very office
carries terror and awe into the nearts of the pcople.
Mr. B. De was promoted to  the first grade of
Magistrates and Collectors on the 31st {October,
1896. 1le held sway over Faridpur for some years,
and when he left that district on being transferred
to Malda, the people very deeply felt the loss of
his services and gave vent to their feclings in many
ways. In Malda too which he has been governing
since 1st October 1902, his usuial success seems to
have followed him and he is held in high respect
and esteem by the profession and the public.*

Mr. B. De is not only an eminent executive and
judicial officer, he is also an excellent scholar.
His knowledge of English is far above the average,
so is his proficiency in that most difficult of
languages, Sanscrit, and, what is very unusual among
the present race of Civilians, he bhas also a fair

* Since the above was written, Mr B. De has been transferred
to this District which he seems to like lLes:.




446 HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT.

command of the sweetest of Indian languages,
namely, Persian. In a social point of view also,
Mr. B. De stands equally high : he possesses win-
ning manners and carefully avoids giving offence
to any body. Thus, in every respect he is an
exemplary character, one of whom his country is
justly proud. He has done honour to Hooghly by
adopting it as his home, and when he retires, we
hope to see him enjoying his ot cum dignitate
in his Hooghly House.

CHAPTER XIX.
GENERAL ACCOUNT OF HooGHLY.

Hooghly Proper extends southwards from the
border of Mircala to Joraghat, and westwards from the
fine flowing Hooghly to within a stone’s throw of the
stern-looking iron lines of the Iast Indian Railway
Company. It is about four miles in length and a
little above a mile in breadth, The land comprised
within these bounds is a grotesque-locking figure in
which one looks in vain for anything like regularity.
Hooghly might be divided into three main parts,
Northern, Central and Southern, nearly corresponding
with the Municipal Wards of Shahguuge, Bali and
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Babugunge respectively. In the Northern section
there are several quarters of which the most important
are Shahgunge, Keota and Bandel. Shahgunge is a
well-known commercial mart. Its importance was very
great in by-gone days. During Mogul rule it drove
a brisk trade and was known as the great “ Gungee”,
When Aurungzebe was Emperor, it attracted the
notice of his grandson, Azim-Ushan Shah, who
was Governor of Bengal. . Faving come to know of
its importance and celebrity he lent it his own name
and called it Shakgunge.  While the place was
thus catting a prominent figure in the busy world
of commerce many families came to reside in it,
Among these families the Nandis distinguished
themselves and rose to/fame and fortune. The most
famous among the Nandis was Bireswar Nandi,
better known as Biru Nandi,  This gentleman was
born at a village near Kanchrapara on the other side
of the Hooghly., Having quarrelled with his father

he left his native place and settled in Shahgunge.
As he had got together some inoney he in
conjunction with one Ramram Ghose set up a shop
and carried on business under their joint names,
This firm lasted for some years and on its dissolution
Biru Nandi opened business on his own account, and
prospered much init. He established branch firms
in several important places and also opened a salt
factory. Thus, he became very rich and his name
and fame spread far and wide., In addition to his
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own business, Biru Nandi was the Dewan of Mirza
Roshun Ali, a neighbouring Zamindar., When for-
tune frowned upon this haughty Mahomedan, Biru
Nandi managed to purchase some of his valuable
properties and profited much by them. Indeed, Biru
Nandi was a child of luck, and he died a rich man
in the proper sense of the term. His sons lived in a
grand style and well kept up the rank and dignity of
the family, But the goddess of fortune is anything
but constant, and this once famouns family has fallen
into insignificance, The present head of the house
is Rajendra Nath Nandi, a grandson of Biru Nandi,
Keota * is to the south of Shahgunge., It owes
its somewhat queer name probably to the fact of its
having been mainly ‘inhabited in former times by
families of the Kaivarta caste, vulgarly known as
Keotst. These families, however, have well-nigh
disappeared and are to a large extent replaced by the
carpenter class who now muster strong in it. There
is also a sprinkling of respectable folks in their midst,
conspicuous among whom is Mr. B, De, so very high
in Government service. The building which he
occupies was long considered a haunted house, but
since he has taken his abode there, the ghost, or goblin,
or whatever it was, has made himself conspicucus by
his absence, so it seems that even evil spirits stand

* Bagh Keola isotherwise called Mullick Joyanti’s Bagh,

t Keota had a very bad repute in by-gone times, as appears from
the common saying:—Beyond corrupt Keota and wicled Bali lie
Kubnda and Hooghly.
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in dread of Magisterial powers. It is a big house
with a very large compound covering several acres,
where one, if so minded, might grow almost all the
necessaries of ordinary life. To the north of Mr, B.
De’s residential building is the house of Babu
Mabhananda Gupta, lately Collector of Calcutta, only a
narrow gloomy pathway intervening. The garden in
which this house stands was originally the property
of Mr. D. C. Smyth who ruled the Hooghly district
for a considerable period, From he representatives of
Mr. Smyth it passed to the late Pitambar Pyne of
Ghutia Bazar, and it was from the latter’s sons that
Mahananda Babu purchased it. To the west of his
grounds there is another big garden which also
belonged to the samz owaer and which is still in the
possession and enjoyment of his son.

South of Keota is Bandel, so well known to fame.
[ts native name is Balagor, but this name has been
almost superseded by the one which the Portuguese
gave to it. Indeed, the place owes its fame and
importance to the Portuguese.  These sea-farers from
the Far West settled in it in the latter half of the
sixteenth century and turned it into a great trade
centre. With the rise in their trading concerns they
also acquired power and almost defied the authority
of the Great Mogul of Delhi, They forcibily con-
verted most of the natives into Christianity and
conducted themselves like tyrants in many other
ways. Loud and long were the complaints agaiust

zc
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them, and, at last, the Mighty Mogul was roused
from tis stolid indifference.  An Lmperial army
invested the place and captured it after a pretty long
siege.  The Portuguese fort and several other build-
ings were levelled with the ground and the proud
foreigners were turned out of the land with bag and
bagzage. At any rate their power and influence was
all gone, and the only vestige which now remains of
their tyrannical sway is-the old church which has
been in existence for some centurics together.  And
to say sooth Bandel is now known chiefly for its
cream cheese.

Just at the border of Bandel on the way to
Keota stands the big gate of the Circuit [House.
This building has a history of its own, It was
erected at a timex when the Judues of the Provincial
Court —now for a long time a thing of the past—went
on circuit deciding cases and administering justice
almost at the very door of the people.  After the
Provincial Courts were abolished, it used to be
occupied by the Dacoity Commissioner, but since the
breaking up of the latter’s establishment it has been
lying tenantless for the most part of the yvear. The
house has certainly much to recommend it, being so
favourably situated that one has only to look at it to
hke it. But it seems that with age it has lost its
former charm. It is generally left vacant and only

* Thatis, in the year 1820.
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resounds with sweet human volce when the Commis-
sioner of the Division comes to visit the station.
The Christian population of Bandel which at one
time almost overflowed the land have been re-
duced to a very small number. The tew who still
cling to it are black native converts who live like
ovdinary Hindus, Iiven the Prior of the church
does not permancntly reside here. He geaerally
stops at Calcutta, coming to-his parochial abode only
on  scrvice days _and . other important occasions,
liideed, the place is rupidly falling into delay and the
time is not far distaut when it will lose all vestiges
of Portuguese sway. = Instead of big keautiful build-
ings with which the place once abounded, one sees
nothing but heaps of ruins. - Besides the church and
one or two houses close by, there is only one nice
building which tells tale of the brave days of old;
and that is what is called the Clhilubars (Kite-house),
which after passing through some hands is now in the
possession and enjoyment of Prosad Das Boral of
Bali who has considerably improved upon it. Purely
native houses there are very few in Bandel, of which
the house of the late Dwarka Nath Chakravarti is
the only one worthy of notice.  This gentleman was
a well known educationist  and  was deservedly
revered by his pupils of whom the present writer
was one.

The portion to the west of Bandel and Keota, if
not also of Shahgunge, is only sparsely peopl-ed,
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being for the most part overgrown with jungles which
are occasionally visited by the spotted pards and wild
tusky boars, These back-slums, if we may so call
them, it behoves the Authorities to look after in
order to their being reclaimed and rendered safely
habitable.

The central portion of Hooghly is the most
tmportant of all. It consistsof Bali, Town Proper and
Gholeghat, Bali, so called  from a Mohunt of that
name, lies to the west of the big moat which runs
past the Post Office down to the river. The bridge
which connects it with the Town Proper was built
in the time of Mr. D. C, Smyth, so well known in
this district. In the west of Bali there is an
important quarter called Rai Rayan Bazar. [t was
owned by an up-country Lala Kayastha,+ named
Alam Chand. He was a man of great note and had
considerable influence at the Durbar of the Great
Mogul of Dzlhi, by whom he was dubbed “Rai
Rayan,” or chief among princes. Having got an
absolute grant of this part of Bali he settled here for
good, built a large house, and, a devout Vaisnava
as he was, established a Thacoorbati in which he
set up the images of Radha and Krishna. After

¥ Another account is that the Bazar was established by one lHari
Mullick, a man of wealth and intluence who was honoured by the
Nawab of AMurshidabad with the title of ““Rai Rayan”. e, it ic
sai¢, was the settlement ofticer of Dacca inthe time of Warren
UHastings and had his dwelling house in the western portion of that
quagrter.  Nimai Charan Mullick of Calcutta was a relation of his.



HOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT, 433

clearing the jungle with which the place was densely
covered, he got up a big market. This Bazar was
the biggest in this part of the country and was held
daily. Alam Chand lived in a grand style; but
Death is no respecter of persons, so that when his
time came, this great man fell a victim to the stern
Destroyer, and, as he left no issue, all his property
came into the possession of his widow, Makkhan
Bibi, This lady was well worthy of such a husband ;
she was very pious and kept up the Deb Sheba
established by Alam Chand Rai Rayan. When,
at last, Makkhan Bibi found that her end too was
nigh at hand, she made a free-will grant of her
whole property iucluding the family idols to one
Purushottum Das Mohunt, a Saraswat Brahman,
who had a high reputation for piety aud virtue.
The good saintly grauntee passed his days in peace
and happiness; and, ‘at last, when he felt that his
earthly career was drawing to its close, he consti-
tuted his Gurublaz, Ram Prosad Mohunt, his heir
and successor.  Shortly after, he closed his eyes for
ever and passed into nobndy knows where. His
sacred garland (J/ale) was buried along with his
corpse, and a small brick-work was built over it.
This bit of a tomb, if one may so call it, is kept in
repair and is daily worshipped with Chandan (sandal-
woed paste ) and flowers,

Ram Prosad was succeeded by Sukhlal Mohunt

who as usual carried on the Sheba and managed <the



454 HOCCHLY PAST AND PRESENT,.

property. The present Shebaits are Sukhlal’s des-
cendants in the male line, the class to which he
belonged not observing the vow of celibacy but
living like ordinary Hindus.

The Bazar noticed above has long since ceased to
exist, N\ part of the land was taken up by Govern-
ment for purposes of the Grand Trunk Road which
passes through Ilali. For the land so taken, the
Mohunt proprietots were allowed Sayer compensa-
tion under Act XXVII of 1793 * to the amount of
Rs 152, ans 11. p 4; which is continued up to now.
In fact, this amount is the main source out of which
the Deb Sheba is maintained with its two sets of
Shebaits.

At about a stone’s throw from Alam Chand’s
Thacoorbati there is a much older d4ra (thouse of
God) which is known as the Bara Akra. This
religious institution owes its origin to a very pious
man, named Chaturoas Babaji who was a first class
saint and devotee. While the portion now called
Bali was covered with thick impervious jungle, the
old Babaji camec up (from what place or country
none can say) nearly three hundred years ago and
made his resting place here among the denizens of

the forest. He vsed to do poojah by sounding the

* The Government order in pursuance whercof this Act was
passed is dated the 23th July 17090.  The last order of the Bengal
Government in respect of this Dedutter property is dated the 1gth
Apnl 18¢s.
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conch as is the wont with saddlus and jogis.
[t so happened that while so engaged in doing
poojah in the depth of night, the winding bout of
the conch caught the ears of the Mahomedan
Governor of Hooghly. Larly the next morning he
ordered his gouard to mike an incuiry with a view to
ascertaining whence the deep solemn sound came.
On the matter being inquired into and ascertained,
the Nawab had the jungle cleared and a path made
whereby he might go visit the saint,  When the way
was made, the great man accompained by a few
followers proceeded  to the holy man’s place and
arrived at it at a time when the latter was absorbed
in prayers and contemplations, The Nawab tarried
for some time, but deeming that the devotee was not
likely to open his lips soon, left the spot and came
back to his palace. The Nawab repeated his visit the
next morning but with no better success.  The third
day or rather night he was more fortunate, as he
found the holy man guite in a mood to speak with
him; and from the short conversation he had an
opportunity of holding with him, he was fully
convinced of his worth and sincerity. By order of
the Nawab the surrounding jungle was cleared and
a proper place made for the holy man to live in with
peace and content, On the fame of the saint
spreading far and wide, several Rajas nnd Zamindars
came to pav him a reverential visit, and, bzing

pleased with his great sterling merit in a religioud
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point of view, made him grants both in money and
land. In due time an Akra was built and the saint
set up his holy idols therein with appropriate rites
and ceremonies. When his time came, the great
devotee “shuffled off his mortal coil,” and his earthy
remains were buried in the sacred ground adjoining
the temple. His tomb is held in deep reverence,
where daily worship is done all the year round with
more or less circumstance. Some years after the
demise of Chaturdas Babaji, Ram Krishnadas Mohunt
held charge of the temple and maintained its dignity
tolerably well. The Akra at Khamarpara near Shah-
gunge is an appanage to thistemple, having been
obtained under a Will which was executed by the
then incumbent in favour of the Mohunt of the Bara
Akra at Bali. The Khamarpara Akra was originally
the property of Bhikaridas Mohunt. He was a very
powerful man in the religious sense of the term, and
flourished at a time when Daraf Gazi » of Tribeni
distinguished himself. The Gazi was very proud of
his piety and powers and considered himself superior
to any Hindu saint. Mohunt Bhikaridas humbled his
pride and this is how it was done. One day when the
Hindu saint was clearing his teeth with a little piece
of wood (datar), he was informed that Daraf Gazi

* Daraf, Dafar and Dafraseem to be corruptions of the name of
TJafar, J changing into D. Jafar Khan, though a Mussalman, used to
worship the Ganges.  The roofless house which adjoins the wall con-
taimng *“ Dafar Gazi’s Axe,” is said to have been the residence of
Tafar Khan after he became a worshipper of Mother Ganga,
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‘was coming on a visit to him riding on a large tiger.
Sighting the Gazi at some distance, Mohunt Bhikari-
das endearingly patting on the wall on which he was
sitting three times asked it to move on, and, strange
to say, the old brick structure commenced to move
forward as if it possessed life and locomotive power.
When the two holy men came face to face, they each
came down from their respective conveyances, and,
embracing each other, returned to their several abode,
but not before thevproud Gazi had admitted in so
many words the superiority of the Hindu saint.
Thus, from a violent hater of Hindus that he was,
Daraf Gazi becamme a warm admirer of the Hindu
religion. He forthwith began his study of Sanskrit
and mastered it, so much so that he could cowmnpose
good elegant verses in that language. His prayer to
the goddess Ganga is well known, and might well com-
pare with the similar prayer of Sankaracharya, and
even of that prince of poets, the sage Valmiki, The
Gazi’s “Axe” firon bar, which is so wonderfully
locked on to the wall of the dilapidated mosgue at
Tribeni that it could not be pulled out by any amount
of human or brute force, is well worth a visit. Indeed,
what Orpheus did by his powers of music, the Gazi
did by his powers of prayer. He could tame wild beasts
and make them obey his behests, Kven tigers that
are so very fond of human blood acted like the
meekest lamb at his biddings. Surely strange and

mysterious are the powers of faith and godliness !
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The present Temple in which are enshrined Radha
and Krishna, and Jagannath with his brother and
sister, and which in itself is a nice piece of brick-
work, was srected in the time of Ramsaran Mohunt,
who died on 3rd Sraban 1273 B. S. The Temple
has property worth about Rs. 500 or Goo a year.
The lands are situated in Hooghly, Midnapur, Nadia,
Beerbhoom and Doomka. The Zemindari, if such
a small estate deserves _to be so called, is free of all
charges, either in the shape-of rent, revenue or
taxes.

North of Rai Rayan’s Bazar is Tewaripara, so
called from its having been origtually inhabited by
the Tewari Brahmans, among whom Poran Tewari
was the richest and most  powerful. North of
Tewaripara is Palpara, anciently called Malpara
in consequence of its-having been peopled by the
Mals, a low-caste Sudra tribe. Jagat Pal was the
wealthiest man in Palpara. ' His grandson Shib
Chandra Pal died only lately, full of years. The
Pals had considerable landed property ; but in course
of time they have fallen very low. The masonry
ghat at Bali, near which dead bodies of Hindus are
cremated, as well as the gangajatri-house {resting
place for moribund people) attached to it is their
making, The goddess, Kali, which has since given
name to the glhaz, is, however, not of their esta-
blishing : It was set up by one Bhairub Chunder
Mookgrjee who was the Naib Nazir of the Hooghly
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Magistracy. The worship of the dreaded Deity is
kept up by his descendants,

Fast of Rai Rayan’s Bazar is Boralpara, the
quarter of the Borals, rich fulks of the Subarnabanik
caste. Kartick Chandra Boral was a self-mace man,
He was a stock-jobber anca bullion-merchant and
prospered in his business. His son, Prosad Das
Boral, has proved himself well worthy of such a
father and is the richest.man of Bali. The well-
known  Gouri Sen; as we ‘have already stated,s
was a native of “this quarter. His liberality has
passed for a proverb. ' Nanda Lal Baboo, a Kshetri
by caste, was a noted man of Bali, He was a
respectable Zamindar and had considerable property
in the IHooghly district. He was religiously
disposed and spenta good deal in charity. But the
great monument of his beneficence is the d#tsala,
or almshouse established by him at his residential
abode, where many poor souls are daily fed and
otherwise provided. An old lady of this family,
Peari Bibi, widow of the late Radha Nath Babu, has
only recently built a fine bathing ghat with its
appendages on the river side for the convenience of
the Bali people. Lala Matack Lal, a Kayastha by
caste, was also a notable character. He gained a
name in the Police.line and had got together a deal
of mouney. His house stands by the side of the road
leading to the nearest Railway Station. His family

* See Chapter V.
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has felt the ruinous force of time and is fast declin-
ing. The Subarnabanik saint, Uddharana Datta,
of Saptagram fame occasionally resided at Bali, and
some of his descendants kept a full-sized statue of his
at their house which was looked upon as a tutelary
deity and worshipped in due form. The statue has,
it seems, been since removed to their new residence
at Calcutta,

What distinguishes the Bali folks from natives
of less favoured spots is that they are fully alive
to the benefits of education.  The Hooghly Branch
School was quite sufficient for the education of
boys. Buat there .was no institution for the impart-
ing of education to' the softer sex. Accordingly,
some men, more earnest and! zealous than others,
opened a girl school at Bali on 2nd June 1876. This
school was fairly conducted for some time, but
afterwards, for one reason or another, it was found
to be on the decline, when 'to' prevent its falling
still lower, it was made over {in 1878) to Miss
Raikes for better management, and it is gratifying to
observe that under her fostering care and with the
co-operation of some local gentry, more especially
of Prosad Das Boral and Lal Behari Boral, it is
rising  both in usefulness and importance. The
‘Chinsura and Hooghly Zenana Mission which has
done some real good to this part of the country
owes its origin to this good lady. The girl schools
at Ghutia Bazar, Chinsura and Suripara are also
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of her making. All these schools are occasionally
visited by high Government officials of the Edu-
cation Department, and even the Provincial Governor
for the time being, when he comes on gubernatorial
visit to the district, condescends to visit Miss Raikes’s.
schools and examine the girls; and, what is very
remarkable still, Her Excellency IL.ady Lytton once
came all the way from the Vice-Regal villa at Barrack-
pore aund presided at the Prize distribation of her
schools, Female education 'is undoubtedly a very
desirable thing and it behoves every well-wisher of
this district to thank Miss Raikes for her laudable
efforts in that direction.  But while encouraging
such education we must be always on our guard
against its proving a fruitful scurce of evil in the
Hindu house-holder’s point of view,

Crossing the bridge which connects Bali with the
Town Proper one comes upon the site which was
occupied by the Mogul fort. Here were the Courts
and Offices until they were removed to Chinsura. In
their stead we have now the Normal School, the
Boarding Lodge and the School Inspector’s office.
The Hooghly Brauch School also is situate in this
quarter. Over against the school house on the west
side of the public road is a big edifice which had been
originally built by Dr. T. Wise and which was until
very recently occupied by the Road Cess Office. It is
now in the occupation of the lady teachers in con-
nection with Miss Raikes’s Zenana Mission. Here-
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about in olden times was the splendid mansion of
that Glory of Merchants, Fukkat-ujjar. From here
-commenced Turangarh which extended down to the
poertion known as Shaistabad, Turangarh was the
quarter of the Turani Moguls, as Mogulpura which
lay to the east across the present Chuck Bazar road
was that of the Irani Moguls. Turangarh owes its
name and fame to Khawjah Abdool Karim, son of
the ephemeral Nawab, Serfaraz Khan. When Ali
Verdi became the tuler of Bengal, prince Abdonf
Karim, not deeming his position safe at Murshidabad,
came down to Hooghly Bunder and built a palace
in this part which he surrounded, as was customary
with the aristocracy of those times, with a deep
broad ditch; and it was from this “ moated grange”
of a Turani nobleman that the place was called
Tuarangarh, Kazi Lal Mohammed's house was also
in a part of Turan Garh which was termed after that
Mahomedan Judge Kasir-Deor:.

West of Turan Garh is Sonatuli, formerly largely
tenanted by the Sonars, or people of the goldsmith
caste ; and on the west of Sonatuli is Alipur, once
an important locality, now fallen so very low as to
have become almost a huge plece of jungle.  In
Shaistabad stands in all its architectural pride the
house of the late lamented Shoshi Bhusan Banerjee,
Government pleader of Hooghly. By sheer dint of
merit he rose from small beginnings to a very high
position ; but the tenure of his natural life was
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rather short and he died in the palmy days of his
prosperous worldly career. He was a very good man
and his memory is cherished with fond regard,

West of Shaistabad 1s  Kabasdanga, so  called
probably from the fact of its having at one time
been dotted with Karpas (cotton) trees. Ananda
Mohan Bose, Deputy Registrar of the Calcutta Sadar
Court, was the pride of this place His nephews
had kept up the dignity of the family to a certain
extent, but since their death the family is rapidly
zoing down and the splendid house built by Ananda
Mohan appears to be onits last legs.  Next to the
Boses the Chakravartis  are’ worthv of notice,
The name of Ramtonu Caarkravarti is fairly well
known ; he was the sccond clerk of the local Collec-
torate in the good old days when clerkship was held
in some esteem. His eldest son, Hari Narayan,
was a class fellow of the illustrious Dwarka Nath
Mitter and was like him a senior scholar, Ramtonu’s
second son, Hurro Chunder, held a respectable post
in the office of the Deputy Registrar of the High
Court,  Hurro Chuuder’s son, Kristo Lal, was a
promising voung man, He had become a Moonsiff,
but was cut off by the cruel hand of death in his
very prime. With the decline of the Base and the
Chakravarti families Kabasdanga has suffered a
change for the worse, and, what is very much to be
regretted, has become quite unsafe for good people

to live in. Mogulpura was at one timein a very
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flourishing state and was studded with many nice
buildings. Most of the residents were traders by
profession and they carried on their business on a
very large scale. Latterly, one Nunna Meah, a
protege of Mohamed Mohsin of revered memory,
had a big house there, which is now the property of
Doctor Buddun Chunder Choudhry by right of
purchase from the owner’s son, Meah Hassan. The
houses of Moulvi Nababjan and Moulvi Badal
Hossein, pleader, -were: also situate in that once
crowded quarter, East of Mogulpura is Emambazar
with its old Zaf.  [n this well-known quarter stand
the two Emambaras with all their appurtenances.
It is mostly occupied by Mussalmans, but the
number we now find is'but a trifle compared to what
it was before. Some Hindu houses are also in this
part, conspicuous amidst which is the family dwelling
of Dr. Buddun. Itisso very close to the culinary
department of the Chota Emambara, as the bigger
one is called, that if the rigid orthodoxy of the
ancient Hindus were now in full force he would run
the risk of being excommunicated from the pale of
Hinduism. On the land to the east of the Doctor’s
picturesque edifice on the other side of the drain
stood several Hindu houses, one of which belonged
to Joy Narayan Das, dewan to the Emambara. The
land now covered by the eastern wing of the
Imambara buildings was the p;'()})ert)f of one Torab

Ali Khan,
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Just to the south of Emambara is Gholeghat, *
a name so well known to fame. Here in 1650
captain John Brookham of the Zyoness commenced
to build a factory on behalf of the English Company,
and after it was completed, James Bridgeman was
sent from Balasore as Chief, with a Mr. Stephens
as Second, and two Assistants with them, Blake
and Taylor. The pay of the Chief was £100 a year,
while that of the Assistants was £ §a year only.
But all these officers had large perquisites which
made up for the poorness 'of their pay. In 1638
George Gawton was Chief, but before the year ended,
he was succeeded by his Sccond, Jonathan Trevisa.
Streynsham DMaster, 'who was entrusted with the
duty of re-organising the Bengal settlement came
to Hooghly in September 1676, and having decided
upon it as the most-fitting place to be made the
chief factory in Bengal + wrote to the Directors to
that effect. His recommendation was carried out
and a large factory was built. Attached to the
factory was a chapel for Christians to say prayers in.
The first chaplain of ITooghly was the Rev, John
Evans who arrived here in 1678.  Job Charnock who
had already seen some service in India, came to
Hooghly in 1686 when he took charge of the office

* Orme has Goleat.

+ Sce Hedges” Diary, vol II p. 2306.  Hedges remained at Hooghly
until Christiias, when he sailed for England, where he was knighted
by king James II on 6th March 1688. e died in 1701,

zd



465 HOOGHLY PAST AND PKESENT.

which had fallen vacant by the death of Mr. Beard.
About this time the town extended for about two
miles_along the west bank of the river between
Chinsura on the south and Bandel on the north.
During Charnock’s rule the factory having been
destroyed by inundation he commenced to build a
better and a stronger one % but after it was raised
sufficiently high, the rich Moguls and Syeds of
Mogulpura as well as the Mussalmans of Gholeghat
set up an outcry saying that if the foreigners were
allowed to ascend their lofty houses, they would be
greatly dishonoured by their females being  exposed
to public view. Upon this the TFouzdar, Mir Nazir,
made a report to the Proviucial governor, Nawab
Jafar Khan. and the result was that all work at the
factory was stopped.  Being sorely chagreened Char-
nock left Hooghly +all of a sudden and proceeded

to Hidgelee far to the south. Thus the prospect

* This building was crected on the site of the Benaresi Bagh
which belonged to the Company’s Agent at (Gholeghat near the city.

+ This 1s the aceount of Charnock’s removal from Hooghly as given
in A dhkar-i- Muhal it of Nawab Muhabhat Khan written in 1810 (see
EllioU's Zflistory of India as fold by dts Historians, vol. VLI, pp.
378-80).  But Orme gives a different account,

Ile says that it originated in a quarrel between an English soldier
and the king's people in th2 wuket place. The dispute having
takea a very sarious turn Charnock broaght in a strong reinforcement
from Madras and with thes: woops attacked the Fouzdir, Abdul
Gunnee and defeated him.  The latter removed to a safe distance
and applied to the king for reinforcemeants.  Vhen these cune, he
proceeded to attack Charnock, The wary Eoglishman seeing that
resistance would bz of no avail, songat his safety in fhight and
escaped to Ingelee.  (Sce Orme’s Nragments. pp. 281-284).
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of the English in Hooghly waore a very gloomy
aspect, Hereafter they never returned to this place
but made their settlement at Calcutta which was
then of very little importance.  The Ghoses and the
Choudhuries of Gholeghat have long been famous.
The renowned Ghose family of Babugunge is only
an offshoot of the Gholeghat family of that name.
But strange to say, the main branch is rapidly on its
decline and is likely to die out soon.  The Ghoses
of Gholeghat had coriginally received material help
from another well-kuown local: family, namely, the
Sivcars, who too have fallen: very low. Gobind
Chand Ghose had a good name. IHe was a protege
of Mr. H. Belli, the! Collector, and it was by his
favour that he rose pretty hivh,  The Choudhuries
also have almost died out.  They have a small
Zamindari tn the Hoouhly cistrict.  An entirely
sclf-made man by name Ghoneshyam Dey came by
some povtion of their' Zamindari as a bandhn or
coguate, and he enjoyed it till his death. But that
small estate was not the only support of his life
He carried on jute business on a large scale and
prospered init.  His carnings were pretty consider-
able, but as he latterly suffered loss in business, he
could but leave a little bebind. 1His eldest son,
Shib Chandra Dey, is a well-educated gentlemar..
He has been practising as & pleader in the local
Courts for a long time and has quite a reputation in
his  profession as a sound lawyar and a skilful
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conveyancer. ¥ The present writer owes to the
departed good old soul “a debt immense of endless
gratitude” and with deep filial piety ever holds his
sacred memory in the utmost reverence.

The most noticeable thing in Gholeghat is the
grand Jubilee Bridge over the Hooghly. It is a
Titanic work in miniature and testifies to the
wonderful engineering skill of Sir Bradford Leslie.
Though seeming to-be hanging, the Bridge is as
fixed as a rock.  One has only to look at it to
admire its splendid workmanship. It is really a
marvel in its own way *.

In Gholeghat there 1s a” quarter called Tantipara
described in Zamindar’s books as Tatiyan Shahabad.
Formerly this busy ‘quarter constantly resounded
with the shootings of the shuttles and the swingings
of the handlooms ; but alas! those good old days
are gone, never perhaps'toreturn. With the import
of cheap Manchester goods, the native weaving
industry has almost disappeared. Most of the
weavers have taken to other pursuits and the few
that still cling to their much neglected ancestral
vocation often find it difficult to make the two ends
meet, Subal Das was the head of the Zumzces of

* Since the above was written Babu Shib Chunder has departed
this world, leaving a large circle of friends and relations to mourn
his loss.

t For a minute description of the Bridge see Dr. Hunter’s Sta-
tiseical Reporter vol, V.
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Hooghly. He traded in /ungees (a kind of red cloth
worn principally by Mahomedans) and made a large
fortune by it. He built a very big spacious house
and did many good and pious acts, He also cele-
brated the 7wle Purush Dan, or the weighing
ceremony, which none but very rich folks are able
to perform. Nanda Lal Das who distinguished him-
self in the Education D:partment and rose to be
Head Master of the Hooghly College was a worthy
descendant of his,

South of Tantipara is Kalupara, the quarter of
the oilmen having also a small sprinkling of weavers.
Like the Tantees, the Kolus are also on the decline
and I doubt very much if there are more than half
a dozen oil-pressing machines in the whole quarter.
Some of the Kolus of Kalupara were in a well-to-
do condition and used to celebrate Pujahs in their
houses with something like ec/at.  There is, however,
one thing in Kalupara which differentiates it from
the rest of this portion of the town, it has a patshala,
not of the simple primitive type but of refined
modern fashion. This is known as the Barodwari
Upper Primary school. It is certainly a good thing
of its kind and is to some extent aided by Govern-
ment.  The Municipality also, it seems, makes some
graut to it. Abutting on the quarter of the Kolus
was that of the Sankarees or shell-cutters. This
small quarter is better known as Barodwari, Choitun
Sankaree was a man of some note. In addition to
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the knowledge of his profession he was an adept
in the divine art of music. Oune of his sons was a
school master and he is now enjoving his well-carned
pension, not, however, at his native seat but in
Calcutta.

At the extreme end of Gholeghat stands the
Hooghly Jail with its outhouses. This place of
correction is beautifully sitnated and commands
a wide view of the noble Hooghly which flows fast,
reflecting on its calmisilvery bosom the magnificent
range of buildings of Messrs. Barry Smith and Co,,
on the other side.  West of Gholeghat is Mohesh-
tola, so called from the cult of Shiva which is
enshrined there under the shade of a branching
banyan tree. The temple of the god was built about
a hundred and fifty years ago by one Choitun
Charan Dey, a resident of the spot and was duly
consecrated at his expense. ~The Zemindar, Jogudas,
gave away about eight bighas of rent-free land for
the maintenance of the Sheba, The temple with
the deity in it still exists and daily worship is well
kept up. The Gajan festival is celebrated year by
year in honor of the god. Some weaver families
also have their houses in this quarter., The pride
of the piace is Kartic Chandra Pal. e was a Sub-
Judge and has only lately rctired on well-earned
pension. He bears an exemplary character and has
the good of his countrymen at heart. He has built
a nice little G/%az on the Hooghly for the convenience
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of the people of this part of the town, and assists
persons without distinction of caste and creed who
appear to him to be in real need. His eldest son-
Ashutosh, is a Moonsiff and bids fair to prove
worthy of such a father.

South of Shaistabad was Kattra Shaista Khan,
now known as Pankhatuli which owes its name from
the circumstance of its having been formerly inhabit-
ed for the most part by the m:kers of hand-fans,
These artizans, if ['may so call them, have all died
out or have taken to other professions or have
removed  to some other guarters, The place is
almost deserted, only a portion of it being occupicd
by ‘ticca-wallas, so very, useful to smokers from
hubble-bubble.,

The southern portion of the town consists mainly
of Ghutia Bazar, Pipalpati and Babugunge. Ghutia
Bazar is the most crowded part of the whole town
and its populousness’is ‘quite 'in unison with its
opulence. It is inhabited mostly by the Subarna-
baniks who as a class seem to be the special favour-
ites of fortune,and a saying runs current that even
the poorest widow of that caste, has her two
thousands at the lowest calculation. Of the Subarna-
baniks of Hooghly Proper, the Mullick family
commonly known as the Gushtipati or lord of
families, occupies the first and foremost position,
Their name is legion, and one might say, comparing
great things with small, that the family looks like
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a modern miniature of the tremendous household
of the ten-headed Demon-king of Lanka. The
Mullicks trace their origin to one Luchsminarayan
Dey, who coming from Satgaon, first settled at
Ghutia Bazar » some three hundred years ago.
Luchsminarayan was followed by the ancestors of
the Dhars aud of the Seals, Amongst the Mullicks
the names of Gangaram and Purushottom are widely
known. The bathine Ghat-at Ghutia Bazar on the
river side is a standing instance of Gangaram’s
liberality. Latterly, Shyam Mullick cut a prominent
figure, Though he died  rather young he left a
pretty large fortune to his worthy son, Prosad Das,
who is a rising member of the local bar and is
otherwise a good man. -Gobinda Dhar was one of
the richest men of the place,  His son, Gopinath
Dhar, well maintained the dignity of the family.
The latter is dead and his large property which
consists mainly in Government securities is now in
the possession and enjoyment of the younger widow,
Tulsimani Dasi, Brajo Bullubh Seal was also a
man of note. Last but not the least is Pitambar Pyne.
Nursed in the lap of adversity this remarkable man
by sheer dint of industry, perseverance and strong

commotr sense rose to wealth and importance beyond

* The origin of the name is not known: but the probability is
that it has some connection with the sale of dried dung.cakes
(Ghutda), just as Khorua Bazar has with the sale of straw {K/4ar)
and Machua Bazar with that of fish (mackh).
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expectation, Pitambar was a merchant and banyan
and his power and influence was so very great that
though his party was comparatively weak, he held
his own against the gigantic Mullick family with
which he was alimost always at daggers drawn. He
livéd in a splendid style and his dwelling house is
the best in the whole quarter or in all Hooghly for
that matter. Latterly, there was some falling-off
in his business but such was his tact and inge-
nuity that he kept up all appearances to the last
moment of his life,; and it was not till some time
after his death that people came to know that he
had died in debt. His worthy sons, more especially
the younger, Gopal, who is the only one now living,
have retrieved the fortune of the family and have
well kept up their father’s proud name. But not
only are the Subarnabaniks of Ghutia Bazar well
known in the trade mart and the counting-house,
they have also cut a ‘good™ figure in the republic of
letters as well as in the official world. Norottum
Mullick was a highly educated man, His college
career was quite a success and he also highly distin-
guished himself in the Subordinate Judicial Service
to which he was a brilliant ornament, His son Bepin
holds a very respectable post in the Board of
Revenue. Iswar Chunder Das was another noted
character. He had a brilliaat academical career,
during the course of which he carried off many
prizes and medals, As was the practice in those
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days some of his essays were published in the Edu-
cation Reports. He began life as a teacher but
ended it as a pleader and in both capacities won
esteem and regard, His worthy son, Gosta, is a
translator in the [High Court at Caleutta.  Surjt
Kumar Dhar is also worthy of special notice, Having
left college after a successful carcer, he entered the
world where he acted many parts and in all of them
acquitted himself well. He was Daroga, clerk and
pleader joined in one; and in his retivement wiote
some useful works thereby showing the versatality
of his parts and his ntinost devotion to the cause of
Hindu religion. He haslefta worthy son in Nogendra
Nath Dhar who is a Moonsiff of the first grade.
Rai Brohmo Mohan Muollick Bahadur is also a well-
educated man of Hooghly = [le followed in the
footsteps of that illustrious educationist, Bhudeb
Mukerjee, and ultimately succeeded him as Inspector
of Schools. He is specially known for his Mathemati-
cal "attainments and his Elenwents of Fuclid in the
vernacular is a text-book in Bengal. He is fortunate
in having some worthy sons,  Nor should we leave
unnoticed Srinath Pal and Behari Lal Mullick. Both
of them were Sub-Judges and had a fair reputation
in the department to which their services pertained,
They are now enjoying their well-earned pension,
Both of them are blessed with worthy sons, more
especially Behari Lal, one of whose son, Monmotho,

is a moonsiff, and the other, Promotho, holds a very
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high post in the postal depariment in connection
with the East Indian Railway.

Bordering on  Ghutia Bazar on the south is
Tamlipara of which the Singhs are so well-known,
[n their palmy days, the two brethers, Ram Narayan
and Madan Mohan, did many good acts in a Hindu
point of view. Their Ras Festival had a wide repute
and attracted people from all parts of the district:
They also celebrated some! S/rad ceremonies with
very great ec/a?, Indeed, in this part of the country no
family surpassed them in thematter of due perform-
ance of deeds of piety and virtue. Madan
Mohan’s sons celebrated the 7ule Purush Duan of
their parents at an enormous expense, The old man
with his wife were weighed against money and valu-
able goods, and after the weighing was over, all these
coins and valuables ‘were distributed amongst
Brahmans and Pandits.. - Both the families, however,
have since suffered reverses and are now in a stare of
decay. The Ghoses of this quater were once in their
glory. Ram Mohan Ghose had left large property
to his three sons, Ganga Narayan, Gopal and Koilas.
Ganga Narayan had entered Government service and
was Sherishtadar of the Judge’s Court at Chapra,
Gopal was very religiously disposed and spent a
good deal in charity. It is said that like Madhab
Dutta of Chinsura he had made a gift of a lakh of
rupees to his Guru or spiritual preceptor, a Brahman
of Nabagram. All the three brothers are dead, and i
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is a great pity that their heirs and descendants have
very little to live upon. Surely ill fares human fortune
in this world of constant changes! There is another
family in this quarter which has only lately risen to
some importance, we mean the Deys, of whom Jugal
Kishore is a Moonsiff of pretty long standing. His
father and uncles were the brothers-in-law of Ram
Narayan Singh of whom we have spoken above.
West of Ghutia Bazar is Pipalpati, so called from
the grand public road passing through it having been
for Jong lined with rows of peepul, Banyan and other
big trees. This quarter mostly belongs to the
Bansberia House as appertaining to their Zaminderi,
mouza Kalihanda, and to the well-known Das family
of Jagudaspara as forming part of their estate, lot
Shahabad. This lot comprises Tamlipara, Kalupara,
Tantipara, and Jagudaspara. Jagannath Das com-
monly known as Jagu Das was an entirely self-made
man, who, from an crdinary sircar of the late East
India Company at Fort William rose to power and
opulence. Ile used to celebrate some Flindu Pujahs
at his grand dwelling-house with considerable eclat
and was known as the Zamindar of Hooghly par
excellence. His son, Rajkristo and his grandson,
Bhupal, also kept up the dignity and repuration of
the family, but since the death of the latter the
family is fast falling into decay. The big hat*

* QOtherwise called hat Shahazadpur.
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bearing the name of Mauallick Kasim on the way to
Chinsura is owned by this family., Not far from the
house of the Dases of Jagudaspara stand conspicu-
ous the splendid mansions of the late Rai Eshan
Chandra Mittra Bahadur and his brother Mohendra
Chandra, Indeed, the Mitters and Dr. Buddun are
the richest men in the whole town, The Mitters are
natives of Kona, a village on the other side of the
river, Ilooghly being their business-resort and in
point of fact their principal quarters where they spend
most part of the year.

The Pipalpati outpost stands at the spot where the
Pipalpati and the Pankhatuli roads cut the Cockerell
road. On the west of the Pankhatuli road lies
Khonkarpara or Khondkartuli, in which, however,
there is only one Khondkar family, the rest having
died out or removed to other localities. To the south
of Khondkarpara is Goaltuli, the quarter of the
Goalas  (milkmen).  Ilere the Gajan festival is
celebrated with some pomp and circumstance in the
closing month of the Bengal year. West of Pankha-
tuli and Khondkarpara is Kabaripara, the quarter of
the Kabarecs or fish-mongers and such like low
people, where stands the magnificent garden-house
of the late Jeban Kristo Pa. of Chinsura, Ghazi
Dewan’s little Durga/ is by the side of the Pankha-
tuli road, nearly opposite to the gate of the Town
Hall and Municipal office.  Abdool Rahman, com-
monly known as Fakir Shahib, was formerly in
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charge of this Durgah. His grandson, Mahor Shahib,
is the present incumbent,

The Pals* of Pipalpati, of whom Prem Chand Pal
now of Emambazar, and Srinath Pal at present of
Ghutia Bazar or rather of Tamlipara were members
of the Subordinate Judicial Service, were once of
some note. Srinath’s eldest brother, Deno Nath, had
built a house adjacent to their ancestral homestead.
After his death it was sold by his sons and it i1s now
in the possession of Rat Bepin Bihari Bese Bahadur
who has largely ‘added to and improved upon it
This gentleman is the son of Kashi Nath Bose who
was a Depaty Collector. The house of the Bose
family is in Protappur whence Rai Bepin Bihari has
removed to Pipalpati, therchy casting his ancestral
abode, which is still in existence, quite in the shade.

At the southern extremity of Pipalpati is Muallick
Kashim’s /et This is the principal market in the
whole town, and sells things of sorts.  Lven paddy,
rice, potato and pulses are sold in some part of it,
This portion is of recent making and belongs to some
persons besides the Dases of Jagudaspara,  Almost
contiguous to the Z«f to the south is Kumarpara the
quarter of the potters.

Babugunge Proper belongs to the Paikpara Raj
family., It extends southwards from the Cockerell
road to the lane which runs past the firm of the

.* Their ancestor, Chand  Pal and Raja Sukmoy of Caleutta, it is
said, belonged to the same family.,
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Koondoos of Khamarpara and westwards from the
river to within some distance of the Kulihanda road.
The area covered by these boundaries had on it a
big bazar which was a source of income to the owners,
This bazar was called Gobindagunge after the name
of Dewan Ganga Gobinda Singh’s elder brother,
Babu Radha Gobinda, and itis from this circumstance
that the place is now generally known as Babugunge.
[t froms a part and parcel of the vast pargana, Arsha.
When under Regulation XXVII of 1793 Govern-
ment took possession of all hats, bazars and gunges,
the owners of Babugunge were allowed Sayer duties
to the extent of Rs 3,600, while they were made to
pay Rs 100 as Governmet revenue, leaving a net in-
come of Rupees three thousands and a half, Within
the above area some land belonged to the Raja of
Andool, for which the. rent payable was Rs 15 a year.
Half of this amount is now payble to the present-
head of the Andool house and half to Radha Nath
Banerjee who came by it by right of purchase,
Babugung, as its name imp’ies, is a well-known place
of trade. When the Singhs of Tamlipara were in
affluent circumstances they had their irm in this place
as they had in many others. Here they carried on
business on a large scale and the river in front was
almost all the year round crowded with large cargo
boats, The place resounded with the ceaszless din
and clatter of trade and was alive with bands of
buyers and sellers and brokers, In Babugunge stands
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the house of the late Annoda Prosad Ghose who
was for long Personal Assistant to the Divisional
Commissioner, The Purkait family of Babugung
was once of note. Lot Kulihanda which now be-
longs to the Bansberia Mohashoy family was their
Zamindari, This lot includes Sujan’s Bagan, Pipal-
pati, Mullick Kasim’s hat, Goaltuli, Kadamtola and
some portion of Babugung. Suojan’s Bagan derives
its name from an up-country man named Sujan
Singh who made a _big gardenthere. Kadamtola's
boast was Ram Krishna Kalliah and his brother.
These rich folks came from the North-West and
settled here. Trobodh Chunder Dutt, a retired
Judicial officer, has lately built a house at Kadamtala.
He belongs to the well-known Moonshee family
of Devanandapur and is otherwise a good man.
Kashinath Rukhit, a gentleman of the Tambuli
caste, was a noted character in Babugunge. He
possessed considerable property, but with the lapse
of time it has dwindled into nothing and his very
name is fast fading away from the memory of
the people,

South of Babugunge proper is Protappur and
adjoining Protappur is Haldartuli. This locality
owes its name to the well-known Haldar family
which at one time cut a very prominent figure. The
Halders were big zamindars and possessed vast
influence, In course of time they have fallen into
insignificance. The last representative of some ncte
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was Kali Charan Haldar. The rains of old build-
ings itestify to the wealth and importance of this
ounce famous Brahman family.  Adjoining Haldar-
tuli is Joraghat, Iereis a small Muadrassa where
Persian is taught by a Moonshee who is a distant
descendant of the infamously famous Mir Solaman
Khan. Though a little thing, this school is doing
some good in the way of Mahomedan education,

In the southern division of the town proper there
are several Akras of which the Akra of Radha-
bullub and of Krishna Chaitanya are the most
important, Almost all these monasteries, if we may
so call them, are principally maintained with the
money and means of the Suvernabaniks who are
all Vaisnavas by religion,

Here we close our general account of Hooghly
and in closing it we can wot but express our deep
regret that placed as it is, Iooghly is not likely
even to recover its former importance, not even
that amount of it which it possessed while the

Courts and Offices were here.



CHAPTER XX.
T1E CONCLUSION.

A history of Hooghly would not be complete
without some account of Chinsura, the two places
forming, to use Bishop Heber’s words, “almost one
town,” His Lordship’s words possessed a peculiar
significance  seeing that they were unsed at a time
when Chinsura had just-been ceded to the Kuglish.
From long before the' cession the two towns were
rivals and vied with cach other inthe pursuits of pelf
and power, This rivalry had continued in full force
for a considerable ‘period, but since the fatal day of
Bejara on which Colonel | Forde gained a decisive
victory over the Dutch that rivalry had deen confined
to the matter of commerce. Iundeed, the Dutch
drove a very brisk trade in the latter half of the
eichtecenth  century.  The way to  commercial
enterprise in the Far Last was first shown in modern
times by the Portuguese, After the fall of their power
in Bengal by the capture and destruction of their
settlement at Hooghly in 1532, the English came in
and established a factory in that very place, A few
short years after, the Dutch * followed in their steps
and became their next-door neighbours ; but finding

* The first Dutch fleet sailed for the Indies under Houtman in
1395, but it was not till 1602 that the Dutch East India Company was
formed.
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such close proximity neither pleasant nor conveni-
ent, they removed to the neighbouring village of
Chinsura and settled there for good. Although
trade was their main object, they, in order to provide
against possible contingencies, deemed it necessary
to fortify their settlement. Accordingly with the
permission of the Mogul satrap they built a fort in
1687+ which they named fort Gustavus after the
then reigning king of Holland. This fort stretched
from the site of the present Joraghat to where the
barracks now stand. - The whole range of buildings,
however, were not erected at one and the same time,
the southern portion having been built somewhere in
the year 1692, The French (FarZ or moat separating
the Dutch possession’ from the Freuch lay to the
south-west of Chinsura, some remains of which are
still  vissible. The “ Tolaphatuk” would seem to
have been the boundary or barrier-gate where octroi
duties were collected * from ‘people coming from
~Chandernagore with goods and mzrchandise. That
wide and lofty gate used to be closed at curfewtide
inorder to prevent egress and ingress during the
dark aund drowsy hours of night, Hamilton who
visited Bengal in 1716 thus describes Chinsura:—
“ About half a league farther up is Chinsura

* Stavorinus, who visited Bengal about 1769-70, however, says that
the old Dutch fort ““was built in the year 1656, as appears by the date
over the land gate.”  But if he meant Fort Gustavus, he was evidently
in error, as appears from the Rev. Mr. Long’s article—‘“Notes on the
Right Bank of the Iooghly ¥—in the Calrutta Revicw for 1845,
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where the Dutch Emporium stands. [t is a large
factory, walled high with brick, and the factors have a
great many good Houses standing pleasantly on the
river side, and all of them have pretty gardens *
to their houses, The Chinsura is wholly under
the Dutch Company’s Government, [t is abouta
mile long and about the same breadth, well inhabited
by the Armenians and the Natives. It is contiguous
to Hooghly, and affords sanctuary for many poor
natives, when they are.in danger. of being oppressed
by the Mogul's Governor or his harpies.”t

Chinsura was not an independent settlement.
It was under the Government of Batavia in Java}
and was ruled by a Director, or Governor as he was
more commonly called, assisted by seven councillors.
The pay of the Governor was not high, but he receiv-
ed a certain percentage -on the sale of imported
goods, and it was these large perquisites which en-
abled him to live as helactually did, in a princely style.
Governor Vernet, it is said, used to spend Rs 36,000
a year as household expences, and in this respect

* Tndeed, the Datch excelled in gardening as the I'rench did in
road-making. The Dutch gardens were the very pick of the hasket,
if one micht s1y so, Fach gentleman had a garden attached to his
house. Thus Chinsura was plentiful in gardens. The o/unda pulse,
ps its name shows, was imported into this country by the Hollanders.
The English learncd the gardener’s art from them.

+ See Dr. Ceanl Vs Bidef Hictory of the Hooghly District,
pp- 27, 28, where the above passage is quoted.

+ Chinsura, though subordinate to Batavia, had control over Fulia
and Daranagore, and its Governor corresponded direct with Holland.
See Crawford's Mistoiy, p. 360
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he was out-did by former Governors who spent a
good deal more. Indeed, they imitated the Kastern
grandees and kept an eye on pomp and grandeur
in all their actions and doings. The Governor alone
could use the Zamjan (chair of state), and while
parading the streets had six Chobdars with silver
sticks in attendance. The high officials also were
accompanied by chobdars. But though the rulers
loved pomp and magnificence, they were not un-
mindful of their duties, and, as a matter of fact,
governed the settlement in a manner which was not
at all distasteful to the Natives.  Oune person did the
duties of both Judge and Magistrate and conse-
quently wiclded very large powers, The Police was
sufficiently  watchful, and kept the peace of the
country without resorting to violent measures.
Stavorinus speaks of the great influence of the Fiscal
of Chinsura whem the Natives called Jumudar, but
who would now be called Sherifi He punished
offenders by flogging and fines, and was dreaded all
over the settlement. His perquisites from all sources
were so very large that he could well afford to
live in a grand style. Indeed, the people enjoyed
peace and safety and lived happily and comfortably.
Taxation was very light and the mode of collecting
it quite easy, Thus, it would appear that, if Water-
meyer’s formula, “In all things political, purely
despotic; in all things commercial, purely mono-
polist,” was true of the Government of the Dutch
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East India Company at the Cape, it was not so of
their Government in India.

The comparative quietness of the Setlement
invited many out-siders to come in and build houses.
And not only Natives of the soil but also foreigners
were attached to it. Among the latter, the Arme-
nians came in large numbers, of whom the Markar
family was the most couspicuous.  The local Arme-
nian church was founded by Markar, son of Khojah
Johannes, in 1693, and was completed in 1697 by
his brether Joseph. © The church ' was dedicated to
St, John the Baptist; in whose honor a feast is held
annually on the 27th day of January., The famous
Missionary, Mr. Kiernander, and the great merchant,
Mr. Weston, made Chinsura their head quarters and
were proudly named amongst its residents. The
Missionary passed many long years in Bengal, during
which he suffered many sad raverses, and, at last,
when death came to his relief, he was an utterly
ruined and broken man. As for Mr, Weston, he
lived in affluence and was never deserted by that
all-loved goddess who is so very notorious for the
fickleness of her favours. His liberality was almost
proverbial, and the poor and the destitute found in
him a ready friend. Mr. Charles Lewis Vogel was
also a notable resident of Chinsura. He opened
an English school there on 6th January 1803 ; and
his good example was readily followed by Mr. B.
Rodriguez, who established the * Chinsura Standing
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Commercial  Academy School with a cowmpetant
Usher” in  August next. Monsier Perron ¥ who
had amassed a very large fortune in the service of
the Maharaja  of Gwalior and had distinguished
himseif in the military line, came to Chinsura in his
green old age and erected a splendid edifice in 1810,
the one in which has long been located the Hooghly
College. M. Perron, while at Chinsura, lived like a
prince and was held in high csteem. Uniike the
Europeans of the present day, ‘the Anglo-Indians
of Chinsura freely mixed with the Natives and
enjoyed their confidence aud affection. There was
no such thing as race antagonism. In fact, they
seemed to have adopted in: all their dealings the
wholesomwe maxtim,~—" While at Rome do what they
do at Rome.” The! foreigners imitated native
manners and indulged  in some oriental luxuries.
Cigar-smoking had almost given way to the long-
tailed pipe, popularly known as “ Albola”  In fact,
there were very few Anglo-Indians who did uot
regale themselves with the sweet gurgling * Hubble
Bubble’ after dinner, The Dutch women imitated
their betters and complaisantly took to ILastern
habits. They were generally very idle, unpersever-

ing and careless. They did not get up from bed

* General Perron must not be confounded with the great orientalist
of that name who was presert at Chardernagore when it was
captured by Clive in March 1757. The latter was a very learrec
man and a linguist.  Born in 1731, died in 1805.
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before eight, and like the Natives used to chew betel
and dokta (prepared tobacco). Their dress was loose.
Most of the Dutch gentry had their villas in Satgaon
and some such places, to which they would repair
of an evening and pass their leisure in ease and
comfort afar from the worry and bustle of business.

Grand Pre, * who visited Bengal in 1789—90,
says that Malay families had settled in Chinsura
and had given birth to aclass of women called
Mosses, who were in high estimation for their beauty
and talents. l.ike the damsels of Bandel and
Baranagore, these East Indian women made their
living by their looks.

The Moguls also came in goodly numbers and
settled in the quarter which' ‘was called after them
Mogultuli, just as the quarter inhabited by the
Armenians was called Armenitola. But the same
necessity which had induced the latter to build a
church of their own did not exist in their case, as
there was the great Emambara at Hooghly where
they could well hold their religious meetings and
perform religious rites and ceremonies. Many of
the Moguls of Chinsura were very rich men and the
houses they lived in were so many palaces ina
miniature form. But the ruthless hand of all-
destroying Time has swept almost all of them from
the face of the earth, leaving not a trace behind.

* See his ‘‘ Voyage in the Indian Ocean and to Bengal, 1759-90.”
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Similar fate, however, has not befallen the Feringhi-
tola, the quarter of the Anglo-Indians, where some
of the old buildings are still in existence in some
shape or other. Here was the Roman Catholic
chapel which was completed so far back as 1740,
chiefly from the funds bequeathed by Mr. Sebastian
Shaw. But not only was thus proper means provided
for the catering of spiritual food, quite ample provi-
-sion was also made for the supply of creature com-
forts, Chinsura could boast of two very good hotels.
These were of long standing and they continued to
exist even years after the town was ceded to the
English,

A little to the west of Feringhitola the Mararaja
Dhiraj of Burdwan, the Fremier nobleman of
Bengal, built a palatial residence, and, as it was his
favourite villa, now and again graced it with his
August Presence, The House is still in existence,
but, as ill luck would have “it, is not honoured by
His Highness with even a casual visit. During
Dutch rule, this royal abode was in all its glory and
not unoften resounded with revelry and mirth,
Prince Protap Chand, the only son of Maharaja
Tej Chandra, had a strong liking for the Chinsura
Rajbati and spent many days together in it in
company with a few select friends and associates.
The last Dutch Governor, Me. Overbeck, was a
-constant guest at his hospitable board and enter-
‘tained affectionate regard for him. Those were
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indeed, very happy days for Chinsura, but alas!
they have passed away into the glimmerings of
things that are nzver, perhaps, to return, Latterly,
when Maharaja Mahtab Chand Bahadur was a
member of the Supreme Council, His Highness made
the Chinsura Rajbati his head quarters aud stayed
in it with pomp and circumstance becoming his high
rank, until he was relieved of his duties at the grand
Council Chamber. The Maharaja was a first class
nobleman and was_the recognized head of Native
society. The chief object. of the. Dutch in making
settlements in India was trade, but when they saw
the English gaining some political power they also
directed their aim in that line, and in so doing
seemed to have been favoured by circumstances,
Mir Jaffer, who had been raised to the throne of
Bengal by Clive after the battle of Plassey, soon
found that his position was anything but secure.
Stung by the worm that diethnot, he naturally feared
that the same power that had put him up might pull
him down; and it was, therefore, no wonder that
he secretly sought the assistance of the Dutch with
a view to get rid of Euglish dominancy. Accord-
ingly, an armament was sent from Batavia in 18359,
but, unfortunately for the helper and the party
helped, it was destroyed partly at sea by Admiral
Wilson and decisively on land by Colone! Forde,
These successes scaled the fate of the Dutch in
Bengal and all their political power, supposing that
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they had had any, came to an end at once and for
ever, Since then they existed only as a commercial
company. They, however, continued to drive a brisk
trade which reached its height in the eighth decade
of the eighteenth century.

When the Dutch power was, as already stated,
destroyed on the fatal field of Bajara,’commonly,
but not the less erroneously, called Biderra. A,
Bisdom was Governor of Chinsura, He was suc-
ceeded by George Vernet who held his post for
about 12 years, The Protestant Church at Chinsura
owes its origin to ‘him who built it at his own cost
in 1768, the very year in which he took charge of the
Government. The altar, as in the Church at Bandel
is at the north end. The Church-tower * had been
built by a former Governor, Sichterman, who ruled
the settlement from 1744.  Vernet was succeeded by
A, Ross who was a great friend of Warren Hastings,.
as A. Bisdom was of Clive. The year after Ross
took charge of the Government, that is, in 1781,
Chinsura was a second time captured by the English,
along with the other Dutch possessions in Bengal,
but restored at the peace of 1783. It was again
taken on the 28th July 1795 and appears to have been
administered by the English up to 18171 Not

* This steeple fell in the cyclone of 5th October 1864.
4 While in the hands of the English, Chinsura was governed by
a Special Commissioner. On the occasion of the restoration the
Hon’ble J. A. Bream gave a grand dinner (See Crawford’s History,

Pp- 38, 30)
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long after, the Dutch found to their sore regret that
their once famous scttlement was rather an incum-
brance, and it is, therefore, not surprising that they
soon got rid of it in exchange for a more conve-
nient place in the island of Java where stands their
metropolis in the Far East. This took place in the
year 1824. *

Shortly after the treaty was concluded, Bishop
Heber visited Chinsura and preached in the old
Calvinist Church ~which was given over to him.
The Lord Bishop' was of opinion that Chinsura
was a fit place for Missionary station and he hoped
that in a fe'v years the Christian congregation would
come up to a pretty large figure. Some eleven
years after, that is, on Ioth September 1835, Bishop
Wilson visited the place: This was his fifth visit.
His Lordship thus describes Chinsura in his Journal
letter :—“The town is an old Dutch settlement, and
with the former Governor T stiil residing as a private
man, The old Calvinist Church was given over
to Bishop Ileber in 1824. The place stands on
an exquisitely beautiful reach of the river Hooghly.

* I'ort Gustavus was pulled down in 1827, soun after the cession,
to make room for the barracks.

t This was Daniel Antonio Overbeck, who stayed on in Chinsura
till his death which took place on 25th September 1840. M G,
Herklots, the Dutch Piscal, gave up his pension ani entered the
service of the British Government as ¢ Fiscal of Chinsura and
Registrar and Secretary of the European Court of Justice.” He also
held the office of Sudder Ameen. ITis salury was sicca ripees 500
a month. His office was situate in I'eringhectolah near the Armenian

Chuwrch.
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The native town contains 2¢,0c0 people.  The bazar
is enormous and highly characteristic of India.” *
The good Bishop is entirely silent on the subject of
education, and, in point of fact, he had not much
to say about it. The Dutch favoured the cause of
learning and in evidence of their inclination in that
direction had established in Chinsura a very good
school which was known as the Chinsura Free School.
This educational Institution was formerly supported
by the Chinsura Poor Fund. ~But when the Rev.
Mr. Mundy established fourteen native schools in
the vicinity, these schools ~along with the Free
School referred to above came to be supported by
Government on account of which Rs Soo were
granted every month,  This grant was continued by
the English Government and took effect from the
7th May 1823, the date of the actual transfer of
Chinsura. This state -of things lasted till the close
of October 1832, after which the grant was with-
drawn. The I'ree School was under the management
of the Chinsura School Society, of which Mr. Over-
beck, the quondam Governor, and a few others were
members, The Seccretary to this school was the
Rev. Mr. Lacroix, + After the grant was with-
drawn, the Free School fell into considerable insigni-

ficance and was probably in a moribund state,

¥ See Journal Letters, edited by the Lishop’s son in 1863, p. 84.
T See Mr. Toyabee’s oldministration, p 117,
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unnoticed and uncared for, when Bishop Wilson
visited Chinsura in 1835, But in the year after, a
great change came over the place, and certainly it
was a change for the better in the fortune of Chinsura
in the educational point of view. In that memorable
year the town witnessed a very grand spectacle:
This was the opening of the Hooghly College, an
institution which owes its origin and advancement
to the princely bequest made by that good and great
Mahomedan, Mohamed Mohsin-of very laudable me-
mory. Dr. T. Wise, whose name like that of Mr, D. C.
Smyth has almost become a household word in this
part of the country, was its first Principal. The
Hooghly Seminary proved a great success.  Among
its Principals were such men as Captain D, L.
Richardson, James Sutherland, Leonidas Clint, James
Kerr, Robert Thwaytes, and, latterly, William Booth,
The present incumbent, Mr. Robert W. F. Shaw, is
also a well-known character.  The College is very
fortunate in having sent forth into the world many
eminent scholars. Captain D. L. Richardson was
Aid-de-camp to Lord William Bentinck before he
became Professor of Literature in the Hooghly
College. His literary attainments were of a very
high order and even such a brilliant writer and
schelar as Macaulay made him an especial object
of his praise. James Sutherland, another noted
literary character, was for some time Professor of

Literature and Principal of the Hooghly College. He
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wielded a powerful pen and edited the Bengal
Harkara for a few years with credit. James Kerr
too had a good name in the republic of letters, and
his admirvable Discourse on Education is still read
with interest. Robert Thwaytes was a good Mathe-
matician ; but William Booth who came some years
after him greatly excelled him in that respect,
Indeed, the latter might be called a genius in mathe-
matical lore.

Side by side with the Hooghly College was estab-
lished some years after the Free Church Institution
by that prince of Indian missionaries, Dr. Alexander
Duff.  The missionary Institution like the Govern-
ment College had its palmy days, but now both of
them are in their declive,. Latterly, there has been
opened an Entrance Schocl called the Training
Academy which is under purely native manage, and,
what is very remarkable, a girl school has been added
to the educational institutions of the town, which
strongly testifies to the unselfish and philanthrophic
labours of Miss Raikes. Nor is Chinsura wanting
in a reading room accessible to the general public
Its public Library, though it leaves much to be
desired, has some value of its own in the way of
dissiminating knowledge. 1t can also boast of what
is justly called the Fourth Estate. Both the Educa
tion Gaszette and the Chinsuwia Bartabaha issue from
this place. The former is the Government organ in
connection with the Vernacular Education Depast.



496 [IOOGHLY PAST AND PRESENT.

ment, while the latter is a fair exponent of local
public opinion. And as a necessary appanage to
journalism there exist in the new town two printing
presses, in this respect excelling old Chinsura which
could boast of only one such instrument of modern
civilization, Thus, in an intellectval point of view
Chinsura does not hold an insignificant place, and
it certainly goes much ahead of Hooghly, The
Chinsura Brahmo Sawmaj was once in all its glory,
but it has long since become. a thing of the past.
But not only is. Chinsura rich 'in wealth in the
scholar’s and reformer’s point of view, it is also rich
in wealth in the worldly = sense of the term. This
good old town has been the residence of some well-
known families, the first and foremost amongst
which are the Seals. This famaus family carried on
trade on an extensive scale and had also considerable
banking business; and there was a time when the
Hoondecs drawn by them were bought and sold in
the money-market of Lower Bengal, The family
had amassed a very large fortune and lived almost
in a princely style. They werc orthodox Hindus
of the Vaishnava persuasion and wsed to spend a
good deal on Hindu festivals and other religious acts
and ceremonies, Nor were they wanting in accom-
plishments. A member of this family, Ram Chandra
Seal, commonly known as Ram Seal, had spent
about a lakh of rupees on music. He was not only
an advocate of that most charming of the fine arts
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and of its followers, but wi.s himself a most accom-
plished singer and set to music some of the inimi-
table Lyrics of the sublinely sweet poet of the
Gita Gobinda. The late Babeo Khetter Nath Seal
was also a distinguished member of that family,
He was a very rich man and was known as “ Raja
Baboo” in consequence of his vast  wealth and
pompous mode of living. Latterly he met with
many sad reverses and the closing days of his life
were passed in misery,  Jagomohan Seal was also
a well-known member of tihat family, e was the
owner of the splendid Hooghly College building,
and it was from him'that Government purchased it
and located the Collegc therein, Tast but not
the least is Mr. Brojendra Kumar Seal * who was
a District Judge for a long time and was held in
high esteem for able dischizrge of his duties. He
has since retired on_ pention and is now practising
as a vakil in the High Coust at’ Caleutta. His son
is a barrister-at-law and also practises in the same
Court, The Dutts of Chirsura are also of consider-
able repute. Lal Bihari Dutt who died only recently
was a well-known merch:nt and had amassed a
large fortune. He  was  also fortunate in other

* Indeed, never before him was a2 member of the Subordinate Judi-
cial Serwce raised to the high posi of a District Judge. Mr. “Seal
had a Dbrilliant official career. JFrom a second- grad~ Moonsiff he
became a Sub-Judge and from a Sub-Judge, he became a District
Judge.

zf
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respects. He had inherited the property of his
maternal uncle, Jiban Krishna Pal, so well known
to fame. Jiban Baboo was an accomplished man
of fashion and like the Dutch of the place had a
marked taste for gardening. His garden near the
Hooghly Railway Station is a splendid thing and
excites admiration in the minds of all beholders.
There is another well--kuown Datt family in Chin-
sara, the most prominent.. member whereof was
Madhab Chandra Dutt, so well-known to fame both
in his native place and in Calcutta. Madhab Chan-
dra was a noted merchant and had become immensely
vich by trade. Ile rose so very high that he became
a rival of the far-famed Calcutta millionaire, Moti
Lal Seal, and baffled all his attempts to lower the
importance of the bazar established by him at
Calcutta. The bazar which justly bears the found-
er's proud name is  still in existence. Madhab
Chandra, though a happy man in the worldly sense
of the terin, at last came to a very violent end.
Oune night while coming home in a ticca-gharry
from the Hooghly Railway Station he was attacked
by a band of hired ruffians and was so brutally
dealt with that he expired the next morning. The
deceased was a pious and charitable man, and made
a princely gift of a lakh of rupees to his gurzu, or
spiritual preceptor. It is a great pity that his sons
and descendants have not been able to maintain the
honor and dignity of the family of which he was
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the only brilliant ornament. They are living in
obscurity, unnoticed and uncared for.

Early in the eighteenth century the Mullicks dis-
tinguished themselves in this part of the country.
They formerly resided at Kulihanda in Hooghly
whence they removed to Chinsuvra in order to be freed
from the frequent raids of the Marhatta freebooters,
popularly known as Aurgis, Their Kulihanda
property has long been in the possession of the
renowned Ghose family of Babuegunge. Nabo Kissen
Mullick was the originator of  the far-famed pantomi-
mic exhibition, commonly known as Chinsura Sang,
{300d old times those, when people lived in peace and
happiness and had time and means to indulge "in
innocent amusements.  About the year 1813, a major
part of the Mullick family moved down to Calcutta as
being a more convenient place {or trading purposes
and settled in the quarter called Pathuriaghatta, the
seat of the well-known' Tagcres of Calcutta, Raja
Rajendra Mullick of sacred memory was a member
of this branch. Bir Narsingha Mullick, another
noted member, was at one time a leader of the
Subarnobaniks of Calcutta. He was a great friend
of Maharaja Jotindra Mohan Tagore’s father, Baboo
Hara Kumar Tagore, and did him some good offices
when he was in difficulty. Rameswar Mullick was
the recognised head of the Mullicks who remained
at Chinsura. As he died without male issue, his
daughters’ sons, the Dhars, succeeded to his property
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by right of inheritance. But they were not allowed
to enjoy it in peace, as they had to carry on a long
litigation with Raja Rajendra Mullick who alleged
that he had a preferential claim ; but he was cast in
all the Courts and therefore retired from the field
crest-fallen, leaving the Dhars victorious.  The
property of which za/uk Makla is the chief is
Debuattur, dedicated to the God Jagannath, of whom
the Dhars are the Shebaits. The Dhars have cut a
cood figure in the official world.  Mr. Sham Chand
Dhar who has only lately retired on pension was an
eminent member of the Uncovenanted Judicial
Service. He was one of the three Assistant Sessions
Judges selected by the High Court from amongst the
the Subordinate Judges, and itis very gratifying to
observe that he did ample justice to the Honourable
Court’s choice. He was Civil and Sessions Judge of
Noakhali when he retired from service. He has not
only been granted the vsual pension which he has so
hardly won, but in recognition of his meritorious ser-
vices has been dubbed “ Rai Bahadur.” The present
Lieutenant-Governor, Sir Andrew Fraser, very kindly
noticed his services with approbation in the specch
which His Honor delivered on the occasion of his
visit to Noakhali, Rai Sham Chand’s elder brother,
Deno Nath, served as Government pleader in several
districts, and, at last, when acting in the same capa-
city in Midnapur, ill-health intensified by some
domestic disaster compelled him to retire from service
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in 1896, Deno Nath is a popular humourist and his
social songs and witty sayings have been the admira-
tion of many a man of cultured taste and sound
learning.,

The Mundals of Kamarpara are also worthy of
notice. Padma Lochun Mundal was the architect of
the fortune of the family, He acquired considerable
estate in Balasore where he was held in very high
esteem and was accorded something like princely
honor. He left very large property to his sous, but
owning to family  dissensions and disputes it has
suffered material loss. Some members of the family
are living in the ancestral abode, while Sarat Chunder
Mundal has left that seat for good and has been
residing with his family in a/ purchased house close
to Joraghat at the extreme end of Chinsura.

The Lahas too 'are of repute: Bissonath Laha’s
name is well-known, but his fame has been eclipsed
by that of his sons, more especially of the illustrious
Maharaja Darga Charan Laha. The Maharaja was
one of the richest men of Calcutta and his influence
was quite commensurate with his wealth. His
mercantile transactions were on a very large scale
and, no wonder, that he was called the prince of
native merchants. Like the Maharaja, his sons do
not care much for their Chinsura house and property
their principal place of residence being Calcutta, and
that is why we do not hear much of the Lahas
at Chinsura,
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All the families we have noticed above belong
to the Subarnabanik caste.  DBut now we shall notice
a Kayastha family which is no way inferior to any
of them. Need we say that we refer to the Shome
famnily of Sham Baboo’s ghat. The Shomes trace
their ancestry from one Balobhadra Shome who
held a high post under the Raja of Gaur, and had
also acquired a unique position amongst his caste
people. The original _seat of the family was at
Bagati, an obscure village in the, Hooghly district,
whence an important branch of the family migrated
to Chandernagore in the hope of bettering their
condition by service under the foreign merchants of
Chinsura and its neighbourhood. That hope was
to a certain extent realized by Gunga Narain Shome
the sixth in descent from Balobhadra, who managed
to secure a high office in the Dutch settlement and
who in recognition of his meritorious services was
given the title of “ Sircar.” Gunga Narain’s son, Ram
Charan, left Chandernagore and came to reside in
Chinsura where he built a splendid house. He was
Dewan to the Dutch East India Company, and, as
a matter of necessary consequence, possessed great
influence.  As a marlk of honour the title of ¢ Baboo”
was conferred upon him, and, as it seemed to have
been something more than a purely personal distinc-
tion, it was assumed by his sons, Titaram and Sham
Ram. Indeed, the fame of the sons, more especially
of SBam Ram, cast that of the father in the shade,
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Sham Ram’s title to “ Babooship™ was recognized
by the Nawab of Murshidabad, who, to add to its
weight and importance, decorated him with  A/ilut
(robe of honour). Sham Baboo built a large brick-
built g/at near his residence which still bears his
honoured name. The ghas was surmounted by a
grand “ Nalhabatkfiann” wheace on festive occasions
band of musicians played many country airs much
to the amusement of the su-vrounding people. The
orchestra has since fallen a prey to all-destroying
Time and has altogether disappeared, leaving not a
wreck behind. Sham  Baboo was a pious orthodox
Hindu and he set up an image of the goddess
Jogadhya at Sandeswartola a few paces from the
gleat which bears his name.

But not only did the family cut a prominent figure
during the time of the Dutch, it also maintained
its high rank and positionin the time of the English,
Radha Gobinda Shome, great-grandson of Sham
Baboo, was the first Principal Sudder Ameen in
Bengal, or in all India for that matter, and he was
the only Indian Judge, who exercised unlimited
original civil jurisdiction. [ideed, he was regarded
as a power in the land. Ram Gobinda Shome
another great-grandson of Sham Baboo, was the
first Deputy Registrar of the Sudder Dewani
Adalat. In fact, the post was specially created
for him in order that he might be of material help
to the Civilian Registrar who was generally deficient
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in matters of routine and detail, and, to give due
dignity and importance to the post, a salary not
less than that of the highest Indian Judge was
attached to it. Ram Gobinda was distinguished
not only for his ability but also for his honesty.
This family has furnished a larger number of Judi-
cial officers than any other family in Bengal; even
the Ghose family of Babugunge which produced
such men as Rai Grish Chunder Bahadur and Baboo
[Turro Chunder somewhat pales before it.  Among
the living we may mention Rai Purna  Chunder
Shome Bahadur, Baboo Barada Prosunna Shome
and Baboo Debendra Lial Shome, all Governmeut
pensioners.  As for | Rai Purna Chunder who was
an ornament of the Suberdinate Judicial Service
though he has long since passed sixty, he is still
practising as a Vakil in the 1{igh Court with his
energy and working capacity in full swing and
vigour. *

Our account of the well-known families of Chin-
sura would be incomplete, if we aid not say a few
words about the HHaldars who were in the hey-day
of their power and irfluence when Pran Kissen
Haldar held the destiny of the family. This man
was a very remarkable character and acquired money
with both hands, so to say, by fair means and foul.
In an evil hour he teok to forging Currency Notes

Rei Purna Chandra has since died.
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and had succeeded for some time in hood-winking
the Government and the public. But, at last, his
dark doings were brought to iight and he was con-
victed and sentenced to transportation for a period
of fourteen years. 1le, it is true, had returned from
his exile after working out his term, but his fames
fortune and reputation had left him for ever, and
he died a poor man, unknown, unwept and un-
honoured. The Hooghly College building was his
property, and when he was in- full swing of pride
of pelf and power, its wide spacious Hall often-
timmes resounded with the noise of jollity aud mirth,
[t is certainly very pleasing to think that from
having been the scene of the boisterous orgies of
Bacchus it has become the solemn stately seat of
Minerva, Surely, changes effected by Time are
not uniforinly bad, but sometimes have a pleasant
and cheering aspect. The Haldar familvy has be-
come almost a thing of the past, but the splendid
House in which Pran Kissen gave his wawtches and
Jathras and entertained his boon companions at
sumptuous symposiwmns is still in existence thereby
giving a striking proof of the instability of human
power and greatness.

An account of Chinsura without some notice of
the late Baboo Bhudeb Mookerjee would be like the
play of Hamlet with the part of Hamlet left out.
This most brilliant member of the Education Depart-

ment was the son of a poor pundit, named Bissonatn
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Tarkabhushan, who was a native of Khanacool
Krishtonagar, but had settled in Calcutta, and it was
at the latter city that Bhudeb first saw the light of
heaven on 2nd ¥Falgoon 1247 B. S just about the
time when Chinsura, his future residence, was ceded
to the English by its former owners, the Dutch.

When Bhudeb was only eight years of age he was
entered at the Sanskrit College where in the course
of three years he mastered the M ugdhabodha gram-
mar and also learned a little of pure literature.
Being desirous of learning 1linglish which was then
coming into vogue, he entered an English school
where he commenced study with his usual dilivence.
The last six years of his scholastic life were spent
in the Hindu College where he obtained the highest
scholarship attainable by a student, and, at last,
came out of College with a reputation far above his
fellows.

Having had such a briliant academic career
Bhudeb could have got a respectable post under
Government for the mere asking, buat the trend of
his mind was in a different direction. In conjunction
with some friends of kindred spirit he established
schools in the interior, himself doing a considerable
portion of the teaching, but for want of support
both in men and money, this undertaking fell
through. Shortly after, Bhudeb got the post of
second master in the English department of the
Calcutta Madrassa on a salary of Rs. 50 a month,
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[Tere he discharged his duties so very satisfactorily
that the higher educational anthorities being  highly
pleased with his work appointed him Head Master of
the Howrah Government School on Rs. 150 a month,
At Howrah too success attended him and the result
was that the local Magistrate, and the school Secre-
tary, Mr. Hodgson Pratt, so well known especially for
his mathematical attainments, became one of his fast
friends. Sometime after, Mr. Pratt was appointed
Inspector of Schools:in South Bengal, but this separa-
tion did not affect their Tiendship which was well
kept up by means of letiers; and it was at the
suggestion of Mr, Pratt that Bhudeb Baboo wrote a
“ Discourse on Education.” | IHis “ Historical Stories’
was also written about the sane time. In this way
Bhudeb Baboo won name and ' fame both as an
educationist and as a scholar. No wonder, then
that when subsequently a Normal School was estab-
lished at Hooghly, he was appointed its Superin-
tendent on Rs 300 a month. DBy his fatherly
fostering carc this Institution made very rapid
progress and its fame spread far and wide. There
was then a great lack of books in the Bengali langu-
age. To supply this want, Bhudeb Baboo produced
several useful works in that language, namely
Natural Philosophy in two parts, A Brief Summary of
History, History of England, History of Rome, and
Fluclid’s Geometry. [t would seem that his “ Histo-
rical Stories” which he had written when he was
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FHead Master at Howrah was also published about
this time.

The vear 1862 witnessed a very important turn
in his affairs. In that year Mr. Medlicott was
appointed Deputy Inspector of Schools, and Bhudeb
Baboo was made his Assistanit on Rs. 400 a monti.
The latter proved a good adjutant and gained the
affection and esteem of his Chief.  Sometime before,
Government had sanctioned Rs. 30,000 for purposes
of educational improvement. ~Now in consultation
with, and at the advice of, his :Assistant, Mr. Medli-
cott drew upon that money towards the fulfilment of
that end, and the result was the establishment at
several places of Training Schools for teachers and of
village patsiales for  imparting instruction to the
people at large,

In 1863 Bhudeb Baboo was appointed Additional
Inspectar of Schools. In the year after, he started
a cheap Monthly, called Zhe Mirror of Lducation
in the name of his youngest son, This paper was
successfully conducted for some years, but with the
untimely death of the said son in 1869 it too came
to an end. Not long after, Bhudel> Baboo was
deputed to inspect the schools in the North Western
Provinces and the Punjab; and the Report which he
wrote in Foglish embodying the results of his inspec-
tion with his opinions and suggestions thereon was
certainly a masterpiece of its kind, and Government

was so highly pleased with his work that it soon
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promoted him to the first grade.  In April 1869 he
was appointed Inspector of the “North Central
Division, then only newly constituted, and this was
followed a few days after by his being made
[nspector-in-Chief.

While serving at the Hooghly Normal School
Bhudeb Baboo had built a house at Chinsura, and it
was from here as his head goarters that he used to
discharge his duties of Inspector of Schools of the
Behar and West Bengal Circle. At that time there
were very few readable books in Behar for the use of
boys. Accordingly; he got some Bengalee books
translated into Hindi and introduced them in that
Province, On 1st December 1809 he started “ The
liducation Gazette” from  Chinsura, and it is grati-
fying to observe thatitis still existing with only a
little of its pristine glory “dimmed.  For his excep-
tionally distinouished services Bhudeb Baboo was
decorated with the rare title of C. [ E. in the year
1877. Five years after, that is, in 1882, he was
appoioted a member of the Bengal Council, and, as
councillor to the local Governor, did some good
service for the cause of personal education. In the
year following he retired on pension which he had
so well earned. A few months before retirement he
had published a work called “ I'uspanjaii,” which
was followed by the most thoughtful of his works
“ Paribarik Probandha,” Although Bhudeb Baboo's

mind was tmbued with the spirit of Western culture
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and though he oftentimes came into contact with
Furopeans of all shades and colours, still he stood
superior to all alien influence in his mode of life and
remained a staunch [lindu all through. Ile has
well observed in one of his latter day treatises that
we have only to learn business habits from the
IKnglish, we need not learn anything else from them.
But not only has this really great man done
immense good to the Department in which he shonee
with such resplendent glory, he has also done some
very substantial ‘good ‘to humanity at large. Ue
has established at Chinsura a Sanskrit School called
Rissonath Chatuspati after the ‘name of his father,
and a hospital called Brahmamayee Ousadiialara
after the name of his mother; and that these two
Institutions shall continue aud have permanency.
he has set apart a fund amounting to a lakh and
fifty thousand for their due up-keep and maintenance,
This good and great man whose memory  deserves
to be enshrined in the hearts of his countrymen
passed out of this selfish world on the first day of
Jaistha 1301 B. S (14th May 1894, leaving two
sons, of whom the elder, Gobinda Deb, who was a
Moonsiff, has since followed him, The younger
Mukunda Deb, is a Deputy Magistrate and Deputy
Collector of note, a worthy son of a worthy sire.

THE END.
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